
Community Safety Partnership Membership

Date and Time: Wednesday 28th June 2023, 10:00am -13:00pm
Venue: Barking Learning Centre 

A G E N D A

Presented
by

Pages

1. Introductions and Apologies for Absence

2. Declaration of Interests

Members of the Board are asked to declare 
any personal or prejudicial interest they may 
have in any matter which is to be considered 
at this meeting.

3. Minutes Chair

4. 5-Year Substance Misuse Plan and Cultural 
Competencies Update

Amolak Tatter 1 - 33

5. Substance Misuse Services Procurement 
Update

Calre Brutton 

6. Re-tendering of Adults and Young People 
Services Update

Jill Williams 

7. Serious Violence Duty Implementation 
Update

Ilirjeta Buzoku 35

8. Baroness Casey Review Findings and 
Action Plan & Inspection of the 
Metropolitan Police Services Response to 
Lessons from the Stephen Port Murder

Stuart Bell 37 - 203

9. Anti-social behaviour Policy and Procedure Ben Forbe & 
Julia Kanji

205 - 227

10. RESTRICTED: Domestic Homicide Review 
Update

229 - 231



11. RESTRICTED: Domestic Abuse Update Angela d’Urso 233 - 237

12. RESTRICTED: Prevent Update Simon 
Cornwall

239 - 240

13. Forward Plan All partners 241

14. Any Other Business Chair

15. Subgroup Update Reports

Children and Young People 

Hate, Intolerance and Extremism and Tension Monitoring 

Violence Against Women and Girls 

Tasking Group 

Reducing Offending 

(a) Safer Neighbourhood Board Update 281

(b) Safeguarding Boards Update Report 283

16. Date of Next Meeting Chair

        Wednesday 29th September 2023
         Venue: Microsoft Teams 
         Time 10:00am- 13:00pm 
           



Membership

Name Post title Organisation

Cllr Syed Ghani
(Chair)

Cabinet Member for Enforcement 
and Community Safety

London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham (LBBD)

Stuart Bell
(Interim Chair)

Detective Superintendent East 
Area BCU 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)

Fiona Taylor
(Deputy Chair)

Chief Executive LBBD

April Bald Operational Director, Childrens’ 
Care and Support

LBBD

Clare Brutton Head of Commissioning Disabilities LBBD
Steve Calder Head of Service, Barking, 

Dagenham and Havering
The Probation Service

Matthew Cole Director of Public Health LBBD

Jennie Coombes Head of Service Be First

Narinder Dail Borough Commander London Fire Brigade (LFB)

Angela D’Urso Domestic Violence Improvement 
Lead

LBBD

Matthew Feather Inspector, East Area BCU 
Partnership and Prevention
 

MPS

Ben Forbes Community Safety Operations 
Manager

LBBD

Angie Fuller Head of YJS, Missing and 
Exploitation, Childrens’ Care and 
Support

LBBD

Zahid Iqbal Designated Professional for 
Safeguarding Adults

NHS North East London ICB

Daniel James Senior Intelligence and Analytics 
Officer

LBBD

Gary Jones Operational Director for 
Enforcement, Regulatory Services 
and Community Safety

LBBD

Alexandra Joseph Senior Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor

Victim Support

Cllr Elizabeth 
Kangethe

Cabinet Member for Educational 
Attainment and School 
Improvement

LBBD

Ben Forbes Community Safety Operations 
Manager

LBBD

Kevin Makambe Head of Triage Lifecycle LBBD

David Rhodes Police Superintendent 
Neighbourhoods

MPS

Sarah Robertson Barking and Dagenham Council for 
Voluntary Service (BDCVS)

Pip Salvador-Jones Director Barking and Dagenham Citizens 
Advice Bureau (CAB)

Nathan Singleton CEO LifeLine Projects BD Collective



Cllr Maureen Worby Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health Integration

LBBD

Alison Stuart Chief Legal Officer LBBD

Non-LBBD Advisers
Name Post title Organisation

Isabella Kennedy MOPAC Link Officer Mayor’s Office for Policing and 
Crime (MOPAC)

Jo Roebuck Programme Manager, London 
Alcohol, Drugs and Tobacco

Department of Health Care 
Services

Contact Officer: 
Ilirjeta Buzoku, Community Safety Partnership Policy Officer, 

Enforcement and Community Safety
E-mail: ilirjeta.buzoku@lbbd.gov.uk

mailto:ilirjeta.buzoku@lbbd.gov.uk


COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: 5-Year Substance Misuse Plan and Cultural 

Competencies Update

Substance Misuse Services Procurement

Re-tendering of Adults and Young People Services 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023

Author:

Amolak Tatter, Commissioning Manager, London Borough of 
Barking and Dagenham Council 

Clare Brutton, Head of Commissioning Disabilities, London 
Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council

Jill Williams, Shared Care Co-Ordinator

Contact: Amolak.Tatter@lbbd.gov.uk Clare.Brutton@lbbd.gov.uk 
Jill.Williams@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required

1.1 Not available.

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:

2.2 Consider this 5-Year Substance Misuse Plan and Cultural Competencies review as 
part of the wider suite of Barking & Dagenham Council strategies and policies re 
Equality Diversity and Inclusion:

 The Borough Manifesto 2017 – 2037

 The Corporate Plan 2022 - 2026  

 Cohesion and Integration Strategy 2019 – 2024

 Faith Builds Community Policy (Part 1 & 2)

Page 1

AGENDA ITEM 4

mailto:Amolak.Tatter@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:Clare.Brutton@lbbd.gov.uk
mailto:Jill.Williams@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

3. Main Text

3.1     Not available.

4. List of Appendices:

Appendix 1: Cultural and Competencies Review 2023 Presentation. 

 

The Substance Misuse Services Procurement and Re-tendering of Adults and 
Young People Services update will be delivered verbally and have no 

corresponding report.

Page 2



BARKING & DAGENHAM 

CULTURAL COMPETENCY 

REVIEW

2023

P
age 3



Language used in this review 

• The consultant originally followed the government advised guidelines in the terminology used in the questions 

and resulting report.

• ‘Ethnic minorities’ was used in the Professional Consultation to refer to all ethnic groups except the White British 

group. 

• Ethnic minorities include white minorities, such as Gypsy, Roma, and Irish Traveller groups, referred to as GRT

• Barking & Dagenham has recently consulted on phraseology and is currently introducing the replacement of 

‘Ethnic Minority’ with ‘Global Majority’ and these terms are used interchangeably 

• Occasionally the phrase Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic (BAME) occurs as this was used more widely before 

ethnic minority/global majority was introduced 

P
age 4

https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/style-guide/writing-about-ethnicity


Aims of this review 
• Given the shift in the ethnic profile of Barking & Dagenham in the past 20 years from majority White British (81% in the 

2001 census to 31% in the 2021 census - a 62% reduction) the Council is reviewing the way in which it thinks about and 

delivers strategies and services to best engage with, and meet the needs of, its now global majority majority residents in 

2023. 

• Via consultation with local professionals, this review will examine:

o The reasons global majority residents may be reluctant to access services.

o How key strategic partners across local authority departments, criminal justice, health, and voluntary sector have 

adapted their policies and working practices to engage with/ meet the needs of different communities

o Which communities services are struggling to engage with. 

o What more could be done.

• With the aim of collating emerging practice.

• Despite multiple attempts between February and April the commissioners of this review were unable to secure insights 

from global majority/ faith communities. The implications of this are discussed in the Key findings

• To our knowledge this is the first time a cultural competency assessment has been completed by a London borough. It 

follows on from the recent substance misuse needs assessment which found under-representation of certain ethic cohorts 

in treatment when compared with the general borough profile. 

P
age 5



What is Cultural Competency? 

• Cultural competence is defined in many ways but fundamentally it is the ability to communicate and interact 

effectively with people regardless of difference….it applies to individual behaviours but also organisational 

systems, processes and culture

• It is about respecting and understanding the cultural context in which service users live their lives and impacts 

the way they access services

• Public Health England (PHE) now the Office for Health Improvement & Disparities (OHID) in it’s 2020 report

examining the impact of Covid-19 on BAME communities defined it as:

o “The ability of providers and organisations to effectively deliver services that meet the social, faith, 

cultural and linguistic needs of service users”

• The report stated “The pandemic has shone a spotlight on the effects of discrimination on health society with 

far higher proportions of those with disabilities or those from ethnic minority groups dying from Covid-19

• It is important to note, however, is that cultural competence is a process rather than an ultimate goal and is 

often developed in stages by building upon previous knowledge and experience.

P
age 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities


Responding to the needs of a diverse population

• Being culturally competent is not only about respecting and appreciating the cultural contexts of service users 

lives. Neither is it a one-size-fits-all approach – it’s about understanding the way services are delivered and 

responding to the needs of a diverse population.

• Cultural competence is a key aspect of providing quality services.

• This is why professionals need to be aware and gain understanding of the key issues relating to culture and 

how this may influence the uptake of services

• Developing this knowledge and understanding will influence the way services are delivered and could have an 

impact on reducing disparities in outcomes.

P
age 7



The goal of culturally competent services is….. 

• To provide the highest quality of service to every individual, regardless of race, ethnicity, cultural background, 

English proficiency or literacy. 

• Some common strategies for improving the service user-provider interaction and embedding culturally 

competent systems include:

o Providing interpreter services

o Providing linguistic competency that extends beyond the reception desk, and other written materials

o Recruiting and retaining minority staff

o Providing training to increase cultural awareness, knowledge, and skills

o Incorporating culture-specific attitudes and values into service promotion tools

o Locating services in geographic areas that are easily accessible for certain populations

o Expanding hours of operation

P
age 8



Profile of Barking & Dagenham 

Population breakdown from 2021 census 

• 44.9% White

• 25.8% Asian

• 21.4% Black

• 4.3% Mixed

• 3.6% Other 

• Barking & Dagenham has the highest Index of Multiple Deprivation 

(IMD) score in London/21st highest IMD score in England

• Child poverty is among the highest in London (50% of children live in 

households on the poverty line)

• 41.3% of people in Barking & Dagenham were born outside the UKP
age 9



The Changing Profile of Barking & Dagenham  

• The population of Barking & Dagenham, rose dramatically after the First World War, when the London County 

Council built the Becontree housing estate. Completed in 1935 it was the largest council estate in the world 

offering “homes for heroes” and rehousing people from the slums of the East End.  Today it is still considered 

the largest council estate in Europe. 

• Around the same time, in 1931, the Ford Factory opened its doors in Dagenham, employing 58,000 people at its 

height. 

• However, migration and an increasingly diverse and changing population now play a key part in Barking & 

Dagenham’s history. Since 2001 the population has grown by 33% (+54,927)

• The proportion of White British residents has also fallen from 81% of residents to 31%. 

• In the space of a few years, a very significant global majority population moved into the borough from inner parts 

of London. 

P
age 10



Racial Tensions in Barking & Dagenham  

• Another significant part of the borough’s recent history is the notorious election of British National Party (BNP) 

councillors in May 2006. 

• The BNP secured 12 councillors in Barking & Dagenham, and narrowly missed securing a 13th – if they had put 

forward a candidate in every ward, they would have been the first BNP-controlled Council in the country. They 

lost all their seats in the 2010 local elections, and party leader Nick Griffin lost the battle to win a parliamentary 

seat. 

• Community cohesion has been a Council priority for the last few years, with huge amounts of work taking place 

in this area

• It is also noteworthy that in the 2016 European referendum, 62.4% of Barking & Dagenham residents voted to 

leave the European Union (compared with 40.1% leave for London overall)  

P
age 11



Barking & Dagenham Council Policies and 
Strategies relating to Cultural Competency

• Barking & Dagenham Council has a range of Strategies & Policies which set out how it promotes equality, 

diversity, fairness, and inclusion for its vibrant and diverse population. 

• Sadly, the majority of these were published before the Covid-19 pandemic which brutally exposed the ongoing and 

corrosive impact of health inequalities which are underpinned by poverty, racism and structural inequality

(Inequality is structural when policies keep some groups of people from obtaining the resources to better their 

lives).

P
age 12



The Borough Manifesto 2017-

2037

One of its aims is greater community cohesion and ensuring change is resident led

Updating the Equality & 

Diversity Strategy 2017 - 2021

When the E&D strategy expired, a decision was made to align the next strategy with the 

next Corporate Plan (2022-2026) (expected Autumn 2023) which sets out the major 

challenges related to poverty, racism and structural inequality facing the borough and its 

residents. While this is being drafted an Interim Statement of Intent is in place 

Cohesion & Integration 

Strategy 2019 - 2024

The ambition for this strategy is to lay the foundation ‘to make Barking & Dagenham a 

friendly and welcoming borough with strong community spirit’ – the vision set out in the 

Borough Manifesto for 2037. At the heart of this is the need to reinforce the links that keep 

and bring people together, across opinions and beliefs, culture, ethnicity, age, sexual 

orientation and gender, and to ensure that no one is left behind.

Faith Builds Community 

Policy 2019 Part 1 & Part 2

A 2-part document created by Barking & Dagenham Council, interfaith charity the Faith & 

Belief Forum, and the Barking & Dagenham Faith Forum. The vision of this document is ‘a 

better connected, faith friendly borough, where people of all backgrounds feel safe, 

celebrated, and included’.

P
age 13

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/Barking-and-Dagenham-Together-Borough-Manifesto.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/Barking-and-Dagenham-Together-Borough-Manifesto.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/Equality-and-Diversity-Strategy-2017-21_0.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/Equality-and-Diversity-Strategy-2017-21_0.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-10/Statement%20of%20Intent%20FINAL%20-August%202021%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/LBBD8687_Cohesion%26Integration2019_A4_32pp_AUG19_digital.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/LBBD8687_Cohesion%26Integration2019_A4_32pp_AUG19_digital.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/faith-builds-community-policy-part-one-WEB.pdf
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-07/faith-builds-community-policy-part-two-WEB.pdf


Greater London Authority (GLA) Population and 
Household projections  

• GLA Demography produces a range of population projections which are used to help inform planning and policy 

work within the GLA and across London. 

• The population projection data used for this review is trend-based projections, which are based on a cohort 

component model that uses past trends in births, deaths, and migration to project future populations.

P
age 14

https://data.london.gov.uk/demography/population-and-household-projections/


2011 to 2041 trend-based projections for the 
ethnic profile of Barking & Dagenham

Ethnic group 2011 % 2021 % 2031 % 2041 %

White British 92,594 49.4 73,918 32.9 66,642 26.3 63,974 23.2

White Irish 1,738 0.93 1,424 0.63 1,229 0.49 1,145 0.42

White Other 14,833 7.91 26,370 11.7 33,197 13.1 37,467 13.6

BAME 78,252 41.8 122,761 54.7 152,151 60.1 172,960 62.8

ALL 187,418 100 224,472 100 253,219 100 275,546 100

• Between 2011- 2041 the Barking & Dagenham population is predicted to grow by 47%, compared to Greater 

London (30.4%), this represents:

o A decline in the White British population (-53%) and the White Irish population (-55%)

o An increase in the White Other population (+72%) and the BAME population (+50%)

P
age 15



Actual And Projected Population by Ethnic 
Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041

Ethnic group 2011 2021 2031 2041

White British/Irish 50.3% 34% 26.8% 23.6%

White British 92,594 73,918 66,642 63,974

White Irish 1,738 1,424 1,229 1,145

White Other 7.9% 11.7% 13.1% 13.6%

White Other 14,833 26,370 33,197 37,467

Black 20% 23.8% 25.2% 24.8%

Black African  28,955 40,954 48,292 53,270

Black Caribbean 5,266 6,908 8,157 6191

Black Other 3,260 5,577 7,346 8,745

Asian 15.9% 23.5% 27% 27.7%

Bangladeshi 7,769 15,029 20,534 24,591

Indian 7,503 13,395 17,139 19,896

Pakistani 8,087 13,582 16,917 19,111

Chinese 1,325 1,759 2,030 2,242

Other Asian 5,183 9,039 11,640 13,420

Mixed 4.2% 5.2% 5.6% 5.7%

White & Asian 1,262 1,969 2,334 2,518

White & Caribbean 2,695 3,765 4,583 5,200

White & African 2,151 3,009 3,413 3,694

Other Mixed 1,854 3,039 3,810 4,269

Other Ethnic group 1.5% 2.1% 2.4% 2.5%

Other Ethnic group 2,942 4,737 5,956 6,814

TOTAL 187,418 224,472 253,219 275,546

P
age 16



Actual And Projected Population by Broad Ethnic 
Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041

50%

34%
27%

24%

8%

12%

13%
14%

20%

24%

25%
25%

16%

24%
27%

28%

4% 5% 6%
6%

2% 2% 2%
3%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2011 2021 2031 2041

White British/Irish White Other Black Asian Mixed Other Ethnic group

P
age 17



Actual And Projected Population by Ethnic 
Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041

Ethnic group 2011 2021 2031 2041

White British 33% 33% 26% 23%

White Irish 1% 1% 1% 0%

White Other 12% 12% 13% 14%

Black African  18% 18% 19% 19%

Black Caribbean 3% 3% 3% 2%

Black Other 3% 2% 3% 3%

Bangladeshi 7% 7% 8% 9%

Indian 6% 6% 7% 7%

Pakistani 6% 6% 7% 7%

Chinese 1% 1% 1% 1%

Other Asian 4% 4% 5% 5%

White & Asian 1% 1% 1% 1%

White & Caribbean 2% 2% 2% 2%

White & African 1% 1% 1% 1%

Other Mixed 1% 1% 1% 2%

Other Ethnic group 2% 2% 2% 2%

TOTAL 101% 100% 100% 98%

Owing to rounding up, percentages may not equal 100%

P
age 18



A range of local professionals participated in this review, considering:

o The reasons global majority residents may be reluctant to access services.

o How key strategic partners across local authority departments, criminal justice, health, and voluntary sector 

have adapted their policies and working practices to engage with/meet the needs of different communities.

o Which communities services are struggling to engage with. 

o What more could be done.

Their responses have been incorporated into the Key findings and Recommendations.

Professional Consultation

P
age 19



Professional Consultation

27 professionals from the following services/departments were represented in the consultation:

o Barking & Dagenham Council (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC), Community 

Safety, Specialist Intervention Service, Parental Substance Misuse, Mental Health Services, Public 

Health, Commissioning,  Vocational Support Services, Universal Services, Youth Offending Services 

(YOS) and Provider Quality & Improvement)

o Substance misuse services (CGL St Luke’s Service (adult)/WDP Subwize (YP))

o Domestic abuse services (Cranstoun, Refuge)

o Criminal Justice (Probation, Police)

o Pause

Not all services that were approached engaged with the review 

P
age 20



Key Findings 

No uniform standard for collection of ethnicity data.

It was not possible to compare a snapshot of the ethnicity profile of the services consulted against the borough 

profile as some did not collect that information e.g., those accessing drop ins, or it was in a variety of formats/ 

timeframes and levels of granularity.

No lived experience input from faith/global majority communities into the review. 

Multiple attempts between February and April by the commissioners of this review and the consultant to engage 

faith/ global majority communities to participate in this review proved unsuccessful. The goal was to gain authentic 

insight into the potential barriers preventing global majorities and faith groups accessing services. One replied 

stating that their focus was on supporting their communities with the cost-of-living crisis. This leaves an obvious 

weakness in the review and is addressed in the Recommendations.

P
age 21



Many agencies have no influence over the ethnicity profile of their service users. 

Many of the organisations surveyed receive referrals from statutory bodies and therefore lack the ability to target 

specific communities as their service users are predetermined e.g., Adult Social Care, Police, Probation. Despite 

this the consultant felt that staff working in Barking & Dagenham were working in a culturally competent way, even 

if it wasn’t named as that. There were multiple examples of innovative working practices and policies employed to 

engage the diverse communities within the borough. (these are detailed in the Appendix word document designed 

to be read in conjunction with this PowerPoint - In-depth Key Findings)

Some shift observed in the ethnicity profile of service users in the past 5 years. 

Half of the organisations had observed a shift in the ethnicity of their service users over the past 5 years from 

White British to more Asian and Eastern European clients. However, some agencies still had a majority of White 

British clients e.g., substance misuse/care homes, or had always seen a disproportionate level of individuals from 

global majorities e.g., Criminal/Youth Justice System (CJS/YJS).

Key Findings 

P
age 22



Most prevalent barrier to accessing services perceived as language.

The most commonly perceived barrier to global majorities accessing services was language and therefore not 
being aware of the local services available. Additional barriers cited included:

o Culturally embedded mistrust of authorities.

o Communities preferring to keep issues within their communities. 

o The cultural normalisation of issues such as substance misuse and domestic abuse.

o Stigma/shame.

o Not being able to access services (e.g., those with No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF))

Gypsy Roma Travellers (GRT)/ \Irish Travellers and Eastern Europeans cited as communities hardest to 
engage. 

Agencies cited Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) as the community they most struggled to engage followed by Eastern 
European. Further groups cited where ethnicity could be an exacerbating factor were: 

o Romanian children at risk of child trafficking and modern slavery.

o Young people impacted by knife crime.

o Women facing domestic abuse.

o The Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual, Trans and Queer (LGBTQ) community.

Key Findings 

P
age 23



Some successes cited engaging Youth Offenders, Eastern European, Rough sleeper and LGBTQ communities. 

o Young offenders: The Youth Justice Board (YJB) takes steps to ensure the workforce reflects the ethnicity of the 

communities it is working with. 

o Eastern European: Specialist funded outreach team to work with Eastern European community around domestic 

abuse. 

o Rough sleepers (which incorporates global majorities): via warm buildings, welcoming staff, hot food, and clothes in 

a 1-stop-shop offering access to multi-disciplinary support partners. 

o LGBTQ cohort (which incorporates global majorities): In the aftermath of the Stephen Port case a meeting was 

convened for the LGBTQ community in Barking Town Hall and had a Gay Muslim man speaking. 

Multiple examples of policy and working practice adaptations cited to engage global majorities, categorised as: 

o Flexible and easy to access services.

o Engagement with faith groups & local communities.

o Overcoming of language barriers.

o The practice of matching ethnicity between clients and staff.

o Ethnically diverse teams which reflect the community.

o Employing cultural competency. 

Key Findings 

P
age 24



Every one of the surveyed organisations completed some form of Equality Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) or 

Unconscious bias training on an annual mandatory basis.

o Every one of the surveyed organisations completed some form of EDI or Unconscious bias training on an 

annual mandatory basis.

o Two teams cited ‘informal learning’ from colleagues by bringing in food to share and discuss their culture.

o Local domestic abuse charities train local community businesses on how to identify domestic abuse and 

what to do next. They also use EDI themes for discussion within their team meetings.

Further training cited by organisations included: 

o Cultural competency

o Inclusive leadership 

o Trauma informed practice which has cultural elements. 

o Anti-discriminatory practice

o Diversity/values and understanding cultural perceptions and viewpoints.

Key Findings 

P
age 25



Recommendations 

• The following 10 Recommendations are based on the key findings, opportunities and challenges that emerged 

over the course of the review. 

• Given the projected trajectory of the shift in ethnicity profile in Barking & Dagenham over the next 20 years, the 

partnership is encouraged to prioritise the following actions to address the corrosive impact of health inequalities 

which are underpinned by poverty, racism and structural inequality and meet its Borough Manifesto ambition: 

One borough; one community, no one left behind 

P
age 26



1. Consider this review as part of the wider suite of Barking & Dagenham Council strategies and policies re 

Equality Diversity and Inclusion:

o The Borough Manifesto 2017 - 2037

o The Corporate Plan 2022 - 2026 (or will there be a new Equality & Diversity Strategy)?  

o Cohesion and Integration Strategy 2019 - 2024

o Faith Builds Community Policy (Part 1 & 2)

Recommendations 

P
age 27



2. Consider cultural competency when reviewing/updating organisational Strategies and Policies 

o When reviewing/updating strategies/policies consider the shift in the ethnic profile of Barking & Dagenham and if 

cultural competency can be embedded within it, and if an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is required.

3. Continue to seek out lived experience insights from Faith/global majority communities to feed into 

reviews.

4. Embed Standardised collection of ethnicity data

o Where it is not routinely collected recommend that organisations improve the collection of ethnicity data to an 

agreed standardised format in order that organisations can audit themselves against the 2021 census ethnicity 

profile for Barking & Dagenham (see Slides 14 & 16) to highlight potential under/over representation.

Recommendations 

P
age 28



5. Agreed/shared definition of cultural competency across Barking & Dagenham 

Council and partner organisations e.g., CJS, voluntary sector and NHS to agree a shared definition of cultural 
competency and pledge to work towards adopting this in their polices, working practice and communications.

6. Convene an event to promote cultural competency.

With the aims of:

o Sharing the key findings of this review.

o Agreeing a shared definition of cultural competency.

o Sharing best practice.

o Pledging to continually review organisational policies and practices to become more culturally competent.

Recommendations 

P
age 29



7. Organisations to strive to be more culturally competent following the principles identified in this review 

and the collated best practice. 

o Services are flexible and easy to access with co-located services and satellites in community hubs.

o Faith groups & local communities are engaged via focus groups/community leaders to address identified 

need, build up trust, break down barriers and co-produce projects.

o Language barriers are considered and addressed.

o The practice of matching ethnicity between clients and staff is utilised

o Teams are ethnically diverse reflecting the community.

o Training is rolled out to increase cultural awareness, knowledge, and skills.

o Nuanced, innovative methods of engaging global majorities are employed, for example via: 

o Assertive outreach to parks/estates 

o Food banks, clothing banks or baby banks rather than solely through faith groups. 

o Videos of the team explaining the offer on a what’s app.

o Postcards (in key languages) as letters may go unopened. 

Recommendations 

P
age 30



8. Continue to address language barriers.

Via the continued use of:

o Language line

o Interpreters

o The collation of a spreadsheet of languages spoken within the organisation (where feasible and client facing). 

o Literature and Communications translated into key languages (all literature should emphasise the free, non-

judgemental nature of the service which will not impact immigration status to overcome some cultural 

assumptions). 

o Leaflet drop in certain languages through people’s letterboxes.

Recommendations 

P
age 31



9. Address potential unmet need in specific communities.

• Gypsy Roma Traveller

o Via an audit of GRT on caseload.

o Shared best practice re GRT from Probation Service (see Golden thread commissioned services) and 

Refuge.

o Contact/commission the specialist GRT charity Traveller Movement for advice/training re how to address 

barriers to access within this community and challenging potential cultural norms re substance use and 

domestic abuse.

o Specialist outreach (where need is identified).

• Eastern European

o Via shared best practice from Refuge.

o Engaging Eastern European community groups accessing Community Safety Grant Scheme for best 

practice re supporting these communities.

o Contacting relevant embassies.

o Challenging potential cultural norms re substance use and domestic abuse.

o Specialist outreach (where need is identified).

Recommendations 

P
age 32

https://travellermovement.org.uk/


10. Maintain commitment to Induction/ annual training around topics which nurture cultural competence such as:

o Equality Diversity & Inclusion (EDI).

o Unconscious bias.

o Cultural competency.

o Inclusive leadership.

o Trauma informed practice which has cultural elements. 

o Anti discriminatory practice.

o Diversity/values and understanding cultural perceptions and viewpoints.

o Where the organisation size merits it, consider the creation of EDI networks where colleagues can share challenges, 

opportunities, best practice and invite guest speakers. 

o Training should incorporate the train the trainer model and those with lived experience.

o Informal learning via:

o Teams bringing in food to share and discussing their culture.

o EDI themes used for discussion in team meetings.

Recommendations 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Serious Violence Duty Implementation Update  

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023 

Author: Steve Calder, Probation Head of Service, Barking, Dagenham, 
and Havering. 

Contact: Steve.Calder@justice.gov.uk 

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required

1.1 The purpose of the Serious Violence Duty Implementation update is to present to 
the board the progress of the SVD needs assessment and timeline of next steps 
as was discussed at the SVD working group. 

2. Recommendation(s)

Not available.

3. Main Text

3.1 Not available. 

4. List of Appendices:
Not available.

This update will be delivered verbally.

Page 35

AGENDA ITEM 7

mailto:Steve.Calder@justice.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Final Report 

An independent review into the 

standards of behaviour and internal culture 

of the Metropolitan Police Service 

 
Baroness Casey of Blackstock DBE CB 

March 2023 

Page 37

AGENDA ITEM 8



2  

CASEY REVIEW 
 

Contents 

Foreword ................................................................................................................... 6 

Summary and conclusions ...................................................................................... 9 

Fixing the Met – Recommendations ..................................................................... 19 

Cleaning up the Met ...................................................................................................... 20 

A new offer to women and children ............................................................................. 21 

Building trust with London’s communities to restore consent.................................. 22 

A new police deal for Londoners ................................................................................. 22 

New leadership and new management ........................................................................ 23 

New oversight and accountability ................................................................................ 23 

Showing London that reform is working ..................................................................... 24 

Introduction and context ....................................................................................... 26 

Chapter 1:  The Met and Londoners ..................................................................... 36 

1.1. London’s dynamic population ............................................................................... 36 

1.2. Changing service demands and performance ..................................................... 38 

1.3. Public confidence and trust in the Met ................................................................. 47 

1.4. Why public consent matters: the Peelian principles ........................................... 52 

1.5. Conclusion.............................................................................................................. 58 

Chapter 2: The Met’s resources and its response to austerity .......................... 59 

2.1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 59 

2.2. Resourcing in the Met ............................................................................................ 59 

2.3. Reductions in the Met’s resources ....................................................................... 60 

2.4. Protecting officer numbers .................................................................................... 62 

2.5. The Met’s approach to resourcing constraints and their impact ........................ 64 

2.6. The impact of changes in workforce numbers ..................................................... 70 

2.7. Workforce planning in the Met: A missed opportunity ........................................ 73 

2.8. Conclusion.............................................................................................................. 75 

Chapter 3:  How the Met is run .............................................................................. 76 

3.1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 76 

3.2. Recruitment in the Met ........................................................................................... 77 

3.3. Vetting ..................................................................................................................... 78 

3.4. Arrival and initial training in the Met ..................................................................... 79 

3.5. Management and supervision ............................................................................... 81 

3.6. Performance Development Reviews ..................................................................... 83 

3.7. Promotion ............................................................................................................... 84 

Page 38



3 

 

3.8. Training ................................................................................................................... 85 

3.9. Policing is a tough job ........................................................................................... 88 

3.10. Leadership ............................................................................................................ 91 

3.11. Initiative-itis: activity rather than action ............................................................. 98 

3.12. The views of Met officers and staff on culture in the Met ................................ 103 

Chapter 4: On the frontline of policing in London ............................................. 106 

4.1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 106 

4.2. Reorganisation of frontline policing in London: Basic Command Units .......... 107 

4.3. The numbers: Who’s on the frontline? ............................................................... 108 

4.4. BCUs: the beleaguered frontline ......................................................................... 111 

4.5. Demand is not matching supply .......................................................................... 115 

4.7. The impact of inexperience ................................................................................. 123 

4.8. Supervision........................................................................................................... 125 

4.9. Loss of civilian staff and support services ......................................................... 127 

4.10. Geography .......................................................................................................... 128 

4.11. Drivers ................................................................................................................. 130 

4.12. Specialist Teams ................................................................................................ 131 

4.13. Commanders not in control ............................................................................... 132 

4.14. Conclusion .......................................................................................................... 134 

Chapter 5: Public Protection .............................................................................. 136 

5.1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 136 

5.2. Child protection .................................................................................................... 137 

5.3. Violence against women and girls ...................................................................... 140 

5.4. Who’s in charge of Public Protection? ............................................................... 141 

5.5. Staffing and workloads ........................................................................................ 143 

5.6. Caseloads ............................................................................................................. 145 

5.7. Facilities and resources ....................................................................................... 146 

5.8. Inexperience and lack of specialist knowledge .................................................. 147 

5.9. Impact on staff ...................................................................................................... 149 

5.10. Domestic abuse .................................................................................................. 151 

5.11. Sexual violence .................................................................................................. 156 

5.12. The responsibility of the rest of the criminal justice system .......................... 159 

5.13. How the Met deals with rape and serious sexual offending: findings from 
Operation Soteria Bluestone ...................................................................................... 162 

5.14. The victim experience ........................................................................................ 165 

5.15. Met response to Operation Soteria Bluestone ................................................. 166 

5.16. Conclusion .......................................................................................................... 167 

Page 39



4 

 

Case studies ................................................................................................ 168 - 189 

Chapter 6: Two specialist units........................................................................... 190 

6.1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 190 

6.2. Specialist Firearms Command (MO19) ............................................................... 190 

6.3. PaDP: Parliamentary and Diplomatic Protection ............................................... 196 

6.4. Conclusion............................................................................................................ 201 

Chapter 7:  How the Met deals with misconduct and grievances .................... 202 

7.1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 202 

7.2. Misconduct ........................................................................................................... 203 

7.3. Dealing with officer and staff grievances ........................................................... 206 

7.4. Employment Tribunal Claims .............................................................................. 208 

7.5. Victims’ and survivors’ perspectives on misconduct ........................................ 211 

7.6. Misconduct case studies: an update .................................................................. 213 

7.7. Conclusion............................................................................................................ 216 

Chapter 8:  Governance, scrutiny and accountability ....................................... 217 

8.1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 217 

8.2. The tripartite structure of police accountability ................................................. 217 

8.3. Inspection, audit, investigation and advice ........................................................ 221 

8.4. Transparency ........................................................................................................ 226 

8.5. How the Met responds to external scrutiny ........................................................ 232 

8.6. Conclusion............................................................................................................ 233 

Chapter 9: Discrimination .................................................................................... 235 

9.i. Introduction ........................................................................................................... 235 

9.ii. Bullying ................................................................................................................. 238 

Chapter 9.1: Homophobia .................................................................................... 243 

9.1.1. Introduction ....................................................................................................... 243 

9.1.2. LGBTQ+ officers and staff: the view from the inside ...................................... 244 

9.1.3. The Met and the LGBTQ+ community: the view from outside ....................... 249 

9.1.4. Conclusion ......................................................................................................... 257 

Chapter 9.2. Sexism and Misogyny .................................................................... 258 

9.2.1. Introduction ....................................................................................................... 258 

9.2.2. Recruitment of women in the Met..................................................................... 261 

9.2.3. Attrition .............................................................................................................. 263 

9.2.4. Progression of women within the ranks .......................................................... 263 

9.2.5. Life for women in the Met ................................................................................. 267 

9.2.6. Speaking out against sexism and misogyny ................................................... 273 

Page 40



5 

 

9.2.7. Initiatives to challenge sexism and misogyny ................................................ 274 

9.2.8. Police perpetrated sexual misconduct and domestic abuse.......................... 275 

9.2.9. Conclusion ......................................................................................................... 284 

Chapter 9.3: Racism ............................................................................................. 286 

9.3.1. Introduction ....................................................................................................... 286 

9.3.2. Racism and its persistence in the Met ............................................................. 288 

9.3.3. The Met’s workforce; the internal culture ........................................................ 289 

9.3.4. The Met and Black Londoners .......................................................................... 308 

9.3.5. Conclusion ......................................................................................................... 329 

Chapter 9.4. Conclusions on discrimination ..................................................... 330 

Chapter 10: The missing voice of Londoners .................................................... 333 

10.1. Introduction ........................................................................................................ 333 

10.2. Neighbourhood policing .................................................................................... 334 

10.3. The Met’s approach to communications and community engagement .......... 335 

10.4. Public complaints ............................................................................................... 341 

10.5. The voice of Londoners ..................................................................................... 343 

10.6. Conclusion .......................................................................................................... 346 

Annex A. Terms of Reference ............................................................................. 347 

Annex B. Methodology ........................................................................................ 349 

Annex C. The Review Team ................................................................................. 363 

Page 41



6  

Foreword 
 

Only two years ago, in March 2021, Sarah Everard was abducted, raped and 

murdered by a serving Metropolitan Police Officer. With greater courage than I can 

ever imagine, Sarah’s mother, Susan Everard, told the Court in her victim impact 

statement that: “There is no comfort to be had, there is no consoling thought in the 

way Sarah died. In her last hours she was faced with brutality and terror, alone with 

someone intent on doing her harm. The thought of it is unbearable. I am haunted by 

the horror of it…I am repulsed by the thought of what he did to Sarah. I am outraged 

that he masqueraded as a policeman in order to get what he wanted.” 

 
The lifespan of this Review has been book-ended by that tragedy and another 

avoidable and abhorrent case when, only two months ago, another serving Met 

officer, who also exploited his position, was convicted as one of the country’s most 

prolific sexual offenders. 

 
They are connected in another way too. What Mrs Everard could not have known as 

she made her statement was that another woman heard her words and was so 

struck by them that she was moved to call 101 and report that other Met officer as 

having tortured and raped her and left her for dead. It was only as a result of her call 

that other women came forward and that same officer was eventually prosecuted. 

 
None of this should have happened. Enough was known about both men to have 

stopped them so much earlier. And there is no comfort I can offer Sarah’s family and 

the victims of that rapist with my words. Nothing I say can match the daily agony and 

pain these crimes continue to cause all of those affected. 

 
But I do want to begin this report by remembering Sarah, thinking of all those who 

have suffered as a result of Met officers’ crimes, and paying tribute to those who 

have fought for justice on their behalves. 

 
Those crimes, and those betrayals of trust, led to my appointment to review 

standards and culture in the Met. The previous Commissioner was right to establish 

this Review, with the Mayor’s support. I am glad to have had the opportunity to lead 

this work, and am grateful to the new Commissioner for his continued support. I am 

also deeply grateful to all those who have given us their time and told us their 

stories, often recounting traumatic and painful experiences. 

 
I am fundamentally pro-police. I have personal reasons to be thankful to them. 

Policing attracts the best of humanity. I have met many shining examples during this 

Review – those who uphold the highest of standards and who put themselves at risk 

in order to protect the rest of us. During the course of this Review, two officers were 

stabbed on duty in Leicester Square, one of whom suffered life-changing injuries. 

Page 42



7  

Every working day, I pass Carriage Gates in Parliament where PC Keith Palmer was 

killed in 2017, and every day I think of his and others’ bravery. 

 
Of course I accept that so many police officers go to work for the right reasons. They 

are committed to public service, and I thank them for that. But policing needs to 

accept that the job can also attract predators and bullies – those who want power 

over their fellow citizens, and to use those powers to cause harm and discriminate. 

All of British policing needs to be alive to this very serious risk. It needs to keep them 

out when they try to get in, to root them out where they exist, and to guard against 

the corrosive effects that their actions have on trust, confidence and the fundamental 

Peelian principles of policing by consent. 

 
I am unconvinced that police forces are fully alive to that risk, nor that the Met fully 

understands the gravity of its situation as a whole. If a plane fell out of the sky 

tomorrow, a whole industry would stop and ask itself why. It would be a catalyst for 

self-examination, and then root and branch reform. Instead the Met preferred to 

pretend that their own perpetrators of unconscionable crimes were just ‘bad apples’, 

or not police officers at all. So throughout this review, I have asked myself time and 

again, if these crimes cannot prompt that self-reflection and reform, then what will it 

take? 

 
Many of the issues raised by the Review are far from new. I make a finding of 

institutional racism, sexism and homophobia in the Met. Sir William Macpherson 

made the first of those findings in his inquiry into the racist murder of Stephen 

Lawrence as long ago as 1999. Many people have been raising grave concerns 

about the Met for much longer than that. 

 
So this report is rigorous, stark and unsparing. Its findings are tough and for many 

will be difficult to take. But it should leave no one in any doubt about the scale of the 

challenge. 

 
During the course of this Review, new leadership arrived at the Met. The new 

Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner have a daunting task, but thankfully they 

accept the scale of that challenge, and they deserve the chance to succeed. I 

believe that they will do so, and I fully support them. They also deserve support as 

they go about their reforms, both from within the Met, and from above them 

politically. I hope this report can serve as both a diagnosis of what needs to change, 

and a blueprint for how to begin. 

 
That starts with everyone accepting the scale of the challenge, no matter how hard 

that may be. As the Reverend Mina Smallman, the mother of two murdered 

daughters and another victim of Met officers’ crimes, told me: “What we can’t have is 

that the only reason that people who corrupt the police are taken in hand is by the 

tenacity of the women and the families they abused.” 

Page 43



8  

Reverend Smallman also told me that: “The strides and the windows that we’ve been 

able to open into this institution have not come about because of the police’s desire 

to change. It’s come about on the backs and the tenacity of people of colour and 

women, and that’s not the way we’re going to affect real change. If you’re constantly 

trying to cover up the cracks then you’re never going to address anything.” 

 
She is right. She can continue to campaign. The Met can be subject to better forms 

of scrutiny. I can continue to speak the truth as I see it. She will. They will. I will. But, 

ultimately, it is the Met that has to change itself. It is not our job as the public to keep 

ourselves safe from the police. It is the police’s job to keep us safe as the public. Far 

too many Londoners have now lost faith in policing to do that. Many Londoners, 

particularly Black Londoners, never had it to begin with. I completely understand why 

they feel that way. 

 
However, we have to be able to have faith in the police. They stand in the way of 

danger for us. We need to be able to tell our children to go to them when they are in 

danger. We give the police exceptional powers and we trust them to use them 

responsibly. That is how policing by consent works. It’s a deal: a deal that we now 

need to restore in London. The police want to earn our trust. And we want to trust the 

police. 

 
It is what great police officers deserve. It is what the great city of London deserves. 

 
Words alone cannot do that. It is only through actions that the Met can now begin to 

re-earn that trust. This is the moment for it to do so. 

 
Baroness Casey of Blackstock DBE CB 

March 2023 

Page 44



9  

Summary and conclusions 
 

The Met has faced significant challenges over the last ten years. Many of these have 

been beyond their control. These include austerity, changes in crime patterns, 

greater non-crime demand and a regulatory system that makes it difficult to get rid of 

people who corrupt the Met’s integrity. The Crown Prosecution Service and the 

courts are also under acute pressure. This impacts the effectiveness of the Met, and 

makes the criminal justice system overall much less effective. 

 
Significant societal shifts are rightly making us less tolerant of crimes such as 

domestic abuse, rape and child abuse as well as discrimination. Public expectations 

on policing are therefore greater. 

 
London too is always changing. Its population is expanding, and is swelled by 

thousands of commuters daily and millions of visitors each year. It is more diverse in 

terms of nationalities, ethnic and faith groups, and sexuality than other UK cities. The 

majority of the population are not from White British ethnic backgrounds, one in five 

do not have English as their main language, and London has greater extremes of 

wealth and poverty than other parts of the UK. 

 
In contrast, Met officers are 82% White and 71% male, and the majority do not live in 

the city they police. As such, the Met does not look like the majority of Londoners. 

 
Traditional volume crime (such as burglary and theft) has declined, while low volume 

but more serious offences such as violence against the person, and sexual offences 

have significantly increased from 17% of all crimes in 2012-13 to 31% in 2022-23. 

Such cases take longer to investigate and resolve. Domestic abuse-related crimes 

have doubled over ten years to nearly 100,000 a year and the number of reported 

rape cases have increased fourfold. But the number of officers investigating them 

has not increased at the same rate. This places more demand on police detective 

services in particular, while there is a national shortage of detectives. 

 
Like other public services, austerity has profoundly affected the Met. In real-terms, 

the Review has calculated that the Met now has £0.7 billion less than at the start of 

the previous decade, meaning its budget is 18% smaller. This is enough to employ 

more than 9,600 extra Police Constables at full cost. It has lost 21% of its civilian 

staff and two thirds of its Special Constables while the number of Police Community 

Support Officers has halved. Between 2010 and 2022 it closed 126 police 

stations. Specialist units and functions have been prioritised, including through ring- 

fenced Government funding. 

 
Together, this has eroded frontline policing, weakening the strongest day-to-day 

point of connection with Londoners, as well as impacting the Met’s reactive 

Page 45



10  

capabilities, its response levels, and its response to male violence perpetrated 

against women and children. 

 
The model of policing by consent, pioneered in London and admired and copied 

around the world, requires the Met to both earn and maintain public trust in 

everything it does. However, there is declining public confidence and trust in the 

institution. Public trust has fallen from a high point of 89% in 2016 to a low of 66% in 

March 2022. Public confidence in the Met to do a good job locally has fallen from 

high points of 70% in 2016 and 2017 to a low of 45% in March 2022. 

 
People from Black and mixed ethnic groups have lower trust and confidence in the 

Met, scoring 10 to 20% lower than average on trust and 5 to 10% lower on 

confidence, although declining scores among White Londoners mean that gap is 

closing. 

 
Among those who responded to surveys undertaken for the Review, three quarters 

of Met employees and two in five Londoners think the Met’s external reputation is 

poor. Black Londoners are even more likely to say its reputation is poor. 

 
A series of scandals involving the Met and the Met’s response – playing them down, 

denial, obfuscation, and digging in to defend officers without seeming to understand 

their wider significance – combined with this loss of trust, are strong indicators of 

fundamental problems. 

 
In September 2022, the appointment of a new Commissioner and Deputy 

Commissioner with a commitment to reform marked a new, positive beginning for the 

Met. 

 
This Review, commissioned in the wake of the scandals that have rocked policing 

nationally, has sought to examine the Met’s culture and standards. We have not 

undertaken an inspection of the Met’s overall performance, efficiency and 

effectiveness although we have looked at some aspects of this. 

 
Our approach has been to talk to officers, staff and others, and review and analyse 

information, data, systems and operational performance for their relevance to the 

Met’s culture and standards. We considered how the Met's culture affects its central 

purpose to keep Londoners safe, how it inspires trust and confidence, and how it 

upholds the British model of policing by consent. 

Page 46



11  

Our conclusions are set out below. 

 
1. There are systemic and fundamental problems in how the Met is run 

 
The size of the Met makes it challenging to operate and also to change. The 

problem, however, is not its size but its inadequate management. The Met is run as 

a set of disconnected and competing moving parts, lacking clear systems, goals or 

strategies. It runs on a series of uncoordinated and short-lived initiatives, long on 

activity but short on action. 

 
There is no workforce plan, no strategic assessment of the needs and skills of the 

organisation, and demand modelling is outdated. Recruitment and vetting systems 

are poor and fail to guard against those who seek power in order to abuse it. There 

has been no central record of training, so officers may well be in roles which they are 

not trained for. 

 
The management of people is poor. The Met’s processes do not effectively root out 

bad officers, help to tackle mediocre officers, or truly support and develop good 

officers. Some of this is down to national systems (including misconduct processes, 

under-performance regulations, and the national promotion framework). But the Met 

doesn’t actively intervene to make these work better for its people, and its own 

policies, practices and culture serve to exacerbate the problem. 

 
We witnessed clear signs of high stress and pressure among officers due to the 

nature of their work dealing with very stressful and upsetting situations, working with 

traumatised, vulnerable and dangerous people and facing daily abuse from the 

public. Frontline officers working on Response and Public Protection Teams were 

not being properly assisted with psychological support to protect their mental health 

or prevent desensitisation towards victims and the public. 

 
Sergeants and Inspectors are expected to manage very large numbers of constables 

and junior staff as a core feature of their work, without the time and the tools to do 

so. Under current Met systems it is easier for them to ignore poor performing officers 

or let those with conduct issues get away with bad behaviour. In an organisation 

where people are its principal asset, the vital role of Human Resources has been 

outsourced and is too distant from local policing needs. 

 
Since publication of the Macpherson report in 1999, the Met has remained largely 

White and largely male. If recruitment continues on its current trajectory, it will take at 

least another thirty years, until 2053, to reach gender balance. It will take even 

longer, until 2061, to reach 46% Black, Asian and ethnic minority representation – 

what is needed to be representative of London today, let alone the even more 

diverse city it will be in nearly 40 years’ time. 

Page 47



12  

The Police Uplift Programme has been a missed opportunity to improve the diversity 

and skills base of its workforce. There is no plan B. This isn’t about being ‘woke’ or 

having politically correct quotas. It means the Met is missing out on the talent it 

desperately needs to improve its effectiveness. It is also damaging community 

confidence, by failing to create a force that looks like the city it polices. This is 

creating a negative spiral in which some communities continue to have negative 

experiences at the hands of the police, trust them less, and are less likely to join. 

 
2. The Met has not managed the integrity of its own police service 

 
This Met is tasked with upholding law and order and keeping citizens safe. But it has 

failed over time to ensure the integrity of its officers and therefore of the organisation. 

Despite the obvious signals of major failure – with heinous crimes perpetrated by 

serving Met officers – it did not stop to question its processes. 

 
Policing will attract those who wish to abuse the powers conferred by a warrant card. 

The Met has not taken this fact seriously. Its vetting processes are not vigilant in 

identifying clear warning signs such as previous indecent exposure or domestic 

abuse from applicant officers. Transferees from other forces are trusted to be good 

enough. Periodic re-vetting has been perfunctory, and self-declarations are relied 

upon. The Met does not make ethical standards as clear as it could, and it has no 

systems in place to ensure staff and officers adhere to them, nor clear 

consequences if they do not. 

 
Concerns raised through the misconduct or complaints process are not well recorded 

and are more likely to be dismissed than acted upon. Patterns of behaviour and 

escalating incidents which are the hallmarks of predatory behaviour are not 

identified. Instead, time and time again, those complaining are not believed or 

supported. They are treated badly, or face counter-claims from those they have 

accused. Behaviour which in most other organisations would lead to instant 

dismissal or serious disciplinary action – particularly amongst those who work 

routinely with vulnerable people – is too often addressed through ‘management 

action’ or ‘reflective practice’. 

 
In the absence of vigilance towards those who intend to abuse the office of 

constable, predatory and unacceptable behaviour has been allowed to flourish. 

There are too many places for people to hide. The integrity of the organisation 

remains vulnerable to threat. 

Page 48



13  

3. The Met’s new leadership represent a welcome change of tone and 

approach. However, deep seated cultures need to be tackled in order for 

change to be sustained 

 
When he became Commissioner in 1972, over 50 years ago, Sir Robert Mark said 

he had ‘never experienced…blindness, arrogance and prejudice on anything like the 

scale accepted as routine in the Met’. The Met is a very different organisation today. 

But we have found those cultures alive and well. We want to be crystal clear that we 

are not saying everyone within the organisation behaves in these ways, but that 

these are the prevailing and default cultures: ‘the way we do things’. Worryingly, 

some of the worst cultures, behaviours and practices have been found in specialist 

firearms units, where standards and accountability should be at their absolute 

highest. 

 
Too much hubris and too little humility: The organisation has a ‘we know best’ 

attitude. It dismisses external views and criticisms, and adopts the attitude that no 

one outside the Met can understand the special nature and unique demands of their 

work. This hubris has become a serious weakness. It stops them hearing and 

understanding other views, including those of Londoners, and prevents them 

bringing in external help, co-opting experts and stakeholders to provide support and 

challenge. 

 
Defensiveness and denial: The Met does not easily accept criticism nor ‘own’ its 

failures. It does not embrace or learn from its mistakes. Instead, it starts from a 

position that nothing wrong has occurred. It looks for, and latches onto, small flaws in 

any criticism, only accepting reluctantly that any wrong-doing has occurred after 

incontrovertible evidence has been produced. 

 
One of the saddest aspects of this culture of denial is that many of the issues 

highlighted in this report – systemic racial bias in the misconduct system, poor child 

protection services, not recognising predatory behaviour, the dire state of property 

storage – have been known about, reported on and investigated before. But the 

Met’s culture, combined with its poor management, has meant that these issues 

have not been sufficiently addressed. This has allowed wrongdoing to persist. 

 
Speaking up is not welcome: Keeping your head down, looking the other way, and 

telling people – especially senior officers – what they want to hear is the way things 

are done in the Met. The culture of not speaking up has become so ingrained that 

even when senior officers actively seek candid views, there is a reluctance to speak 

up. Disciplined services such as policing might be more prone to such behaviours. 

This makes it all the more important that those who do speak up are supported, 

protected, and their contribution is valued. But those who speak up in the Met learn 

the hard way that there are adverse consequences for themselves, for their careers, 

and for their teams. Systems support wrongdoers. Complainants are not believed. 

Page 49



14  

Staff Associations and Independent Advisory Groups feel ignored. A bullying culture 

underpins all this. Racist, misogynist, homophobic and other discriminatory acts are 

tolerated, ignored, or dismissed as ‘banter’. 

 
Optimism bias: Following any issue, there is a strong tendency to look for a positive 

spin, which allows the organisation to move on. They seek to put it in the past and 

blame individual ‘bad apples’, rather than pausing for genuine reflection on systemic 

issues. The Met talks up future actions as if they were already implemented. This 

tendency is most clearly noticeable in a tick box approach to critical reports, 

inspections, inquiries and other forms of scrutiny where bigger picture issues are 

broken down into individual actions. Problems with culture and attitudes cannot be 

addressed by developing a new policy, changing the rules or developing a new 

process. 

 
‘Initiative-itis’: Instead of focusing on getting the basics right, short term projects 

and campaigns have been launched from HQ without seeing them through, 

considering their impact or engaging the organisation in embedding enduring 

systemic change. This particularly wears down officers on the frontline. They 

experience slogans and spreadsheet returns instead of a single, clear and widely 

understood strategy for improvement. This is exacerbated by poor management 

within the organisation. 

 
Elitism: putting frontline policing at the back of the queue: The Met has allowed 

an imbalance to grow between well-resourced specialist units and a denuded 

frontline. It has also allowed the distance between New Scotland Yard and frontline 

policing teams to widen. Londoners see and rely on frontline officers the most day to 

day, but these officers feel demoralised and let down by their leaders. 

 
4. Londoners have been put last 

 
The frontline has been deprioritised. A reorganisation moved 32 borough-based 

police commands to 12 units with some covering up to four boroughs. There are now 

much weaker connections to long established communities. Democratic borough 

structures and Londoners have become a step further removed from their police 

service. 

 
Local policing has been fractured by the loss of skilled civilian staff, especially crime 

analysts and support staff. Officers who should be on the streets of London are left 

to backfill some of these roles. There is less knowledge of local crime patterns and 

Response teams are responding to ever increasing demands on their service. The 

result is longer response times. 

 
London no longer has a functioning neighbourhood policing service. Far from being 

ring-fenced as promised in the reorganisation, it has become a resource for 

Page 50



15  

backfilling other services like Response. The number of PCSOs has been drastically 

reduced. 

 
Those running BCUs do not have authority over their patch and are not responsible 

or accountable for the actions of specialist teams like the Violent Crime Task Force 

and the TSG. 

 
5. London’s women and children have been left even further behind 

 
The de-prioritisation and de-specialisation of public protection has put women and 

children at greater risk than necessary. 

 
Despite some outstanding, experienced senior officers, an overworked, 

inexperienced workforce polices child protection, rape and serious sexual offences. 

They lack the infrastructure and specialism which the Sapphire specialist command 

benefited from. Instead of access to fast-track forensic services, officers have to 

contend with over-stuffed, dilapidated or broken fridges and freezers containing 

evidence including the rape kits of victims, and endure long waits for test results. 

 
It is more than six years since the 2016 HMIC report into child protection was 

described as “the most severely critical that HMIC has published about any force, on 

any subject, ever.” But the Met’s child protection service continues to have major 

inadequacies. 

 
The Met’s VAWG strategy rings hollow since its claim to be prioritising ‘serious 

violence’ has really not included the crimes that most affect women and girls. Those 

investigating domestic abuse are also under considerable pressures, with 

unmanageable caseloads and poor support for victims. This has increased the 

disconnection from Londoners. 

 
6. The Met lacks accountability and transparency 

 
The Met is a £4 billion public institution. Therefore, it should be transparent and 

accountable for the services it provides and the resources it uses, while maintaining 

operational responsibility for policing decisions. Yet all too often, it has been 

unaccountable to the public and their representatives. 

 
The structures of governance and scrutiny are relatively weak. HMICFRS are an 

inspectorate not a regulator and can only really comment on what they find. They 

have limited levers to drive improvement. The ‘engage’ phase is a reflection of the 

Inspectorate’s significant concerns about the force, but it holds no real 

consequences for the Met. Their internal audit processes are not valued by the 

organisation as a process of assurance and early warning. 

Page 51



16  

The Met have in the past avoided scrutiny, holding MOPAC at arms-length, and not 

sharing information and data. MOPAC in turn have not been able to provide the 

strategic oversight function that the Met needs. Holding the Met to account has 

become more tactical. More robust and strategic oversight, based on support, 

challenge and mutual respect for their respective roles, is needed. 

 
Within each BCU, some the size of a county police force, it is very surprising and 

concerning that local policing lacks the level of local accountability which would be 

found in a constabulary across the rest of England and Wales. Londoners are further 

and further from their policing service. 

 
The Met needs to increase its accountability to Londoners, by being more 

transparent with the public, with local authorities and MPs, by explaining their 

decisions and the reasons for them, and by acting with greater candour. 

 
The checks and balances provided by robust scrutiny, governance and 

accountability are vital for public bodies, perhaps especially the police with their 

duties towards and powers over the public. However, at a point where the Met 

requires major reform, it is even more important that those who have responsibility 

for oversight and inspection support it to change. 

 
7. Discrimination is tolerated, not dealt with and has become baked into the 

system 

 
We have found widespread bullying, particularly of those with protected 

characteristics. 22% of staff and officers experienced bullying. There is a profound 

culture across the Met that incentivises people to look, act and sound the same, and 

a resistance to difference. 

 
33% of those with a long-standing illness, disability or infirmity have experienced 

bullying. Claims for disability discrimination is the most frequent claim type brought 

against the Met. But there is no willingness to learn from these cases. 

 
There is deep seated homophobia within the Met, as shown by the fact that almost 

one in five lesbian, gay and bisexual Met employees have personally experienced 

homophobia and 30% of LGBTQ+ employees have said they had been bullied. 

Trust, confidence and fairness scores among LGBTQ+ Londoners have fallen 

significantly. 

 
Female officers and staff routinely face sexism and misogyny. The Met has not 

protected its female employees or members of the public from police perpetrators of 

domestic abuse, nor those who abuse their position for sexual purposes. Despite the 

Met saying violence against women and girls is a priority, it has been treated 

Page 52



17  

differently from ‘serious violence’. In practice, this has meant it has not been taken 

as seriously in terms of resourcing and prioritisation. 

 
There are people in the Met with racist attitudes, and Black, Asian and ethnic 

minority officers and staff are more likely to experience racism, discrimination and 

bullying at their hands. Discrimination is often ignored, and complaints are likely to 

be turned against Black, Asian and ethnic minority officers. Many do not think it is 

worth reporting. Black officers are 81% more likely to be in the misconduct system 

than their White counterparts. The organisation has failed to significantly improve the 

recruitment and retention of Black officers at all levels. This is particularly true of 

Black and ethnic minority women. 

 
Meanwhile Black Londoners in particular remain over-policed. They are more likely 

to be stopped and searched, handcuffed, batoned and Tasered, are over- 

represented in many serious crimes, and when they are victims of crime, they are 

less satisfied with the service they receive than other Londoners. There is now 

generational mistrust of the police among Black Londoners. Stop and search is 

currently deployed by the Met at the cost of legitimacy, trust and, therefore, consent. 

 
We have found institutional racism, misogyny and homophobia in the Met. In coming 

to this conclusion, we have applied four tests. We believe these can be applied in 

respect of homophobia, misogyny and racism but we have applied them in respect of 

racism below. 

 
1. Clearly not everyone in the Met is racist, but there are racists and people 

with racist attitudes within the organisation 

2. Black and ethnic minority officers and staff experience racism at work and 

it is routinely ignored, dismissed, or not spoken about. Many do not think it 

is worth reporting 

3. Racism and racial bias are reinforced within Met systems 

4. The Met under-protects and over-polices Black Londoners 

 
Tackling discrimination is a legal and operational imperative for the Met. It needs to 

acknowledge the extent to which racism, misogyny and homophobia are present 

within its organisational processes and systems in order to move forward. 

 
8. The Met is in danger of losing its way – consent is broken 

 
The Met’s key values, the College of Policing’s Code of Ethics and the Peelian 

principles all provide clear standards and direction for how the organisation should 

operate and how it should police London. However, these values and principles have 

not been front and centre of the Met’s strategic or operational approach either 

internally or externally. It has been disfigured by austerity and the decisions that 

were made during that period, alongside changes in the crime mix and societal 

Page 53



18  

expectations. The Met has been losing its way and the worst aspects of its culture 

have impeded its ability to recognise this. 

 
The Met has become less effective and is less trusted. Public confidence has dipped 

below 50%. Fewer Londoners agree that the Met treats everyone fairly, and the 

proportion of people believing that the Met does a good job for London has also 

fallen. 

 
Public attitudes and the findings of this Review are also evidence that the Met has 

become unanchored from the principles of policing by consent. Consent is not 

passive but relies on the police operating with transparency, to be willing to explain 

their decisions and their reasons for it. 

Page 54



19  

Fixing the Met – Recommendations 
 

The Review hopes the Met – and policing more generally – will accept both the 

seriousness of the findings evidenced in this Review and the enormity of the reform 

that must happen next. 

 
We found an organisation that needs not just a series of changes that have been 

called for numerous times in the past, or even a root and branch set of reforms to 

meet its responsibilities to Londoners, but a complete overhaul and a new approach 

to restore public trust and confidence and earn back consent from women, Black 

communities and the rest of London. 

 
The Review calls for a series of actions, as set out below. If done well and together 

these will help the Met get back on its feet. 

 
The Met owes nothing less than this to the victims, and to the families and friends of 

those women who have been murdered, raped and abused by serving officers. It 

also owes it to children not provided with the protection they needed, to women who 

do not feel safe in our capital city, to Black Londoners who have been under- 

protected and over-policed for too long, and to all communities who deserve to be 

served by what should and could be the best police force in the world. 

 
The arrival of a new Commissioner and new Deputy Commissioner, and their 

commitment to reform is major step towards a new, positive beginning for the Met. 

This provides a new broom to sweep the Met clean. However, they face deep-seated 

and long-standing cultures which are present throughout the organisation and its 

systems that have previously prevented change. They cannot achieve that change 

on their own and deserve all our support. 

 
We need every officer and member of staff in the Met to step up to the challenges 

identified in this Review, to accept its findings and commit to change. 

 
The Review calls for the following changes to be made by the Met, the Mayor’s 

Office for Policing and Crime, and the Home Office, to create a radically improved 

new London Metropolitan Police Service. These reforms are of a significant scale, 

and on a par with the transformation of the Royal Ulster Constabulary to the Police 

Service of Northern Ireland at the end of the last century. 

Page 55



20  

Cleaning up the Met 

 
We have found widespread bullying, discrimination, institutional homophobia, 

misogyny and racism, and other unacceptable behaviours which are a far cry from 

the high ethical standards the public rightly expects of its police officers. 

 
1. The misconduct process is not fit for purpose. A new, independent, multi- 

disciplinary team of officers and staff should be brought in by the Met to reform 

how it deals with misconduct cases, with a particular focus on how it handles 

sexual misconduct, domestic abuse and discrimination. 

 
2. The Met should embed and enforce the highest policing ethical values and 

standards across all of its systems and management, from recruitment and 

vetting through to supervision and the misconduct process, making sure these 

are adhered to by all its officers and staff, and that those who breach the 

standards face the consequences the public would expect. 

 
3. Vetting standards should be changed with immediate effect to guard against 

those who intend to abuse the powers of a police officer. The Met should 

introduce new end-to-end processes throughout an officer or staff member’s 

service – from initial recruitment and vetting through to leaving the force – with a 

relentless focus on identifying and reducing opportunities for predators who seek 

to abuse the powers of a police officer from joining or staying in the Met. 

 
4. Some of the worst cultures, behaviours and practices identified by the Review 

have been found in specialist firearms units, where standards should be at their 

absolute highest. The Commissioner should introduce immediate changes to 

address our concerns with the Parliamentary and Diplomatic Protection (PaDP) 

and Specialist Firearms (MO19) Commands, including: 

 
i) effectively disbanding PaDP in its current form, ensuring there is an 

absolute ‘reset’ with a new ethos, identity and a focus on rooting out 

unacceptable behaviour. 

 
ii) setting new, higher vetting and behaviour standards in its specialist armed 

teams to identify any conduct issues and to keep out those drawn to these 

roles for the wrong reasons. In addition, all current officers carrying firearms, 

including those in MO19 and PaDP, should be thoroughly re-vetted and have 

this standard applied to them retrospectively. 

 
iii) revoking unequivocally and permanently firearms qualifications or ‘blue 

cards’ where any officer’s values and standards fall short of public 

expectations. 

Page 56



21  

iv) installing new, external management to oversee the Specialist Training 

Centre to immediately address issues with its culture and standards. 

 
5. The Government should expedite providing the Commissioner with new powers to 

support his efforts to rapidly reform and clean up the Met, including: 

 
i) providing Chief Constables the right of appeal to a Police Appeals Tribunal 

following a misconduct hearing when they conclude the sanction is 

inadequate. 

 
ii) enabling the Met and other forces with a clear legal power to reopen closed 

misconduct investigations. 

 
iii) changing police regulations to ensure that failure to maintain or achieve 

vetting status is grounds for removal. 

 
iv) introducing a managed severance process to allow officers to exit from the 

service and ensure that the service has the skills it needs. 

 
v) strengthening the pension forfeiture rules so that a criminal offence does 

not have to only be committed ‘in connection’ with an officer’s service in order 

for them to lose their pension. 

 
A new offer to women and children 

 
The policy prioritisation of violence against women and girls has not been made an 

operational reality, and women and children do not get the protection and support 

they deserve. They need a dedicated women’s protection service. 

 
6. The Met should radically reform and re-specialise Public Protection Teams, 

including the establishment of new Specialist ‘Soteria’ teams to deal with rape and 

serious sexual offences. The Met should also aim to specialise its domestic abuse 

service to create more victim-centred approaches and to work more closely and in a 

more integrated way with non-police specialist domestic abuse services. These 

teams should be reinvigorated and properly resourced. Together this should be a 

new and significantly enhanced offer to women in London. 

 
7. The Met should create an overarching children’s strategy for London to address 

long-standing concerns about its child protection and safeguarding practices. This 

should: 

 
i) address its approach to children and young people who are suspected of 

crimes, and its approach to protecting children and young people who are 

Page 57



22  

both victims and perpetrators, for example, through criminal and sexual 

exploitation and grooming 

 
ii) provide training for all officers who work with children to prevent 

‘adultification’, where police officers and others regard children, especially 

Black and ethnic minority children, as threats rather than children who need 

protection from harm. 

 
Building trust with London’s communities to restore consent 

 
Public respect has fallen to a low point. Londoners who do not have confidence in 

the Met outnumber those who do, and these measures have been lower amongst 

Black Londoners for years. The Met has yet to free itself of institutional racism. 

Public consent is broken. The Met has become unanchored from the Peelian 

principle of policing by consent set out when it was established. 

 
8. The Met should be reformed so that the Peelian principles of policing by consent – 

securing and maintaining the respect and approval of the public – are its guiding 

principles, and the measures against which all of its policies and practices are 

tested. 

 
9. The Met should introduce a new process with Londoners to apologise for past 

failings and rebuild consent, particularly with communities where this is most at risk.  

 
10. The use of stop and search in London by the Met needs a fundamental reset. 

The Met should establish a charter with Londoners on how and when stop and 

search is used, with an agreed rationale, and provide an annual account of its use by 

area, and by team undertaking stop and searches. Compliance with the charter 

should be measured independently, including the viewing of Body Worn Video 

footage. As a minimum, Met officers should be required to give their name, their 

shoulder number, the grounds for the stop and a receipt confirming the details of the 

stop. 

 
A new police deal for Londoners 

 
To rebuild trust, confidence and consent, there should be a new deal for Londoners. 

 
11. Frontline officers are those who Londoners see and depend on the most from 

day to day but feel demoralised, let down by their leaders, and exposed to high 

stress and pressure: 

 
i) The Met should build a frontline policing service for London which is as 

revered and well-resourced as its central specialist teams, giving Londoners 

Page 58



23  

the Safer Neighbourhoods, Public Protection and Response teams they 

deserve. 

 
ii) BCU Commanders in the Met should be empowered to account for, and 

explain with candour and transparency, the actions that are taken in their 

Borough, including those of the central, specialist units such as TSG and 

VCTF. 

 
iii) The Met should recognise trauma and desensitisation in its officers as a 

corporate responsibility and provide trauma training for Public Protection and 

Response officers as a priority, making access to counselling and other 

services easy. 

 
12. Londoners’ voices are missing from how London is policed. Existing structures 

do not provide a clear way for local authorities and their residents to hold the Met to 

account for how they police and tackle crime on a Borough basis. A new borough 

based approach should be put in place, building on the positive introduction of new 

dedicated Borough Superintendents, to ensure structures allow for greater 

transparency and challenge, including democratic representatives through local 

authorities, provide the ability to access high quality data and review case handling, 

and deliver strong and consistent community engagement. 

 
New leadership and new management 

 
There are systemic and fundamental problems in how the Met is run and its 

leadership needs to be strengthened further. 

 
13. The Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner, building on their recent 

appointments to lead the Met, should bring in new specialist expertise from outside 

the Met in permanent – rather than advisory – roles. This should be used to support 

them to overhaul the management of the organisation, and lead on work including 

reforming the culture of the Met and the creation of a workforce plan, including 

measurable and rapid progress on the diversity of the Met’s officer corps at every 

level. 

 
New oversight and accountability 

 
The Met lacks accountability and transparency to Londoners. 

 
14. A new governance structure should be introduced to oversee and scrutinise the 

changes needed and ensure full transparency and accountability to Londoners, while 

maintaining the operational independence of the Commissioner: 

Page 59



24  

i) A new, quarterly Policing Board for London – chaired by the Mayor of 

London, similar to the model used for Transport for London – should be 

created to drive forward the changes called for in this review. 

 
ii) The Commissioner should continue to chair the new Met Management 

Board responsible for the leadership, strategic direction and operational 

policing of the Met. 

 
Showing London that reform is working 

 
The issues identified in this Review cannot continue. 

 
15. The Met and the Mayor of London should commission independent progress 

reviews after two years, and again after five years, so that Londoners can have trust 

and confidence that reform is taking place. 

 
16. The key measures used to test whether these reforms are taking place and 

delivering reforms at the scale and pace necessary should include: 

 
 Improvements in public trust, confidence and fairness amongst 

Londoners, and a narrowing of the gaps in these measures between 

Black, ethnic minority and LGBTQ+ Londoners and all Londoners 

 
 Increases in the proportion of misconduct cases where action is taken 

 
 Reductions in racial disparity in misconduct cases 

 
 Improvements in the charge rates for reported crimes and, in particular, 

improvements in charge rates for crimes involving violence against women 

and girls 

 
 Increases in the number of adult rape cases reaching court in line with 

Operation Soteria ambitions 

 
 Improvements in response rates and times 

 
 A narrowing in the gap between the diversity of the Met’s workforce, 

including its officers and senior officers, and the make-up of the city it 

polices. 

Page 60



25  

If sufficient progress is not being made at the points of further review, more 

radical, structural options, such as dividing up the Met into national, specialist 

and London responsibilities, should be considered to ensure the service to 

Londoners is prioritised. 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



UNDER EMBARGO UNTIL 22:00 ON THURSDAY 27 APRIL 2023 

 

 

Metropolitan Police Service 

An inspection of the Metropolitan 
Police Service’s response to lessons 
from the Stephen Port murders

Page 63



UNDER EMBARGO 

 i 

Contents 

Foreword 1 

Summary 4 

Introduction 23 

1. A summary of the Metropolitan Police Service’s response to the 

four deaths 26 

Port’s background and lifestyle 26 

Chemsex 26 

Previous incidents 27 

The four murders 27 

The police response to the deaths and its failings 30 

2. HM coroners’ inquests 33 

The initial inquests 33 

The Barking Town Hall inquests 33 

The Regulation 28 report 33 

The coroner’s overarching considerations 34 

Matters of concern 35 

More areas of learning identified by the MPS 42 

3. The Metropolitan Police Service’s structure 43 

Basic command units 43 

Specialist crime command 44 

4. Death investigation policy and guidance 46 

National policy and guidance 46 

5. Initial death categorisation and investigation 53 

Call management 53 

Page 64



UNDER EMBARGO 

 ii 

THRIVE and THRIVE+ 56 

Categorisation of death 57 

Initial investigation 60 

Supervision 64 

Reporting deaths to HM coroners 68 

Incident and pattern analysis 70 

Hate crime 72 

6. Family liaison processes in relation to death investigation 77 

The development of family liaison 77 

The definition of family 80 

The role of the FLO and associated functions 81 

Selection and training 83 

Contacting the bereaved 85 

Deploying a FLO 89 

7. Inclusion, diversity and equalities considerations when 

investigating death 95 

Protected characteristics 95 

Effectiveness of approach to community engagement 98 

8. Leadership and accountability 102 

Governance 102 

Record keeping and case management 107 

Property and exhibits 109 

Reports to HM coroners 110 

Interactions between BCUs and specialist teams 112 

Support for BCU investigations 114 

9. Learning lessons from ongoing investigations 116 

Operation Lilford 117 

Organisational learning structure 117 

10. Learning from the Stephen Port case 120 

Matters identified by the coroner 120 

Matters identified by the MPS 127 

Page 65



UNDER EMBARGO 

 iii 

Other matters we identified 130 

Page 66



UNDER EMBARGO 

 1 

Foreword 

Between June 2014 and September 2015, Stephen Port drugged, sexually assaulted 

and murdered four young men in East London. Despite the obvious similarities 

between the deaths, the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) failed to recognise that 

they might be connected. They even failed to recognise, until after the last death, that 

Port’s four young victims – Anthony Walgate, Gabriel Kovari, Daniel Whitworth and 

Jack Taylor – had been murdered. 

Had the police conducted a professional and thorough investigation after Anthony 

Walgate’s death, it is entirely possible that the other three men would still be alive.  

But the MPS’s initial response to each of the deaths was reprehensible. As the 

coroner who held inquests into the four deaths said, there were a “large number of 

very serious and very basic investigative failings”. 

The purpose of this inspection was to establish whether eight years after a calamitous 

litany of failures, the MPS has learned the lessons. In particular, we sought to 

establish whether this could happen again. 

Most deaths in London occur in hospitals or care homes and are invariably reported 

directly to the coroner. But deaths that occur in the community, away from medical 

and care settings, are reported to the police. In 2022, the MPS told us that it received 

10,978 death reports. This equates to 30 per day and just over 21 percent of the 

deaths registered in London that year. The police investigated 9,481 of these reports 

(86 percent). 

During this inspection, we found that five particular issues kept arising in the deaths 

investigated by the MPS. These issues have been seen in other recent inspections of 

the force and, collectively, offer the most convincing explanation for why the Port 

investigations were so badly flawed. They are as follows: 

• Not enough training is provided to instil in officers an investigative mindset, such as 

training on coronial matters, sudden death training for response officers and their 

supervisors, and training to cover the lessons learned from the Stephen Port case; 

• Oversight and supervision are poor, such as a lack of supervision when 

inexperienced response officers attend a report of an unexpected death and 

inadequate oversight of death reports for the coroner; 

Page 67

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 2 

• Record keeping is unacceptable, such as poor-quality death reports with basic 

details omitted or incorrectly recorded, confusing case-management systems, and 

incorrectly packaged, labelled and recorded property and exhibits; 

• Policy and guidance is confusing, such as an overwhelming amount of policy and 

guidance (often undated and poorly constructed) that causes confusion; and 

• Intelligence and crime analysis processes are inadequate, which can lead to the 

reliance on luck to identify links between deaths at a local level and make it less 

likely that any links between minor incidents and crimes, that may be precursors to 

more serious events, are identified. 

We regularly hear that the force is inexperienced and that its resources are stretched. 

We accept that. But it doesn’t absolve the MPS of its responsibility to meet  

basic requirements. 

The MPS was very heavily criticised in the recent report into its behaviour and culture 

conducted by Baroness Casey. Her findings reflected much of the criticism we have 

made of the MPS in the last two years. Among her conclusions was the finding that 

the MPS was institutionally homophobic. We considered whether homophobia 

explained, at least in part, why the MPS didn’t investigate the deaths caused by 

Stephen Port properly, and why it failed to provide bereaved friends and relatives with 

anything like an adequate and respectful service. 

It is impossible to reach any definitive conclusions on these questions.  

Undoubtedly there were, and still are, homophobic officers serving in the MPS; 

equally, there was (at the time of the Port murders) a lack of understanding of the 

lifestyles of those they were investigating. But the evidence of this inspection points 

predominantly to the five failings listed above as the primary explanation for the MPS’s 

flawed investigations. 

The MPS must make every effort to show that it cares about the quality of service  

it provides. We often hear reports that MPS officers have behaved inappropriately or 

uncaringly and, too frequently, that they have behaved criminally. The force should 

also be more determined to learn from its mistakes. Our other recent inspections have 

shown that the force has been slow to listen and reluctant to change until it is forced to 

do so. On this occasion, we found that, in some respects, the MPS acted at an early 

stage to address its shortcomings. But in others, it took a high-profile coroner’s inquest 

and a subsequent inspection to spur them into action. 

The most challenging question for us to answer is whether events like these could 

happen again. History and the findings of this inspection tell us that they will.  

There have been so many investigations around the country, not only into homicide 

but other serious offences, such as the abuse of children, where the police and other 

organisations have ignored the warning signs and dismissed those who raised 

suspicion. The MPS should make every effort to stop history from repeating itself. 

Page 68

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/intelligence/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 3 

In this report, we quote from a study, published in January 2015 by the Home Office’s 

forensic pathology unit, called A Study into Decision Making at the Initial Scene of 

Unexpected Death. The study concluded that a number of homicide cases may 

have been missed in the past and would continue to be missed in the future unless 

action was taken to address the shortfalls in the adequacy of police assessment of 

death cases. We agree. The officers’ initial assessments of Stephen Port’s victims 

were the catalysts for many of the failings that followed. We aren't confident that the 

MPS has addressed this yet. Many of the officers who make an initial assessment 

following a report of death are inexperienced, untrained and poorly supervised.  

It is difficult to be reassured that the mistakes made in the Port case couldn’t 

happen again. 

Our report contains 20 recommendations for change. If all the failings highlighted by 

these tragic events are to be prevented in the future, the MPS Commissioner should 

treat them as a priority. 

 

Matt Parr CB 

His Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary 

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484298/Report_into_the_2012_FSR_FP_Audit_Publication_copy_pdf.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484298/Report_into_the_2012_FSR_FP_Audit_Publication_copy_pdf.pdf


UNDER EMBARGO 

 4 

Summary 

Introduction 

Between June 2014 and September 2015, Stephen Port drugged, raped and 

murdered four young men in Barking, East London. He left all his victims – Anthony 

Walgate, Gabriel Kovari, Daniel Whitworth and Jack Taylor – outside, in public view. 

Despite the obvious similarities between the deaths, the Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) failed to see that they might be connected. The force even failed to recognise 

that the four men, who were all gay, had been murdered. 

Port is openly gay. He arranged to meet sexual partners through online dating apps, 

using false names for his profiles. He was well aware of the opportunities that 

chemsex presented to him. (Chemsex is a term that is used to describe sex, most 

frequently sex between men, which occurs under the influence of drugs.) Port knew 

that by stupefying young men who may otherwise have been consensual sexual 

partners, he could perform any act he wanted. His drug of choice appears to have 

been gamma-hydroxybutyrate (GHB), a sedative. 

Port was eventually arrested for murder in October 2015. In November 2016, he was 

convicted of all 4 murders and 22 offences against 7 other men that had come to light 

after his arrest. He was sentenced to life imprisonment. 

In late 2021, HM Coroner for East London, HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then QC), held 

inquests into all four murders. Based on evidence from the inquests, the coroner 

reported that there were matters of concern which, without attention, might result in 

more deaths. 

Because of the coroner’s concerns, on 3 December 2021, London’s Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime wrote to us requesting that we inspect the MPS’s current standard 

of death investigations. She wanted assurance that the force had learned from these 

cases. Our inspection took place between May and November 2022. 

The MPS’s response to the four deaths 

Stephen Port had no criminal convictions when he committed his first murder, but he 

had already come to the attention of the police on two occasions. Although these 

incidents didn’t lead to any fatalities, their circumstances were such that they should 

have set alarm bells ringing at the outset. But the police response to the first death 

and the three that followed was wholly unacceptable. 

Page 70

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 5 

The police often failed to carry out even the most basic enquiries. They treated each 

case in isolation and didn’t find or even look for the obvious links between them.  

They decided that each cause of death was a self-administered drug overdose and 

invariably didn’t look for anything more. Even when the same officers attended 

different deaths in almost identical circumstances, their suspicions weren’t aroused. 

Furthermore, the MPS’s interaction with the victims’ families wasn’t good enough.  

It was uncaring and, at times, virtually non-existent. 

Operation Lilford 

The young men’s families and friends refused to accept the MPS’s original 

conclusions. Because of their persistence, the police eventually identified Port from a 

CCTV recording that showed him with his last victim, Jack Taylor. It was only then, a 

month after Jack’s death, that they recognised the links between the four deaths that 

should have been obvious throughout. 

The reinvestigation that followed, called Operation Lilford, was swift, painstaking and 

thorough as the original investigation should have been. Detectives arrested Port and 

charged him with all four murder offences. They then identified other victims who were 

still alive and charged Port with further offences. 

HM Coroner’s inquest 

On 1 May 2019, HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then QC) was appointed to conduct fresh 

inquests into Gabriel Kovari’s and Daniel Whitworth’s deaths, alongside resumed 

inquests into the deaths of Anthony Walgate and Jack Taylor. The inquests ran for two 

months and concluded in December 2021. The jury determined that each of the four 

men had been unlawfully killed. 

Because of her concerns about evidence that she had heard at the inquests, the 

coroner then produced a prevention of future deaths report. This was intended to help 

prevent a reoccurrence in the future. Before setting out her individual matters of 

concern in the report (under seven topic headings), the coroner addressed what she 

thought to be overarching considerations. She stated that: “Perhaps the most striking 

of these is the large number of very serious and very basic investigative failings…” 

The MPS’s structure 

The MPS has seen considerable structural change since Stephen Port’s murders. 

Among other reforms, it reduced from 32 police boroughs down to 12 larger basic 

command units (BCUs).  

Page 71

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/basic-command-unit/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/basic-command-unit/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 6 

Basic command units 

BCUs are responsible for local policing. Each is led by a chief superintendent.  

But many of those making important day-to-day decisions in the BCU are 

inexperienced officers. We are concerned that inexperienced uniformed officers are 

making crucial decisions when responding to reports of death. And very often the local 

detectives that they turn to for advice also lack experience. We were told that it isn’t 

unusual for a local detective to have less experience than the officers who are asking 

for guidance at the scene of a death. 

Specialist crime command 

BCU officers can also ask the MPS’s specialist crime command (SCC) for advice.  

The SCC’s detectives are generally experienced investigators. They typically 

investigate more serious and complex crimes, including homicides. The SCC includes 

a homicide assessment team (HAT) and major investigation teams (MITs). 

The HAT provides mobile support throughout the force at all times. HAT officers will 

advise BCU officers who are investigating potentially serious and complex crimes, 

including unexpected and suspicious deaths. The MITs have a pan-London 

responsibility to investigate all murder, manslaughter and infanticide offences.  

They will also conduct inquiries to locate high-risk missing persons when there is good 

reason to believe a person may be dead or under extreme threat. 

Death investigation policy and guidance 

MPS officers can consult a wide range of policy and guidance, both national and local, 

when responding to reports of unexpected deaths and investigating suspicious deaths. 

The MPS has produced an overwhelming amount of local policy and guidance.  

Many officers told us of the confusion that so much material creates. We also found 

that policies were often undated and poorly constructed, with no contents pages. 

During our inspection, the MPS issued a revised death investigation policy. It is a 

comprehensive and well-intentioned document. It requires that a substantive sergeant 

(formally promoted to rank) or above should attend all reports of a sudden death.  

It has also introduced revised categories for reports of death, depending on whether 

they are expected or unexpected and whether they are suspicious or non-suspicious. 

Initial death categorisation and investigation 

We were interested in how the MPS handles reports of sudden and unexpected death 

from members of the public. Most reports are made by telephone. We visited a control 

centre on three occasions during this inspection. We found that control room 

personnel, including inspectors and chief inspectors, knew what they were doing. 

Page 72

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/force-control-room/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-personnel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 7 

Initial research 

But we found that control room personnel generally carried out only basic research to 

help and potentially protect officers sent to a report of death. We were told their 

checks were generally restricted to MPS databases and concentrated on locations 

rather than individuals. They didn’t, as a matter of course, include Police National 

Computer or Police National Database checks. Such research would have identified 

Stephen Port as a potential sexual predator when the police responded to the death of 

his first victim. 

We understand that the MPS is introducing an integrated intelligence IT system  

called CONNECT. We were told that this system will transform the force’s ability to 

record and interrogate information. It is too early to say whether the system will  

be effective. 

Categorisation of death 

The MPS categorises deaths according to their circumstances. Categorisation is  

very important. It determines the level of response and the nature of the investigation. 

If the police fail to recognise a suspicious death, the decision may well affect 

everything that follows. Importantly, specialist homicide detectives are less likely to 

become involved. 

Uniformed officers and their BCU supervisors usually play an important role in 

determining the category of death. The uniformed duty inspector in the BCU makes 

the final decision. 

The MPS amended the categories of death during our inspection. But we still  

have concerns. In confirming the category of a death, a uniformed duty inspector 

largely relies on information provided by constables and sergeants who are often 

very inexperienced. Many uniformed constables told us that they still found the 

categorisation process confusing. 

Initial investigation 

The MPS 2022 death investigation policy sets out uniformed officers’ responsibilities 

regarding sudden and unexpected deaths. But they also need training, knowledge  

and supervision. 

A senior officer told us that supervision had presented the biggest challenge in recent 

years because of work demands. But others suggested that problems could be due to 

a lack of training and, at times, laziness. We heard about occasions when money and 

drugs were found in a deceased person’s possession at the mortuary when officers 

had supposedly searched them at the scene of death.  

Page 73

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 8 

Most of the response officers we spoke with couldn’t recall any specific training for 

attending sudden deaths, other than training that was COVID-19 related. But they 

showed that they were broadly aware of what was expected of them, even if 

they were largely unaware of the existence or content of the 2022 MPS death 

investigation policy. 

Professional curiosity 

Following the inquests, the coroner expressed her concern that she repeatedly heard 

evidence that officers lacked the curiosity and motivation to investigate and find out 

what had actually happened when each of the young men’s bodies was found. 

Officers we spoke with (of all ranks) regularly referred to “professional curiosity”.  

The MPS included the phrase five times in its 2022 death investigation policy.  

In January 2022, it also produced a briefing paper on the subject. Although we were 

encouraged by the approach response officers said they take when attending the 

scene of a death, time will tell whether the officers we met really understood the 

coroner’s comments and her reference to professional curiosity  

Use of intelligence at the scene 

We were interested in the research that officers carry out themselves when they get to 

the scene of a death. They should conduct intelligence checks on the deceased 

person, on those reporting a death and on the other people present. We found that 

response officers knew how to carry out intelligence checks but that, in practice, they 

didn’t always do so. In particular, Police National Database searches weren’t routinely 

carried out. 

Scene management 

When we examined the records of deaths from different London coronial districts, we 

found a small number that clearly showed that officers took appropriate (and, on 

occasion, exemplary) action, including attempts to save lives through cardiopulmonary 

resuscitation. 

But the majority of the records had basic omissions. Written witness statements, if 

taken at all, tended to be too brief and lacked important details. There was little 

evidence that officers completed house-to-house enquiries, took steps to establish the 

time of death or tried to find out who may have had access to the premises where the 

deceased person was found. 

Supervision 

A substantive supervisor should attend all reports of a sudden death. In practice, this 

would usually be a uniformed sergeant. But we found that it was common for 

supervisors to be ‘acting’ or temporarily promoted sergeants rather than substantive in 

the rank. 

Page 74



UNDER EMBARGO 

 9 

We examined 40 crime report information system (CRIS) records of reports of death 

created since the introduction of the 2022 MPS death investigation policy. We found 

that a supervisor had attended the scene in 30 cases (75 percent). Some sergeants 

told us they couldn’t always attend the scene of a death due to other demands. 

A supervisor should also review reports prepared for the coroner. We assessed the 

level of supervision of the death reports. We were disappointed to find that too many 

showed unacceptably low supervisory standards. Those reports were of poor quality, 

with basic details omitted or incorrectly recorded. Our findings suggested that some 

supervisors appeared to be unwilling or unable to challenge, or even recognise,  

poor performance. 

Uniformed duty officers (inspectors) also have a responsibility to thoroughly review 

every case and confirm that they are satisfied with the categorisation of any death.  

But 35 of the 42 death reports we examined (83 percent) had been submitted to the 

coroner without any evidence of a duty officer’s involvement. 

Initial specialist support 

In the first instance, uniformed BCU officers can turn to local detectives for advice 

about a death. Forensic specialists are also available. They can then call on 

experienced HAT detectives from the MPS’s SCC. 

We found that, with very few exceptions, BCU officers understood the HAT’s role and 

knew how to ask for its help. HAT detectives also monitored incidents remotely and 

offered their help to BCU colleagues. In the event of a homicide, the HAT and then an 

MIT will usually take charge of the investigation. For deaths categorised as 

unexpected that require investigation, the HAT is expected to give the BCU written 

advice on how to progress the investigation. We found that HAT reports were clear 

and comprehensive. But we also recognised that some of the advice might have been 

daunting to BCU officers with few resources and little experience. 

Reporting deaths to HM coroners 

We expected all officers, or at least those who were likely to attend a report of death, 

to have a thorough understanding of a coroner’s role and associated procedures.  

We were disappointed. We found that there was little knowledge of the coronial 

process and general confusion about which forms and IT systems to use when 

reporting a death. 

Coroners’ officers confirmed our findings and said that police officers didn’t treat 

coronial matters as a priority. They told us that uniformed response officers “don’t 

have a clue when they go to their first death”. They cited a lack of training as the 

principal cause of the problem. 

Page 75



UNDER EMBARGO 

 10 

Incident and pattern analysis 

We were disappointed to be told by several officers that identifying links between 

deaths at a local level relied on luck. Identifying any links between minor incidents 

and crimes that may be precursors to more serious events was even less likely. 

Since February 2022, BCU analysts have been encouraged to ‘scan’ local death 

reports. We were shown three examples of this work. We found they were of limited 

use in their current form. 

At a force level, the MPS has developed an information and intelligence system  

called MetInsights. But we are still concerned that there isn’t a pan-London approach 

to understanding, mapping and potentially linking deaths reported anywhere in  

the force. We are especially concerned that deaths considered non-suspicious from 

the outset could be completely overlooked. 

Hate crime 

Our terms of reference asked us to examine whether the MPS is appropriately 

identifying hatred as a motivating factor in crime and, if so, whether it is working with 

appropriate external groups. The MPS has produced instruction and guidance on 

dealing with hate crime, which complements national guidance. The MPS’s guidance 

is comprehensive. It gives direction on the initial response to a report of a hate crime 

and the mandatory action that must be taken. It also sets out supervisory 

responsibilities and reporting requirements. Appropriate intelligence reports must  

be completed. 

We found a good understanding of the concept of hate crime among the groups of 

officers we interviewed. But many of them told us that they wouldn’t fundamentally 

alter their investigative approach, as they felt they ought to provide the same level of 

service to everyone. Senior detectives, on the other hand, explained how evidence of 

hatred would affect their investigative plans. We were encouraged by this. 

Community engagement 

MPS guidance emphasises the importance of community engagement when dealing 

with and preventing hate crime. We saw the positive effect of that guidance. When we 

examined homicide reports, we found that subject matter experts and community 

representatives had been consulted and had helped to shape and develop 

investigation plans. 

But although we found a good understanding of the concept of hate crime, few 

uniformed officers that we spoke with during this inspection understood how 

hate crime might adversely affect communities. Many didn’t know how to access 

specialist support. 

Page 76

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 11 

Hate crime training 

We found that hate crime training was clear and comprehensive, but most of what we 

saw was directed at detectives rather than uniformed officers. New recruits receive 

hate crime training, but most uniformed officers and supervisors we spoke with 

couldn’t recall any specific hate crime training beyond their initial tuition, other than a 

recent computer-based training package. 

That said, we also found that one BCU, with a particularly diverse community, 

provided its own annual training on identifying and dealing with hate crime. It includes 

presentations from representatives of the community. We compliment that BCU on  

its approach. 

Family liaison processes in relation to death investigation 

The definition of family 

We considered the important definition of family where family liaison is concerned. 

The MPS has adopted national guidance that the word family has a wider meaning. 

This approach is to be welcomed. But when we attended an MPS meeting during our 

inspection, independent advisors from the LGBTQ+ community referred to three 

recent cases involving chemsex deaths where the MPS had failed to appreciate the 

importance of ‘significant friends’ when considering next of kin. 

The role of the family liaison officer and associated functions 

Both national and MPS policies provide definitions of the roles and functions 

connected with family liaison. Other than the family liaison officer (FLO), they include 

the senior investigating officer (SIO), the family liaison co-ordinator and the family 

liaison advisor. 

Selection 

The role of an FLO is challenging. We were told that people didn’t apply in  

huge numbers. Some FLOs told us that they had never been screened for the role.  

The possibility that unsuitable officers and staff may be selected for the role of FLO, or 

that they may have been previously selected and are still performing the role,  

is concerning. They work closely with grieving family members who are at their  

most vulnerable. 

FLO training 

In 2016, the MPS reviewed its family liaison training. But many of the FLOs and  

co-ordinators we spoke with were critical of the training. Some said the FLO course 

didn’t equip an aspiring FLO well enough for the role. They gave examples of new MIT 

FLOs having to rely heavily on their more experienced colleagues. 

Page 77

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-person/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 12 

Some FLOs and co-ordinators also told us that they had never had any training on the 

lessons to be learned from the Port investigations. This is a missed opportunity. 

Contacting the bereaved 

In April 2020, the MPS published ‘delivery of a notification of death’ guidelines.  

These were put together in response to COVID-19 but contained invaluable advice, 

which could be taken into account when delivering a death message under any 

circumstances. We commend its thoughtful and caring approach. 

The MPS has introduced training for new recruits and FLOs on delivering a  

death message. But MPS training officers told us that the tuition wasn’t  

particularly good. And it is of little benefit to those who haven’t recently joined the 

police or who aren’t FLOs. 

Deploying an FLO 

At the time of our inspection, the MPS told us it had 745 FLOs, of which 51 were  

self-declared as LGBTQ+. When an FLO is deployed, they should be carefully 

chosen, appropriately briefed and given a strategy. One of the most difficult aspects of 

an FLO’s deployment can be reducing or ending contact with a family. The SIO is 

responsible for deciding when an FLO will reduce or end contact, but several FLOs 

told us that SIOs rarely give them an exit strategy. 

The MPS recognises the importance of an FLO’s welfare, but we were told that 

the MPS doesn’t provide enough welfare support. The welfare of BCU FLOs is a 

particular problem. They invariably already have heavy BCU workloads, so many 

struggle to meet the standards of service that their MIT colleagues, who are full-time 

FLOs, can provide. 

The SIO is responsible for addressing any conflict between an FLO and a family.  

But some BCU FLOs told us that they are left to deal with conflict themselves. We met 

a family whose grievances had yet to be resolved. Family members complained to us 

about the quality of an MPS investigation into the death of a gay relative. They also 

alleged that officers were dismissive and used discriminatory language. 

Record keeping 

The FLO must keep a log book of all contact (or attempted contact) with a family.  

But we found an inconsistent approach to the completion of logs. BCU FLOs 

consistently told us that SIOs rarely supervise, view or sign the logs. 

We also wanted to understand what arrangements the MPS makes when an FLO isn’t 

allocated to a death investigation. Contact with a family, often by response officers, 

should be recorded on the CRIS. When we examined CRIS records, we found that the 

details of when contact was made with the family were often missing. 

Page 78



UNDER EMBARGO 

 13 

Inconsistencies in FLO deployments 

A family is likely to receive more attention if an MIT takes charge of the investigation. 

A BCU FLO also has to deal with other day-to-day BCU duties while an MIT FLO is 

more likely to be dedicated to their family liaison role. There may even be a 

considerable difference in the time it takes to deploy BCU and MIT FLOs.  

Detectives told us that sometimes they take on the role of FLO themselves because a 

trained FLO isn’t available. 

Inclusion, diversity and equalities considerations when 

investigating death 

We were disappointed that officers don’t routinely consider protected characteristics or 

vulnerability during the initial investigation of death. Many of the documents that 

officers refer to have no advice and guidance on identifying protected characteristics. 

We also found little evidence that even the most obvious protected characteristics, 

such as race, were recorded in the death reports. And local (BCU) intelligence officers 

told us that many of the documents and reports they analysed rarely contained 

information on protected characteristics. 

Many frontline uniformed officers and supervisors couldn’t recall any training on 

protected characteristics within the context of death investigations. We asked how 

protected characteristics and vulnerability might influence an investigation. As with 

hate crime, most BCU uniformed officers, investigators and supervisors we spoke with 

said that they would treat everybody equally. 

But when we spoke with experienced, specialist crime detectives, they clearly 

understood that any protected characteristics may be a contributory factor in a death 

and so relevant to its investigation. 

Effectiveness of approach to community engagement 

The MPS has a three-tiered approach to community engagement, which covers: 

• pan-London engagement; 

• BCU-level engagement with local communities; and 

• engagement as part of a specific operation, incident or event. 

An LGBTQ+ independent advisory group is involved in pan-London community 

engagement. Clearly, the group makes a valuable contribution to policing.  

But members of the independent advisory group told us that LGBTQ+ communities 

distrusted the police. They thought that the MPS needed to show the same 

commitment to establishing links with LGBTQ+ communities as it does with 

communities with other protected characteristics.  

Page 79

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/independent-advisory-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 14 

Senior BCU officers recognise that they need to improve local engagement with 

LGBTQ+ communities. In 1999, the MPS established a network of officers to support 

tier 2 engagement and act as LGBTQ+ liaison officers. But force reorganisation in 

2018 reduced its focus on LGBTQ+ communities. We found little evidence that officers 

actively considered intersectionality (a concept for understanding how aspects of a 

person’s identities combine to create different and multiple discrimination and 

privilege) when engaging with communities. 

Leadership and accountability 

Governance 

We have some concerns about the MPS’s overall governance measures for 

unexpected deaths. The MPS lacks a force-level process to oversee all deaths. 

Although violent crimes and sexual offences, for example, are routinely considered 

and monitored, there is no similar process for unexpected deaths (other than 

homicides and deaths that are clearly suspicious). And the force doesn’t have a 

formal process for reviewing the categorisation of all deaths to make sure that they 

are correct. 

This means that suspicious deaths could be overlooked, and linked offences 

(particularly if committed in different BCUs or across police force boundaries) could 

be missed. 

Record keeping and case management 

The MPS has multiple systems for recording unexpected deaths and their  

initial investigation. This can lead to confusion, duplication and wasted time.  

It also means that the retrieval and analysis of information and data may be 

unnecessarily complicated. 

The MPS plans to introduce a new IT system (CONNECT) over the next two years.  

It is expected to replace eight of the MPS’s previous data systems with one 

‘connected’ system. But the system will only be effective if users can rely on the 

quality and accuracy of the data it contains. 

Property and exhibits 

After another, unconnected, inspection of the MPS in 2022, we raised concerns about 

its arrangements for managing exhibits and other property. During this inspection, we 

found that some officers still failed to accurately record property. Some officers told us 

that the MPS’s processes weren’t fit for purpose and that it wasn’t unusual for property 

(including drugs and cash) to go missing. They said that although procedures had 

been introduced or reinforced, it was “too late”. Clearly, the MPS still has a long way to 

go to improve its management of property and exhibits. 

Page 80



UNDER EMBARGO 

 15 

Reports to coroners 

The MPS covers seven separate and distinct coronial districts. The districts don’t all 

use the same systems and processes, which can create confusion for officers  

and staff. We recognise and respect the independence of individual coroners but 

would encourage the MPS and London coroners to consider introducing a single 

reporting system. One common system would mean coroners and officers could carry 

out better research and analysis. It may also help to improve the quality of police 

death reports. 

The quality of death reports 

We examined examples of the three different methods of reporting deaths to  

a coroner. We found inconsistencies in quality, detail and supervision. Some of the 

reports were very thorough, but others were woeful and lacked or incorrectly reported 

the most basic details. 

Interactions between BCUs and specialist teams 

The MPS 2022 death investigation policy says that a MIT will take charge of cases 

where homicide is apparent from the outset. It will also accept responsibility when an 

initial BCU-led investigation indicates the likelihood of homicide. But problems can still 

arise when a death is suspicious and third-party involvement is difficult to prove.  

In such circumstances, it often falls to BCU detectives to investigate, although they 

can call on the SCC for advice. 

We found that when the SCC provides advice to BCU officers, it was generally of a 

high quality. But most BCU detectives we spoke with were frustrated that the advice 

asked too much of a BCU, given the level of its officers’ experience and resources. 

While a MIT may monitor investigations, BCU officers told us that the SCC was 

reluctant to provide resources. We did find examples of specialist assistance being 

given to BCUs. But documents indicated that a MIT was often too busy to help  

any further. We appreciate the demands that everyone faces and the need to prioritise 

the use of limited resources. Nevertheless, we are concerned that inexperienced BCU 

detectives will eventually become overwhelmed. 

Learning lessons from other investigations 

We concluded, after a previous inspection, that the MPS’s approach to organisational 

learning was confusing. It was also described to us as fragmented. With so little time 

between our previous inspection and this one, we expected and found that little  

had changed. 

But we were encouraged by one development. During our inspection of the 

Metropolitan Police Service’s counter-corruption arrangements and other matters 

related to the Daniel Morgan Independent Panel, we were told that the MPS intended 

Page 81

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/organisational-learning/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/organisational-learning/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 16 

to build a network of 47 organisational learning hubs. At the time of this inspection, the 

MPS had established eight hubs, two of which are in BCUs. Although the hubs had 

only recently been introduced, we were pleased to find that one BCU hub had 

commissioned a review of 12 death investigations. 

Learning from the Stephen Port case 

We assessed whether the MPS has learned from its mistakes and made changes. 

Operation Lilford 

When the MPS set up Operation Lilford in October 2015, much of its attention during 

the early stages was on supporting the ongoing investigation and matters such as 

family liaison and the murders’ effect on the LGBTQ+ community. As the group 

became more established, organisational learning became an increasingly important 

part of its work. 

Matters identified by the coroner 

The coroner set out her specific matters of concern under seven different topics.  

They formed the basis of our terms of reference. We recognise the action that the 

MPS has taken to address these matters, but we still have concerns. Our findings are 

included throughout this report. 

Matters identified by the MPS 

In responding to the coroner’s concerns, the MPS told her that, during the inquests, 

it had identified areas of learning and taken immediate action to address them. 

We weren’t so confident. 

During our inspection, we were reassured by the steps the MPS has taken to review 

the role of its LGBTQ+ advisors. And we found that the force had reviewed its family 

liaison terminology. In 2021, it revised its policies and clarified its definition of family.  

It also included the new definition in its 2022 death investigation policy. 

The MPS also said that it would provide coroners with details of an information and 

intelligence data analytical system (MetInsights) that it uses. We couldn’t find any 

confirmation that the MPS had done so, although it had recognised that the system 

could be of potential benefit to coroners. 

In response to the coroner’s preventing future deaths report, the MPS acknowledged 

that it needed to urgently review post-mortem training. Furthermore, it appreciated that 

it didn’t have a formal process for a coroner to raise concerns about an investigation. 

The MPS said that it intended to review policy and guidance. In January 2022, the 

MPS introduced new training and amended force policy. But the officers and staff we 

spoke to during our inspection had little knowledge of the coronial process and had 

received little training. 

Page 82



UNDER EMBARGO 

 17 

The MPS was to also consider how it could prevent an officer from making an 

inaccurate entry on its CRIS. The new CONNECT IT system is intended to replace  

the CRIS. The MPS said that policy will provide clear direction about CONNECT’s use 

and the related supervisory responsibilities. We concluded that a robust governance 

and monitoring process will be needed.  

Other matters we identified 

We identified two further matters for consideration: training and chemsex. 

Training 

During our inspection, officers and staff told us repeatedly that MPS training was 

inadequate in many areas. We share their concerns. While we found some examples 

of good training, we found it was lacking in other areas. Three areas that caused us 

the greatest concern are: 

• training on coronial matters; 

• sudden death training for response officers and their supervisors; and 

• training to cover the lessons learned from the Stephen Port case. 

Chemsex 

On a positive note, we commend the MPS’s work to reduce the potential harm caused 

by chemsex. The MPS hasn’t only developed detailed training for its own officers but 

has also trained other professionals on the risks and harm associated with chemsex.  

It has also produced detailed written guidance. 

When we spoke with MPS officers and staff, we were encouraged by their level  

of knowledge. We also examined cases involving chemsex-related deaths.  

These cases showed their understanding of the subject. 

Recommendations 

This was an inspection of the MPS rather than the police service as a whole. 

Therefore, our recommendations are naturally orientated toward the MPS.  

However, we would encourage chief constables of all police forces to use this report to 

examine the arrangements they have in place for death investigation. 

We acknowledge that the MPS is already taking steps to address some of our 

recommendations. We informed them of our findings during the inspection so that they 

could make progress without delay. Our findings and recommendations are based on 

the situation we found at the time of this inspection.  

Page 83



UNDER EMBARGO 

 18 

We have made 20 recommendations. They fall into the following six categories and 

aim to: 

• ensure that the 2022 MPS death investigation policy and guidance are clear and 

easy to access (see recommendations 1, 2, 4, 10 and 17); 

• improve the quality and scope of training available to those officers and staff likely 

to respond to and investigate reports of death in London (see recommendations 6, 

8 and 12); 

• increase the use of intelligence by officers responding to reports of death to help 

identify any links between them and promote a better understanding of death 

patterns across London (see recommendations 3, 7, 15 and 16); 

• review the introduction of new local forensic support arrangements to support BCU 

officers in dealing with reports of unexpected death (see recommendation 5); 

• improve the quality of investigations into unexpected deaths with specific 

reference to family liaison and how investigative reviews are conducted 

(see recommendations 9, 11, 13, 18, 19 and 20); and 

• improve the links with groups and charities to help the MPS to better assess the 

quality of its work with bereaved families (see recommendation 14). 

 

 

Recommendation 1 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service policy manager should 

make sure that any references to out-of-date policies and guidance about 

unexpected death on the force’s intranet are archived so that only current policies, 

guidance and toolkits are available to officers and staff. 

Recommendation 2 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service policy manager should 

develop and start a process to make sure that policies, guidance and toolkits 

about the investigation of unexpected death are: 

• always kept current; 

• subject to clear version control; 

• assessed at the appropriate security classification and managed in accordance 

with the requirements of the classification, including the application of 

protective marking; 

• allocated to a policy owner whose identity should be clearly displayed on the 

policy document; and 

• subject to regular review as often as is suitable for the policy, guidance  

or toolkit. 

Page 84

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 19 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 3 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service head of investigations 

should make sure that intelligence checks are carried out for all reports of 

unexpected death in accordance with its 2022 death investigation policy.  

These should include checks of national databases, including the Police National 

Database and the Police National Computer, together with checks of the force’s 

integrated intelligence platform and, where this isn’t available, the crime report 

information system and the missing persons and related linked indices  

intelligence system. For every unexpected death, initial intelligence checks should 

be completed on the location, any informants and the deceased person. 

Recommendation 4 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for basic command 

units should make sure that all reports to the coroner for unexpected deaths are 

signed off by a duty inspector or detective inspector as having been correctly 

categorised, in line with its 2022 death investigation policy. 

Recommendation 5 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for forensics should 

evaluate the introduction of local digital forensic investigation teams across the 

force, standardise the services they offer and make sure officers are aware of the 

support they can draw on for their investigations. 

Recommendation 6 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should make 

sure that those officers and police staff who may be called upon to respond to and 

investigate an unexpected death understand the coronial system and their own 

role in supporting the coroners’ investigations. 

Page 85

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/digital-forensics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 20 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 7 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of intelligence should 

devise an approach to make sure the force can, on a sufficiently frequent basis, 

produce an analytical report concerning its death investigations. This will help the 

force to: 

• better understand the pattern of death reports across the force area, drawing 

on force data and information gathered by other organisations including the 

NHS and local authorities; and 

• identify any linked series of death reports. 

Recommendation 8 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should 

make sure that all officers and staff carrying out operational roles receive  

face-to-face or online refresher training on the force’s approach to hate crime. 

Recommendation 9 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that all protected characteristics are recorded and considered 

as part of any investigation into a reported death. 

Recommendation 10 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison 

should make sure that all family liaison policies and guidance documents include 

the College of Policing’s definition of family. The definition states that family 

includes partners, parents, siblings, children, guardians and others who may not 

be related but who have a direct and close relationship with the victim. 

Recommendation 11 

By 30 April 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison should 

make sure that all family liaison officers are appropriately screened for the role. 

Page 86

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.college.police.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation 12 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should ensure 

that all officers who might be asked to deliver a death message have  

been trained. 

Recommendation 13 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that senior investigating officers set a clear family liaison 

strategy whenever a family liaison officer is deployed. The strategy should be 

reviewed and developed to include an exit strategy. 

Recommendation 14 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison should 

establish a system to gather feedback from bereaved families, independent 

support groups and charities on the quality of its family liaison service. It should 

use this feedback to improve the training of its officers and the service  

they provide. 

Recommendation 15 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for grip and pace  

(a force-wide management process) should make sure that all unexpected deaths 

under investigation are included on daily crime bulletins. 

Recommendation 16 

With immediate effect, basic command unit senior leadership teams should 

consider all unexpected deaths that occur in their area as part of their daily 

governance arrangements. 

Recommendation 17 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that unexpected deaths under investigation are reviewed by 

basic command unit senior detectives in accordance with the force’s 2022 death 

investigation policy. 

Page 87

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 22 

 

 

 

Recommendation 18 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should establish a systematic approach to reviewing unexpected deaths, including 

those that have been investigated and deemed non-suspicious, to make sure that 

deaths have been correctly classified. 

Recommendation 19 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service should consider how to 

distribute investigative experience across basic command units and between 

specialist teams to provide a more even spread. 

Recommendation 20 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for training should 

make sure that the lessons learned from the force’s response to the murders 

committed by Stephen Port are included in training given to frontline officers and 

staff who may be called on to initially respond to a death report. 

Page 88

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 23 

Introduction 

Background 

In June 2014, in Barking, East London, Stephen Port drugged, raped and murdered a 

young man. He left his victim, who died from an overdose of gamma-hydroxybutyrate, 

in the open air outside his flat. In a little over a year, Port went on to murder another 

three young men on the same premises, in the same way. On those occasions, he 

took their bodies to a nearby church graveyard and left them slumped against a wall. 

Despite obvious similarities, the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) failed to see that 

the deaths might be connected. The force even failed to recognise that the four men, 

who were all gay, had been murdered. It only identified Port as a murder suspect 

one month after he had claimed his last victim. And it only made the connection to 

Port by chance, after grieving relatives persistently refused to accept the MPS’s 

original conclusions. 

Had the police conducted an appropriate and thorough investigation after the first 

death, it is possible that three of the victims would still be alive. 

In May 2015, before Port had committed his fourth murder, HM Coroner for East 

London Nadia Persaud opened the first inquests into the deaths of Gabriel Kovari and 

Daniel Whitworth, two of his victims. In June 2015, the coroner returned open verdicts, 

saying there was no reliable evidence on which to base her findings. 

In October 2015, Port was arrested – a month after he had killed his last victim. 

In November 2016, Port was convicted of 22 offences against 11 men. The offences 

included the murders of Anthony Walgate, Gabriel Kovari, Daniel Whitworth and  

Jack Taylor. 

In November 2017, following Port’s conviction, the High Court quashed the coroner’s 

open verdicts on the deaths of Gabriel Kovari and Daniel Whitworth. 

In late 2021, HM Coroner HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then QC) opened new inquests into 

all four murders and returned verdicts of unlawful killing.  

Page 89



UNDER EMBARGO 

 24 

About us 

His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services independently 

assesses the effectiveness and efficiency of police forces and fire and rescue 

services, in the public interest. In preparing our reports, we ask the questions that the 

public would ask, and publish the answers in accessible form. We use our expertise to 

interpret the evidence and make recommendations for improvement. 

Our commission 

On 3 December 2021, Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime wrote 

to us, requesting an inspection of the MPS under section 54 (2BA) of the Police 

Act 1996. 

We were asked to inspect the MPS’s current standard of death investigations and 

assure the then MPS Commissioner, Cressida Dick, and the Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime that the MPS had learned from these cases. We focused on five 

broad areas, following the terms of reference for this inspection, which are: 

• initial death categorisation and investigation procedures; 

• family liaison processes in relation to death investigation; 

• inclusion, diversity and equalities considerations when investigating death; 

• leadership and accountability of death investigation; and 

• learning lessons from ongoing investigations. 

Independent Office for Police Conduct investigation 

In October 2015, the MPS voluntarily referred concerns about the original 

investigations to the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC). The IOPC 

conducted an initial investigation. 

In June 2022, the IOPC announced that, in light of evidence heard at the final 

inquests, it would reinvestigate the officers involved, who may have breached 

professional standards of policing conduct. Because of this, it is inappropriate for us to 

comment further on the IOPC’s involvement.  

Page 90

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/section/54
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/16/section/54
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 25 

Methodology 

Our inspection took place between May and November 2022. We carried out fieldwork 

in the MPS and visited 14 central teams, 4 basic command units and 2 major 

investigation teams. We carried out: 

• a document review, in which we examined 273 documents, including policies and 

procedures and other material; 

• a review of 100 death investigations throughout the MPS, comprising 42 death 

investigation reports submitted by the MPS to HM coroners, 50 computerised 

crime report information system reports (40 of which took place after the MPS 

introduced a new death investigation policy) and 8 other unexplained  

death reports; 

• a total of 34 interviews with 55 people; 

• 34 focus groups with 119 police officers and staff; 

• reality testing by talking to officers across the force and examining 54  

computer-aided dispatch records; and 

• 40 homicide assessment team reports, in which we reviewed 31 individual cases, 

including 20 initial assessments. 

This report’s relationship with another inspection report 

While this inspection was underway, the Home Secretary commissioned us to carry 

out a separate thematic inspection of homicide prevention in police forces in England 

and Wales. The inspection is jointly supported by the National Police Chiefs’ Council, 

the College of Policing and the IOPC. 

The inspection will examine how effectively forces understand the pattern of homicide 

in their areas, including the underlying causes and risks. It will also consider how 

forces contribute to the prevention of homicides and how they use the homicide 

prevention framework. 

The inspection is being carried out in eight police forces, including the MPS, and its 

findings are due to be published in summer 2023. 

Terminology in this report 

Our report contains references to ‘national’ bodies, strategies, policies, systems, 

responsibilities, processes and data. In some instances, ‘national’ means applying to 

England and Wales. In others, it means applying to England and Wales and Scotland, 

or the whole of the United Kingdom. 

Page 91

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/reality-testing/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/thematic-inspection/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-police-chiefs-council/
https://www.college.police.uk/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 26 

1. A summary of the Metropolitan Police 
Service’s response to the four deaths 

In this chapter, we consider the four murders which Stephen Port committed, the 

Metropolitan Police Service’s (MPS’s) response to the deaths and the events  

which followed. We also consider what the MPS knew about Port before the murders 

– information which should have set alarm bells ringing when he reported finding  

a body. 

Port’s background and lifestyle 

Stephen Port was born on 22 February 1975 in Southend-on-Sea, Essex, but grew 

up in East London. On leaving school, he first went to art college but then left to train 

to be a chef. At the time of the murders, he was working as a chef at a bus depot. 

In 2014, he appeared in an episode of a BBC television programme (Celebrity 

MasterChef), which was filmed there. 

Port is openly gay. It has been established that at the time of the murders, he was 

very promiscuous and obsessed with pornography. He arranged to meet sexual 

partners through online dating apps, such as Grindr, Bender, Fitlads and Sleepyboy. 

He is now commonly referred to as ‘the Grindr killer’. 

Port used false names for his profiles on the apps. He would either agree to meet 

young men in person at Barking Rail Station before taking them to his nearby flat at  

62 Cooke Street or he would arrange for them to go directly to his flat. There, he 

drugged and raped many of them. 

Chemsex 

Chemsex is a term that is used to describe sex, most frequently sex between men, 

which occurs under the influence of drugs. Port was well aware of the opportunities 

that chemsex presented to him. The drugs used for chemsex are typically 

methamphetamine (a stimulant), mephedrone (a stimulant) or gamma-hydroxybutyrate 

(GHB (a sedative)). Those involved may take these drugs voluntarily, in the belief that 

they will increase sexual satisfaction or reduce inhibitions. But Port sometimes 

administered them to men without their consent. 

Page 92



UNDER EMBARGO 

 27 

Port knew that by stupefying young men who may otherwise have been consensual 

sexual partners, he could perform any act he wanted. His drug of choice appears to 

have been GHB. 

We examine the police’s awareness of and approach to offences involving chemsex in 

more detail in chapter 10. 

Previous incidents 

Stephen Port was 39 years old when he committed his first murder. He had no 

criminal convictions at that time but had already come to the attention of the police 

on two occasions. Both incidents were on police record, and their details would 

have been available to officers at the time of the first death. Both should have 

raised concerns because of their similarities to the circumstances of Anthony 

Walgate’s death. 

On 1 January 2013, a young man (one of Port’s former partners) told the police that 

Port had drugged and raped him on various occasions. Although the complainant 

decided not to support a criminal prosecution, the relevant information was recorded 

on both the Police National Computer (PNC) and the MPS’s crime report information 

system (CRIS). 

On 4 June 2014, only two weeks before Port’s first murder, the British Transport 

Police responded to a report of a man being assaulted at Barking Rail Station.  

When they reached the scene, officers saw two men: one was clearly under the 

influence of drugs; the other was Stephen Port. 

When questioned, Port told the police that he had met the other man through  

the internet. He claimed that he had found the other man outside his home and that 

the man had taken drugs. Port said that he was looking through the man’s property for 

his mobile phone. Details of this incident were recorded by British Transport Police 

and would have been available to officers from other forces, including the MPS, 

through the Police National Database (PND). 

More incidents involving Port, and the full extent of his offending during this time, 

would only come to light much later. 

The four murders 

The murder of Anthony Patrick Walgate 

Anthony Patrick Walgate was born on 8 May 1991 in Hull. At the time of his death, 

he was living as a student in London. He was introduced to Port through a website. 

On 17 June 2014, he arranged to meet Port in Barking. Before leaving home, he told 

friends where he was going and who he intended to meet. He even gave them an 

address and showed them Port’s photograph. 

Page 93

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 28 

During the early hours of 19 June 2014, Port made an anonymous 999 call and 

told the police that he had found a young man collapsed in Cooke Street, Barking. 

Police officers found Anthony Walgate, who was already dead, slumped against a wall 

outside the block of flats where Port lived. In a black holdall next to his body, police 

found a small bottle containing a clear liquid. His mobile phone wasn’t there, but the 

police found identification to show who he was. 

The officers who attended thought that Anthony’s torso showed signs of bruising in the 

shape of a foot mark. A crime scene manager attended and said that the 

discolouration was caused by an accumulation of blood in the lower parts of the body 

after death (hypostasis). 

Although Port hadn’t given his details and wasn’t present when the police first 

attended, he was traced through the mobile number with which he had made the  

999 call. There was no reply when officers initially called at his flat, but the police later 

obtained a written statement from him. He lied and said that he had found Anthony 

Walgate outside his block of flats when he arrived home from work at about 4am. 

A post-mortem examination was carried out the following day. It was inconclusive, 

although the findings were consistent with a drug overdose. Significantly, the 

underpants (boxer shorts) that Anthony was wearing were inside out and back to front, 

and the fly on his jeans was open, with a broken zip. There was also bruising to his 

inner upper left arm.  

The MPS sent samples for toxicology tests but didn’t receive the results until  

10 September 2014. The pathologist found that Anthony had died from an overdose  

of GHB. 

But by 26 June 2014, the officers investigating Anthony’s death had become aware of 

the PNC record of allegations made in 2013 by Port’s former partner. They had also 

shown a photograph of Port to two of Anthony’s friends, who recognised him from a 

photograph that Anthony had shown them of a man he had arranged to meet.  

They thought Port was called ‘Joe Dean’ because he had used a false name. 

When Port was interviewed, he eventually admitted that he had met Anthony for sex 

but claimed that Anthony had administered the drugs to himself. He said he had left 

Anthony sleeping in his bed when he went to work, only to find him dead on his return. 

Port claimed he had panicked and taken Anthony Walgate’s body outside. 

During the interviews, Port apparently referred to the 2014 incident at Barking  

Railway Station. The interviewing officers didn’t realise the significance of what he 

was saying and failed to request a PND record check to investigate it further. 

Following the interviews, Port was charged with perverting the course of justice and 

was released on bail. He later pleaded guilty and, on 23 March 2015, was sentenced 

to eight months in prison. He was released on 4 June 2015. While on bail, Port 

committed two more murders. After serving his sentence, he committed another one. 

Page 94

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/bail/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 29 

The murder of Gabriel Kovari 

Gabriel Kovari was born on 17 June 1992 in Košice, Slovakia. He had come to the 

UK as a student. At the time of his death, he was living in a rented room in London. 

He met Port on the internet and moved into Port’s flat on 23 August 2014. He sent 

photographs of the inside of Port’s flat to a friend and identified the location with a 

digital map ‘pin drop’ using his mobile phone. 

Five days later, on 28 August 2014, a woman walking her dog found Gabriel’s body 

slumped against a wall in St Margaret’s churchyard, less than a quarter of a mile from 

Port’s flat. He had been murdered. 

The police attended and, again, found no sign of apparent injury. Gabriel’s mobile 

phone was missing but, as in Anthony Walgate’s case, police found a small bottle 

with him. Documents discovered at the scene showed his previous address. 

The police didn’t treat his death as suspicious. But the toxicology results received on 

7 October 2014 indicated fatal levels of GHB. 

Gabriel’s friends started to make their own enquiries into his death. One found an app 

user who appeared to know Gabriel. The app user said his name was Jon Luck.  

They exchanged frequent messages. ‘Luck’ was, in fact, Stephen Port. 

The murder of Daniel Whitworth 

Daniel Whitworth was born on 22 March 1993 in Gravesend, Kent. He was still living 

in Gravesend at the time of his death and was working as a chef. He was in a  

long-term relationship with another young man when he came into contact with Port 

through the internet. He arranged to meet Port in Barking on 18 September 2014. 

On 20 September 2014, the same dog-walker found Daniel’s body slumped against 

the same wall in St Margaret’s churchyard. He, too, had no apparent injuries and no 

mobile but, again, police discovered a small bottle. He was lying on a blue bed sheet 

and his left hand held an apparent suicide note. 

The note suggested that Daniel had committed suicide because he had killed his 

friend ‘Gabriel Kline’ (presumably a reference to Gabriel Kovari). It also said that 

Daniel had had sex with another man the previous night and that he had taken an 

overdose of GHB and sleeping pills. 

The police emailed a fragment of the note to Daniel’s father and asked him to identify 

his son’s handwriting. Conflicting evidence was later given at the inquests as to 

whether he had done this. Daniel’s father said that he couldn’t be sure, while the 

police said that he had made a positive identification. Regardless, the police treated 

the note as authentic. 

Page 95



UNDER EMBARGO 

 30 

We understand that the police took possession of an address book which Daniel used. 

Apparently, the handwriting in the book was clearly different to that on the supposed 

suicide note. The police didn’t compare it. 

We report further on this matter in chapter 2 when we examine the coroner’s concerns 

about the MPS’s approach to verifying the note. 

The post-mortem examination was, again, inconclusive, although the pathologist 

found bruising to Daniel’s left armpit. The toxicology results weren’t received until 

November 2014, but, again, they revealed a fatal level of GHB. The police didn’t 

receive a final post-mortem report until April 2015, by which time they had closed  

the investigation. At that time, Port was in prison for perverting the course of justice. 

The murder of Jack Taylor 

Jack Taylor was born on 20 June 1990 in Newham, London. At the time of his death, 

he lived with his family in Dagenham, Essex, and worked in a warehouse. Jack met 

Port in Barking during the early hours of 13 September 2015, having made initial 

contact through a website. His body was found slumped against a wall in the same 

churchyard where Gabriel Kovari and Daniel Whitworth had been found. 

The scene had been staged to give the impression that Jack had taken an overdose: 

he had a bottle of GHB in one trouser pocket and a hypodermic syringe and tourniquet 

in another. Again, his mobile phone was missing. The police treated his death as a 

non-suspicious drug overdose. 

Jack’s family, and especially his sisters, weren’t convinced by the conclusion that the 

police had reached. At their request, the police obtained CCTV recordings that 

showed Jack in Barking, walking with a man. 

Port was only identified as the man in the footage because an officer who had been 

involved in Anthony Walgate’s case recognised him from an image that had been 

circulated in a local newspaper. It was only then that the MPS linked the cases and 

started a thorough reinvestigation. 

The police response to the deaths and its failings 

The initial police response to the deaths of four young men, whose bodies were found 

in the open, was wholly unacceptable. The MPS failed to carry out even the most 

basic enquiries and in only one case (the first, Anthony Walgate) conducted anything 

approaching a competent investigation. Furthermore, its interaction with the victims’ 

families wasn’t good enough. It was uncaring and, at times, virtually non-existent.  

Page 96



UNDER EMBARGO 

 31 

The MPS treated each case in isolation and failed to find, or even look for, the obvious 

links between them. They decided that each cause of death was a self-administered 

drug overdose and generally looked for little else. Even when the same officers 

attended different deaths in almost identical circumstances, their suspicions  

weren’t aroused. 

Had officers shown even a little more awareness, Stephen Port’s potential 

involvement would have become apparent very quickly. But they failed to investigate 

the victims’ movements and who they had been in contact with. They didn’t follow up 

on PNC information they obtained about Port, and they entirely missed a PND entry 

that would have given vital clues. They failed to examine telephone and computer 

equipment that wouldn’t only have led them to Port but would also have shown his 

obsession with violent sexual pornography. 

The police also failed to respond to concerns raised by the coroner during the first 

inquests into Gabriel Kovari’s and Daniel Whitworth’s deaths, which recorded  

open verdicts. Even when the coroner raised concerns about bruising and a failure to 

forensically examine items, including DNA and fingerprint examinations, the police  

did nothing. They didn’t even properly investigate the authenticity of Daniel 

Whitworth’s supposed suicide note. 

These failings have largely been attributed to the action, or inaction, of local officers. 

But central specialist teams must also shoulder the blame. When local officers 

realised that Port had lied to them about Anthony Walgate’s death, they asked the 

MPS’s homicide and major crime command unit to take charge of the investigation.  

It declined to do so, as the investigation hadn’t yet been assessed as homicide.  

With all its experience and resources, had it taken over, much of what followed could 

have been averted. 

Operation Lilford 

On 14 October 2015, local officers identified Port from the CCTV recording that 

showed him in the company of Jack Taylor. It was only then that they recognised the 

links between the four deaths, which should have been obvious throughout.  

Faced with the prospect of using their limited resources and experience to investigate 

a serial killer, they turned, again, to the MPS’s specialist murder investigators. 

Surprisingly, the specialist team didn’t initially accept primacy for the investigation.  

But the next day (15 October 2015) it reviewed its decision and took charge. 

The reinvestigation that followed, called Operation Lilford, was swift, painstaking and 

thorough – as the original investigation should have been. Experienced officers 

reviewed the available evidence and researched information regarding the suspect. 

They decided that same day to arrest Stephen Port on suspicion of having committed 

four murders. Having subsequently gathered enough evidence, they charged him with 

all four offences. 

Page 97



UNDER EMBARGO 

 32 

But the investigators didn’t stop there. They suspected that there were more victims 

who were still alive. Working with LGBTQ+ charities and support groups, they 

appealed for them to come forward. As a result, Port was later charged with a series 

of other serious sexual offences against eight different men. Then, in preparation for 

trial, the police reviewed hundreds of previously reported attacks looking for any 

connections to Port. 

Stephen Port’s trial at the Central Criminal Court (The Old Bailey) lasted for more than 

two months. He faced 29 charges, which included 4 murders, 7 male rapes, 4 other 

assaults by penetration and 10 charges of administering GHB to stupefy for a  

sexual purpose. In November 2016, he was convicted of 22 offences against a total of 

11 men (including the four murder victims). The trial judge sentenced him to life 

imprisonment with a whole life order. 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/types-of-prison-sentence/life-sentences


UNDER EMBARGO 

 33 

2. HM coroners’ inquests 

The initial inquests 

In June 2015, before Stephen Port was caught, the coroner, Nadia Persaud, had 

returned open verdicts on the initial inquests into Gabriel Kovari’s and Daniel 

Whitworth’s deaths. Following Port’s arrest, the inquests into the deaths of Anthony 

Walgate and Jack Taylor were paused until the end of his trial. 

When Port was convicted of murder, the High Court granted an order quashing 

the conclusions of the initial inquests into the deaths of Gabriel Kovari and 

Daniel Whitworth. 

On 1 May 2019, HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then QC) was appointed to conduct second 

inquests into Gabriel and Daniel’s deaths and to resume the inquests into the deaths 

of Anthony Walgate and Jack Taylor. 

The Barking Town Hall inquests 

On 5 October 2021, evidential hearings started at Barking Town Hall. The second 

inquests into Gabriel and Daniel’s deaths and the resumed inquests into Anthony and 

Jack’s deaths concluded on 10 December 2021. At the inquests, the jury determined 

that each of the four men had been unlawfully killed. Transcripts of the hearings and 

copies of relevant rulings are available on the coroner’s website. 

The Regulation 28 report 

Following the inquests, the coroner produced a preventing future deaths report (often 

referred to as a Regulation 28 report) under paragraph 7 of Schedule 5 (as given 

effect by section 32) to the Coroners and Justice Act 2009 and Regulations 28 and 29 

of the Coroners (Investigations) Regulations 2013. 

The coroner’s report following the inquests into the deaths of Anthony, Gabriel, Daniel 

and Jack defines a coroner’s duties in the following way: 

“A Coroner comes under a duty to make a Report (Coroners and Justice Act 2009, 

Schedule 5, paragraph 7) where: 

(a) anything revealed by the investigation gives rise to a concern that 

circumstances creating a risk of other deaths will occur or will continue to exist in 

the future; and 

Page 99

https://www.eastlondoninquests.org.uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/25/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1629/made


UNDER EMBARGO 

 34 

(b) in the Coroner’s opinion, action should be taken to prevent the occurrence or 

continuation of such circumstances, or to eliminate or reduce the risk of death 

created by such circumstances. 

“A Report in this context is a report to prevent other deaths (Coroners 

(Investigations) Regulations 2013, Regulation 28). 

“If these conditions are satisfied the coroner must report the matter to ‘a person 

who the coroner believes may have power to take such action’ (Coroners and 

Justice Act 2009, Schedule 5, paragraph 7).” 

Having considered the evidence gathered during her investigation into the deaths and 

the evidence heard at the inquests, the coroner reported that there were matters that 

gave her cause for concern. She concluded that, without attention, those matters 

might result in more deaths: “In my opinion, there are risks that future deaths could 

occur unless action is taken to address those risks.” 

The coroner’s overarching considerations 

Before setting out her individual matters of concern in the Regulation 28 report, the 

coroner addressed what she thought to be overarching considerations. She stated 

that: “Perhaps the most striking of these was the large number of very serious and 

very basic investigative failings…” 

She also addressed more general issues. These included: 

• a lack of professional curiosity by the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers 

who investigated the deaths; 

• applying misconduct and unsatisfactory police performance regulations directed to 

some officers involved in the investigations; and 

• potential prejudice, in the form of assumptions, stereotyping and unconscious bias, 

which may have detrimentally affected the MPS’s decision-making in these 

investigations. 

Professional curiosity 

With regard to professional curiosity, the inquests repeatedly heard evidence that 

officers lacked the curiosity and motivation to investigate and find out what had 

actually happened when each of the young men’s bodies was found. 

While the coroner didn’t raise this as a formal matter of concern, she wanted to place 

on record for the benefit of the MPS and the police nationally that this was a key 

lesson from the inquests.  

Page 100

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/unconscious-bias/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 35 

Misconduct and unsatisfactory performance procedures 

The reference to misconduct regulations was as a result of submissions from lawyers 

representing some of the victims’ families. The lawyers referred to claims of potential 

unsatisfactory performance procedures levelled against some police officers. But the 

coroner didn’t consider that evidence regarding specific errors made by individual 

officers in these circumstances engaged her duty under the Coroners and Justice Act 

2009, Schedule 5, paragraph 7 and so didn’t address misconduct procedures as a 

matter of concern. 

But the coroner did want to draw the Independent Office for Police Conduct (IOPC)’s 

attention to evidence heard during the inquests that exposed failings that the IOPC 

hadn’t identified during its own investigation. As we report in chapter 1, the IOPC 

opened a reinvestigation. 

Prejudice 

During the inquests, a lawyer representing one of the victim’s partners asked the 

coroner to require the MPS to consider whether prejudice affected its investigations. 

The coroner didn’t consider it appropriate to include this matter in a Regulation 28 

report but drew our attention to an analysis which the IOPC had conducted. In doing 

so, the coroner reported how assumptions, stereotyping and unconscious bias may 

have detrimentally affected the decision-making and contributed to the failure to 

identify Stephen Port as a perpetrator sooner. 

The coroner also recommended the analysis to Baroness Casey of Blackstock DBE 

CB who, at this time, was leading an independent review (commissioned by the MPS) 

into the MPS’s culture and standards of behaviour. The Baroness Casey Review Final 

Report was published on 23 March 2023. 

The IOPC hasn’t published the findings from its initial investigation. 

Matters of concern  

The coroner set out her matters of concern (MC) under seven topic headings but 

grouped the final two topics together: 

• Topic 1: categorisation of suspicious, non-suspicious and unexplained deaths. 

• Topic 2: the interaction between specialist homicide investigators and basic 

command unit (BCU) officers. 

• Topic 3: leadership. 

• Topic 4: use of the crime report information system (CRIS) and the new IT system, 

CONNECT. 

• Topic 5: verification of handwriting. 

• Topics 6 and 7: death messages and coroners’ observations. 

Page 101

https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/bcr/baroness-casey-review/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/bcr/baroness-casey-review/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 36 

The coroner addressed each of her concerns to one or more of the following: 

• The Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis (the MPS Commissioner). 

• The Chair of the National Police Chiefs' Council (NPCC). 

• The Chief Executive Officer of the College of Policing (CoP). 

• The Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport. 

Each addressee had a duty to respond to the concerns within 56 days of the date of 

the Regulation 28 report. Each response had to contain details of action taken or 

proposed to be taken, setting out the timetable for action. If the addressee didn’t 

propose any action, their response had to explain why. 

We summarise the individual topics and matters of concern in this chapter.  

We consider the MPS’s responses to them in chapter 10, when we assess the MPS’s 

approach to organisational learning. 

The coroner’s concerns informed the terms of reference for this inspection. 

Topic 1: Categorisation of suspicious, non-suspicious and unexplained  

deaths (MC1) 

The coroner addressed her first matter of concern (MC1) to the MPS Commissioner. 

Because of its likely relevance to policing nationally, she also addressed it to the Chair 

of the NPCC and the Chief Executive of the CoP. 

At the time of Stephen Port’s murders, MPS police officers could use both MPS and 

national guidance when responding to reports of death. The coroner noted that the 

national guidance, which was in effect at the time of the murders, advised that when 

there was uncertainty as to a cause of death, the police must investigate it as if it was 

a homicide until the evidence proves otherwise. MPS policy in 2014 and 2015 

supported this approach. 

But as the coroner reported: 

“The officers investigating the sudden deaths of Anthony, Gabriel, Daniel and Jack 

allowed themselves to categorise these deaths as ‘unexplained’ rather than 

establishing, through investigation, a satisfactory explanation of the circumstances 

of the death.” 

The coroner heard evidence that, in 2018, the MPS had established a working group 

to consider the interaction between BCUs and the force’s major investigation  

teams (MITs). As part of its remit, the group considered whether relevant MPS policies 

should be amended to clarify what was meant by unexplained, suspicious and  

non-suspicious deaths.  

Page 102

https://www.college.police.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/organisational-learning/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 37 

In June 2022, the MPS published a new death investigation policy. This wasn’t 

available when the coroner wrote the Regulation 28 report, so she considered the 

MPS’s 2021 policy, which was still in force at the time. She was concerned about a 

lack of clarity in the policy and recorded her first matter of concern: 

“It is a matter of concern that although the current MPS policy, the Death 

Investigation Policy, dated 24 May 2021, similarly stipulates that officers attending 

the scene of a sudden death should treat the scene and incident as suspicious 

until satisfied that it is not, the term ‘unexplained’ as used in the current policy may 

once again distract officers from the correct and necessary approach, which is for 

the death to be treated as suspicious unless and until the police investigation has 

established that it is not (MC1).” 

Topic 2: The interaction between specialist homicide investigators and BCU 

officers (MC2A and MC2B) 

The coroner addressed her next matters of concern (MC2A and MC2B) to the  

MPS Commissioner. Again, because of their likely relevance to policing nationally, she 

also addressed them to the chair of the NPCC and the chief executive of the CoP. 

The coroner found that one of the central issues was that of primacy. In this instance, 

primacy meant who had responsibility for an investigation (that is, who was to  

take charge). MPS policy at the relevant time stated that the MPS’s homicide and 

major crime command (SCO1) should take charge of homicide investigations but that 

borough policing command unit (BOCU, which later became BCU) officers would 

retain primacy where they believed there was no third-party involvement in the death. 

In accordance with policy, local officers were to contact SCO1 when they thought it 

appropriate for a MIT to take charge of an investigation. But the decision whether to 

take charge had to be made by SCO1, which also decided on the amount of support 

to give to a BOCU, if any, in the event that SCO1 didn’t accept primacy. 

Following Anthony Walgate’s death, BOCU officers asked SCO1 to take charge of the 

investigation due to Stephen Port’s probable involvement and because the BOCU 

didn’t have a suitably qualified detective to lead the investigation. SCO1 decided not to 

take charge. 

The BOCU also asked SCO1 to take charge of the investigation after the discovery of 

Daniel Whitworth’s body. At that point, the likelihood of homicide was more explicit: 

the note found with Daniel’s body said that he had committed suicide after killing  

his friend. Again, SCO1 refused. 

The coroner noted that MPS policy had changed since the murders but expressed her 

concern about the policy that was still in use at the time of the inquests: 

“It is a matter of concern that the current policy framework guiding decisions on 

primacy still lacks clarity (MC2A).” 

Page 103



UNDER EMBARGO 

 38 

The coroner also recorded her concern about the level of support available to BCU 

officers if MIT officers didn’t accept primacy for an investigation. She recognised 

that the MIT did give the BOCU some support following the deaths of Anthony 

Walgate, Gabriel Kovari and Daniel Whitworth but said that, at times, that support 

was unsatisfactory. 

The coroner acknowledged that a lot had been done since the murders to improve the 

level of support available to BCUs when they retain primacy. She noted, too, that the 

working group was considering the matter of support in such instances but concluded: 

“It remains a matter of concern that there is a lack of clarity surrounding the levels 

of support that can be expected from the specialist homicide investigators and 

crime scene managers or other forensic practitioners in the investigation of deaths 

where primacy remains with the BCU.” 

Topic 3: Leadership (MC3A and MC3B) 

The coroner addressed her next matter of concern (MC3A) to the MPS Commissioner. 

Again, she also addressed it to the chair of the NPCC and the chief executive of the 

CoP because of its likely relevance to policing nationally. 

The coroner addressed the second concern under this topic (MC3B) to the MPS 

Commissioner and the chair of the NPCC. 

Having heard evidence at the inquests, the coroner determined that the leadership 

and supervision of BCU investigations at detective inspector and detective sergeant 

levels weren’t good enough. She said that it had “led to basic errors and oversights in 

the investigations not being identified and/or corrected”. 

The coroner gave some examples of these errors and oversights, including: 

• failure to conduct basic intelligence checks on Stephen Port on the Police  

National Database; 

• failure to examine Stephen Port’s laptop; 

• failure to review digital evidence from the laptop in a targeted fashion; 

• failure to obtain phone data; 

• failure to appreciate the significance of witness evidence;  

• various failures to take and/or submit forensic samples; and 

• reports, completed by a detective inspector for the coroner, which contained 

serious material inaccuracies. 

The coroner also noted that a deputy assistant commissioner who gave evidence at 

the inquests identified a lack of leadership as one of the major factors for the multiple 

failures during the investigations. She concluded that more effective leadership might 

well have meant that other basic errors or oversights would have been corrected. 

Page 104

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 39 

The coroner recorded her first concern under this topic accordingly: 

“It is a matter of concern that despite the regularly refreshed training that is now in 

place for detective sergeants and detective inspectors, and the additional 

leadership training in which the MPS has invested, a lack of ownership and 

responsibility for the investigations of unexplained deaths may persist in officers 

who are supposed to be leading investigations into unexplained deaths (MC3A).” 

The second concern under this topic was about MPS’s processes for reviewing 

investigations. The coroner heard evidence that a specialist crime review group 

(SCRG) could have helped the Barking criminal investigation department determine 

whether there was any link between the deaths. But a BCU detective inspector gave 

evidence that in 2014 he was unaware of the SCRG’s existence and that the SCRG, 

in his experience, rarely worked with local investigators. 

The coroner understood that since the conclusion of the inquests, the MPS had taken 

steps to further publicise the existence of this group. But she was still concerned that 

the SCRG’s services weren’t widely known: 

“It nevertheless remains a matter of concern that the SCRG, which Deputy 

Assistant Commissioner [name deleted] commended as an asset to assist in the 

process of review of complex investigations is not, in practice, accessible and/or 

properly understood as a resource (MC3B).” 

We include more detail about the SCRG in chapter 9. 

Topic 4: Use of the CRIS and the new IT system, CONNECT (MC4A and MC4B) 

The coroner addressed the next two matters of concern (MC4A and MC4B) only to the 

MPS Commissioner. 

In providing evidence to the inquests, the MPS explained that under its new death 

investigation policy (presumably the 2021 policy, as the 2022 policy hadn’t yet been 

published), all sudden or unexplained death investigations were to be recorded on the 

MPS’s computerised CRIS as a crime-related incident. 

But the coroner noted that when the CRIS had been used in investigations during 

the Stephen Port murders, it hadn’t been used properly with investigative actions 

set and outcomes recorded to allow all involved to understand the progress of 

the investigation. (An action is any activity that, if pursued, is likely to establish 

significant facts, preserve material or lead to the resolution of the investigation.) 

The coroner recognised that the MPS intended to introduce a new IT system, called 

CONNECT, which would clearly display outstanding actions but raised the  

following concern: 

“It remains a matter of concern that whatever the system, CRIS or CONNECT, 

officers may not record lines of investigation, actions and outcomes (MC4A).” 

Page 105



UNDER EMBARGO 

 40 

We discuss CONNECT in more detail in chapter 8. 

The coroner also raised another, related concern. It involved a lack of 

case-management supervision: 

“A further, related, matter of concern is that the CRIS was closed by supervising 

officers without any review of whether the actions had been completed or any 

critical assessment at detective sergeant level or detective inspector level of 

whether the investigation had established that the death was non-suspicious 

(MC4B).” 

Topic 5: Verification of handwriting (MC5) 

Although this concern arose from the inquests into Stephen Port’s victims, the coroner 

addressed it only to the chair of the NPCC. This means the MPS wasn’t obliged to 

respond to it. But for completeness, we include details of the concern here. 

As we report in chapter 1, a handwritten note was found with Daniel Whitworth’s body. 

It purported to be a suicide note and also gave a potential explanation for Gabriel 

Kovari’s death. As the coroner noted, the question of whether the note was indeed 

written by Daniel was, therefore, absolutely critical to the investigation of both deaths. 

Despite its obvious significance, the police didn’t thoroughly investigate the note to 

verify its authenticity: 

“The officer tasked with ascertaining whether the handwriting was Daniel’s did not 

go to visit Daniel’s father in person to show him the note in its entirety. Neither did 

she try to prepare him for the task. Instead … she emailed a scan of a one-line 

fragment to Daniel’s father and telephoned him a few minutes later to ask if it was 

his son’s. The police did not take a statement from Daniel’s father regarding the 

handwriting; they did not show the note to Daniel’s partner, and although they did 

seize a handwritten list by way of comparison, this was only one (somewhat 

unsatisfactory) sample, and no comparison appears to have been undertaken.” 

In the coroner’s view, the MPS’s approach was profoundly misguided and wrong and 

had a significant effect on the future direction that the investigation took. 

The coroner recorded the following concern: 

“Although it may only very rarely be the case that the verification of a person’s 

handwriting might have a critical impact on future deaths, it is a matter of concern 

to me that this task be carried out appropriately and sensitively to afford the police 

the best opportunity of any identification being accurate (MC5).”  

Page 106



UNDER EMBARGO 

 41 

Topics 6 and 7: Death messages and coroner’s observations (MC6 and MC7) 

As the coroner didn’t consider that topics 6 and 7 were strictly issues which gave rise 

to a risk of future deaths, she didn’t address any matters of concern to the MPS or any 

other person or organisation. But she included them in her report because she 

considered them significant. The MPS responded to both (see chapter 10). 

The first (MC6) was about the delivery of a death message to a victim’s family, partner 

or next of kin. The coroner heard evidence in this regard which shocked and 

disappointed her. In three cases, the officers delivering the death messages  

made errors. In Gabriel Kovari’s case, the police didn’t even contact the family, who 

lived abroad. 

As the news of a death can be devastating, the coroner stated that there was a basic 

expectation of the police that they should be able to do this difficult task accurately 

and sensitively. She encouraged the MPS and police forces nationally to reflect on the 

evidence from the inquests on this point. 

The second (MC7) was about the MPS’s response to concerns that another coroner 

made in June 2015, during the first inquests into Daniel Whitworth’s and Gabriel 

Kovari’s deaths. The first coroner, Nadia Persaud, said she didn’t have any reliable 

evidence to reach a view about Gabriel’s death. However, HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then 

QC), who conducted the final inquests, listed concerns about the evidence in respect 

of Daniel’s death, including: 

• bruising found during a post-mortem examination, which a pathologist considered 

consistent with manual handling prior to death; 

• a post-mortem finding that Daniel had aspirated some of his stomach contents 

when no vomit had been found at the scene (again suggesting that his body had 

been moved); 

• failure to send a blue bed sheet and a bottle that were found with Daniel’s body for 

forensic analysis; and 

• failure to thoroughly investigate the note found with Daniel’s body. 

The first coroner returned open verdicts for both Daniel and Gabriel. 

In producing her Regulation 28 report, HHJ Sarah Munro KC (then QC) recorded that, 

in her view, the first coroner’s concerns should have “prompted the police to 

reconsider the adequacy of their investigation”. While she didn’t raise another matter 

of concern on this point, she invited the MPS and police forces nationally: 

“…to consider how concerns expressed by a coroner during the course of an 

inquest about possible third-party involvement could, and should, be better 

responded to by the officers who were responsible for investigating the death.” 

Page 107



UNDER EMBARGO 

 42 

Additional matter of concern: Sleepyboy (MC6) 

The coroner included one more matter of concern (MC6). She addressed it only to the 

Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport. The MPS wasn’t obliged to 

respond to the concern, but we include brief details for completeness. 

Evidence during the inquests indicated that Stephen Port first made contact with 

Anthony Walgate through a website called Sleepyboy. Port used a pseudonym (Joe 

Dean) and engaged Anthony as an escort. But because Anthony had given a friend 

details of Joe Dean, including a photograph, the police established that he was, in 

fact, Stephen Port. 

The coroner understood from witness statements that, although there is a verification 

process for escorts, Sleepyboy doesn’t require any verification from users of the site. 

She was concerned that this left escorts in a particularly vulnerable position. 

The coroner acknowledged the importance of privacy for users of the website but 

recognised the risks associated with ‘disposable’ accounts being created for the 

purpose of undertaking illegal or harmful activity. She noted: 

“It is a matter of concern that users of the Sleepyboy website can engage escorts 

without having to verify their identity (MC6).” 

More areas of learning identified by the MPS 

In responding to the coroner’s Regulation 28 report, the MPS included additional 

issues which it had identified during the inquests but which weren’t the subject of 

the coroner’s matters of concern. The MPS gave details of how it was addressing 

those issues. We report on them in more detail in chapter 10. 

Page 108



UNDER EMBARGO 

 43 

3. The Metropolitan Police Service’s 
structure 

The Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) is a complex organisation with multiple 

departments (called commands) and responsibilities. It has seen considerable 

structural change since Stephen Port’s murders. Perhaps the most significant came 

during 2017 and 2018 when it changed from having 32 borough policing command 

units (BOCU) to having 12 basic command units (BCUs). We include the following 

information to give the reader a structural overview of the parts of the MPS relevant to 

this report. 

Basic command units 

BCUs are responsible for local policing, including: 

• neighbourhood policing 

• response 

• safeguarding 

• criminal investigation. 

BCU leadership 

Each BCU is led by a chief superintendent. As one of the structural changes, the 

MPS added a detective superintendent to the senior leadership team of each BCU. 

This was intended to improve the oversight of crime investigations and their quality. 

Each BCU’s detective superintendent is supported by a detective chief inspector. 

Their responsibilities include the management of serious crime investigations and 

critical incidents. 

An inexperienced workforce 

We have found during inspections of police forces over recent years that there  

is a shortage of experienced officers. This was also a recurring theme during 

this inspection. 

The MPS is recruiting in large numbers under the Police Uplift Programme. At the time 

of our inspection, the force had a recruitment target of 4,557 additional officers by 

Page 109

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safeguarding/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.npcc.police.uk/our-work/police-uplift-programme/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 44 

March 2023. The MPS told us that by 31 December 2021, it had recruited 78 percent 

of its allocation for the first two years of the programme (to 31 March 2022). 

But this recruitment drive is creating an inexperienced workforce, particularly in BCUs. 

In our report PEEL 2021/22 – An inspection of the Metropolitan Police, we found that 

inexperienced officers with limited practical experience were being managed by 

similarly inexperienced supervisors. In the context of this inspection, we were 

concerned that such officers were making crucial decisions when responding to a 

report of death. 

We recognise that response officers can seek advice if necessary. In the first instance, 

they can turn to local detectives. The MPS has introduced an investigation 

improvement plan, which has led to an increase in the number of detectives involved 

in frontline policing investigations. The force also offers a personal tutoring 

programme to help suitable candidates pass the national investigators’ exam, and 

it has introduced a direct route to a career as a detective through its degree-holder 

entry programme. 

But this has led to a lack of experience and skill among newer detectives.  

Local policing teams have the highest numbers of inexperienced investigators. In our 

State of Policing: the annual assessment of policing in England and Wales 2019 

report, we predicted that it would take time for the effect of the police service’s uplift 

programme to be felt in the detective area of policing. We were told during this 

inspection that it wasn’t unusual for a local detective to have less experience than the 

officers at the scene who were asking for guidance. 

Specialist crime command 

In June 2019, the MPS introduced the specialist crime command (SCC). The SCC 

comprises two units. The first is a combination of three previously separate 

commands (the homicide and major crime command, the serious and organised 

crime command and the Trident gang crime command) and is led by an officer of 

police commander rank. Another commander leads the second, which includes a 

central specialist crime unit. This central unit includes child exploitation investigation 

teams, family liaison advisors and a Home Office large major enquiry system 

management team. 

This consolidated approach is more flexible. This is because the SCC has more 

resources to call on, which can be used for major inquiries and to better support the 

wider MPS and other law enforcement agencies.  

The SCC is divided into four specialist crime hubs, with two based in North London 

and two based in South London. Each hub is led by a detective superintendent and is 

aligned with a group of local BCUs. The detective superintendents answer to a local 

detective chief superintendent. One detective chief superintendent is responsible for 

the North London hubs, and another is responsible for those in South London. 

Page 110

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.college.police.uk/career-learning/taking-exams-online/national-investigators-exam
https://www.met.police.uk/car/careers/met/police-officer-roles/detective-constable/overview/
https://www.met.police.uk/car/careers/met/police-officer-roles/detective-constable/overview/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/state-of-policing-the-annual-assessment-of-policing-in-england-and-wales-2019/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/serious-organised-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/serious-organised-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/trident/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/child/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-office-large-major-enquiry/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 45 

BCUs can request support from the SCC whenever they think it is necessary.  

The MPS’s specialist crime tasking and co-ordination team both approves and  

co-ordinates the deployment of support. 

Two aspects of the SCC that are of particular relevance to our inspection are the 

homicide assessment team (HAT) and the major investigation teams (MITs). 

The homicide assessment team 

The specialist crime hubs provide mobile support, which BCU officers can call on 

when investigating potentially serious and complex crimes, including unexpected and 

suspicious deaths that may ultimately amount to homicide. The mobile support is 

commonly referred to as the HAT car. 

The HAT car was introduced because of Special Notice 6/99 (a briefing published by 

the MPS as a result of the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry report). It was officially renamed 

the ‘specialist crime car’ following the introduction of the SCC in 2019. Four cars, each 

with two officers, now always operate throughout the force area. They attend 

homicides, suspected homicides and other major offences, to make sure that crime 

scenes are properly dealt with. Many of the officers we spoke to still referred to it as 

the HAT car. 

Invariably, HAT officers attend a scene in the company of a crime scene manager.  

All HAT officers have been trained in their roles and responsibilities. We examined 

their training material and found it to be comprehensive. It included advice on some of 

the main components of an investigation, with instructions on how to complete a  

HAT report. 

Before a HAT car can be deployed, a BCU officer of at least detective inspector rank 

must obtain approval from the specialist crime tasking and co-ordination team. 

Major investigation teams 

To meet its obligation to investigate offences of homicide, the SCC includes MITs. 

They have a pan-London responsibility to investigate all murder, manslaughter and 

infanticide offences. They also investigate deaths in workplace settings and mass 

disasters where a criminal act may have caused or contributed to death. MITs will also 

conduct inquiries to locate high-risk missing persons when there is good reason to 

believe a person may be dead or under extreme threat. 

Each specialist crime hub has five MITs. Each MIT is led by a detective chief 

inspector and includes 25 other officers: 2 detective inspectors, 4 detective sergeants, 

18 detective constables and 1 uniformed constable. The detectives have a wide range 

of skills and experience covering different aspects of criminal investigation. 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 46 

4. Death investigation policy and guidance 

A wide range of policies and guidance, both national and local, are available to 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) officers for use when responding to reports of 

unexpected deaths and investigating suspicious deaths. We examine a selection of 

the policies and guidance in this chapter but consider how they are applied in practice 

later in this report. 

National policy and guidance 

National standardised procedures 

In 1981, after the ‘Yorkshire Ripper’ murders and other attacks on women in the north 

of England, Sir Lawrence Byford CBE QPM DL, then HM Chief Inspector of 

Constabulary, led an official inquiry into the flawed investigation of these events.  

He produced his findings a little over six months later (the Byford report). The report 

resulted in extensive changes to police investigative techniques, which forces  

adopted nationally. The changes included the introduction of major incident room 

standardised administrative procedures (MIRSAP). 

The procedures were first introduced in 1982. They have been refined and developed 

over the years. In November 2021, the National Police Chiefs’ Council (NPCC) 

introduced the latest version of MIRSAP (MIRSAP 2021). This was the first major 

revision of the procedures since 2005. 

From the outset, MIRSAP defined the various roles in a major incident room and 

how documents should be recorded and indexed. In 1982, police forces used a 

manual card index system. From the mid-1980s the process became more 

efficient and effective, as the computerised Home Office large major enquiry system 

was introduced. 

National investigation manuals 

In August 1998, the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) introduced the first 

edition of the ACPO Murder Investigation Manual. It was a comprehensive document 

and was adopted by police forces nationally. In 2000 and 2006, new editions  

were published. Both editions included changes in legislation, technical and scientific 

developments and national improvements generally. The manual served as national 

guidance until 2021. 

Page 112

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sir-lawrence-byford-report-into-the-police-handling-of-the-yorkshire-ripper-case
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-police-chiefs-council/
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/major-incident-room-standardised-administrative-procedures-mirsap
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-office-large-major-enquiry/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 47 

In 2015, the NPCC replaced ACPO. In November 2021, the NPCC homicide working 

group (with the approval of the Chief Constables’ Council) introduced the Major 

Crime Investigation Manual (MCIM 2021). This replaced the ACPO Murder 

Investigation Manual. The new manual covers all aspects of major crime investigation, 

including roles and responsibilities. It should be considered alongside other guidance, 

such as authorised professional practice and other NPCC guidance, including 

MIRSAP 2021. 

In 2019, the College of Policing also issued Practice advice: Dealing with sudden 

unexpected death. It includes guidance on the initial police response to a death and 

the action to take before a post-mortem examination. 

MPS policy and guidance 

The MPS has produced an overwhelming amount of policy and guidance on 

unexpected deaths and their investigation. It is generally available to officers through 

the force’s intranet system. Many officers told us of the confusion that so much 

material creates. We agree. One officer searched the intranet on our behalf and 

discovered 151 separate references to death investigation. We recommend a 

more consolidated approach to policy and guidance so that it is more coherent 

and effective. Any references to earlier versions of policies and guidance about 

unexpected death investigation should be archived. 

 

We also found that policies were often undated and poorly constructed, with no 

contents pages. They often lacked security markings and didn’t state the author’s 

name, the policy version or a projected review date. We comment on the problems 

created by undated policies in chapter 6 when we review family liaison matters. 

We were encouraged to learn that the MPS is developing a policy hub that will be 

available online to all officers. Old policies will be able to be accessed through the 

MPS’s policy archive. 

Recommendation 1 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service policy manager should 

make sure that any references to out-of-date policies and guidance about 

unexpected death on the force’s intranet are archived so that only current policies, 

guidance and toolkits are available to officers and staff. 

Page 113

https://www.npcc.police.uk/About-Us/structure-and-membership/chief-constables-council/
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/homicide
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/homicide
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/authorised-professional-practice/
https://www.college.police.uk/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/922344/Dealing_with_sudden_unexpected_death.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/922344/Dealing_with_sudden_unexpected_death.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 48 

 

The MPS has reviewed and changed its policy and guidance on sudden and 

unexpected deaths on various occasions over the years. Here we consider the  

most relevant. We also include a document which was produced 15 years before 

Port’s first murder because of its significance – MPS Special Notice 6/99. 

MPS Special Notice 6/99 

On 31 March 1999, the MPS issued Special Notice 6/99, titled Major crime review. 

Although it isn’t readily accessible nowadays, it was a milestone in the force’s 

approach to major crime investigations. For that reason, we refer to it here. It followed 

the publication of the Stephen Lawrence Inquiry report a month earlier and the 

introduction of the first edition of the ACPO Murder Investigation Manual in  

August 1998. 

The special notice, in conjunction with the much more detailed Murder Investigation 

Manual, gave comprehensive guidance on homicide investigation. Although it was 

issued over 20 years ago, we found during another recent inspection that the special 

notice was frequently referred to as a document that introduced important change. 

Failures during the Stephen Lawrence investigation had, to a large extent, led to the 

creation of the special notice. It covered a wide range of topics, including: 

• crime scene management and record keeping; 

• decision logs (formerly known as policy files); 

• family liaison; 

• community concern assessments, to consider the effect on the community; 

• management of intelligence; 

Recommendation 2 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service policy manager should 

develop and start a process to make sure that policies, guidance and toolkits 

about the investigation of unexpected death are: 

• always kept current; 

• subject to clear version control; 

• assessed at the appropriate security classification and managed in accordance 

with the requirements of the classification, including the application of 

protective marking; 

• allocated to a policy owner whose identity should be clearly displayed on the 

policy document; and 

• subject to regular review, as often as is suitable for the policy, guidance  

or toolkit. 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry


UNDER EMBARGO 

 49 

• searches for evidence; and 

• arresting and interviewing suspects. 

Toolkits 

In 2013, the MPS introduced toolkits, which included checklists of the required and 

discretionary activities that officers should complete or consider when investigating 

sudden and unexpected deaths. The toolkits were intended to be easier to understand 

and follow than the standard operating procedures they replaced. 

In 2015, after an internal review found inconsistency in how the toolkits were being 

completed throughout different borough policing command units the MPS decided 

that they should be revised. The review found that the MPS’s non-suspicious 

death investigations took longer than those in most other police forces in England 

and Wales. But the MPS concluded that its existing policy and guidance were more 

concerned with reporting rather than investigating a report of death. 

When revising the toolkits, the MPS intended to introduce a single policy for death 

investigation, with an enhanced and standardised approach throughout the force.  

In November 2016, it published a new ‘non-suspicious sudden death toolkit’. 

Stephen Port was convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment that same month. 

After Port’s arrest in October 2015, the MPS recognised that more revisions to the 

toolkit may be needed in due course but decided that it should make changes and 

improvements in the meantime. 

When giving evidence to the coroner’s inquests, a deputy assistant commissioner set 

out the 2016 toolkit’s more significant changes: 

• The introduction of a single policy for death investigation. 

• The standardisation of the initial police response. 

• The removal of the mandatory attendance at deaths of police sergeants, inspectors 

and local borough detectives, and its replacement with a requirement that 

attendance must be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

• The improvement to initial investigation standards. This included recruit training on 

quality investigations and standardisation of documents. 

• The introduction of a bereavement information leaflet. Officers were sometimes 

unsure of what happened after reporting a death and unable to provide information 

to bereaved families and friends. This leaflet was part of improved support to the 

bereaved and included information about the role of the police and coroners. 

• For non-suspicious deaths, the removal of the requirement for police officers to 

remain with the deceased until an undertaker had arrived. 

• The removal of the need for officers to always seize valuable property at the scene 

of a death. 

Page 115



UNDER EMBARGO 

 50 

• A new requirement for the BOCU chief inspector operations to assume BOCU 

senior leadership responsibility for all non-suspicious death investigations.  

This included the introduction of effective monitoring and quality assurance 

processes, liaison with the manager of the coroner’s officer for ongoing cases and 

responding to community concerns. 

But the 2016 toolkit didn’t introduce a new recording system for death investigation 

reports: officers continued to use either an evidence and actions book, their pocket 

notebooks or the missing persons and related linked indices system. The MPS uses 

this system to record missing persons, incidents involving children and vulnerable 

adults and sudden deaths.  

2017 death investigation policy 

In 2017, the MPS reviewed the format of its toolkits, which officers and staff could 

access through the force’s intranet. To improve search capabilities, the MPS 

replaced the term ‘toolkits’ with an overarching title of ‘policy’. It also renamed the 

non-suspicious sudden death toolkit to ‘death investigation policy’. But the content 

stayed the same.  

2018 death investigation policy 

Later in 2017, the MPS started to update part of its death investigation policy.  

This coincided with the introduction of a force-wide death investigation pack: a form 

designed to improve initial investigation standards. All London coroners, with one 

exception, agreed to the introduction of the pack. 

The MPS published its revised policy in 2018. 

2020 death investigation policy 

In 2020, the MPS made more changes to its policy and guidance. This followed a 

review of all gamma-hydroxybutyrate-related deaths in London between 1 June 2011 

and 18 October 2015. The purpose of the review was to determine whether any of the 

deaths were suspicious and needed reinvestigation. The MPS also intended to identify 

and act on any learning or good practice. We consider this review in more depth in 

chapter 8. 

Experienced detectives examined 58 cases for the gamma-hydroxybutyrate review. 

While they didn’t find any that needed reinvestigation, they did make 12 

recommendations intended to improve the general standard of death investigations. 

As a result, in 2020, the MPS issued a revised death investigation policy. Again, a 

chief officer set out the changes, some of which appear to be very basic, in evidence 

given to the coroner’s inquests as follows: 

• Death investigations should be recorded on the MPS crime report information 

system (CRIS) as crime-related incidents. 

Page 116

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-people/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/vulnerable-people/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/chief-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 51 

• Updated minimum investigation standards, with decisions and actions, should be 

recorded on the CRIS. 

• Attending officers and those conducting enquiries into the death should record their 

decisions and actions prior to going off-duty. 

• A statement should be taken from the informant(s) to any death. If more than 

one person was present upon police arrival, a statement should be taken from 

each individual. 

• The last person to have contact with the deceased prior to their death should 

be identified and a statement obtained in relation to their last contact with 

the deceased. 

• All paperwork in relation to the death should be retained in accordance with MPS 

policies and the relevant details should be recorded on the CRIS. 

• When a search is conducted of a premises, a search record must be completed 

listing any items seized. Evidence of substance misuse should be searched for, 

recorded and seized. Signs of any disturbance, insecure points of entry and exit, 

and weapons should be searched for and recorded. 

• All items seized (for example, phones, laptops and drugs) should be considered for 

forensic examination. If items aren’t sent for examination, it should be recorded 

why this hasn’t been done. 

• Local enquiries should be conducted and recorded. 

• CCTV enquiries should be considered for the relevant time frame. 

• Consideration at each sudden death should be given to the criminal investigation 

department, the specialist crime car and a forensic practitioner. 

• If officers are unsure as to the circumstances surrounding the death, the scene 

should be photographed to assist investigating officers and the coroner. 

• All contact with the family of the deceased should be recorded, including details of 

the family member spoken to, the time/date of the contact and the content of any 

conversation. This should be done at the time of informing them of the death and 

for all subsequent contact. 

The policy also included a categorisation process for reports of death. However, as we 

report in chapter 5, the MPS later revised the categories to give absolute clarity. 

2022 death investigation policy 

During our inspection, the MPS issued a revised death investigation policy. The policy, 

introduced on 22 June 2022, mandated that a substantive (formally promoted to the 

rank) supervisor should attend all reports of a sudden death. It also introduced the 

revised categories for reports of death, depending on whether they were expected or 

unexpected and whether they were suspicious or non-suspicious. We consider the 

new categorisation of deaths in more detail in chapter 5. 

Page 117



UNDER EMBARGO 

 52 

This is the most recent version of the MPS’s death investigation policy. It is a 

comprehensive and well-intentioned document. But most officers complained to us 

that they have never considered any version to be user-friendly. They thought it was 

unrealistic to expect them to wade through a document of 30 or more pages at the 

scene of a death. We agree. The introduction of a concise guide, underpinned by a 

more comprehensive policy, would be welcome. 

We understand that the MPS has started a project to develop an easy-to-use app to 

address this situation. Officers could use the app to access advice and guidance 

rather than searching through lengthy policy documents. 

Page 118



UNDER EMBARGO 

 53 

5. Initial death categorisation and 
investigation 

In this chapter, we examine the Metropolitan Police Service’s (MPS’s) response 

to reports of unexpected death and its process for determining whether a death 

is suspicious. We also consider the procedure for reporting deaths to the coroner. 

Finally, we examine how the MPS discovers links between individual cases and how it 

identifies and responds to hate crimes that result in death. 

Call management 

Members of the public can contact the police in various ways. They may, for instance, 

visit a police station, speak to a patrolling officer or member of police staff, make 

contact by email or through social media or write a letter to the force concerned.  

But most contact is made by telephone using either the emergency (999) or  

non-emergency (101) numbers. 

Call centres 

The MPS has three centres to receive telephone calls from members of the public. 

Both police staff and police officers work at these centres. When an operator answers 

a call, they record the information given by the caller and assess whether the matter 

being reported is an emergency. This will depend on the nature of the incident and 

other factors, such as whether people or property are at risk. 

Computer-aided dispatch records 

Every call is recorded on a computer-aided dispatch (CAD) record and graded 

according to the level of response that is required. The MPS grades calls as follows: 

• immediate (high urgency) 

• significant (low urgency) 

• extended (non-urgent) 

• referred (attendance not required). 

A CAD record is a real-time and auditable record of an incident. It identifies who has 

been sent to an incident and whether a supervisor has attended. It summarises any 

action taken by those attending and any involvement of other emergency services. 

Page 119

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/101


UNDER EMBARGO 

 54 

Each CAD record is allocated an opening code based on the type of incident 

being recorded. It is also given a closing code after the incident has been dealt with. 

The closing and opening codes for the same incident may differ depending on the 

action taken and the result of any investigation. 

It is worth noting for the purposes of this inspection that the London Ambulance 

Service also has a CAD system, through which it can transfer logs directly to the MPS. 

Basic command unit operations rooms 

Each basic command unit (BCU) also has an operations room. The primary function of 

the operations room personnel is the prioritisation, management and deployment of 

resources to incidents. An inspector performs the role of critical incident manager in 

each operations room. 

The inspectors supervise the operations room and have an overview of resources  

and demand. They work closely with operational duty officers (uniformed inspectors) 

and pay particular attention to incidents of a potentially critical nature (including 

reports of unexpected deaths). They monitor developments and can divert resources, 

if necessary, to make sure that the police give an appropriate response. 

Reports of death 

For the purposes of this inspection, we were especially interested in calls reporting a 

sudden and unexpected death. 

Opening CAD codes for reports of a potential sudden death may be either 309 (where 

there is concern for the safety of an individual but death hasn’t been confirmed) or 313 

(a report of a sudden death). After investigation, it may turn out that a report coded as 

309 didn’t involve an actual death. 

In 2021, data from the MPS showed that it received 169,922 calls that were initially 

coded 309 and 11,158 reports of death. Between 1 January and 31 July 2022, there 

were 105,961 calls coded as 309 and 6,076 death reports. 

We were told that an inspector in the MPS’s control centre at Lambeth monitors all 

CAD records that are opened with code 309 or 313. They make sure that the MPS 

responds promptly to the calls. 

We visited the Lambeth control centre on three occasions during this inspection.  

We also examined 54 CAD records referring to death reports. We found that 

control centre personnel, including inspectors and chief inspectors, provided 

proactive oversight. 

Page 120

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-personnel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 55 

Initial research 

In our report PEEL 2021/22 – An inspection of the Metropolitan Police, we concluded 

that the force was inadequate at responding to the public. This included a failure to 

identify and understand risk effectively at the first point of contact. 

In our review of the CAD reports, we found that operations room personnel generally 

carried out only basic research to help, and potentially protect, officers sent to a report 

of death. Guidance, in the form of a drop-down menu on the CAD system, prompts 

call handlers to conduct intelligence checks. But we were told that, in most cases, 

these checks were restricted to MPS databases and concentrated on locations rather 

than individuals. Even then, there were problems. Officers and staff told us that 

“archaic systems” wouldn’t necessarily identify repeat locations that were referred to 

by different names (such as open land bounded by four different perimeter roads). 

As we reported in chapter 4, the MPS is introducing an integrated intelligence IT 

system called CONNECT. We were told that this system will transform the force’s 

ability to record and interrogate information. We discuss CONNECT in chapter 8. 

Regardless, we found that operations room personnel didn’t, as a matter of course, 

consult the Police National Computer (PNC) or the Police National Database (PND). 

While such research might not always be necessary, it would have identified Stephen 

Port as a potential sexual predator when the police responded to the death of his  

first victim. 

Because London is a capital city that draws people from all around the UK and the 

world to live, work, study and holiday there, much of its population is transitory.  

This means intelligence checks on local databases, which are restricted to location 

searches, are unlikely to identify any relevant information that has been provided by 

another force or organisation. 

We recommend that the MPS consider more comprehensive intelligence checks, 

including researching on national databases, whenever officers are sent to a report of 

a sudden death. As a minimum, the checks should be carried out on the deceased 

person, their location and any informants. 

We are aware that local intelligence team officers support BCU operations rooms by 

providing a facility known as a red desk. Officers and staff on the red desk can be 

asked to research high-risk CAD reports, such as those relating to missing persons 

and reports of death. They can access open-source material, MPS systems and 

national systems (including the PNC and PND). The desk is available throughout the 

day and night. But we found that this service was rarely used and, despite a policy 

requirement for officers to carry out intelligence checks, we found no evidence that 

supervisors enforced this part of the policy. 

Page 121

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 56 

 

THRIVE and THRIVE+ 

The police service has a risk assessment tool called THRIVE, which it uses to 

assess public vulnerability and risk from the point of first contact with the police to 

the closure of a crime report. THRIVE’s framework directs officers to consider the 

following factors: 

• threat 

• harm 

• risk 

• investigation 

• vulnerability 

• engagement. 

The framework has recently been expanded to include prevention (to prevent 

more incidents) and intervention (to prevent escalation). The expanded version is 

called THRIVE+. 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy makes clear that officers must follow the 

THRIVE+ decision-making framework and that it is to be used dynamically throughout 

the incident or investigation. 

But regardless of its policy, our report PEEL 2021/22 – An inspection of the 

Metropolitan Police found that the MPS didn’t use the model consistently when 

assessing incidents: 

“Our victim service assessment found that the force didn’t use the THRIVE+ model 

consistently (in accordance with force policy) to make sure that incidents are 

accurately assessed. Only 21 of the 107 applicable incidents we reviewed had 

received a THRIVE+ assessment.” 

Recommendation 3 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service head of investigations 

should make sure that intelligence checks are carried out for all reports of 

unexpected death in accordance with its 2022 death investigation policy.  

These should include checks of national databases, including the Police National 

Database and the Police National Computer, together with checks of the force’s 

integrated intelligence platform and, where this isn’t available, the crime report 

information system and the missing persons and related linked indices  

intelligence system. For every unexpected death, initial intelligence checks should 

be completed on the location, any informants and the deceased person. 

Page 122

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/risk-assessment/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/thrive/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-database/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-national-computer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 57 

Based on our examination of 54 CAD records, 50 crime report information system 

(CRIS) reports and 42 death investigation reports, we reached the same conclusion. 

The force did not use the THRIVE+ model in any of these cases. 

We will monitor the MPS’s progress in this regard through our PEEL assessment 

programme. 

Categorisation of death 

The MPS categorises deaths according to their circumstances. The category 

determines the level of response and the nature of the investigation.  

Uniformed officers and their BCU supervisors usually play an important role 

in determining the category of death. Indeed, it is the uniformed duty officer 

(inspector) in the BCU who makes the final decision. 

College of Policing 2019 advice 

In 2019, the College of Policing published Practice advice: Dealing with sudden 

unexpected death (see chapter 4). It states that the system of death investigation in 

England and Wales essentially fits into one of three pathways. Those pathways can 

be summarised as: 

• anticipated death due to ill health, where a doctor can issue a medical certificate of 

the cause of death; 

• unexpected death, where a doctor can’t issue a medical certificate of the cause of 

death because they haven’t recently been treating the deceased person. The case 

is then referred to a coroner for investigation. In practice, the investigation will 

normally be led by the police until it can be established that the death isn’t 

suspicious; and 

• suspicious death, where the police take primacy for investigation. 

The MPS’s 2020 death investigation policy 

At the start of our inspection, the MPS categorised deaths according to its 2020 death 

investigation policy. The policy set out three categories: 

1. expected death 

2. non-suspicious sudden/unexpected death 

3. unexplained sudden/unexpected death. 

The MPS’s 2022 death investigation policy 

As we report in chapter 4, to give absolute clarity, the MPS amended the categories  

in 2022. It introduced the following four categories of death: 

1. Expected death (where a medical practitioner can sign a medical certificate of the 

cause of death). The police don’t need to attend unless there are concerns raised. 

If the police do attend, they are to treat the death as unexpected. 

Page 123

https://www.college.police.uk/
https://www.college.police.uk/app/investigation/investigation-process#initial-investigation
https://www.college.police.uk/app/investigation/investigation-process#initial-investigation


UNDER EMBARGO 

 58 

2. Unexpected death – investigated and not suspicious. This category applies to 

deaths which were sudden and unexpected but where, after investigation, the 

police found evidence to indicate no third-party involvement. 

3. Unexpected death – under investigation. This category applies to sudden and 

unexpected deaths where police investigations have been unable to confirm that 

there was no third-party involvement. More investigation is required. 

4. Homicide. This category applies to sudden and unexpected deaths where an 

investigation has indicated that in all likelihood, there was third-party involvement 

or there is obvious evidence of homicide. 

It is clear from the four new categories that whenever the police attend a death, they 

must investigate the circumstances. We discuss the conduct of that investigation and 

who is responsible for it elsewhere in this chapter. 

The danger of incorrect categorisation 

The categorisation of death is important. The coroner recognised this during the 

inquests into the deaths of Stephen Port’s victims. If the police incorrectly categorise a 

death, the decision may well affect everything that follows. Importantly, specialist 

homicide detectives are less likely to become involved. 

In a statement published after the inquests, a lawyer representing the families of 

victims was sceptical as to whether policy changes would prevent wrongful 

classification in the future: 

“It still appears to leave the door open to interpretation, in which the wrong 

mindset could still result in a death being wrongly classed, and therefore 

inappropriately investigated.” 

An experienced, senior MPS detective expressed similar concerns. They told us that 

the detective world had “massive concern” about the new categorisation process.  

The detective considered unexplained deaths to be especially dangerous. We agree. 

Uniformed response officers and their supervisors often play a vital role in the 

categorisation of a death. Indeed, under the 2022 MPS death investigation policy, duty 

officers (uniformed inspectors) must confirm a categorisation. But they largely rely on 

information provided by constables and sergeants who are often very inexperienced. 

When we spoke with response constables, many of them told us that they still found 

the categorisation process confusing. 

Concerns about how to categorise death aren’t new. In January 2015, the Home 

Office’s forensic pathology unit published A Study into Decision Making at the Initial 

Scene of Unexpected Death. The findings were published before Port had killed his 

last victim. 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484298/Report_into_the_2012_FSR_FP_Audit_Publication_copy_pdf.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/484298/Report_into_the_2012_FSR_FP_Audit_Publication_copy_pdf.pdf


UNDER EMBARGO 

 59 

The study is particularly concerned about officers’ investigative mindset when making 

initial decisions at the scene of a death. In considering why the quality of initial scene 

assessments varies from officer to officer, the study states: 

“It is suspected that ‘cognitive bias’, rather than a full assessment, may influence 

decision making. This was noted especially in cases where the deceased had 

been using drugs, alcohol, or were elderly.” 

Although the study wasn’t based on Port’s murders, it is particularly relevant here. 

Following the inquests, the coroner directed a comment to us about an Independent 

Office for Police Conduct analysis. In doing so, the coroner reported how 

assumptions, stereotyping and unconscious bias may have detrimentally affected 

the decision-making and contributed to the failure to identify Stephen Port as a 

perpetrator sooner. 

In its study, the forensic pathology unit was also concerned about the effect that 

incorrect decisions may have on subsequent post-mortem examinations. If a death 

isn’t considered suspicious, a non-forensic hospital histopathologist (a doctor who is 

responsible for diagnosing and studying disease in tissues and organs) may carry out 

a post-mortem examination to establish the cause of death, rather than this being 

done by a Home Office-registered forensic pathologist. Or there might not be a 

post-mortem at all. 

In chapter 4, we refer to advice that the College of Policing issued in 2019 about 

dealing with unexpected deaths. The advice pointed out that normal post-mortems 

and forensic post-mortems are very different. It also recognised the potentially dire 

consequences of failing to conduct a forensic post-mortem: 

“If the outcome of an initial police investigation is flawed, and the decision by the 

police is that the case is not suspicious, there will be no forensic examination of the 

body and a potential homicide could be missed.” 

The forensic pathology unit’s warnings were starker. The study concluded: 

“It therefore seems entirely reasonable to suspect that a number of homicide cases 

may have been missed in the past and will continue to be missed in the future 

unless action is taken to address the shortfalls in the adequacy of police 

assessment of death cases.” 

Again, we agree. But we should mention here that our 2021/22 PEEL inspection of the 

MPS found that the force had taken steps to make sure all police officers and staff had 

received unconscious bias training to help them be aware of and avoid it.  

Page 125

https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/unconscious-bias/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 60 

Initial investigation 

In chapter 4, we referred to an MPS review of 58 gamma-hydroxybutyrate-related 

deaths. That review was conducted in 2019. It reported that there were major 

inconsistencies in the standards of investigation. We had similar concerns during  

this inspection. 

Response officers 

Each BCU has teams of uniformed officers whose role is to respond to incidents.  

They work to a shift pattern, so there is always a team available, day and night.  

In 2016, the MPS introduced its force-wide Mi-investigation programme, under which 

frontline response officers take responsibility for less complex investigations.  

Before the programme, response officers only recorded offences, and the offences 

were then allocated to other officers or staff for investigation. Under the programme, 

response officers record and investigate less complex offences themselves. 

In our 2020 inspection report about the MPS’s response to The Independent Review 

of the Metropolitan Police Service’s handling of non-recent sexual offence 

investigations alleged against persons of public prominence (the Henriques report), a 

senior officer told us that Mi-investigation training was “too little, too late”. We agree.  

It is worrying that inexperienced response officers might conduct the initial stages of a 

murder investigation. 

During this inspection, a chief officer told us that, until the introduction of its 2022 

death investigation policy, the MPS didn’t clearly set out the officers’ responsibilities 

regarding sudden and unexpected deaths. But the new policy is unequivocal  

and emphatic: 

“Investigating death is one of the most important jobs that the police do.” 

It sets out the circumstances under which officers must attend a report of death: 

“The police attend all incidents of unexpected deaths that occur outside of a 

hospital or other medically supervised care setting, such as a medically supervised 

nursing home or hospice. This does not include residential care homes, where 

police must still attend an unexpected death.” 

And it leaves no doubt as to the approach that officers must take: 

“All incidents of death that police officers attend are to be treated as suspicious 

until the police investigation has established that it is not. If there is reasonable 

suspicion that another person (‘third party’) or organisation caused or may have 

caused the death, a criminal investigation should take place.”  

Page 126

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-response-to-a-review-of-its-investigations-into-allegations-of-non-recent-sexual-abuse-by-prominent-people
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/henriques-report/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 61 

The policy also makes clear that the quality and success of any investigation or inquiry 

may be affected by the police’s first response: 

“Actions taken, or not taken, at the initial stages of the death investigation may 

have considerable ramifications during the investigation or future inquest.” 

But as an experienced detective said: “You can introduce any policy you want, but if 

you haven’t got staff and experience you will struggle.” We agree but would add that 

frontline officers also need training, knowledge and supervision. A senior officer told 

us that, in recent years, supervision had presented the biggest challenge, as 

supervisors were “stretched so much”. 

We asked six coroners’ officers for their impression of the MPS’s initial response to 

unexpected deaths. (Coroners’ officers help coroners to carry out their legal duties to 

make sure that the correct causes of death are recorded.) They said that some 

response officers gave a very good service, but others were weaker. They attributed 

the weaker service to a lack of training and pressure of work. They also suggested 

that, at times, it was due to laziness. They told us about occasions when items, 

including money and drugs, were found during post-mortem examinations, even 

though officers had supposedly searched the deceased people before they were 

removed from the scene of death. 

The coroners’ officers also said that response officers often turned to them for advice 

rather than to their supervisors. 

Most of the response officers we spoke with couldn’t recall any specific training for 

attending sudden deaths, other than training that was COVID-19 related. But they 

showed that they were broadly aware of what was expected of them, even if they were 

unaware of the existence or content of the 2022 MPS death investigation policy. 

We spoke to eight focus groups of uniformed and detective constables after the 

new policy was published. We were disappointed to find that only one person knew 

about it. We appreciate that it had only recently been introduced, but we expected 

more officers to have heard of it. 

Professional curiosity 

As we described earlier, the coroner reported that during the Port murder inquests, 

she repeatedly heard evidence that officers lacked the curiosity and motivation to 

investigate and find out what had actually happened when each of the young men’s 

bodies was found. While she didn’t raise this as a formal matter of concern, she 

wished to place on record, for the benefit of both the MPS and the police nationally, 

that this was a key lesson from the inquests.  

Page 127



UNDER EMBARGO 

 62 

During this inspection, officers we spoke to (of all ranks) used the coroner’s phrase 

“professional curiosity”. The MPS included the phrase five times in its 2022 death 

investigation policy, which was produced after the inquests. In the introduction to 

the policy, officers are instructed to ensure they demonstrate professional curiosity 

by looking, listening, asking direct questions and checking and reflecting on 

information received. 

The MPS also produced a briefing paper on the subject in January 2022. The paper, 

titled What factors influence investigational curiosity?, was intended to provide an 

overview of how curiosity emerges in policing. It also considered how curiosity is being 

addressed by other organisations. As part of its own approach, the MPS was looking 

to “adapt the investigative mindset” and incorporate curiosity into its training. 

Time will tell whether the officers we met really understood the coroner’s comments 

and her reference to professional curiosity or whether they were glibly reciting the 

phrase for our benefit. But we were encouraged by the approach response officers 

said they take when attending the scene of a death. They told us their actions included 

searching for anything suspicious (such as weapons or drugs), checking for obvious 

wounds or signs of blunt-force trauma and looking for any indication of a struggle. 

They said that, in essence, they searched for anything that didn’t look right. 

During our review of the MPS’s response to the Henriques report, we considered the 

investigative mindset and the concept of belief. We concluded that the MPS’s failings 

on that occasion were partly attributable to the investigation team’s belief in the person 

reporting the alleged offences. Similarly, the catalogue of errors during the Stephen 

Port investigation started when the police believed what Port told them. 

We still hear the old adage, generally from experienced detectives, of ‘ABC’: 

• Assume nothing 

• Believe no one 

• Check everything. 

We suggest that, in most basic terms, professional curiosity and ‘ABC’ amount to the 

same thing. 

Use of intelligence at the scene 

We examined the use of intelligence before officers arrive at the scene of a death.  

We were also interested in the research that officers carry out themselves when they 

get there. 

The MPS’s 2016 death investigation toolkit, which was still available at the time of our 

inspection, prompts officers to carry out intelligence checks on the deceased person, 

on those reporting a death and on any other people present at the scene. Officers can 

use handheld devices (such as tablets or mobile phones) to access MPS intelligence 

Page 128



UNDER EMBARGO 

 63 

databases. Searches of national databases, such as the PNC and PND, can be 

requested through the BCU operations room. 

An experienced senior detective told us that if the homicide assessment team (HAT) 

attended the scene, relevant intelligence checks would be made, but if it didn’t, checks 

wouldn’t be done. Our findings tended to support that view. We found that officers 

knew how to carry out intelligence checks but that, in practice, they didn’t always  

do so. The officers told us that PND searches, especially, weren’t routinely carried out. 

Officers and staff from BCU-based local intelligence teams also told us that they 

couldn’t remember ever having searched the PND on behalf of response officers 

attending a report of death. 

We comment elsewhere in this chapter on the value of PND searches, particularly for 

policing a capital city with a high transitory population. 

Scene management 

Most of the officers we spoke to in the focus groups said that they relied on the 

coroner’s death investigation pack for initial guidance when attending a report  

of death. The pack advises officers to: 

• check for signs of life and preserve life where possible; 

• preserve the scene and other scenes that may become apparent (including any 

attack site, the location of a weapon and the place where the deceased person 

was last seen alive); 

• secure evidence by identifying witnesses, seizing relevant documents (including 

any medical records) and items such as mobile phones and computers, and 

photographing the scene; 

• identify the deceased person; and 

• identify any suspects. 

We report on the quality of the completion of death investigation packs and other 

records later in this chapter. Here, we are more interested in the quality of the  

initial investigation. 

We reviewed the records of 42 deaths from different coronial districts. We found 

that five of these records clearly showed that appropriate (and, on occasion, 

exemplary) action was taken, including attempts to save lives through 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation. 

But the majority of the records had basic omissions, including some where potentially 

vital evidence, such as drugs and suspicious injuries, was only discovered at  

the mortuary. There was little to indicate that officers had completed and recorded risk 

assessments (as required by the death investigation policy). Written witness 

statements, if taken at all, tended to be too brief and lacked important details. 

Page 129



UNDER EMBARGO 

 64 

The statements in the death reports frequently had no more than a couple of 

sentences from the last person to see the deceased person alive. There was little 

evidence that officers had completed house-to-house enquiries, taken steps to help 

establish the time of death (such as checking the dates on any mail or perishable food 

items) or tried to find out who may have had access to the premises where the 

deceased person was found. 

Supervision 

We described earlier in this chapter how response officers are deployed to incidents. 

Uniformed inspectors (duty officers) and sergeants supervise the response teams. 

Response sergeants 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy sets out a supervisor’s responsibilities 

following a report of death and what is expected of them. The policy, which was 

introduced during our inspection, states that a substantive (formally promoted to rank 

rather than acting) supervisor should attend all reports of a sudden death. In most 

cases, this would be a uniformed sergeant. We welcome the clarification, as the 

previous policy was ambiguous. This change may help to lessen the risks associated 

with inexperienced constables dealing with death reports. 

But many of the constables we spoke with were concerned about their supervisors’ 

level of experience. We found that it was common for those supervising frontline 

response officers to be acting or temporarily promoted sergeants rather than 

substantive (formally promoted to rank) supervisors. 

We recognise that acting and temporary supervisory duties are an important part 

of professional development. Those in these roles must be supported so that they 

can develop the competence and experience needed for a substantive position. 

But, because of work pressures, response inspectors aren’t always available to guide 

the actions of officers. 

The sergeants should assess the evidence at the scene of a death and recommend 

an appropriate categorisation to the duty inspector (we discuss categorisation 

elsewhere in this chapter). 

We spoke with approximately 30 uniformed sergeants from 4 BCUs. They all said that 

their other duties, including the administration of force systems, affected their ability to 

supervise their constables. Some sergeants said they couldn’t always attend the 

scene of a death due to other demands. They pointed out that they often had to deal 

with between 50 and 100 CRIS reports during a shift. We examined 40 CRIS reports 

of death recorded since the introduction of the 2022 MPS death investigation policy. 

We found that a supervisor had attended the scene in 75 percent (30 of 40) of cases. 

But the reports didn’t state whether or not the supervisors were substantive. 

Page 130



UNDER EMBARGO 

 65 

Under the 2022 MPS death investigation policy, a supervisor should also review 

reports prepared for the coroner and give a statement certifying that all relevant 

actions have been completed. When we examined 42 recent death reports from  

4 of the 7 coronial districts, too many were of poor quality, with basic details omitted or 

incorrectly recorded. For example, we found little explanation for decisions that had 

been made and rarely found any details of more action that was considered or taken. 

This shows a lack of supervision of the completion of death reports for the coroner. 

Duty officers (uniformed inspectors)  

Depending on the size of a BCU, there might be two or three duty officers (inspectors) 

assigned to each response team. Each is assigned part of their BCU’s geographic 

area and is responsible for incidents that take place there during their shift.  

They create a duty handover document so that responsibility for dealing with 

unresolved incidents can be passed from one shift to the next. 

BCU operations rooms are responsible for notifying local duty officers of all  

death reports. The duty officers should then make sure that the relevant CAD log is 

updated promptly. They also have a clear responsibility under the MPS 2022 death 

investigation policy to confirm that they are satisfied with the categorisation of  

any death. They must also make sure that, where appropriate, a death report is 

submitted to the local coroner. 

We examined 42 death reports. We found that 86 percent (36 of 42) of them had been 

submitted to the coroner without any evidence of a duty officer’s involvement. 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy makes duty officers’ responsibilities clear. 

But the duty officers rely on action taken by the often inexperienced constables and 

sergeants who attend the scene. 

The 2022 policy states that officers must give a death report to the coroner before the 

completion of their shift. This is to prevent any delay in the submission of reports.  

The coroners’ officers we spoke with said that this part of the policy was usually 

complied with. 

The policy also requires a duty officer to thoroughly review every case. Waiting for a 

busy duty officer to do this can create difficulties, but without effective and proactive 

supervision, deaths could be wrongly categorised. 

 

Recommendation 4 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for basic command 

units should make sure that all reports to the coroner for unexpected deaths are 

signed off by a duty inspector or detective inspector as having been correctly 

categorised, in line with its 2022 death investigation policy. 

Page 131



UNDER EMBARGO 

 66 

Initial specialist support 

As with other potentially serious incidents, BCU response officers can call on a wide 

range of support when sent to a report of death. In the first instance, support is likely 

to involve both BCU and HAT detectives and forensic specialists. 

BCU detectives 

Since 2003, the Professionalising Investigation Programme (PIP) has accredited 

officers who conduct investigations. Officers can be accredited at four levels of 

increasing complexity which are: 

• PIP 1 – priority and volume crime investigations; 

• PIP 2 – serious and complex investigations; 

• PIP 3 – major crime and serious and organised crime investigations; and 

• PIP 4 – strategic management of highly complex investigations. 

The accreditation process involves registration, examination, training and workplace 

assessment. Aspiring senior investigating officers must complete all elements of 

the PIP 3 senior investigating officer development programme before they can be 

entered onto a professional register held by the College of Policing. Since 2017, 

the college has licensed the MPS to provide the senior investigating officer 

development programme. 

At the time of our report, the MPS told us that it had trained and accredited 138 BCU 

senior detectives to PIP 3, and 19 PIP 3-accredited detectives had been posted  

to BCUs. This is encouraging. But experienced senior detectives told us that the MPS 

still had a long way to go in introducing not only PIP 3 but also PIP 2 detectives  

to BCUs. One told us that the MPS was “behind the curve” with PIP accreditation.  

Based on our findings, we agree. But we recognise that the MPS is making a 

considerable effort to address this.  

According to the 2022 MPS death investigation policy, after response officers have 

completed an initial investigation of a death, a substantive supervisor will attend  

the scene. If the supervisor is in any doubt about potential third-party involvement, 

they will send for a substantive detective. Should the detective be unable to determine 

that the death isn’t suspicious, they will refer the matter to a detective inspector. 

Homicide assessment team (HAT) detectives 

In chapter 3, we described the HAT’s purpose. Here we consider how the HAT works 

in practice. 

We found that, with very few exceptions, BCU officers understood the HAT’s role and 

knew how to ask for its help. HAT detectives also monitored CAD records and offered 

their help to BCU colleagues. But some BCU officers expressed frustration about the 

specialist crime tasking and co-ordination team’s involvement in the process.  

Page 132

https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/investigations/introduction/#professionalising-investigation-programme
https://www.college.police.uk/career-learning/learning/courses/pip-level-3-senior-investigating-officer-development-programme


UNDER EMBARGO 

 67 

They told us about occasions when the team had intervened and stopped the HAT 

from attending incidents, only for the decision to be overturned by a senior officer. 

On the other hand, most of the HAT officers we interviewed were frustrated by the 

inexperience of BCU uniformed officers and detectives. They said that, at times, BCU 

officers were over-reliant on them. For example, they told us of an incident where the 

BCU hadn’t carried out any investigating for six hours, including any basic enquiries, 

because it was waiting for HAT officers who had been delayed by another call. 

In the event of a death categorised as homicide, the HAT, and then a major 

investigation team, will usually take charge of the investigation. For deaths 

categorised as unexpected that require investigation, the HAT is expected to give the 

BCU written advice on how to progress the investigation. We examined force data 

from between 2014 and 2022 and found that BCUs had contacted HAT detectives for 

advice on 4,048 reports of death. The HAT detectives attended just over 50 percent of 

these incidents (2,045 of 4,048 reports) and gave advice over the phone for the rest. 

We examined 40 HAT reports and found them to be clear and comprehensive. But we 

also recognise that some of the advice might have been daunting to BCU officers with 

few resources and little experience. For example, we found that some reports 

recommended numerous complicated inquiries, such as extensive examination of 

CCTV recordings. While the advice might have been appropriate, it would be difficult 

to complete given the limited experience and resources of BCU officers. 

In chapter 8, we assess the level of support available to BCUs in the event that they 

retain lead responsibility for an investigation. 

Initial forensic support 

We found clear evidence of appropriate forensic support in death investigations.  

The officers we spoke with supported our findings. A lot of forensic advice is also 

available in both MPS and national crime investigation documents, including those 

relating to homicide cases. 

The MPS is making a significant effort to improve its forensic capabilities. It has 

started introducing local digital forensic investigation teams to BCUs. These teams 

support BCU officers by, for example, providing advice on searching scenes, seizing 

items of potential evidential value, downloading mobile phone data and carrying out 

simple examinations of other IT devices. 

Although these teams had started to support local investigations, at the time of 

this inspection, the process was still being established. The MPS had already 

identified a lack of standardisation in the service provided by local digital forensic 

investigation teams. 

Page 133

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/digital-forensics/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 68 

The initiative has potential but, perhaps unsurprisingly, we found that many officers 

were unaware of it. The MPS needs to make sure that BCU officers fully understand 

and appreciate the support for their inquiries that is available. 

We review the actual recording of exhibits and property in chapter 8. 

 

Reporting deaths to HM coroners 

The role of HM coroners 

There are currently 83 coronial areas in England and Wales. Each area is funded, 

staffed and resourced by local authorities. 

All coroners’ inquiries, investigations and inquests are governed by the Coroner and 

Justice Act 2009. The Act also created the Office of the Chief Coroner who has overall 

responsibility for, and provides leadership for, all coroners in England and Wales. 

The MPS covers seven coronial areas. Each area has a senior coroner, who is 

supported by assistant coroners and coroners’ officers. A coronial service lead and a 

coronial service support manager liaise between the seven jurisdictions and the MPS. 

The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) has produced legal guidance for coroners, 

which contains information about coroners and their responsibilities. It also provides 

operational advice about the 2016 agreement between the CPS, the National Police 

Chiefs’ Council, the Chief Coroner and The Coroners’ Society of England and Wales. 

The agreement establishes a common understanding of the roles and responsibilities 

of the CPS, police and coroners when an investigation gives rise to a suspicion that a 

serious criminal offence (other than a health and safety or regulatory offence) may 

have caused a death. Health and safety and regulatory offences are covered by a 

separate protocol. 

A coroner will carry out a legal inquiry when they are informed that a dead person is 

lying within their geographical jurisdiction. They will inquire into the causes and 

circumstances of the death, solely to establish: 

• who the deceased person was; 

• how, when and where the deceased person died; and 

Recommendation 5 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for forensics should 

evaluate the introduction of local digital forensic investigation teams across the 

force, standardise the services they offer and make sure officers are aware of the 

support they can draw on for their investigations. 

Page 134

https://www.judiciary.uk/courts-and-tribunals/coroners-courts/coroners/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/25/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/25/contents
https://www.judiciary.uk/courts-and-tribunals/coroners-courts/office-chief-coroner/
https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/coroners
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/agreement-between-crown-prosecution-service-national-police-chiefs-council-chief
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/agreement-between-crown-prosecution-service-national-police-chiefs-council-chief
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/digital-forensics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 69 

• the particulars (if any) required by the Births and Deaths Registrations Act 1953 to 

be registered concerning the death. 

The coroner is expected to open an inquest: 

• when there is reasonable suspicion that the death was violent or unnatural; 

• when there is reasonable suspicion that the cause of death is unknown; or 

• if the person died while in prison, police custody or state detention (as defined 

by the Coroners and Justice Act 2009). 

Inquests are legal inquiries into the cause and circumstances of a death. They are 

limited, fact-finding inquiries. Following an inquest, the coroner can make 

recommendations to prevent future deaths (see chapter 2). 

Most deaths aren’t reported to the coroner. In the majority of cases, the deceased 

person's doctor will issue a medical certificate with the cause of death without 

reference to the coroner, especially if the person was being treated for an illness 

which caused the death. But the CPS’s legal guidance states that the coroner will also 

investigate where the deceased hasn’t been seen by the doctor issuing the medical 

certificate or during the 14 days before the death. 

The MPS’s role 

A bereavement page on the MPS website states: 

“Police officers attend all incidents of sudden or unexpected deaths that occur 

outside of a hospital or medical setting. Police are the initial representatives for the 

Coroner’s Office.” 

This being the case, we expect every officer, or at least those who are likely to attend 

a report of death, to have a reasonable understanding of the coroner’s role and the 

associated procedures. But we were disappointed to find that the officers we spoke 

with had little knowledge of the coronial process and were generally confused about 

which forms and IT systems to use when reporting a death. 

Coroners’ officers confirmed our findings. They not only thought that there was a lack 

of awareness about coroners’ functions but also that police officers didn’t treat coronial 

matters as a priority. The coroners’ officers told us that some officers treated death as 

an administrative activity rather than an investigation and that they assumed that 

coroners’ officers were just “funeral arrangers”. 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy states that all deaths attended by 

police officers should be reported to the coroner in line with local policy at their 

coronial jurisdiction. But where a doctor can issue a medical certificate, the attending 

police officer only needs to record their actions and the details of any persons at the 

scene in their pocket notebook or their evidence and actions book. 

Page 135

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1-2/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/25/contents
https://www.met.police.uk/bereavement


UNDER EMBARGO 

 70 

If attending officers do investigate a death and determine that it isn’t suspicious, they 

must complete and submit a report to the local coroner’s office before completing  

their shift. If a more complicated investigation is needed, a duty officer (uniformed 

inspector) or detective inspector will usually be responsible for completing the report. 

Police officer training 

A coroner’s officer told us that response officers “don’t have a clue when they go to 

their first death”. Other coroners’ officers agreed. They guide the officers and set out in 

an email what the coroner requires, with a time frame. But they told us that some 

response officers didn’t understand that there were requirements in law and that they 

still “need a nudge” to get the work done. 

The coroners’ officers cited a lack of training as the principal cause of the problem. 

They said that, in the past, police recruits would attend scenario-based training and 

would be led through the whole process. But response officers told us this type of 

training stopped about ten years ago. The coroners’ officers said that they visit BCUs 

to share their knowledge and invite officers to inquests, but the uptake was poor. 

This information reflected our general findings on sudden death training for  

uniformed officers. 

 

Incident and pattern analysis 

Elsewhere in this chapter, we have examined the level of research that takes place 

when officers are sent to a report of death and how response officers use information 

systems when they get there. 

Here, we assess the value, if any, that intelligence and analysis add to the MPS’s 

governance arrangements, which we discuss in chapter 8. We also examine whether 

the force can identify those incidents and crimes that might potentially be linked.  

This would help the police to identify serial offenders such as Stephen Port. 

The MPS’s intelligence structure 

We were told that in 2014, at a time when police budgets were being decreased, 

the MPS combined its intelligence teams. Analysts, researchers and intelligence 

officers were centralised to support the MPS’s fight against organised crime and 

criminal gangs. 

Recommendation 6 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should make 

sure that those officers and police staff who may be called upon to respond to and 

investigate an unexpected death understand the coronial system and their own 

role in supporting the coroners’ investigations. 

Page 136

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 71 

But senior detectives told us that the changes “hollowed out” the MPS’s local 

intelligence teams. They said that, prior to this, “someone had a grip” at a borough 

policing/BCU level but, over time, the local intelligence structure lost the resilience 

needed to support local policing. 

In 2015, the MPS started a strengthening local policing programme to address a 

number of issues that affected the delivery of borough (now BCU) policing. In January 

2018, the MPS reported on the programme. It said: 

“The development of BCUs should be used as an opportunity to strengthen some 

areas that are not explicitly within the SLP [strengthening local policing 

programme] scope but which would add a significant benefit to partnership working 

– specifically intelligence and intelligence sharing.” 

In 2019, the MPS recruited about 100 analysts to work in BCU local intelligence 

teams. They were to provide analytical and intelligence support to local officers 

dealing with operations and investigations. 

BCU analysis 

We were disappointed to be told by several officers that identifying links between 

deaths at a local level relied on luck. They said it would normally depend on the same 

officers attending different incidents and noticing the similarities. Identifying any links 

between minor incidents and crimes that may be precursors to more serious events 

was even less likely. 

We weren’t convinced that local detectives consistently and proactively looked  

for links. A coroner’s officer told us that when she raised concerns with a BCU 

detective that two cases were very similar and might be connected, the detective 

responded: “Who’s the detective here, me or you?” 

Many of the local analysts we spoke to struggled to recall when they had been asked 

to research information and intelligence in response to a death report. 

Since February 2022, BCU analysts have been encouraged to ‘scan’ local  

death reports. We were shown three examples of the results of this work. They were 

locally managed spreadsheets that listed death reports. But without information from 

other BCUs (and other organisations, such as the London Ambulance Service), this 

analysis is severely constrained and limited in value. 

Force analysis 

The MPS’s strengthening local policing programme recognised that crime and 

offending aren’t constrained by geographical boundaries: 

“Crime and offending patterns in London are continuing to change. As a result, we 

need to cater for increased demand in a way that is not so tightly linked to 

geography as has been the case in the past.” 

Page 137

https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/strengthening-local-policing-programme/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 72 

We are aware that the MPS has developed a system called MetInsights, which can 

extract information from the MPS’s main operational and intelligence systems, 

including the CRIS and the missing persons and related linked indices system. 

MetInsights is an information and intelligence data analytical system. It can be used to 

identify trends and crime patterns and potential links between incidents and offences. 

It can also produce, for instance, maps indicating all unexplained deaths in a  

specified area. And filters can be applied, for example, to map deaths by age as well 

as location. 

But we are still concerned that there isn’t a pan-London approach or specific analytical 

reports to help the force understand, map and potentially link deaths reported 

anywhere in the force. We are especially concerned that deaths considered  

non-suspicious from the outset could be completely overlooked. We discuss this and 

corporate governance and oversight arrangements in chapter 8. It is beyond the scope 

of this report to consider whether there is any effective regional or national analysis of 

this kind. 

But we were encouraged by the MPS’s approach to chemsex deaths. We found 

that the force had introduced an initiative, called Project Sagamore, which is a 

joint approach from the MPS and His Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service to 

crime-related risk, harm and vulnerability within the chemsex context. We report on 

this in more detail in chapter 10. 

 

Hate crime 

In chapter 7, we examine the MPS’s approach to inclusion, diversity and equality 

when investigating deaths. Here, we concentrate on its approach to hate crime. 

This is particularly relevant to the MPS’s investigation of Stephen Port’s murders. 

Although we are unaware of anything to indicate that the murders were motivated by 

hate, the MPS should have considered from the outset (as with any suspicious death) 

that they might have been. 

Recommendation 7 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of intelligence should 

devise an approach to make sure the force can, on a sufficiently frequent basis, 

produce an analytical report concerning its death investigations. This will help the 

force to: 

• better understand the pattern of death reports across the force area, drawing 

on force data and information gathered by other organisations including the 

NHS and local authorities; and 

• identify any linked series of death reports. 

Page 138

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 73 

Defining hate crime 

The police and the CPS have agreed a definition of hate crime. It is included in CPS 

guidance and often referred to in police documents: 

“Any criminal offence which is perceived by the victim or any other person to be 

motivated by hostility or prejudice, based on a person’s disability or perceived 

disability; race or perceived race; or religion or perceived religion; or sexual 

orientation or perceived sexual orientation; or transgender identity or perceived 

transgender identity.” 

The law recognises five types of hate crime: 

• race 

• religion 

• disability 

• sexual orientation 

• transgender identity. 

Legislation (the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and the Sentencing Act 2020) 

acknowledges that the seriousness of an offence is aggravated where it is a hate 

crime and requires a sentencing court to recognise that. The guidance makes clear 

that any crime can be prosecuted as a hate crime, if the offender has shown, or been 

motivated by, hostility based on race, religion, disability, sexual orientation or 

transgender identity. 

In its responding to hate authorised professional practice guidance, the College of 

Policing gives the following definition of hate motivation: 

“Hate crimes and incidents are taken to mean any crime or incident where the 

perpetrator’s hostility or prejudice against an identifiable group of people is a factor 

in determining who is targeted. This is a broad and inclusive definition. A victim, 

complainant or the person reporting the incident does not have to be a member of 

the group. In fact, anyone who is perceived to be or associated with an identifiable 

group of people (even mistakenly), could be a victim of a hate crime or targeted by 

a non-crime hate incident motivated by hostility.” 

The CPS guidance also recognises that someone may be the victim of more than one 

type of hate crime. This introduces the concept of intersectionality. This is a relatively 

new concept, which NHS England defines as a concept for understanding how 

aspects of a person’s identities combine to create different and multiple discrimination 

and privilege. 

We consider intersectionality again in chapter 7. 

Page 139

https://www.cps.gov.uk/crime-info/hate-crime
https://www.cps.gov.uk/crime-info/hate-crime
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/17/contents/enacted
https://www.college.police.uk/app/major-investigation-and-public-protection/hate-crime/responding-hate
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north-west/north-west-equality-diversity-and-inclusion-portal/useful-resources-and-learning/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 74 

Responding to hate crime 

The MPS has produced instruction and guidance on dealing with hate crime.  

It complements the College of Policing’s authorised professional practice. 

The MPS’s guidance recognises the importance of dealing with hate crime and calls it 

a priority. It sets out the MPS’s aim to: 

• ensure all hate crimes and incidents are identified, recorded, investigated and 

supervised in a professional and timely manner taking into account the needs of 

the victim, their family and those of the wider community; 

• enable victims and witnesses of hate crime to report with confidence and keep 

them safe from further victimisation and harm; 

• take a positive approach to deal with offenders of hate crime robustly through the 

criminal justice process to make them accountable for their actions; and 

• work with the community and other organisations to raise awareness of hate crime 

and encourage the reporting of hate crime and incidents. 

The MPS’s guidance is comprehensive. It gives direction on the initial response to a 

report of a hate crime (which could include hate mail or hatred expressed online or 

through social media), completing a risk assessment and conducting an investigation. 

It includes mandatory action, specific to hate crimes, which must be taken.  

The guidance also sets out supervisory responsibilities and reporting requirements.  

It states that all incidents of hate must be recorded on a crime report, regardless of 

whether a crime has been committed or not. 

Importantly, the guidance makes clear that someone may not realise that they are the 

victim of a hate crime, so it is important that officers recognise the signs: 

“Some victims will not realise they have been targeted because of discrimination 

against their personal characteristics and therefore are unlikely to identify that 

they are a victim of a hate crime… It is crucial that hate crimes are recognised 

so that the correct risk assessment can be made, support offered, trends mapped 

and understood.” 

CRIS records of incidents and crimes that are motivated by hatred must be marked (or 

‘flagged’) so that they are identified as such. Appropriate intelligence reports must also 

be completed. BCU commanders must ensure that sufficient processes are in place to 

actively identify and track concerning patterns, issues or trends. 

We found a good understanding of the concept of hate crime among the groups of 

officers we interviewed. Constables told us that they would immediately inform a 

supervisor if they ever suspected that an incident or crime was hate related. But many 

of them told us that they wouldn’t fundamentally alter their investigative approach, as 

they felt they ought to provide the same level of service to everyone. 

Page 140

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/authorised-professional-practice/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 75 

On the other hand, senior detectives explained how evidence of hatred would affect 

their investigative plans. They showed us they have a thorough understanding of how 

to investigate hate crimes. We were encouraged by this. 

Community engagement 

The MPS’s guidance emphasises the importance of community engagement when 

dealing with and preventing hate crime: 

“The BCU Commander must ensure that there is active and regular engagement 

with representative community groups around the issue of hate crime. This should 

involve regular engagement with individuals and groups representing the varying 

strands of hate crime. One of the benefits of this active engagement is that it will 

offer an avenue for the relevant community representatives to provide advice and 

support to the BCU when responding to particular offences, trends or patterns.” 

We saw the positive effect of such work during this inspection. When we examined 

homicide reports, we found that subject matter experts and community representatives 

had been consulted and had helped to shape and develop investigation plans. 

We also saw more general evidence of community engagement during our 2021/22 

PEEL inspection of the MPS. We reported that the force worked with its communities 

so it could understand and respond to what mattered to them. 

But although we found a good understanding of the concept of hate crime, few 

uniformed officers we spoke with during this inspection understood how hate crime 

might adversely affect communities. Many didn’t know how to access specialist 

support and they were unaware of the MPS’s database of subject matter experts and 

community representatives. 

Hate crime training 

A senior detective told us that the approach to hate crime and protected 

characteristics started with education and recognition. The MPS’s hate crime policy 

similarly states that focused training is important. 

We examined hate crime training presentations and lesson plans. We found they were 

clear and comprehensive. Previous cases were used to show different forms of hate 

crime and the difference between criminal and non-criminal incidents. But most of the 

training we saw was directed at detectives rather than uniformed officers. 

New recruits receive hate crime training, which includes presentations by community 

leaders and victims of hate crime. They also take part in street patrol training, where 

they meet with different communities and discuss diversity, inclusion and hate crime. 

But most uniformed officers and supervisors we spoke with couldn’t recall any specific 

hate crime training beyond their initial tuition, other than a recent National Centre for 

Applied Learning Technologies computer-based training package. 

Page 141

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-centre-applied-learning/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-centre-applied-learning/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 76 

In the past, we have found that many MPS police officers and staff thought there was 

an over-reliance on emails, intranet notices and computer-based training. But we 

accept that those methods have many benefits and are particularly useful in sharing 

information with a large number of officers and staff quickly. 

That said, we also found during this inspection that one BCU, with a particularly 

diverse community, provided its own training on identifying and dealing with  

hate crime. This annual training includes presentations from representatives of the 

community, who stress the importance of dealing with hate crime effectively.  

We compliment that BCU on its approach. 

 

 

Recommendation 8 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should 

make sure that all officers and staff carrying out operational roles receive  

face-to-face or online refresher training on the force’s approach to hate crime. 

Recommendation 9 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that all protected characteristics are recorded and considered 

as part of any investigation into a reported death. 

Page 142

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 77 

6. Family liaison processes in relation to 
death investigation 

In her Regulation 28 report, the coroner stated that she was shocked and 

disappointed by the evidence she heard about the Metropolitan Police Service’s 

(MPS’s) support for the families of Stephen Port’s victims. In one case, there was no 

communication at all. 

Under topic 6 of her report (death messages), the coroner encouraged the MPS and 

police forces nationally to reflect on their approach to delivering death messages. 

In this chapter, we assess how the MPS now communicates and works with bereaved 

families, close associates and friends. We take into account the MPS’s response to 

topic 6, which we also refer to in chapter 10. 

On 22 March 2022, we published our findings from another, unconnected inspection of 

the MPS: An inspection of the Metropolitan Police Service’s counter-corruption 

arrangements and other matters related to the Daniel Morgan Independent Panel  

(‘the DMIP report’). 

Based on the MPS’s training commitment and the scale of its family liaison officer 

(FLO) deployment at that time, we concluded that the MPS had made a considerable 

investment in family liaison. We were encouraged. During this inspection, we 

assessed the result of that investment. 

The development of family liaison 

In the late 1990s, the police made fundamental changes to its approach to family 

liaison with the introduction of new national and force guidance. Before then, the 

extent of police involvement with the family was very much at the discretion of the 

senior investigating officer (SIO).  

Page 143

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 78 

National guidance 

In August 1998, the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) introduced the first 

edition of the ACPO Murder Investigation Manual. The 1998 Murder Investigation 

Manual was a comprehensive document and was adopted by police forces nationally. 

It recognised the importance of FLOs. New editions were published in 2000 and 2006. 

Each edition included changes in legislation, technical and scientific developments 

and national improvements generally. It served as national guidance until 2021. 

In 2003, ACPO provided more detailed guidance on family liaison in the ACPO (2003) 

Family Liaison Strategy Manual. In 2008, further guidance was issued by ACPO and 

the National Policing Improvement Agency. 

In November 2020, the Secretary of State for Justice published a Code of Practice for 

Victims of Crime in England and Wales. It sets out the services and minimum 

standards that relevant organisations must provide to victims of crime. It underpins the 

police approach to family liaison in England and Wales. 

On 1 April 2015, the National Police Chiefs’ Council replaced ACPO. In November 

2021, the National Police Chiefs’ Council homicide working group introduced the 

Major Crime Investigation Manual, with the approval of the Chief Constables’ Council. 

It replaced the ACPO 2006 Murder Investigation Manual. We refer to these manuals in 

chapter 4. 

The 2021 Major Crime Investigation Manual covers all aspects of major crime 

investigation, including roles and responsibilities. It also includes guidance on 

introducing and developing a family liaison strategy. It contains links to other 

documents where more information can be found, including authorised professional 

practice (APP). 

MPS guidance 

As we report in chapter 3, on 31 March 1999, the MPS issued Special Notice 6/99, 

titled Major crime review. The special notice followed the publication of the Stephen 

Lawrence Inquiry report one month earlier and the ACPO Murder Investigation Manual 

in August 1998. The Stephen Lawrence Inquiry made six recommendations 

specifically about family liaison. 

Special Notice 6/99 gave limited guidance on family liaison but acknowledged  

its significance. It stated that the family liaison strategy was one of the most important 

considerations an SIO would have to address throughout the investigation. 

The special notice said that family liaison would be covered in full in a force manual 

that was still being written. But it directed that FLOs must record all contact with a 

family or its nominated representatives in a family liaison log. It included some 

guidance on maintaining the log and said that the FLO must sign and date each page. 

Page 144

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime-the-victims-code/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime-the-victims-code/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-police-chiefs-council/
https://www.npcc.police.uk/About-Us/structure-and-membership/chief-constables-council/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/authorised-professional-practice/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/authorised-professional-practice/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-stephen-lawrence-inquiry


UNDER EMBARGO 

 79 

But SIOs were ultimately responsible for supervising all aspects of family liaison and 

were required to countersign and date each page. 

In March 2001, the MPS produced more comprehensive guidance (called the Family 

Liaison Policy Fundamental Guidelines). Later, it used the National Family Liaison 

Officer Guidance 2008 to develop further MPS policy, which it produced in 2013. 

In 2016, the MPS reviewed its family liaison training and introduced greater 

involvement of experienced FLOs who had worked on a wider range of cases, 

including counter-terrorism investigations. And in 2018, the MPS introduced additional 

training for professionalising investigations programme (PIP) level 3 SIOs. 

Currently, MPS training for officers who are going to be deployed as FLOs involves a 

five-day training course. We consider training in more detail elsewhere in this chapter. 

We examined a more recent, undated, guidance document, titled Family Liaison.  

Its content indicated that it was produced after November 2020. We frequently 

examine MPS documents that don’t have a publication date. For instance, on  

13 March 2020, we published the findings from our inspection of the MPS’s response 

to the Henriques report (see chapter 5). There, we commented that much of the 

guidance we saw on investigations generally was undated. 

We commented in chapter 4 of this report that officers find the amount of MPS policy 

and guidance confusing. We suspect that the practice of publishing undated 

documents only adds to that confusion, as the reader can’t easily see which document 

is the most recent. 

We also saw an MPS family liaison policy that was created in draft form on  

14 September 2020. It was published on the force’s intranet in August 2021.  

The policy explains how the MPS intends to put guidance from the investigation APP 

into practice. It outlines the roles and responsibilities of FLOs, family liaison  

co-ordinators, family liaison advisors and any other manager or police personnel 

involved in family liaison. These procedures provide statutory guidance for the 

deployment and effective management of FLOs. 

We consider these roles and responsibilities later in this chapter. 

The aims of family liaison 

MPS guidance replicates national APP and defines that the aims of family liaison  

are to: 

• secure the confidence and trust of the family, thereby enhancing their contribution 

to the investigation (this can positively affect the wider issues of community trust 

and confidence as well as bring positive benefits to the investigation); 

• gather material from the family in a manner that contributes to the investigation and 

preserves its integrity; 

Page 145

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/professionalising-investigations-programme/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-response-to-a-review-of-its-investigations-into-allegations-of-non-recent-sexual-abuse-by-prominent-people
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/henriques-report/
https://www.app.college.police.uk/app-content/investigation
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-personnel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 80 

• work with the family in order to comply with their rights to receive all relevant 

information connected with the inquiry, subject to the needs of the investigation, in 

a way that is proportionate to their fundamental right to respect for their privacy 

and family life; and 

• ensure that the family are given information about support agencies and that 

appropriate referrals are made to: 

• the homicide service; 

• victim and witness support; 

• the NHS and social services; and 

• credible support charities, in accordance with the family’s consent  

and wishes. 

The definition of family 

Before considering the principal family liaison roles, we examine the definition of 

family where family liaison is concerned. 

The inquests into the deaths of Stephen Port’s victims heard evidence that the police 

didn’t acknowledge that a victim’s family may include people other than blood relatives 

or married partners. Indeed, the MPS’s failings in this regard made headline news: the 

Evening Standard reported how Daniel Whitworth’s long-term partner considered that 

he was dismissed because he and Daniel were a gay, unmarried couple. He also said 

that the police refused to let him see a potential suicide note, which Daniel had 

supposedly written. 

Other than the obvious distress such an approach may cause to a victim’s loved ones, 

it also fails to recognise that someone other than a blood relative or married partner 

may know the deceased person better than anyone else and that they could give vital 

information to help an investigation. 

In its family liaison guidance, the MPS has adopted the APP’s national definition  

of family: 

“In this context, the word ‘family’ includes partners, parents, siblings, children, 

guardians and others who may not be related, but who have a direct and close 

relationship with the victim.” 

This approach is to be welcomed. But when we attended an Operation Lilford  

(see chapter 1) gold group meeting during our inspection, independent advisors from 

the LGBTQ+ community still expressed some concerns. They referred to three recent 

cases involving chemsex deaths, which the MPS had otherwise handled very well but 

had failed to appreciate the importance of “significant friends” when considering next 

of kin. The gold group commander gave assurance that this would be addressed. 

Page 146

https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/stephen-port-inquest-serial-killer-daniel-whitworth-barking-ghb-b964976.html?amp
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/gold-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 81 

 

The role of the FLO and associated functions 

Both national and MPS policy give definitions of the roles and functions connected 

with family liaison. Here we include a summary of the most common family liaison 

roles during a homicide investigation. 

Senior investigating officer 

The SIO is accountable for all aspects of an investigation, including the selection and 

deployment of any FLO. The SIO sets the family liaison strategy and defines the 

FLO’s objectives in conjunction with the family liaison co-ordinator. They must also 

make sure that FLOs are appropriately supervised and supported. 

We report elsewhere in this chapter that SIOs, particularly in basic command units, 

don’t always fulfil these requirements. 

Family liaison co-ordinator and family liaison advisor 

We considered the national APP definitions of family liaison co-ordinator and family 

liaison advisor. We found them confusing, with no clear distinction between the roles: 

“The family liaison co-ordinator manages the deployments of family liaison officers 

and family liaison advisors within a police service, and is responsible for providing 

or arranging support, guidance and development opportunities for those involved in 

family liaison. 

“The family liaison advisor will be responsible for deploying family liaison officers 

and will report to a senior investigating officer, family liaison co-ordinator or lead 

family liaison advisor.” 

We consulted the College of Policing website and found the following professional  

role profiles: 

“The family liaison co-ordinator manages the deployments of family liaison officers 

and family liaison advisors within a service and are responsible for providing or 

arranging support, guidance and development opportunities for the family  

liaison community.”  

Recommendation 10 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison 

should make sure that all family liaison policies and guidance documents include 

the College of Policing’s definition of a family. The definition states that family 

includes partners, parents, siblings, children, guardians and others who may not 

be related but who have a direct and close relationship with the victim. 

Page 147

https://profdev.college.police.uk/?s=family+liaison
https://www.college.police.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/victims/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 82 

And: 

“Family liaison advisors provide tactical and operational advice regarding the 

deployment of family liaison officers to senior investigating officers in cases of 

homicide, lead investigators in cases of fatal road traffic collisions or senior 

identification managers in cases of mass fatality. Family liaison advisors also 

supervise and support family liaison officers in the effective delivery of their role.” 

These profiles indicate that, as the title of the role suggests, advisors have more of an 

advisory than operational function. 

While recognising the lack of clarity, the MPS has attempted to draw some distinction 

between the co-ordinator and advisor roles. In setting out the purpose of the  

co-ordinator role, the MPS family liaison policy states: 

“Family liaison co-ordinators in the Met have a number of roles and responsibilities 

that cross over with the national family liaison advisor tole profile due to differences 

in terminology used across different police forces.” 

In the MPS, co-ordinators are responsible for several functions, including: 

• identifying suitable police officers to be trained as FLOs; 

• maintaining a register of FLOs in their own basic command unit (BCU); 

• FLO welfare; 

• deploying FLOs; 

• evaluating the performance of FLOs; 

• giving advice on the production of the FLO strategy; and 

• supporting SIOs and senior identification managers where necessary. 

A co-ordinator we spoke with during our inspection said that their main function was to 

support FLOs. This primarily involved managing an FLO’s deployment and resolving 

any issues that might arise, including any conflict between the FLO and SIO. 

With regard to advisors, the MPS policy states: 

“In the MPS the role of the family liaison advisor comprises of a number of the 

competencies listed in the national role profile for both family liaison co-ordinators 

and family liaison advisors. 

“MPS family liaison advisors are family liaison officers who have been trained as 

family liaison co-ordinators and who work within the arena of family liaison full time. 

The overarching role of the central specialist crime family liaison advisor team is 

to provide operational support and advice in all aspects of family liaison within 

the MPS.” 

Page 148

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/senior-identification-manager/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/senior-identification-manager/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 83 

The family liaison advisory team is part of the MPS’s central specialist crime family 

liaison and disaster victim identification team. Its main purpose is to provide 

operational support and advice on all aspects of family liaison in the MPS. 

The family liaison advisory team also maintains a database with details of all the 

MPS’s FLOs, co-ordinators and advisors. The database is used to manage and  

deploy FLOs. It includes details of their skills and attributes, such as an FLO’s ability 

to speak different languages. 

Family liaison officer 

The decision to become an FLO shouldn’t be taken lightly. One co-ordinator, who was 

also an experienced FLO, told us: “The FLO is a challenging role. You do it because 

you care about people.” But everyone we spoke with from family liaison was clear that 

FLOs must never forget that they are still investigators. This is made explicit in both 

national and MPS guidance. Indeed, the MPS family liaison policy states: 

“The primary purpose of a family liaison officer is that of an investigator. Their role 

is to gather evidence and information from the family to contribute to the 

investigation and preserve its integrity. The family liaison officer also provides 

support and information in a sensitive and compassionate manner, securing the 

confidence and trust of the families of victims of crime, ensuring family members 

are given timely information in accordance with the needs of the investigation.” 

The FLOs we spoke with recognised that they needed to be “open and honest” with 

a victim’s family, while also respecting the integrity of the investigation and the 

SIO’s objectives. They considered it vital that they meet with the family, irrespective of 

the distances involved. But during the Port investigations, the MPS failed to make sure 

this was done. 

The FLOs also thought that maintaining contact with coroners’ officers was an 

important function during a deployment. 

Selection and training 

We consider here the selection and training processes the MPS has in place for those 

wishing to perform family liaison roles. 

Eligibility  

Both police officers and police staff can perform the role of FLO in the MPS. 

Police officers must be accredited PIP 2 investigators under the Initial Crime 

Investigators Development Programme (or must have completed a similar 

detective course or been accepted onto the development programme with a view 

to accreditation). Police staff investigators must have a similar level of investigative 

accreditation. 

Page 149

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.fis-international.com/services/investigation-services/investigation-courses/initial-crime-investigators-development-programme-icidp/
https://www.fis-international.com/services/investigation-services/investigation-courses/initial-crime-investigators-development-programme-icidp/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 84 

Applicants must also be up to date with any mandatory MPS training, must 

successfully complete occupational health screening and must be prepared to perform 

the role of FLO for two years on completion of the training course. Optima Health 

carries out the occupational health screening process. 

Uniformed officers from the MPS roads and transport policing command (RTPC) can 

also become FLOs to support serious collision investigations. But they can’t continue 

in a FLO role if they transfer to another department or a BCU unless they become 

suitably accredited investigators. 

Applicants for the role of co-ordinator must hold the rank of detective sergeant or, 

where appropriate, an RTPC sergeant. Although desirable, experience as a trained 

FLO isn’t essential. 

MPS advisors are FLOs who have been trained as co-ordinators. They perform a 

full-time family liaison function as part of the family liaison advisory team. 

Selection 

We were told that people didn’t apply in huge numbers to become FLOs. As we 

discuss elsewhere in this chapter, the role can add considerable demand to an 

already high workload. 

BCUs are responsible for managing the FLO application process. Potential applicants 

should first discuss the role with a co-ordinator. They must show a thorough 

understanding of its requirements. If they are selected, the co-ordinator will contact the 

central family liaison advisory team, which allocates training places according to need. 

Regardless of policy, FLOs from a major investigation team (MIT) told us that they had 

simply asked to become FLOs, with no additional checks carried out on their suitability 

for the role. Other detectives, again working with homicide teams, also said there was 

no screening process before attending an FLO course. One remarked that they had 

worked with some FLOs “who should never have been employed in the role”. 

On the other hand, an FLO training officer who works at the MPS’s central training 

school thought that candidates were appropriately checked. They also said that 

candidates could leave an FLO training course at any stage if they decided that they 

weren’t suited to the role. 

While we don’t disregard what the FLO trainer told us, and although we acknowledge 

the requirements laid out in the MPS’s selection policy and guidance, the possibility 

that unsuitable officers and staff may be selected for the role of FLO, or may have 

been previously selected and are still performing the role, is concerning. 

We recommend that the MPS takes steps to make sure that all future FLO candidates, 

and those who are currently performing the role, are screened to make sure they are 

suitable for this important function. 

Page 150

https://www.optimahealth.co.uk/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 85 

 

FLO training 

The MPS carries out its own, in-force, family liaison training. The FLO course is five 

days long and the co-ordinator course lasts for three days. MPS policy doesn’t specify 

any additional training for advisors. 

Co-ordinators are responsible for providing or arranging support, guidance and 

development opportunities for the FLOs within their team or BCU. The co-ordinators 

should regularly discuss personal development with the FLOs and identify any training 

needs they may have. This discussion may take place at the end of a deployment. 

FLOs should get a minimum of 8 hours of bespoke training in a 12-month period. 

In 2016, the MPS reviewed its family liaison training. It was already aware of the 

wholly unacceptable shortcomings of its family liaison approach in the Stephen Port 

investigations. But although some FLOs and co-ordinators told us that they had 

received a talk on Port, many others said they had never received any training on the 

lessons to be learned from the investigations. This was a missed opportunity. 

Many of the 27 FLOs and co-ordinators we spoke with were critical of family liaison 

training in general. Some said the FLO course didn’t equip an aspiring FLO well 

enough for the role. They gave examples of new MIT FLOs being deployed to an 

investigation and having to rely heavily on their more experienced colleagues.  

They felt that a mandatory mentoring or shadowing scheme should be introduced. 

FLOs in one BCU also said that, contrary to policy, continuing professional 

development training for FLOs didn’t exist. They said that their last training session 

was before the pandemic. Their co-ordinator confirmed that there was a delay. 

But we were told that the MPS had incorporated a full day focused on family liaison 

into SIO training. This is encouraging. Those attending detective inspector and 

detective sergeant training courses also now receive appropriate awareness training. 

But we were told this wasn’t available to detective constables, though those we spoke 

with felt it would be useful given the FLO’s important role in an investigation. 

Contacting the bereaved 

As we discuss in chapter 1, the coroner was shocked and disappointed by the errors 

police officers made when they delivered death messages to the families of three 

of Stephen Port’s victims. And they didn’t even contact Gabriel Kovari’s family, who 

lived abroad. 

Recommendation 11 

By 30 April 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison should 

make sure that all family liaison officers are appropriately screened for the role. 

Page 151

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/continuing-professional-development/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/continuing-professional-development/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 86 

But there are wider issues to consider here. Appropriately delivering a death message 

requires making sure the police contact the right person or people. As we reported 

earlier in this chapter, the definition of family in these circumstances includes those 

who may not be related but who have a direct and close relationship with the victim. 

Independent advisors still aren’t confident that the MPS fully understands this. In a 

meeting we attended, they cited a recent case where the MPS had, commendably, 

made great efforts to trace blood relatives living abroad. But it had overlooked the 

deceased person’s gay partner in London. 

When a death has been reported to the police and friends or family members aren’t 

in attendance or otherwise aware, their first contact with the police is likely to be 

with a uniformed response officer. A FLO may be appointed in due course but, if 

the death doesn’t require a prolonged investigation, it may well be that an FLO is 

never appointed. 

Chief officers told us that the MPS has procedures to make sure that the next of kin is 

informed of a sudden death. Contact with the next of kin should be recorded in the 

death report. The process depends on whether a death is considered suspicious or 

non-suspicious. A duty officer (a uniformed inspector) oversees contact with the next 

of kin where there are no suspicious circumstances. 

If the death is suspicious and being dealt with by the specialist crime command’s MIT, 

the FLO will inform the next of kin under the direction of an SIO. If a death is still under 

investigation but hasn’t been transferred to a homicide team, it still falls to the BCU to 

inform the family. 

Where responsibility lies with a BCU, a supervisor will often give the task of informing 

the family to a response officer. Where possible, and if appropriate, this task will 

be carried out by an officer who is still in training, under the guidance of an 

experienced officer. 

Chief officers told us that the MPS had reviewed its guidance on delivering  

death messages. The new guidelines have recommendations for contacting the next 

of kin, and enhanced training is to be introduced. 

We considered the policy and guidance on this subject that is available to officers and 

their level of knowledge and understanding. 

Policy and guidance on contacting the bereaved 

We saw eight policy and guidance documents that referred to a victim’s family or next 

of kin, six of which described what constitutes a family. We refer to a selection of 

them here.  

Page 152



UNDER EMBARGO 

 87 

It was only in more recent documents that we found meaningful, practical advice about 

delivering death messages. It is disappointing that it took a pandemic (more than three 

years after Port’s conviction) and a coroner’s inquest (five years after his conviction) to 

convince the MPS that it needed to do something. 

In November 2016, the MPS produced advice on tracing the next of kin as part of its 

death investigation toolkit. A one-page sheet provides advice for different scenarios, 

which include: 

• if the deceased person has been identified; 

• if the deceased person is unidentified; 

• if the next of kin is known; and 

• if the next of kin is unknown. 

It outlines supervisory officers’ responsibilities and advises how to trace the next  

of kin. It doesn’t include guidance on delivering a death message. 

An undated ‘violence against the person’ policy includes a wide range of advice.  

It outlines officer and staff roles and responsibilities in the event of a crime of violence. 

It quite rightly says that the victim needs to be identified and that details of their family, 

friends and associates should be obtained. But it isn’t clear about making contact and 

information sharing. Given the serious nature of the offences covered by the policy, 

this is a surprising omission. 

A 2018 death investigation policy similarly recognised the police responsibilities: 

“Police have a duty to make all efforts to identify the next of kin as soon as is 

practicable and have them informed in a timely and sensitive manner about  

the death.” 

It took into account religious considerations and other forms of diversity but didn’t give 

specific advice on delivering a death message. 

But on 14 April 2020, the MPS published ‘delivery of a notification of death’ guidelines. 

These were put together in response to COVID-19 but contained invaluable advice 

which could be taken into account when delivering a death message under  

any circumstances. 

The guidelines open with a message from the MPS’s senior chaplain. It includes this 

very important observation: 

“Done wrong, delivery of a death message can leave families with the perception 

that officers are not caring, interested or [are] cold-hearted. Done right it can make 

all the difference. It is important therefore that we get our tone and content right.” 

Page 153



UNDER EMBARGO 

 88 

The value of what the guidance says can’t be overstated. While it may have been 

written with the pandemic in mind, we commend its thoughtful and caring approach. 

As an example, we include one more extract: 

“The first thing to remember is that above all it is about using common sense and 

human decency whilst being compassionate and empathetic. You will witness the 

effects of someone hearing the worst possible news. 

“Please remember: 

• NEVER give the message over the phone! NEVER put a note through 

the door. It must be face to face. 

• Gather all the facts and information before you speak to the Next of Kin. 

• Find out if there are language barriers, or cultural aspects that you need to 

be familiar with.” 

In responding to the coroner’s concerns (see chapter 10), the MPS referred to the 

guidance that was produced in response to COVID-19. In light of the coroner’s 

findings, the MPS produced more guidance. That guidance is included in the 2022 

MPS death investigation policy. It is similar to that produced in 2020 for the pandemic. 

Although the 2022 MPS death investigation policy was introduced with a press release 

for the wider public, we found that some uniformed officers of chief inspector and 

inspector ranks weren’t aware of any changes to policy or practice. 

But we did find widespread knowledge about a leaflet called Advice and support for 

the bereaved. Although undated, it has been in use for some time. The leaflet is 

referred to in various MPS policy and guidance documents, with frequent reminders to 

hand a copy to the bereaved. It contains useful information, such as advice on 

obtaining a medical certificate, registering a death and arranging a funeral, 

post-mortems (if required) and the role of the coroner. It also includes information 

about support services and relevant police contact details. 

Training for delivering a death message 

In response to the coroner’s concerns about death messages, the MPS reported that 

all new police officer recruits are given two sessions on sudden deaths and delivering 

a death message. FLO courses also include a one-hour lesson on death messages. 

A senior member of the MPS’s learning and development department told us that 

recruits are trained to national standards. They are then coached by experienced 

tutors and given the opportunity to deliver death messages.  

Page 154



UNDER EMBARGO 

 89 

But this is of little benefit to those who haven’t joined the MPS recently or who  

aren’t FLOs. Many of the officers we interviewed, of various ranks, said they had 

never received any specific training for communicating with and working with a 

deceased person’s family and friends. This included response officers, who are most 

likely to make that first important contact. 

Training officers at the MPS’s central training school told us that the tuition on 

delivering death messages wasn’t particularly good. They felt that it needed to  

be reviewed. We understand from the MPS’s response to the coroner that it intended 

to provide enhanced training. 

 

Deploying a FLO 

In the MPS, FLOs might be deployed by a BCU, a MIT or the RTPC. The MPS family 

liaison policy states that, when a FLO is deployed, the SIO (or, where applicable, the 

investigating officer) or co-ordinator must brief the FLO and give them a strategy.  

The strategy directs the FLO’s level of involvement in the investigation and the specific 

tasks they should carry out. It should also include welfare and support considerations. 

It must be reviewed periodically.  

Both detective sergeant and detective inspector training programmes include 

instructions on setting family liaison strategies. Advisors are also available for 

guidance if needed. 

The central family liaison advisory team oversees all the MPS’s family liaison activity, 

but the selection of an FLO for a particular deployment is a decision for the SIO  

and co-ordinator. While MIT FLOs are assigned predominantly to homicide cases, 

BCU FLOs have recently been deployed to other incidents, such as attempted 

murders and other serious assaults, unexplained deaths requiring more investigation 

and high-risk missing persons. 

A BCU co-ordinator told us that they would try to deploy an FLO from the right area  

of work. For example, if an investigation relates to a missing person, they will try to 

find an FLO with experience of public protection. The BCU will also try to allocate two 

FLOs, when possible, to provide support and to make sure contact with the family 

continues if an FLO is absent. If another FLO isn’t available, a member of the 

investigation team will normally accompany the FLO. 

Recommendation 12 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service head of training should 

ensure that all officers who might be asked to deliver a death message have 

been trained. 

Page 155

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 90 

A MIT allocates two trained FLOs to each deployment. This dual process is 

particularly useful when there are divisions within a family or when a suspect is a 

family member. We think this approach has advantages for both family and 

investigative purposes. 

The MPS’s approach to family liaison also takes account of diversity. FLOs are 

advised of any complexities that may arise during an investigation, such as details of a 

deceased person’s lifestyle that family members might not be aware of or might not 

approve of. At the time of our inspection, the MPS had 745 FLOs, of which 51 were 

self-declared LGBTQ+. FLOs can also turn to independent advisors, such as the 

National Crime Agency and family support charities, for guidance if necessary. 

One of the most difficult aspects of an FLO deployment can be reducing or ending 

contact with a family, particularly if a constructive relationship has developed. The SIO 

is responsible for deciding when an FLO will reduce or end contact, but several FLOs, 

in both BCUs and the MIT, told us that SIOs rarely give them an exit strategy.  

Some FLOs said that they decide for themselves when to withdraw. One FLO told us 

that they just left quietly when it felt right and that it was rarely discussed with the SIO. 

We recommend that the MPS makes sure that bespoke exit strategies for FLOs are 

produced and reviewed whenever they are deployed. 

 

Supervision and support  

The family liaison advisory team has overall responsibility for all the MPS’s FLOs.  

But responsibility for setting a family liaison strategy before a deployment lies with the 

SIO, who should include welfare and support considerations in the strategy. The SIO 

must also make sure that a risk assessment is completed, although the FLO also has 

personal responsibility for making sure that it is in place. The SIO should revisit the 

strategy regularly and adjust it if necessary. 

FLOs are encouraged to challenge SIOs if they feel that their role is being interfered 

with or undermined. But that is easier said than done. The FLO can raise any 

concerns with their co-ordinator but, as a BCU co-ordinator (a detective sergeant) told 

us, they sometimes need the support of a higher rank. They suggested that every 

BCU should designate a superintendent to provide oversight of family liaison matters 

in its area. We agree. 

Recommendation 13 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that senior investigating officers set a clear family liaison 

strategy whenever a family liaison officer is deployed. The strategy should be 

reviewed and developed to include an exit strategy. 

Page 156

https://nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 91 

Welfare 

The MPS family liaison policy states that the welfare of the FLO is always paramount. 

The role of the FLO can be a very stressful one. It frequently involves dealing with 

people in harrowing circumstances. 

According to the policy, all FLOs have a personal responsibility to safeguard 

themselves and can request to be taken ‘offline’ so that they aren’t available  

for deployment. They are advised that they can ask for help if needed and can refer 

themselves, in confidence, to occupational health. But both MIT FLOs and BCU FLOs 

told us that the MPS doesn’t provide enough welfare support. BCU FLOs told us that 

they got no support from the senior management team, while MIT FLOs said that they 

felt undervalued. 

Training officers also told us that the occupational health and welfare support for MPS 

FLOs is poor. They were concerned that FLOs were being “burnt out”. 

The welfare of BCU FLOs is a particular problem. They are all detectives and 

invariably already have a heavy BCU workload. They can’t abandon their other work 

and must manage their time effectively. But one experienced BCU co-ordinator told us 

they couldn’t always put next of kin at the forefront and that they struggled to meet the 

standards of service that their MIT colleagues, who are full-time FLOs, provide. 

Family liaison co-ordinators must also monitor their FLOs’ welfare. All FLOs must 

complete a mandatory occupational health monitoring questionnaire, and  

co-ordinators can refer them to occupational health if they think it necessary.  

FLOs must also complete a deployment form when being deployed to a family and an 

exit form when exiting from a family. In both cases, the forms must be submitted to the 

family liaison advisory team within 48 hours. The team maintains a database of all the 

family liaison deployments across the MPS. 

The deployment and exit forms include a section where FLOs can raise any welfare 

issues, but several FLOs we spoke with said they had never filled that section out. 

They felt it would be pointless and that any issues they brought up wouldn’t  

be resolved. They told us that the MPS’s occupational health and welfare system 

relied on people being able to manage their own welfare, as no one else was really 

able or had the time to offer support. 

Dealing with conflict 

On occasions, conflict will inevitably arise between a FLO and a family. MPS policy 

recognises that independent advisors can be invaluable in such circumstances: 

“Independent Advisory Groups (IAGs) are available to assist police in 

circumstances where the relationship between police and the family has become 

strained, broken down completely or where the SIO/IO feels that the intervention of 

an IAG would be beneficial.” 

Page 157

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/independent-advisory-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 92 

But there will still be instances where independent advisors can’t resolve a situation. 

FLOs told us that, ultimately, the SIO was responsible for addressing conflict.  

If necessary, they may deploy an alternative FLO. But some BCU FLOs told us that 

they were left to deal with conflict themselves. A BCU FLO gave this example: 

The FLO had been deployed without a family liaison strategy and with little, if any 

support, from a supervisory sergeant or an SIO. When the relationship with the 

family broke down completely, the FLO asked a co-ordinator to write a strategy. 

The co-ordinator refused: the FLO had already been deployed for a year and the 

co-ordinator wasn’t prepared to produce a strategy retrospectively. 

The FLO contacted the central family liaison advisory team for help. The family 

liaison advisory team identified a charity that was prepared to act as a go-between. 

The family accepted the proposal. 

In this case, the absence of any meaningful supervision led to an entirely 

unsatisfactory situation, which should never have been allowed to develop in the  

first place. 

We also met with a family whose grievances had yet to be resolved. Family members 

complained to us about the quality of an MPS investigation into the death of a gay 

relative. They also alleged that officers were dismissive and used discriminatory 

language. 

It isn’t our role to reinvestigate the death, but our concerns were such that we 

immediately brought the case to a chief officer’s attention. The chief officer agreed to 

investigate the matters we raised and how the case was conducted in general.  

The family’s allegations were remarkably similar to those made by the relatives and 

friends of Port’s victims. 

On the other hand, we were also told of cases where the police worked hard to 

address the concerns raised by families. We were told of two examples where conflict 

arose because families weren’t satisfied with their respective police investigations.  

In one of these instances, a BCU commander directed that a reinvestigation should be 

carried out by experienced detectives, while in the other, the force’s specialist crime 

review group reviewed the original investigation. In both cases, the reinvestigating or 

reviewing officers found that nothing more could be done. Senior officers explained 

the outcomes to the families. 

While considering the MPS’s relationship with families generally, we looked for 

evidence that the MPS proactively seeks feedback about its family liaison service from 

groups that support families. We didn’t find any. We recommend that the MPS should 

consider establishing a process to gather feedback from bereaved families, 

independent support groups and charities to review and improve the quality of its 

family liaison. 

Page 158



UNDER EMBARGO 

 93 

 

Record keeping 

We reported earlier in this chapter that the SIO should produce a documented family 

liaison strategy for the FLO. On deployment, the FLO will generally complete an initial 

victim profile, which includes background details and the family’s points of contact. 

Officers told us that family liaison courses give clear guidance on how and where to 

record all contact with a family. MPS policy states that the FLO must keep an FLO log 

book of all contact (or attempted contact) with the family, next of kin, intermediaries 

and other parties connected to the family. Entries in the log should be timely and 

the record should be supervised regularly by an SIO and/or a co-ordinator. 

Deployment and exit forms should also be completed and submitted at the start and 

end of a deployment. 

But we found an inconsistent approach to the completion of logs. Some FLOs still 

used paper notepads, while others had started using more recent electronic versions 

of the FLO log on the MPS’s IT systems. BCU FLOs consistently told us that SIOs 

rarely supervised, viewed or signed either version of the logs. 

One of the FLOs that we spoke with gave us an example of poor supervision: 

A BCU FLO had been assigned to the family of a victim who was expected to die. 

The investigating officers couldn’t find any information recorded by the FLO. 

Eventually, they realised that the FLO hadn’t contacted the family for three weeks. 

The FLO had gone on holiday without briefing a replacement FLO or completing a 

contact log. 

We also wanted to understand what arrangements the MPS makes when an FLO isn’t 

allocated to a death investigation. This would generally be for cases where the death 

is categorised as unexpected but still needs investigating. We were told that contact 

with a family (often carried out by response officers) should be recorded on the crime 

report information system. 

But a BCU chief inspector told us they weren’t confident that this process was  

always followed. Our findings tended to confirm the chief inspector’s suspicion.  

When we examined the crime report information system records, we found general 

references to family liaison, but the details of when contact was made with the family 

were often missing. 

Recommendation 14 

By 31 March 2024, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for family liaison should 

establish a system to gather feedback from bereaved families, independent 

support groups and charities on the quality of its family liaison service. It should 

use this feedback to improve the training of its officers and the service  

they provide. 

Page 159

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 94 

Inconsistencies in FLO deployments 

We were told that there is a “stark difference” between a BCU FLO deployment and 

one involving a MIT FLO. This isn’t because a BCU FLO is any less capable or 

committed but because the categorisation of a death affects the MPS’s approach to it. 

The BCU FLOs we spoke with were all highly motivated, though frustrated, people, 

who struggle to match their MIT colleagues’ level of service. 

Quite simply, a family is likely to receive more attention if a MIT takes charge of 

the investigation. For example, a MIT can be more selective when appointing an 

individual FLO for any particular circumstances, while BCUs tend to allocate whoever 

is available. 

A chief officer told us that there was a problem in getting BCU FLOs “freed up”. 

We were told that, in many ways, being a BCU FLO was a “thankless task” because 

of all the other day-to-day BCU duties that the FLO must perform. One told us that, 

while they were on deployment, they had to manage 70 high-risk sex offenders. 

Another said they often had 30 or more crimes to deal with. By contrast, MIT FLOs are 

more likely to be dedicated to their family liaison role. 

Coroner’s officers, who have regular contact with both BCU and MIT FLOs, told us 

that the different level of service is clear to them. They explained that while a BCU 

FLO has competing demands, the role is “bread and butter” to a MIT FLO. They told 

us BCU FLOs couldn’t give 100 percent because they had so much else to do. 

A co-ordinator told us that performing the role of a BCU FLO according to policy is 

“pretty much impossible”. There may even be a considerable difference in the time 

it takes to deploy BCU and MIT FLOs. While MIT FLOs may be readily available, 

the co-ordinator said that on occasions it could take up to three days to deploy a 

BCU FLO. 

Detectives told us that sometimes they assumed the role themselves because a 

trained FLO wasn’t available. One officer described their frustration at being unable to 

find an available FLO, either from their own BCU or externally: “I ended up with no 

FLO, so I dealt with the family without training. I know this is high risk, but what could 

I do?” 

While unsatisfactory, this officer’s approach at least made sure the family had a 

recognised point of contact. 

Page 160



UNDER EMBARGO 

 95 

7. Inclusion, diversity and equalities 
considerations when investigating death 

In this chapter, we examine how inclusion, diversity and equality are considered by 

those investigating deaths. In particular, we examine how protected characteristics 

might influence the response to and investigation of death reports. 

Protected characteristics 

The Equality Act 2010 identifies protected characteristics as: 

• age 

• disability 

• gender reassignment 

• marriage and civil partnership 

• pregnancy and maternity 

• race 

• religion or belief 

• sex 

• sexual orientation. 

Guidance to officers 

We examined the policies, guidance documents and toolkits that have been produced 

to help officers respond to and investigate reports of death. As we concluded 

elsewhere in this report, there is an overwhelming number of policies, which  

creates confusion. Many of them are also difficult to read and navigate and  

are outdated. 

We were disappointed to find that many of the documents that officers refer to when 

dealing with a death report have no advice and guidance on identifying protected 

characteristics as part of an investigation. We make a recommendation about this in 

chapter 4.  

Page 161

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 96 

We found that policies, including the 2022 Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) death 

investigation policy, didn’t emphasise the importance of identifying protected 

characteristics during an initial investigation. The 2022 MPS death investigation policy 

only refers to racial, religious and cultural considerations. Other investigative 

documents, including the coroner’s death investigation pack, the missing persons and 

related linked indices (MERLIN) system and evidence and actions books, also lack 

direction for identifying protected characteristics. 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy recommends that officers use the THRIVE+ 

decision-making framework to help them identify any threat, harm, risk and 

vulnerability when attending a report of death. We examined 42 death investigation 

reports and found little evidence that THRIVE+ was used. We discuss THRIVE+ in 

more detail in chapter 5. 

We also found little evidence that even the most obvious protected characteristics, 

such as race, were recorded in the death investigation packs (or in other types of 

death reports). 

Potential protected characteristics should be considered during any death 

investigation and appropriately recorded. Force policies should reflect this 

requirement. We discuss the risk of making unfounded assumptions and the effect of 

unconscious bias in chapter 5. 

Frontline officers 

We spoke to frontline uniformed officers and supervisors who were most likely to 

respond to a report of death. Many couldn’t recall any training on protected 

characteristics within the context of death investigations. But some basic command 

unit (BCU) officers, particularly those who work among diverse communities, gave 

examples of having considered racial and cultural diversity when dealing with 

bereaved families. 

We also asked BCU response officers, investigators and supervisors how protected 

characteristics and vulnerability might influence an investigation. Most said that they 

would treat everybody equally. We found there was often a marked reluctance to say 

that they would treat people differently, as they felt that everyone deserved the same 

quality of service. But they are missing the point: they should adapt their approach to 

meet individual needs. 

We were disappointed that officers don’t routinely consider protected characteristics or 

vulnerability during the initial investigation of death. This needs to change. The MPS 

should do more to make sure that its officers consider protected characteristics as part 

of its response to death reports. The Stephen Port investigation is proof of the 

evidential opportunities that may be missed if officers fail to do this. 

Page 162

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/thrive/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/unconscious-bias/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 97 

Specialist support 

BCU officers often ask homicide assessment team (HAT) detectives for advice when 

dealing with reports of unexpected deaths. The detectives give their advice through a 

written, template-based report. 

When we spoke with HAT detectives, they clearly understood that any protected 

characteristics may be a contributory factor in a death and so relevant to 

its investigation. But when we examined 40 HAT reports (covering 20 cases), we were 

disappointed to find that protected characteristics had been included as part of the 

assessment in only 4 cases. We found 12 cases where protected characteristics were 

potentially relevant, but considerations hadn’t been recorded. Where the HAT 

detectives had identified protected characteristics, they had made no discernible 

difference to the advice given in their reports. 

We were encouraged to find that, where appropriate, chemsex subject matter experts 

were available to give support and advice to BCUs. We discuss the chemsex context 

and the MPS’s approach to it (Project Sagamore) in chapter 10. 

Effectiveness of supervision and wider leadership 

We also assessed whether frontline sergeants and inspectors considered diversity, 

equality and inclusion when supervising and reviewing investigations into reports  

of death. 

Frontline supervision and leadership 

In our reviews of records and when talking to sergeants and inspectors, we found little 

evidence that they routinely considered protected characteristics. If sergeants and 

inspectors don’t take protected characteristics into account when supervising 

response officers, relevant lines of enquiry and evidential opportunities that have been 

missed might not be identified and acted on. 

Importantly, a lack of focus on potential protected characteristics might undermine 

decisions taken on the categorisation of a reported death and its subsequent 

investigation. An obvious example is the Stephen Port case, where officers failed to 

identify or even look for his victims’ protected characteristics. 

BCU governance 

We were encouraged to find that in four BCUs we visited, all reports of death were 

now a standing item on the agenda for local governance (‘pacesetter’) meetings.  

We discuss these arrangements in more detail in chapter 8.  

Page 163



UNDER EMBARGO 

 98 

But local intelligence officers, who provide briefing papers to inform the meetings, told 

us that they can’t give a fully detailed account of each death investigation. This is 

because many of the documents and reports they analyse (including computer-aided 

dispatch records, crime report information system records, MERLIN records and death 

reports) rarely contain information on protected characteristics. Without this 

information, senior BCU officers may be drawing conclusions about deaths in their 

area without having all the relevant facts available to them. 

Gold groups 

Gold groups often bring together representatives of different services, organisations 

and communities to deal with critical incidents. The incidents may include murders or 

unexplained deaths. 

We were pleased to find that LGBTQ+ representatives were members of Operation 

Lilford’s gold group. Records indicate that they have attended meetings since the 

group’s inception in 2015. They also show that the LGBTQ+ representatives are 

prepared to challenge the police and press for improvements. 

The MPS intends to introduce a critical incident protocol to formalise the process of 

information sharing and how independent representatives and advisors contribute to 

gold groups. 

Specialist supervision and leadership 

Where responsibility for a death investigation transfers from a BCU to the specialist 

crime command, a senior investigating officer from a major investigation team will  

be appointed. We were pleased to find in the documents we reviewed and from 

meetings with major investigation team officers that protected characteristics were 

routinely considered during their investigations. 

Effectiveness of approach to community engagement 

In 2017, the MPS introduced the crime prevention inclusion and engagement 

command (CPIE) to forge stronger links with its communities. CPIE is led by a 

commander and has a dedicated engagement team. It has three clear aims, which  

are to: 

1. keep London’s communities informed; 

2. involve communities in policing London; and 

3. work with communities to reduce crime and make London safer for everyone. 

The MPS has a three-tiered approach to community engagement: 

• tier 1: pan-London engagement (led by CPIE); 

• tier 2: BCU-level engagement with local communities; and 

• tier 3: engagement as part of a specific operation, incident or event. 

Page 164

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/gold-group/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 99 

Tier 1: pan-London engagement 

The LGBT+ independent advisory group (IAG) is one of the MPS’s longest-running 

groups, with some members tracing their involvement back to 1999. The IAG meets at 

least every ten weeks. One of its members chairs the meetings, which senior police 

officers also attend. 

The IAG’s website sets out its purpose: 

“We are a voluntary group of independent lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender 

(LGBT) advisors working with the Metropolitan Police Service. We advise on and 

monitor police issues that affect LGBT people who live in, work in, study in or are 

visiting London.” 

A chief officer we spoke with considered the LGBT+ IAG to be a ‘critical friend’ 

(a person or organisation willing to give critical and sometimes hard-to-hear feedback). 

The IAG considers matters such as critical incidents, community issues, police 

policy and practice, lessons to be learned and the provision and development of 

relevant training. Attendees also continue to assess the MPS’s response to its failings 

during the Stephen Port murders. 

In 2007, the IAG published a thematic review of six MPS homicide investigations 

that were conducted between 1990 and 2002. The victims were ten members of 

LGBTQ+ communities. The review concluded: 

“The investigations in the early 1990s were hampered by a lack of understanding 

and sensitivity towards LGBT people and also by deep mistrust of the police within 

the LGBT community due to historical policing practice. Later investigations, on the 

other hand, were more effective in engaging with the community through the use of 

LGBT Liaison Officers and independent advisors.” 

The report’s findings are still relevant today. 

We spoke to members of the LGBT+ IAG and attended two of their meetings. It was 

clear that they made a valuable contribution to policing, based on their experience of 

contact with the police and the challenges and issues that LGBTQ+ communities  

face generally. 

They told us that many LGBTQ+ people fear and mistrust the police. They said the 

MPS’s response to the Stephen Port murders and to the murder committed by  

then-serving police officer Wayne Couzens had alienated some members of the 

LGBTQ+ community even more. Some members of the IAG also thought that the 

police disproportionately targeted drug-using gay men. Baroness Casey, in her review 

of the MPS’s behaviour and culture, found that many LGBTQ+ people didn’t trust the 

MPS to treat people equally and fairly. 

Page 165

http://www.lgbtag.org.uk/
https://www.transviden.dk/artikler/MurderReview.pdf
https://www.met.police.uk/notices/met/our-response-to-issues-raised-by-the-crimes-of-wayne-couzens/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/bcr/baroness-casey-review/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/bcr/baroness-casey-review/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 100 

Many members also told us they thought that the MPS needed to show the same 

commitment to establishing links with LGBTQ+ communities as it does to communities 

with more obvious protected characteristics. Those we spoke with emphasised that 

the police should forge links with online LGBTQ+ communities, the number of which 

increased during the pandemic. 

But we were encouraged by the IAG members’ opinion that since the introduction of 

CPIE, the police had started to refer more investigations and operations to the IAG. 

Tier 2: BCU community engagement 

Following the bombing of a gay community pub in Soho in 1999 (The Admiral 

Duncan), the MPS established a force-wide network of LGBTQ+ liaison officers. 

Volunteer officers in each borough policing command unit advised colleagues dealing 

with LGBTQ+ incidents and relevant police operations. 

After an MPS workforce reorganisation in 2018, police LGBTQ+ liaison officers were 

absorbed into broader community engagement teams. This reduced their focus on 

LGBT+ communities and their issues. Volunteers from the LGBTQ+ Police Staff 

Support Association tried to fill the gap through the LGBTQ+ advisor scheme.  

But, while well intentioned, they couldn’t meet the operational and community 

demands for support and information. 

Frontline officers we spoke with didn’t know how to access support from subject 

matter experts to help them investigate deaths. They suggested BCU neighbourhood 

teams and hate crime units as likely sources of support. 

But the specialist investigators we met had a good understanding of how to access an 

array of subject matter experts. Project Sagamore was often referred to as being 

particularly useful when investigating deaths involving chemsex. 

We were encouraged to find that the MPS had again recognised the value of liaison 

between BCUs and LGBTQ+ communities and representative groups. One of the 

BCUs we visited had introduced a new liaison process as a pilot scheme and invested 

in a full-time liaison post. We were impressed by the scheme, but, unfortunately, at the 

time of our inspection, it hadn’t been replicated across the force. 

We found that BCU liaison was most effective when a designated member of 

the senior leadership team had responsibility for engagement. Senior BCU 

officers we met recognised that they needed to improve tier 2 engagement with 

LGBTQ+ communities. 

In chapter 5, we referred to intersectionality (a concept for understanding how aspects 

of a person’s identities combine to create different and multiple discrimination  

and privilege). Here, we found little evidence that intersectionality was actively 

considered during engagement with communities. But we did find a murder case 

where officers appreciated and worked hard to deal with the competing sensitivities 

Page 166

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-47216594
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-47216594
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 101 

that intersectionality presented. The case involved the murder of a gay man, whose 

sexuality was incompatible with his family’s culture and beliefs. 

But the MPS should do more to understand the local issues facing LGBTQ+ people 

generally in London, particularly in the 17 neighbourhoods with a large LGBTQ+ 

population and in the rapidly expanding online communities. 

We welcome the work in some BCUs, but there needs to be a consistent approach 

across the force. We understand that CPIE is working with the LGBT+ IAG to 

introduce this. 

Tier 3: Planned policing operations and critical incidents 

To assess the MPS’s level of community engagement when planning and policing 

major events, we examined its preparations for the Pride in London parade that was 

held on 2 July 2022. It was the first Pride parade in the capital for three years because 

of COVID-19 restrictions. It coincided with the 50th anniversary of the first parade  

in London. 

The MPS’s work with the organisers and community representatives started in  

March 2022. The police discussed the parade with them, including members of the 

LGBT+ IAG. They did this through a series of gold group meetings (chaired by a chief 

officer) and through working groups. 

During the gold group meetings, members of the LGBTQ+ community again raised the 

issue of community tension because of the Stephen Port and Wayne Couzens cases. 

They also expressed safety concerns after an incident in Norway on 25 June 2022, in 

which a gunman opened fire in and around popular LGBTQ+ venues in Oslo. He killed 

two people and injured 21 more. 

On the day of the London parade, LGBT+ IAG members gave real-time advice to 

operational commanders in the police operations room. Parade organisers also met 

regularly with police commanders to review the police operation as it progressed. 

We were encouraged to see the efforts made by the MPS in planning for the  

Pride event. Officers who self-identified as LGBTQ+ also acted as liaison officers 

during the event, while others participated in the parade itself, not wearing police 

uniforms but readily identifiable as LGBTQ+ police officers and staff. 

Parade organisers we spoke with acknowledged the effort that the MPS had 

made to make sure the Pride policing operation was balanced. We also recognise 

the investment the MPS made to raise awareness of the event and of LGBTQ+ 

issues generally. 

Page 167

https://prideinlondon.org/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-61933817
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 102 

8. Leadership and accountability 

In chapter 4, we considered supervision during the initial response to a sudden 

and unexpected death. In this chapter, we examine the Metropolitan Police 

Service’s (MPS’s) governance and leadership arrangements during a subsequent 

death investigation. We also assess the standard of record keeping and case 

management, and we consider the relationship between basic command units (BCUs) 

and specialist teams and what support a BCU can expect if it retains responsibility for 

an investigation. 

Governance 

Here we consider the MPS’s governance processes for death investigations at both 

force (strategic) and local (BCU) levels. 

Corporate governance 

The Chartered Governance Institute UK & Ireland defines corporate governance 

as the system of rules, practices and processes by which a company is directed 

and controlled. For the purposes of our inspection, we wanted to see how the 

MPS applies the concept of corporate governance to reports of sudden and 

unexpected deaths. 

The grip and pace centre 

In 2012, the MPS introduced a force-wide management process called ‘grip and pace’. 

Its purpose is to make sure that the MPS has a ‘grip’ on resources (knows what 

resources are available and where they are being used) so that it can adjust to the 

developing ‘pace’ of the day. The MPS established a ‘grip and pace centre’ as a  

co-ordination point, with access to and oversight of all critical resources, such as 

firearms units and scenes of crime officers. Through co-ordinated task allocation and 

deployment, it can make sure it has the right people, in the right place, at the right time 

to deal with any incidents. 

The MPS’s central grip team oversees all significant calls for service and all critical 

incidents and force operations. It operates on a 24-hour basis, every day of the year. 

An officer of chief inspector rank leads each shift, with the support of two inspectors 

and a team of experienced senior operations room supervisors. 

Page 168

https://www.cgi.org.uk/about-us/policy/what-is-corporate-governance
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 103 

The MPS creates a computer-aided dispatch (CAD) log when it receives a report of  

a death. We were told that call handlers mark (or ‘tag’) all death logs and bring them to 

the grip team’s attention. Those we spoke with said that the grip team assesses the 

tagged logs to determine whether they relate to potentially critical incidents and 

whether specialist resources may be needed. The team emphasised to us that local 

officers shouldn’t be concerned about asking it for additional resources: if a request 

can be justified, the team will accept responsibility for providing them. 

If the grip team think a death may be suspicious, it alerts the specialist crime tasking 

and co-ordination team and advises the homicide assessment team (HAT) supervisor. 

The team then monitors developments on the CAD log and liaises with duty detective 

inspectors and detective superintendents. 

When we met with members of the grip team, they spoke of the lack of experience of 

frontline officers and staff. To help with this, they also contact duty officers (uniformed 

inspectors) to offer them advice and guidance. In any event, they said that tags are 

only removed from CAD logs when the grip team is satisfied that the matter has been 

resolved as non-suspicious and that the log includes a clear rationale for the 

categorisation of death. 

We watched the grip team monitor logs and provide advice to duty officers. On one 

occasion, a grip team’s chief inspector intervened in an incident involving a report  

of death. By doing this, the chief inspector made sure that a local supervisor attended 

the scene, in accordance with the 2022 MPS death investigation policy. We are 

reassured by this level of oversight but recognise that the process relies on the quality 

and accuracy of the CAD logs. 

Grip and pace meetings 

The grip team’s chief inspectors hold grip and pace meetings at regular intervals 

throughout the day (11am, 4pm and 9pm). The meetings are held remotely. The chief 

inspectors consider incidents, operations and anticipated events throughout the  

force area. BCU representatives dial in to give updates about their local activities.  

A specialist crime command (SCC) detective superintendent also takes part in the 

meetings, which enhances the meetings’ governance capabilities. 

Force daily crime bulletin 

The grip team produces a daily crime bulletin (DCB). At 6am every day, the team 

circulates the DCB to senior leaders throughout the force. A chief inspector is 

responsible for the DCB. Typically, it includes details of homicides, unexplained 

deaths that are unresolved, high-risk missing persons, injured police officers, serious 

assaults and other significant operational incidents. 

We heard conflicting opinions about whether the DCB included all unexpected deaths. 

A senior officer told us that every death was included, but others thought that some 

deaths would only feature if a BCU requested it, which our findings supported. 

Page 169

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-person/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 104 

Ultimately, the grip team determines the content of the DCB. We were told that the 

DCB is, in effect, a “living document”. This means it is constantly being updated, with 

incidents being added or removed in line with developments. 

The SCC contribution to corporate governance 

Each week, a detective superintendent from the SCC is on-call. The detective 

superintendent provides strategic leadership for reports of homicide. This role includes 

making strategic decisions, reading and quality assuring all HAT reports, monitoring 

force-wide incidents and developments, and taking part in grip and pace meetings. 

In theory, the on-call detective superintendent should be able to identify emerging 

serious crime risks and BCU cases that might need support. We were told of 

instances where the SCC had taken charge of investigations, such as those involving 

high-risk missing persons, before a BCU had even asked for help. 

But although the grip team keeps in close contact with the on-call detective 

superintendent, that senior detective wouldn’t necessarily know about every report of 

death, particularly if there were no apparent concerns. We accept that the on-call 

detective superintendent might not need to know about every death reported to the 

police, but they should be informed of all unexpected death reports under 

investigation. Including all unexpected deaths on the DCB would address this. 

 

The SCC commander told us that he reads all HAT reports and would intervene if he 

considered that the SCC needed to increase its involvement in an incident or 

investigation or give additional support to a BCU. But the commander would have no 

initial involvement in reports of death that the HAT hadn’t attended. In such 

circumstances, he would expect a BCU’s own detective superintendent to manage the 

incident and seek support if necessary. 

The SCC’s major investigation teams (MITs) are responsible for homicide 

investigations. The force has established a homicide governance framework to 

monitor and review the management of such investigations. This includes a regular 

operational review meeting, which is chaired by a chief officer.  

Recommendation 15 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for grip and pace  

(a force-wide management process) should make sure that all unexpected deaths 

under investigation are included on daily crime bulletins. 

Page 170



UNDER EMBARGO 

 105 

Local BCU governance 

We describe the MPS’s current BCU structure in chapter 2. Each BCU is led by a chief 

superintendent (BCU commander), with the support of a senior leadership team.  

The team includes a detective superintendent and a detective chief inspector, who 

maintain oversight of all local investigations. They also provide a strategic link to the 

SCC, which should assume responsibility for homicide investigations in their BCU. 

BCUs now have professionalising investigations programme level 3-accredited 

detective inspectors. Under the 2022 MPS death investigation policy, a substantive 

(formally promoted to rank) detective inspector should be responsible for investigating 

unexpected deaths that may be suspicious. But the policy doesn’t stipulate that the 

detective inspector must attend the scene. It states that the detective inspector should 

consider attending the scene and that they should record their rationale if they don’t. 

We were told that, in practice, detective constables and sergeants usually investigated 

and that they reported to their detective inspector. But the detective inspector should 

still set the lines of enquiry for the investigation. They should also consider contacting 

the HAT for advice. And the detective inspector should consult an operational forensic 

manager with a view to establishing a forensic strategy for the investigation. 

As we reported in chapter 5, if the detective inspector decides that in all likelihood a 

third party was involved in the death or that there is obvious evidence of homicide, 

they may ask a MIT to take charge of the investigation. 

We examined crime report information system (CRIS) records to check whether 

detective inspectors were complying with the new policy. We found that they  

mostly were. We also saw clear evidence of direction and leadership, particularly in 

more complex investigations. 

BCU monitoring and review  

The MPS has well-established processes for reviewing homicide investigations, which 

we discuss in chapter 5. BCU officers, including BCU commanders, detectives and 

intelligence officers, also told us that serious acquisitive crimes (such as theft, burglary 

and robbery and sexual offences) are scrutinised in depth. But we found no evidence 

that, prior to our inspection, death reports and accompanying BCU investigations were 

routinely scrutinised in the same way. 

Nor did we see any specific processes, prior to the introduction of the 2022 MPS 

death investigation policy, to make sure that BCUs act on HAT advice. The new policy 

says that any HAT advice is to be documented on the CRIS and that any action taken 

by BCUs in response to that advice should be documented too. If any recommended 

action isn’t taken by BCUs, the rationale for that decision should also be recorded.  

Page 171

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/professionalising-investigations-programme/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 106 

The new policy also provides a time frame for reviewing BCU death investigations.  

A detective inspector should make sure that the investigation is reviewed, as a 

minimum, at 7, 14 and 21 days. The policy doesn’t state who should conduct  

that review. The BCU detective chief inspector should also conduct a review at  

28 days (or sooner) and at least every three months afterwards. All reviews are to be 

recorded on the CRIS. 

The new policy was introduced in June 2022 but doesn’t appear to have been  

applied retrospectively. BCU detectives we spoke with were unable to provide 

evidence of reviews before that date. We examined 50 CRIS records of  

death investigations. We found strong evidence that supervisors generally reviewed 

the progress of investigations during their early stages (especially after 24 hours) but 

little indication that they had carried out any reviews after that. We didn’t find any 

evidence that detective chief inspectors had reviewed those cases reported after the 

requirement was introduced in the 2022 policy. 

We are especially concerned that, in the future, deaths that aren’t considered 

suspicious from the outset or soon afterwards, may not be closely monitored  

or reviewed. We welcome two BCUs’ plans to introduce a death governance meeting 

chaired by a chief inspector, but this doesn’t seem to be a force-wide policy. 

Senior detectives we spoke with said that discussing death reports in BCUs should 

become “part of normal business”. They told us that senior BCU officers discuss 

offences such as robbery on a daily basis but not reports of death. They said that they 

need to consider all reports of unexpected death, regardless of their categorisation. 

We agree. 

Details of deaths that the HAT has attended are already circulated to BCU senior 

leadership teams. But the team also needs to consider all other deaths in the BCU. 

 

 

Recommendation 16 

With immediate effect, basic command unit senior leadership teams should 

consider all unexpected deaths that occur in their area as part of their daily 

governance arrangements. 

Recommendation 17 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should make sure that unexpected deaths under investigation are reviewed by 

basic command unit senior detectives in accordance with the force’s 2022 death 

investigation policy. 

Page 172



UNDER EMBARGO 

 107 

 

Pacesetter meetings 

BCUs hold pacesetter meetings at least twice a day to consider BCU-specific 

incidents and developments. A BCU chief inspector chairs the meetings, which are 

informed by a briefing paper prepared by the local intelligence team. The meetings 

and briefing papers follow the THRIVE+ format. In the four BCUs we visited, we found 

that death reports were considered as a standing item during the meetings, regardless 

of their category. We are encouraged by these developments. 

Our conclusions about governance  

We still have some concerns about the MPS’s overall governance measures for 

unexpected deaths. Basically, the MPS lacks a force-level process to oversee  

all deaths. Although violent crimes and sexual offences, for example, are routinely 

considered and monitored, there is no similar process for unexpected deaths (other 

than homicides and deaths which are clearly suspicious). And the force doesn’t have a 

formal process for reviewing the categorisation of all deaths to make sure that they  

are correct. 

This means that suspicious deaths could be overlooked, and linked offences 

(particularly if committed in different BCUs) could be missed. 

Senior detectives we spoke with suggested that just as pacesetter meetings should 

consider unexpected deaths in a BCU, grip and pace meetings should consider all 

unexpected deaths within the force area. Again, we agree. 

We understand that the specialist crime review group will monitor how well the MPS 

follows the 2022 MPS death investigation policy and will review the categorisation  

of deaths. We consider this an essential part of the process. 

Record keeping and case management 

The MPS has various systems for recording unexpected deaths and their  

initial investigation. The use of many different systems can lead to confusion, 

duplication and wasted time. It also means that the retrieval and analysis of 

information and data may be unnecessarily complicated.  

Recommendation 18 

By 30 September 2023, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for investigations 

should establish a systematic approach to reviewing unexpected deaths, including 

those that have been investigated and deemed non-suspicious, to make sure that 

deaths have been correctly classified. 

Page 173

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/thrive/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 108 

The recording process might include all or a combination of the following: 

• CAD records 

• pocket notebooks 

• evidence and actions books 

• the missing persons and related linked indices (MERLIN) system 

• CRIS records 

• death investigation packs 

• a cloud-based reporting system used by coroners. 

Without an overarching case-management system, officers often have to complete 

multiple IT and paper records for the same case. This increases the risk of error as 

officers copy information from one system to another. 

Research and analysis 

We conducted four focus groups, which included BCU analysts and researchers.  

They told us that, because there wasn’t one single IT system for unexpected deaths, 

they had to search multiple systems before they could start to develop a full picture  

of events. When they did this, they often found that records hadn’t been updated and 

that important data was missing. They also couldn’t access records from evidence and 

actions books or death investigation packs because these weren’t entered onto 

searchable force systems. This is deeply unsatisfactory, but we were told that the 

MPS is working to address this issue. 

CONNECT 

In her Regulation 28 report, the coroner referred to the MPS’s plan to introduce a new 

IT system (see chapter 2). The system is called CONNECT. We were told by those 

involved that CONNECT is considered to be the largest IT transformation project the 

MPS has ever carried out. 

We were told that CONNECT will be introduced across the MPS over the next  

two years. Eventually, it is expected to replace eight of the MPS’s previous data 

systems with one ‘connected’ system. It is intended to: 

• improve data quality;  

• improve intelligence; 

• improve searches for information; and 

• reduce duplicate records. 

But analysts and researchers we spoke with expressed concern about the search 

facilities on the new system. 

Page 174

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 109 

CONNECT is also expected to replace the CRIS, which is used to manage 

investigations. The coroner was concerned that officers may not use it to record lines 

of investigation, actions and outcomes. Supervisors should make sure that officers  

do this. The system will only be effective if users can rely on the quality and accuracy 

of the data it contains. 

The Home Office large major enquiry system 

We report elsewhere that the SCC’s MITs generally take charge of homicide 

investigations. But, unlike BCUs, MITs don’t have to rely on the CRIS as a  

case-management tool. They have access to the Home Office large major enquiry 

system (HOLMES). 

HOLMES was first introduced in the mid-1980s to manage large investigations.  

It has developed considerably since then but is still most commonly used for 

murder inquiries. It has extensive data storage, search and retrieval facilities. 

HOLMES operators work to a national standard. Our remit didn’t extend to an 

examination of the system or the MPS’s use of it. 

Property and exhibits 

On 22 March 2022, we published our DMIP report. In doing so, we raised concerns 

about the MPS’s arrangements for managing exhibits (items that may be relied on in 

court) and other property. We made a recommendation intended to address the 

MPS’s shortcomings. 

In essence, we recommended that by 31 March 2023, the MPS should: 

• make adequate provision for the safe storage of exhibits and property; 

• develop an effective process for the movement of items; 

• improve its property record keeping; and 

• make sure that the property process in general has enough supervisory oversight. 

As part of its approach, the MPS has established Operation Sweep. This is a  

‘spot-check’ of property records and the handling of property. It takes place quarterly. 

It isn’t within this inspection’s remit to assess the MPS’s response to our previous 

recommendation, as we will evaluate its success through other channels. But because 

of our findings during this inspection, we think it is appropriate to include further 

comment here. 

The MPS 2022 death investigation policy reminds officers of the procedures to follow 

for the possession, handling and recording of exhibits and property. The policy states 

that all seized property must be booked into the property system and clearly labelled 

and exhibited. Death investigation packs include a section for recording property 

system reference numbers and where property has been taken. 

Page 175

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-office-large-major-enquiry/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/home-office-large-major-enquiry/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 110 

We examined 42 death investigation packs. We found that in 9 of the 42 records, 

officers had failed to accurately record property and that property reference numbers 

frequently weren’t recorded. 

We asked officers about the MPS’s management of property and exhibits. In one 

BCU, all of the officers agreed that its processes weren’t fit for purpose. One officer 

commented: “We are bad at property. It’s not unusual for items of property to  

go missing.” 

We were told that although procedures had been introduced or reinforced, it was  

too late. Officers told us that the property store was already full of items that had been 

incorrectly packaged, labelled and recorded. They spoke of death investigations 

where significant exhibits, including drugs, cash and a mobile phone, couldn’t  

be found. 

Coroner’s officers also reported cases where property was missing. They said that lost 

or mishandled items delayed preparations for inquests. 

Mishandling property and exhibits and failing to conduct thorough searches at a scene 

can seriously affect the categorisation of a death and its investigation. Lost evidential 

opportunities may never be recovered. And the police have a duty to make sure that 

the deceased person’s property is protected so that it can be safely passed on to their 

loved ones. Clearly, the MPS still has a long way to go to improve its management of 

property and exhibits. 

Reports to HM coroners 

The MPS covers seven separate and distinct coronial districts. The districts don’t all 

use the same systems and processes, which can create confusion for officers and 

staff who may work across multiple districts during their service. To meet the 

requirements of individual coroners, the MPS completes and submits death reports by 

different means, including: 

• an MPS death investigation pack; 

• an evidence and actions book, together with a MERLIN report and a CRIS  

report; and 

• the coroners’ cloud-based portal. 

Some coroners in London have recently introduced a coroners’ cloud-based portal for 

use in their jurisdictions. This system is available nationally but can be adapted to 

meet a local coroner’s requirements. The portal allows officers to submit death reports 

directly to a coroner’s own system. When an officer has submitted a report in this way, 

they can’t then edit or alter it. 

We examined portals in different coroner’s areas in London and found that they 

weren’t set up to share data. This limits any research and analysis the police might 

carry out to identify patterns of death and linked incidents across different areas. 

Page 176



UNDER EMBARGO 

 111 

We recognise and respect the independence of individual coroners and their areas  

of jurisdiction. But, based on the evidence we gathered during our inspection, we 

would encourage the MPS and London coroners to consider introducing a single 

reporting system. One common system, used by all, would mean coroners and 

officers could carry out better research and analysis. It may also help to improve 

the quality of police reports if all officers were following one recognised and 

consistent process. 

The quality of death reports  

We examined examples of the three different methods of reporting deaths to  

a coroner. We found inconsistencies in quality, detail and supervision. Some of the 

reports were very thorough, with decisions clearly recorded and explained. But others 

were poor and lacked or incorrectly reported the most basic details. Some handwritten 

reports were almost unintelligible due to a lack of care in their preparation. We also 

found little evidence that protected characteristics were recorded in death reports. 

We discussed the quality of death reports with three senior London coroners and, 

during a focus group, with four coroners’ officers and two of their managers.  

The coroners were generally content with the reports they received (which, if 

necessary, had usually been corrected by the coroners’ officers by the time they  

saw them). But the coroners’ officers were much less satisfied. They said that police 

officers’ regular failure to complete death reports accurately and legibly created a lot of 

extra and unnecessary work for them, as they were the ones chasing the officers  

for evidence. 

The coroners’ officers complained that they often had to get more information from 

police officers and send repeated requests for documents that hadn’t been submitted. 

They often turned to MERLIN reports for more detailed and reliable information. 

We assessed the level of supervision of death reports at the MPS. We found that 

supervisors didn’t quality assure reports if officers submitted them directly via the 

cloud-based portal. We also couldn’t find any governance process for the closure of 

death reports on the MERLIN system. None of the officers and supervisors we spoke 

with could tell us of any training they had been given on managing actions or on 

closure standards for the CRIS and the MERLIN system. 

Some response sergeants said that they could have as many as 100 CRIS reports to 

supervise on any one shift. They also told us that they were reluctant to leave any 

‘open’ reports for the next shift to deal with. Based on their comments, we are 

concerned that this can result in some incomplete CRIS reports being signed off. 

Overall, we found the quality of records was inconsistent. On the one hand, we found 

some detailed CRIS records, with clear evidence of supervision. On the other, we 

were disappointed to find that too many death reports showed unacceptably low 

Page 177



UNDER EMBARGO 

 112 

supervisory standards. Our findings suggested that some supervisors appeared to be 

unwilling or unable to challenge, or even recognise, poor performance. 

Interactions between BCUs and specialist teams 

In chapter 5, we assessed the support available to a BCU during its initial response to 

an unexpected death. Here we consider the process by which a specialist team  

(a MIT) takes charge of an investigation. We also assess the level of support that a 

BCU can expect if it retains primacy for the investigation. 

As we report in chapter 2, the coroner raised matters of concern about primacy 

and support in her Regulation 28 report. We were encouraged to find that the 

MPS had taken steps to create a closer working relationship between BCUs and 

specialist teams. But we suggest that there is still room for improvement. 

Competence 

We report in chapter 3 that in June 2019, the MPS introduced the SCC. It is divided 

into four specialist crime hubs, with two based in North London and two based in 

South London. Each hub is led by a detective superintendent and is aligned with a 

group of local BCUs. Senior officers told us that this was intended to develop a more 

effective and close-knit relationship between BCUs and specialist teams. 

But that doesn’t mean that the SCC’s MITs, whose remit includes murder 

investigations, will or have the capacity to look into all reports of unexpected death.  

It will often fall to BCU detectives to initially investigate unexpected deaths where it 

hasn’t yet been established whether there was any third-party involvement and further 

investigation is required. This needs to be carefully managed. 

We don’t suggest in any way that BCU criminal investigation departments  

are incompetent. Indeed, during our inspections, we often meet many highly 

professional and capable BCU detectives, and some have served in specialist teams. 

But taken as a whole, BCU investigators are less experienced than their colleagues in 

specialist teams who deal with more complex and serious offences. 

Primacy 

The MPS 2022 death investigation policy says that a MIT will take charge of cases 

where homicide is apparent from the outset. It states that if there is obvious evidence 

of homicide following BCU initial attendance, a MIT will take primacy as soon  

as practicable. 

A MIT will also accept responsibility when a BCU-led initial investigation indicates the 

likelihood of homicide: 

“If, following an investigation, the evidence indicates in all likelihood there was 

third-party involvement, the MIT will assume primacy and appoint a SIO [senior 

investigating officer] at the earliest opportunity and within one working day.” 

Page 178



UNDER EMBARGO 

 113 

Although the policy makes clear that a MIT will be responsible for homicide 

investigations, problems can still arise when a death is suspicious but third-party 

involvement is difficult to prove. The 2022 MPS death investigation policy includes a 

dispute resolution process for when a BCU and a MIT can’t agree over primacy: the 

SCC commander makes the final decision. But the BCU officers we spoke with 

generally felt that the process tended to favour MITs. 

In our focus groups with MIT officers, they told us that they monitor incidents 

throughout the day. They said they not only become involved when asked to do so 

but also proactively offer their services when they think it appropriate. They gave 

us examples of complex investigations that weren’t necessarily within their remit but 

that they had taken on because the investigations were beyond the capability of 

BCU detectives. 

BCU detectives, on the other hand, considered that the threshold for MIT involvement 

was too high and that there wasn’t enough of it. Some complained that a MIT wouldn’t 

accept a case while a victim was still alive, even if the victim was seriously injured and 

expected to die. In such circumstances, a MIT’s HAT might give advice, but the BCU 

struggles to follow this. One BCU detective said: 

“If someone isn’t yet dead and the MIT won’t take it, you get an action plan from 

the HAT. The BCU then tries to investigate as best they can, but they can’t do it to 

the standard that the MIT would do.” 

They gave examples of such cases. One involved a victim who hadn’t been 

pronounced dead but who was in an induced coma and not expected to recover.  

We also found evidence of BCUs retaining responsibility for protracted death 

investigations. This had a significant effect on inexperienced officers, who already 

have excessive workloads. One case involved several drug-related deaths at the 

same premises. 

But the MPS gave us six examples of cases where the victim wasn’t dead but a MIT 

had taken responsibility for the investigation. 

The handover process 

Because of the governance and monitoring processes we describe in this chapter, and 

because of the HAT’s role, MITs should be aware of suspicious deaths throughout the 

force area. It should be unusual for a MIT to take charge of an investigation without 

prior knowledge of or involvement in it. 

In circumstances where a MIT accepts primacy after a BCU investigation, its officers 

will usually debrief all BCU officers and staff who have been involved in that 

investigation and the initial response to the incident as soon as possible. They will also 

take possession of all relevant material, including exhibits and property. Once this is 

done, the investigation is deemed to have been ‘handed over’ to a MIT. But interaction 

Page 179



UNDER EMBARGO 

 114 

between a BCU and the SCC shouldn’t end there. There needs to be regular 

communication between them. 

Communication 

Our findings about communication between the BCU and SCC were  

generally positive. One BCU commander commented to us that the relationship 

between senior BCU and SCC officers was good. 

A series of monthly and weekly meetings makes sure there is effective communication 

at both strategic and tactical levels. BCU and SCC commanders attend monthly 

strategic crime meetings, while BCU and SCC detective superintendents attend 

further, tactical meetings. A senior officer also represents the SCC at weekly BCU 

senior leadership team meetings. 

A BCU may also establish a gold group after a murder (or any other critical incident). 

A senior BCU officer leads the group as the gold commander, but the MIT  

is represented. This helps to make sure that, for as long as the group is running, both 

parties are aware of any relevant developments and emerging risks. 

We heard a mixture of opinions from more junior ranks about communication.  

During the focus groups, participants complained that the MIT never told them about 

the progress of its investigations. One officer said: “The MIT does not provide updates 

on an investigation; once they take it, then that is it.” But BCU officers said that 

exceptions would be made if a MIT needed their help, for example, to trace suspects, 

conduct house-to-house enquiries or reduce community tension. 

The BCU officers fully accepted that investigations can be sensitive and that 

information must be protected. But they said that there are occasions when they need 

to know what is happening in the areas they police.  

But communication is a two-way process. A uniformed inspector told us about how he 

recently managed the effect of a murder on the community where he worked. He said 

he had “made it his business” to keep in contact with the MIT so that he could relay 

information to and from the community. His approach should be adopted more widely. 

Support for BCU investigations 

In chapter 5, we discuss the HAT’s role in providing advice to BCU officers during the 

initial response to an unexpected death. We found that the advice was generally 

comprehensive and appropriate. But most BCU detectives were frustrated that, 

although the recommended action was often compelling and relevant, it was 

unrealistic for a BCU officer’s level of experience and resources. One officer told us 

that there was a limit to what one person in the BCU could do compared to a member 

of a MIT. 

Page 180

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/gold-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 115 

Problems can increase if a BCU then retains responsibility for an investigation into a 

suspicious death. While a MIT may monitor developments and give ongoing advice, 

BCU officers said that the SCC was reluctant to assist further by providing resources. 

In their view, any more resources had to be found within the BCU. 

SCC officers and staff painted a different picture. MIT officers thought that the HAT 

process worked well and weren’t aware of any conflict between MITs and BCUs.  

They said that all recommended actions were recorded and the progress of the 

investigation was monitored. They claimed that, where possible, they were prepared 

to support BCUs. 

Senior SCC detectives also clearly understood their obligation to help BCUs through 

complex or resource-intensive investigations. They pointed out that specialist crime 

teams now worked more closely with BCUs and that the introduction of the specialist 

crime tasking and co-ordination team had made sure there was fair access to 

specialist resources. 

We found examples of specialist assistance being given to BCUs. For instance, there 

were occasions when a MIT helped to develop forensic and interview strategies or 

to manage exhibits. But documents indicated that a MIT was often too busy to help 

any further. We saw little evidence that the SCC routinely supplied resources to help 

with BCU investigations. That said, we appreciate the demands that everyone faces 

and the need to prioritise the use of limited resources. 

BCU officers said they were concerned about the high number of crimes they 

were investigating. The SCC recognises the difficulties that BCU detectives face 

due to inexperience. In one hub, SCC officers are helping BCUs to develop critical 

incident teams. Their intention is for BCU detectives to work to SCC standards. 

While this is admirable, we are concerned that inexperienced BCU detectives will 

eventually become overwhelmed. They are dealing with very serious offences, 

including some that would probably be homicides were it not for advances in  

medical care. 

 

Recommendation 19 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service should consider how to 

distribute investigative experience across basic command units and between 

specialist teams to provide a more even spread. 

Page 181

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/critical-incidents/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 116 

9. Learning lessons from ongoing 
investigations 

In this section, we examine the changes which the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 

has or should have made because of its wholly unacceptable initial response to 

Stephen Port’s murders. We also assess the MPS’s more general approach to 

organisational learning. 

On 13 March 2020, we published our findings from our review of the MPS’s response 

to the Henriques report. And on 22 March 2022, we published our report An inspection 

of the Metropolitan Police Service’s counter-corruption arrangements and other 

matters related to the Daniel Morgan Independent Panel (‘the DMIP report’). We refer 

to these reports in chapter 6. In the 2020 report, we wrote of the MPS’s 

underwhelming approach to organisational learning, while in the DMIP report, we said 

that the MPS had been slow to learn lessons over the years. 

We recognised in our DMIP report that the MPS was taking organisational learning 

more seriously. But we questioned the motivation for the force’s change of heart. 

We concluded that bad publicity had had a galvanising effect on the MPS’s appetite 

for learning. 

As we carried out this inspection very soon after the DMIP inspection, we didn’t 

expect the MPS’s approach to organisational learning to have changed much, and 

indeed it hadn’t. But we were encouraged by some of our findings. 

In her comments after the 2021 inquests into the deaths of Port’s victims, the coroner 

noted that several years had passed since the murders. She reported, in that time, 

that the MPS had made a serious effort to identify what went so wrong, to establish 

the causes of those failures and to take steps to improve the organisation. 

We came to a similar conclusion after this inspection. The MPS’s prompt action after 

its failures had been uncovered means that the situation now is better than it might 

have been. But we also found that the MPS still has a lot of work to do.  

Page 182

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/organisational-learning/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-response-to-a-review-of-its-investigations-into-allegations-of-non-recent-sexual-abuse-by-prominent-people
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/henriques-report/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-counter-corruption-arrangements-and-other-matters-related-to-the-daniel-morgan-independent-panel/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 117 

Operation Lilford 

In October 2015, Stephen Port was arrested for the murders of Anthony Walgate, 

Gabriel Kovari, Daniel Whitworth and Jack Taylor. The MPS established a gold group 

(Operation Lilford) in the same month. A chief officer of commander rank took charge 

as gold commander. The seniority of the officer appointed to lead the gold group 

showed the importance with which the MPS was treating it. 

We examined the minutes of the 31 gold group meetings that had already taken place. 

During our inspection, we also observed three meetings. We found there had been a 

wide range of attendees throughout the group’s history. During the early stages, much 

of the group’s attention was on supporting the ongoing investigation into the murders. 

But matters such as family liaison and the murders’ effect on the LGBTQ+ community 

also featured prominently. 

As the group became more established and developed a greater understanding of the 

MPS’s failings during the investigations, organisational learning became an 

increasingly important part of the meetings. Actions raised during the meetings were 

already recorded and monitored, but a separate spreadsheet was introduced to record 

and progress opportunities for organisational learning. This approach was an 

improvement on the MPS’s response to the events that prompted the Henriques and 

DMIP reports. 

Before we consider the effect Port’s murders have had on the force and any changes 

it has made, we examine how the MPS more generally gathers and acts on 

opportunities for organisational learning. 

Organisational learning structure 

We started this inspection within weeks of the publication of our DMIP report. In that 

report, we described the MPS’s approach to organisational learning as confusing. 

It had also been described to us as fragmented. With so little time between the two 

inspections, we expected and found that little had changed. 

During our DMIP inspection, the MPS told us that in April 2020, its ‘corporate 

organisational learning’ approach was established within the continuous policing 

improvement command as the organisational learning and research team. 

The organisational learning and research team is separate to the learning and 

development unit. It is responsible for organisational learning (knowledge and 

memory) and for building a network of 47 organisational learning hubs throughout  

the MPS. The hubs are intended to create a co-ordinated approach to organisational 

learning. At the time of the DMIP inspection, the MPS told us that eight hubs were 

already in place and others were in development but that the lack of resources was 

a problem. We examine these further later in this chapter.  

Page 183

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/gold-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 118 

There are other groups within the organisational learning framework. They include: 

• the inquiry and review support command (IRSC); 

• the prevention and learning team; 

• the specialist crime review group (SCRG); and 

• the learning and development unit. 

The IRSC 

The IRSC was formed in 2015 as part of the MPS’s approach to high-profile inquiries, 

such as the Undercover Policing Inquiry, which was also established in 2015, and an 

Independent Police Complaints Commission (IPCC)/Independent Office for Police 

Conduct (IOPC) investigation into allegations of corruption during the original Stephen 

Lawrence investigation, which started in 2014. 

The IRSC manages the MPS’s contribution to a small number of high-profile and/or 

complex inquests. It is responsible for organisational learning identified during some 

inquests but not all. The MPS’s Directorate of Professional Standards has an inquest 

team that manages the MPS’s participation in any inquests where the MPS 

Commissioner is an interested party. 

The prevention and learning team 

The prevention and learning team is part of the Directorate of Professional Standards. 

The team’s role is to identify and distribute learning from the directorate and 

Independent Office for Police Conduct investigations as well as any learning from 

inquests, employment tribunals and civil actions. The MPS previously told us that the 

team was also responsible for carrying out remedial action on identified learning, 

which we understand to mean learning lessons and putting things right. 

The SCRG 

For review purposes, the MPS has a dedicated team of experienced detectives. It is 

called the SCRG. The head of profession for investigations (commander rank) is 

responsible for the SCRG. It conducts both statutory and non-statutory reviews 

throughout the force. Most of its work involves reviewing murder investigations, but it 

also reviews other serious crime investigations. A homicide case closure panel is 

responsible for identifying organisational learning. 

The learning and development unit  

The MPS told us that the learning and development unit was responsible for individual 

learning (such as training and skills) rather than organisational learning.  

Page 184

https://www.ucpi.org.uk/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/investigations/stephen-lawrence-allegations-corruption-original-investigation-metropolitan-police
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/investigations/stephen-lawrence-allegations-corruption-original-investigation-metropolitan-police
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/investigations/stephen-lawrence-allegations-corruption-original-investigation-metropolitan-police
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 119 

Governance 

The MPS’s professionalism assistant commissioner chairs a quarterly organisational 

learning board. The same person also chairs a monthly ‘stocktake’ meeting, which 

considers high-risk issues identified by gold groups, including issues raised by the 

Operation Lilford gold group. 

Identifying and recording the organisational learning of all the gold groups is an 

important and time-consuming task, but the organisational learning board has 

introduced a process for doing so. 

Organisational learning hubs 

This is one area in which clear change has been made. During our DMIP 

inspection, we were told that the MPS intended to build a network of 47 organisational 

learning hubs. At the time of this inspection, the MPS had established eight hubs, two 

of which are in basic command units. A chief inspector is responsible for managing the 

basic command unit hubs, which categorise learning as follows: 

• level 1: learning from local incidents and operations and from local authorities, 

groups and communities; 

• level 2: learning from gold groups, inquiries and SCRG reviews; and 

• level 3: learning identified by independent audits and inspections. 

Although the hubs had only recently been introduced at the time of this inspection, we 

were pleased to find that one basic command unit hub had already commissioned a 

review of 12 death investigations. The review examined the quality of each 

investigation and the support offered to families and friends. 

Page 185



UNDER EMBARGO 

 120 

10. Learning from the Stephen Port case 

We assessed whether the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) has learned from its 

mistakes and made changes. We have grouped the opportunities for learning under 

three headings, which are: 

1. matters identified by the coroner; 

2. matters identified by the MPS; and 

3. other matters we identified during this inspection. 

In this chapter, we examine each in turn. 

Matters identified by the coroner 

Here we concentrate on the MPS’s response to the coroner’s specific matters of 

concern (MC), which we set out in detail in chapter 2. These matters formed the basis 

of our terms of reference. We consider them and report our findings in more detail 

throughout this report. 

Topic 1: Categorisation of suspicious, non-suspicious and unexplained  

deaths (MC1) 

The coroner was concerned that the term ‘unexplained’, as used in the MPS death 

investigation policy, may distract officers from treating all deaths as potentially 

suspicious until they know otherwise. 

The MPS’s response to MC1 

In response to MC1, the MPS said that it had established a working group in 

December 2020. The group was chaired by the MPS homicide commander 

and included senior detectives, forensic managers and basic command unit 

(BCU) representatives. 

The working group considered death classification, with the intention of providing 

absolute clarity to officers responding to and investigating deaths. It approved four 

new classifications, which are: 

1. expected death; 

2. unexpected death – investigated and not suspicious; 

3. unexpected death – under investigation; and 

Page 186

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 121 

4. homicide. 

Subject to chief officer approval, the MPS was to change its policy accordingly. 

Our findings regarding MC1  

The MPS amended the categorisation of death in its 2022 death investigation policy. 

But we still have concerns, largely because of officer inexperience and inadequate 

supervision, training and governance. There is a danger that these factors may lead to 

incorrect death categorisation, which could hamper investigations. At worst, homicides 

may be missed. 

Topic 2: The interaction between specialist homicide investigators and BCU 

officers (MC2A & MC2B) 

The coroner was concerned that there was a lack of clarity about whether a BCU 

should retain responsibility (primacy) for a death investigation or whether a major 

investigation team (MIT) should take charge (MC2A). If a BCU kept control, there was 

a lack of clarity about the level of support it could expect (MC2B). 

The MPS’s response to MC2A 

The MPS’s working group considered the matter of primacy. Based on its findings, 

the MPS clarified the response to the different categories of unexpected death as 

detailed below. 

Unexpected death – investigated and not suspicious 

Uniformed officers are to attend and investigate the circumstances. A uniformed 

inspector (the duty officer) is responsible for requesting forensic support and the help 

of BCU detectives if needed. The duty officer must also make sure that an appropriate 

report is completed for the coroner. 

Unexpected death – under investigation 

If an initial investigation proves inconclusive, BCU detectives will carry out the 

investigation under the direction of a senior investigating officer (SIO) of at least 

detective inspector rank. The SIO should consider asking the homicide assessment 

team for advice. The SIO must also make sure that forensic officers attend the scene. 

The BCU’s detective chief inspector (DCI) will have overall responsibility for the 

investigation and must make sure that it is managed effectively. The DCI will report on 

progress to the BCU’s detective superintendent. 

If the investigation finds that in all likelihood there was third-party involvement, the 

BCU’s detective superintendent and a forensic manager will present their reasoning to 

a MIT. If accepted, the detective superintendent will agree a handover and decide on 

how the investigation will be staffed and how roles will be allocated. The MIT will 

Page 187



UNDER EMBARGO 

 122 

appoint its own SIO. If the BCU and the MIT disagree about which of them will lead 

the investigation, the commander in charge of homicide will make the decision. 

Homicide 

If, on initial attendance, there is obvious evidence of homicide, a MIT will take primacy 

as soon as possible. 

The MPS were to make and introduce any policy changes by 30 June 2022. 

Our findings regarding MC2A  

Changes in respect of primacy were included in the MPS’s most recent death 

investigation policy, which it introduced in June 2022. 

When we examined the interaction between BCUs and specialist teams, we found that 

problems could still arise when a death was suspicious but third-party involvement 

was difficult to prove. BCU detectives considered that the threshold for MIT 

involvement was too high. They gave us evidence of BCUs retaining responsibility for 

lengthy and complex death investigations. 

We appreciate that MIT officers also gave us examples of investigations they had 

taken on because they were beyond the capabilities of BCU detectives, even though 

they weren’t necessarily within a MIT’s remit. But BCU detectives are generally less 

experienced than their colleagues in the specialist teams, and they have fewer 

investigative resources. This should be a fundamental consideration when deciding on 

primacy for a death investigation. 

The MPS’s response to MC2B 

The MPS reported that, at that time of the inquests, there were no formal lesson plans 

or training for officers on the level of support that a BCU could expect from specialist 

homicide investigators, crime scene managers or other forensic practitioners if a death 

investigation stayed with a BCU. 

The MPS reported that some detective training courses informally mentioned the 

inquests into the deaths of Stephen Port’s victims. It recognised that learning from the 

Stephen Port murders needed to be formally included in future lesson plans. 

Our findings regarding MC2B  

The MPS didn’t give a comprehensive response. It didn’t include details of the level of 

support a BCU could expect if it retained primacy for an investigation. 

We found examples of specialist assistance being given to BCUs. But we also saw 

that the amount of help a MIT, for example, can give is restricted due to its own  

heavy workload. Certainly, we found little evidence that the specialist crime command 

routinely supplied resources to help with BCU investigations. 

Page 188



UNDER EMBARGO 

 123 

Topic 3: Leadership (MC3A and MC3B) 

The coroner recorded her concern that some officers who were supposed to 

be leading investigations into unexplained deaths may still fail to accept 

responsibility (MC3A). The coroner also included her concern that the specialist crime 

review group’s (SCRG’s) services weren’t widely known (MC3B). 

The MPS’s response to MC3A 

In essence, the MPS repeated its response to MC2A, setting out the different 

categories of death investigations and individual roles and responsibilities. The MPS 

also referred to the homicide assessment team and forensic services, which are 

available to give help. It said that any policy changes and direction about leadership 

responsibilities were to be added to the detective sergeant and detective inspector 

course curriculum. 

Our findings regarding MC3A 

The MPS has introduced an Operation Lilford training presentation, which is given to 

officers of detective sergeant and detective inspector rank and to any more senior 

detectives who complete SIO courses. We attended a presentation given by an 

experienced detective inspector. He clearly had a thorough understanding of the case. 

The presentation was comprehensive and, importantly, didn’t avoid highlighting and 

discussing the MPS’s failings. 

The MPS’s response to MC3B 

The MPS gave details about the SCRG’s role. The MPS pointed out that the force’s 

intranet provides clear information about the SCRG. The SCRG also shares 

organisational learning and good practice with the wider force through a newsletter 

that is published every six months. The newsletter is circulated to senior detectives, 

including those working in BCUs, for wider distribution to their teams. 

The SCRG also provides training and contributes to various training courses for 

detectives of detective inspector rank and above. And it gives presentations to those 

of detective constable and detective sergeant rank when they join homicide command. 

The MPS also referred to our findings from our review of the MPS’s response to the 

Henriques report. Following similar concerns about the SCRG, we concluded that the 

SCRG had worked hard over the past 12 months to promote its services, taking part in 

relevant senior detective meetings and giving input on courses. 

But the MPS said that it would continue to raise awareness of the SCRG and what it 

can do to support BCU officers. 

Page 189

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/an-inspection-of-the-metropolitan-police-services-response-to-a-review-of-its-investigations-into-allegations-of-non-recent-sexual-abuse-by-prominent-people
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/henriques-report/
https://www.met.police.uk/police-forces/metropolitan-police/areas/about-us/about-the-met/henriques-report/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 124 

Our findings regarding MC3B 

The coroner’s concern was based on evidence given by a BCU detective inspector 

during the inquests. The coroner said she was told by the officer that in 2014 he was 

unaware of the SCRG’s existence and that the SCRG, in his experience, rarely 

worked with local investigators. 

In March 2020, when we published our review of the MPS’s response to the 

Henriques report, we acknowledged the effort that the SCRG had taken to promote  

its services. Our report was published before the coroner’s inquests but came six 

years after the period that the officer referred to in evidence. We stand by our  

earlier finding. 

But we would suggest that the officer’s remarks reflect more on the officer’s perception 

than on the MPS in general or the SCRG in particular. 

Topic 4: Use of the crime report information system and the new CONNECT IT 

system (MC4A and MC4B) 

Topic 4 is about record keeping and case-management supervision. First, the 

coroner was concerned that officers may not record lines of investigation, actions 

and outcomes. Second, the coroner was concerned that supervising officers may 

close down investigations without confirming that all actions have been completed 

and without critically assessing whether an investigation has established that a death 

was non-suspicious. 

The MPS’s response to MC4A and MC4B 

The MPS responded to MC4A and MC4B in one statement. The MPS reported that its 

crime report information system (CRIS) allowed supervisors both to monitor the 

progress of an investigation and to list further actions to be completed by officers. 

The MPS also said it would issue stricter guidance for the governance of 

investigations classified as ‘unexpected death – under investigation’. The guidance 

would be included in a revised death investigation policy. Relevant training, 

emphasising the importance of supervision would be included in both detective 

sergeant and detective inspector training courses. Any changes would also take into 

account the new CONNECT IT system, which would be introduced in the future. 

Our findings regarding MC4A and MC4B 

During our inspection, we were told that supervisors can and occasionally do close 

CRIS reports that haven’t yet been completed. But we found good direction and 

leadership, particularly in more complex cases. We also we saw that supervisors 

reviewed the progress of investigations during their early stages (especially after  

24 hours). But we found little evidence that reviews were carried out and recorded in 

the later stages of investigations. 

Page 190



UNDER EMBARGO 

 125 

We were especially concerned that deaths not considered suspicious at the outset 

or soon afterwards might not be closely monitored or reviewed as investigations 

went on. We were also concerned that, regardless of the quality of the CRIS records 

we saw, too many death reports for coroners appeared to show unacceptable 

supervisory standards. 

The 2022 MPS death investigation policy sets out supervisory responsibilities for 

death investigations, which are reinforced in training courses. But we were concerned 

that uniformed officers, who are generally the first to respond to a report of death and 

make critical categorisation decisions, don’t receive Operation Lilford training.  

We comment on this in more detail elsewhere in this chapter. 

Topic 5: Verification of handwriting (MC5) 

The coroner addressed this topic only to the chair of the National Police  

Chiefs’ Council. It referred to the MPS’s failure to properly examine and authenticate a 

potential suicide note. 

The coroner recognised that the verification of a person’s handwriting may only very 

rarely have a critical impact on preventing future deaths. But she was concerned that 

the matter should be dealt with in such a way that it provided the best opportunity for 

an accurate identification. 

The MPS wasn’t obliged to and didn’t respond to this topic. It was to be considered 

nationally by the National Police Chiefs’ Council. 

Topics 6 and 7: Death messages and coroners’ observations (MC6 and MC7) 

As the coroner didn’t consider that topics 6 and 7 were strictly issues that gave rise 

to a risk of future deaths, she didn’t address any matters of concern to the MPS 

or any other person or organisation. But she included them in her report because 

she considered them significant. The MPS responded to both, although it wasn’t 

required to. 

MC6 was about the delivery of a death message to a victim’s family, partner or next  

of kin. MC7 invited police forces nationally to consider how they should respond to 

concerns expressed by a coroner during an inquest about possible third-party 

involvement. 

The MPS’s response to MC6 

The MPS reported that all new police officer recruits are given two sessions on 

sudden deaths and delivering a death message. Family liaison officer (FLO) courses 

include a one-hour lesson on death messages. 

The MPS also produced guidance on the delivery of death messages in response  

to COVID-19. This guidance features in the 2022 MPS death investigation policy and 

Page 191

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-police-chiefs-council/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-police-chiefs-council/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 126 

is available on the force’s intranet. Also available on the intranet is a leaflet titled 

Bereavement Information, which officers and staff should give to bereaved families. 

In the light of the coroner’s findings, the MPS said it would provide enhanced training 

and guidance for officers and staff. 

Our findings regarding MC6 

In April 2020, the MPS published ‘delivery of a notification of death’ guidelines.  

They were produced in response to the pandemic. Similar guidance is now included in 

the 2022 MPS death investigation policy. It is disappointing that it took a pandemic 

and a coroner’s inquest to convince the MPS that it needed to do something. 

We understand that all new police officer recruits now receive training on sudden 

deaths and delivering death messages. FLO courses include a one-hour lesson on 

death messages. But this is of little benefit to those who haven’t joined the MPS 

recently or who aren’t FLOs. Many of those we interviewed, including response 

officers, said they had never received any specific training for talking to and working 

with a deceased person’s family and friends. 

Training officers at the MPS’s central training school told us that the tuition on 

delivering death messages wasn’t particularly good. 

The MPS’s response to MC7 

The MPS reported that, as things stood, there was no formal process for a coroner to 

raise concerns about an investigation. It intended to introduce a formal process.  

This would include a standard process for co-ordinating the response to any concerns 

or actions raised by the coroner. The procedures would be incorporated in the death 

investigation policy. 

Our findings regarding MC7 

When we examined Operation Lilford’s gold group meeting minutes and spoke to the 

attendees, we found that the concerns raised by the coroner during the Port inquests 

had been discussed and recorded. Actions had also been raised to address each one. 

But we also wanted reassurance about the MPS’s processes for dealing with all 

coroners’ concerns, especially if the circumstances of a death don’t prompt the police 

to establish a gold group. Most deaths reported to the police don’t involve such  

a group. 

Prior to the introduction of the 2022 MPS death investigation policy, the process for 

recording and dealing with a coroner’s concerns appears to have been piecemeal. 

Without a recognised process to follow, coroners’ officers or the coroners themselves 

would report issues, either formally or informally, to whoever they thought was the 

most appropriate officer. 

Page 192

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/gold-group/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 127 

The new policy makes the process clearer. It directs that the manager of a coroner’s 

officer will bring any concerns before an inquest to the attention of either a MIT SIO or 

a BCU DCI. If a coroner raises concerns at an inquest, the senior officer at the inquest 

must record the concerns and bring them to the attention of the BCU DCI. The BCU 

DCI will then review the investigation and make sure that appropriate action is taken to 

resolve the concerns. 

Crucially, regardless of when or where concerns are raised, the policy states that: 

“If a Coroner highlights unresolved aspects to the investigation or identifies 

investigatory steps have not been carried out by the police, there must be further 

investigation to resolve those aspects.” 

The policy also states that any concerns and the action taken as a result of them 

are to be recorded on a CRIS report. But we found little evidence that officers are 

doing this. Regardless of the new policy, officers told us that they still used a variety of 

systems to record work carried out on a coroner’s behalf. 

Matter of concern: Sleepyboy (MC6) 

Evidence during the inquests indicated that Stephen Port first made contact with 

his first victim, Anthony Walgate, through a website called Sleepyboy. Port used 

a pseudonym. The coroner was concerned that users of the Sleepyboy website didn’t 

have to verify their identity before they could engage escorts. 

The coroner addressed this concern only to the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, 

Media and Sport. The MPS wasn’t obliged to respond to it. 

Matters identified by the MPS 

The MPS said that, during the inquests, it had identified six areas of learning which it 

had taken immediate action to address. It set out the areas in its response to the 

coroner’s Regulation 28 report. The topics included: 

• communicating and working with LGBTQ+ communities; 

• MetInsights; 

• post-mortem training; 

• policy and guidance for coroners’ inquests; 

• family liaison terminology; and 

• CONNECT investigation records.  

Page 193



UNDER EMBARGO 

 128 

Communicating and working with LGBTQ+ communities 

As a result of Port’s murders and the evidence heard at the inquests into his victims’ 

deaths, the MPS recognised that it needed to review the role of its LGBTQ+ advisors. 

It consulted advisory groups and other LGBTQ+ community members so that it could 

understand their needs and expectations and provide a better and more consistent 

service across London. 

The MPS acknowledged that it needed to consider several areas, including: 

• responsibility for community engagement; 

• victim support; 

• providing advice to MPS officers and staff; 

• how it carries out reviews; 

• supervision and performance management; and 

• resourcing. 

The MPS appointed the commander of crime prevention inclusion and engagement 

command to lead the project and establish an LGBTQ+ organisational improvement 

working group. The MPS’s own LGBTQ+ advisors were consulted and supported the 

force’s approach. 

Our findings regarding communicating and working with LGBTQ+ communities 

In February 2022, the MPS started this work. It was still ongoing at the time of  

our inspection. We spoke with members of the LGBT+ independent advisory group 

and other representatives of community groups. They told us that the MPS needed to 

increase its commitment to LGBTQ+ engagement and the associated allocation of 

resources so that they matched the MPS’s attention to other protected characteristics. 

We agree. 

But we were reassured by the steps the MPS is taking to increase the availability of 

LGBTQ+ advisors in BCUs. We also recognise that the crime prevention inclusion and 

engagement command is working to introduce a more formal approach for community 

representatives and LGBTQ+ advisors who support operations and investigations 

across London. 

MetInsights 

MetInsights is an information and intelligence data analytical system which can extract 

information from several MPS systems, including the CRIS and the missing persons 

and related link indices system. It can be used to identify trends and patterns of crime 

and potential links between incidents and offences. And it can be used to produce 

maps, such as a map of all unexplained deaths in a specified area. Filters can also be 

applied to, for example, map deaths by age as well as location. 

Page 194

http://www.lgbtag.org.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protected-characteristics/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/missing-persons-related-linked/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 129 

The MPS recognised that the system could be of potential benefit to coroners and said 

it would provide them with information about it. 

Our findings regarding MetInsights 

We couldn’t find any confirmation that the MPS had brought the benefits of the 

MetInsights system to the attention of coroners. 

Post-mortem training 

The MPS recognised that it needed to urgently review its training for detectives of 

detective sergeant and detective inspector rank regarding their roles and 

responsibilities when attending forensic post-mortem (also known as ‘special  

post-mortem’) examinations. The officers are expected to give pathologists a briefing 

about the case and to record and understand any immediate findings and 

considerations from the examination. 

The MPS created appropriate training and in January 2022, introduced it to the course 

syllabuses for SIOs, detective inspectors and detective sergeants. 

Our findings regarding post-mortem training 

As well as revised training, the MPS included direction about post-mortem record 

keeping in its 2022 death investigation policy: 

“Any recommendations made by a pathologist during a post-mortem or verbal 

debrief must be documented and relayed to the IO [investigating officer] who must 

record within a Decision Log and/or CRIS report the rationale for following or not 

any recommendation made by the pathologist.” 

Policy and guidance for coroners’ inquests 

The MPS intended to review its death investigation policy and associated guidance for 

officers attending coroners’ inquests. The review would consider the officers’ roles  

and responsibilities. It would also consider expectations about how officers record a 

coroner’s comments and findings and the police response to them. 

The MPS acknowledged that it didn’t have a formal process for a coroner to raise 

concerns about an investigation. The informal process relied on a coroner being 

aware of the identity of the investigating officer. The MPS referred to its response 

to MC7 in the coroner’s report and repeated that it intended to introduce a 

formal process. It would be incorporated in a revised death investigation policy. 

Our findings regarding policy and guidance for coronial inquests 

The officers and staff we spoke to during our inspection had little knowledge of the 

coronial process and had received little training. As one coroner’s officer said:  

“Some don’t understand that there are requirements in law.” 

Page 195



UNDER EMBARGO 

 130 

Although the 2022 MPS death investigation policy gives some clarity about recording 

and dealing with matters raised by a coroner, the MPS should carefully consider its 

approach to the entire coronial process. 

Family liaison terminology 

The MPS intended to review the terminology in its death investigation and family 

liaison policies. In particular, it would reconsider its definition of a family and 

references to next of kin. 

In 2021, the MPS revised its policies to clarify that the definition of family included 

partners and others who may not be related but who have a direct and close 

relationship with the victim. 

Our findings regarding family liaison terminology 

The MPS included the revised definition of family in its 2022 death investigation policy. 

CONNECT investigation records 

The MPS was to consider how it could prevent an officer from making an inaccurate 

entry on the CRIS system, such as recording that an action has been completed when 

it hasn’t. 

The new CONNECT IT system is intended to replace the CRIS, and in due course, all 

new investigations will be recorded on CONNECT. CONNECT should clearly show 

whether an action has been completed. A supervisor must review any actions and 

confirm that they have been completed before an investigation can be closed. 

But, as with the CRIS, this won’t stop a supervisor from inaccurately marking actions 

as complete. CONNECT policy will provide clear direction and reinforce supervisors’ 

roles and responsibilities. 

Our findings regarding CONNECT investigation records 

The CONNECT IT system will only be effective if users can rely on the quality and 

accuracy of the data it holds. There will need to be a robust governance and 

monitoring process to make sure that the system is used accurately and efficiently. 

Other matters we identified 

Training 

During our inspection, officers and staff told us repeatedly that MPS training wasn’t 

good enough in many areas. We found that some groups of officers hadn’t received 

important training, such as lessons on death investigation for those officers likely to be 

first at the scene. 

Page 196



UNDER EMBARGO 

 131 

But generally, we found officers and staff had mixed experiences of the training they 

had been given. Much tended to depend on individual officers’ roles and length of 

service: new recruits and detectives seemed to have received more relevant training 

than uniformed officers with even just a few years of service. 

For example, we found that hate crime training for detectives and new recruits  

was comprehensive. We also saw that LGBT+ independent advisory group members 

advised on LGBTQ+ training. But other uniformed officers couldn’t recall any hate 

crime tuition since their initial training. That said, in our report PEEL 2021/22 – An 

inspection of the Metropolitan Police, we found that the force had taken steps to make 

sure all officers and staff had received unconscious bias training. 

We recognise, too, that the MPS has invested heavily in family liaison training over the 

years, but the FLOs we spoke with criticised its quality. On a similar theme, many 

officers, other than FLOs and new recruits, couldn’t recall any training about delivering 

death messages. 

Three other areas caused us the greatest concern and include: 

1. training on coronial matters; 

2. sudden death training for response officers and their supervisors; and 

3. training to cover the lessons learned from the Stephen Port case. 

As we report elsewhere in this chapter, officers had poor understanding of coronial 

matters and had been given little training to remedy the situation. We recommend in 

chapter 5 that the MPS remedies the situation without delay. 

We also recommend in chapter 5 that the MPS takes immediate steps to introduce 

training to lower the risks posed by inexperienced response officers, inexperienced 

supervisors and, frequently, inexperienced BCU detectives when dealing with reports 

of sudden death. 

While we appreciate that BCU officers can call on homicide assessment team 

detectives for advice, whose training we found to be very thorough, we were told that 

they seldom received appropriate sudden death training. This creates a risky situation, 

as their decisions at the scene of a sudden death can have serious repercussions. 

Perhaps most surprisingly though, we found that training about Operation Lilford and 

the lessons to be learned from the Stephen Port investigations were given almost 

exclusively to detectives. 

We report elsewhere in this chapter that we saw an excellent MPS presentation on 

Operation Lilford’s work and the Stephen Port investigations in general. We urge the 

MPS to make the course much more widely available. We repeat: the responsibility 

for important decisions at the scene of a death often falls to response officers and 

their supervisors. 

Page 197

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/hate-crime/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/peel-assessment-2021-22-metropolitan/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/unconscious-bias/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 132 

We refer again to our 2021/22 PEEL report, which included two areas for improvement 

that are particularly relevant here: 

1. The force should provide suitable training and support for its supervisors so that 

they are fully equipped and confident to manage the performance and 

development of their officers and staff. 

2. The force needs to review its training requirements to make sure its workforce is 

supported to meet the demands it faces. 

We agree. 

 

Chemsex (Project Sagamore) 

On a positive note, we commend the MPS’s work to reduce the potential harm caused 

by chemsex. The MPS provides advice and information on its website, which includes 

a simple definition of chemsex: 

“Chemsex is a term used to describe sex (often long sessions with multiple 

partners) under the influence of psychoactive drugs (particularly mephedrone, 

GHB [gamma-hydroxybutyrate], GBL [gamma-butyrolactone] and crystal meth).” 

The MPS told us that the overwhelming majority of those who participate in chemsex 

contexts, at this time, are men who self-define as gay, bisexual or trans. There are 

also some men who identify as heterosexual but who engage in chemsex behaviour 

with other men occasionally. 

Those involved might take the drugs voluntarily, in the belief that they will increase 

sexual satisfaction or reduce inhibitions. Others, like many of Stephen Port’s victims, 

may be drugged involuntarily so that they can be raped or otherwise sexually abused. 

The police’s awareness of chemsex appears to be a relatively new development, but 

practices had been identified before Port’s offending came to light. On 30 April 2015, 

the Rt Hon Dame Elish Angiolini DBE KC (then QC) published her findings from an 

independent rape review, titled Report of the Independent Review into The 

Investigation and Prosecution of Rape in London. She reported: 

“The review heard too of current trends such as ‘chemsex’ parties at which 

participants, after taking disinhibiting drugs, engage in sexual activities with 

multiple partners. In this type of situation issues of consent and reasonable belief 

Recommendation 20 

With immediate effect, the Metropolitan Police Service lead for training should 

make sure the lessons learned from the force’s response to the murders 

committed by Stephen Port are included in training given to the frontline officers 

and staff who may be called on to initially respond to a death report. 

Page 198

https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/cs/chemsex/
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/report-independent-review-investigation-and-prosecution-rape-london-rt-hon-dame-elish
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publication/report-independent-review-investigation-and-prosecution-rape-london-rt-hon-dame-elish
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-officer/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-staff/


UNDER EMBARGO 

 133 

in consent are especially difficult to untangle. Because of the nature of the activity 

few complainants can summon the courage to report.” 

Those findings weren’t prompted or influenced by Port’s activities. He wasn’t arrested 

for murder until October 2015. But shortly after Port’s arrest, representatives of the 

LGBTQ+ community told the MPS that it needed to improve its understanding of 

and approach to incidents involving chemsex. As a result, on 25 October 2016, the 

MPS introduced a toolkit to help officers when investigating potential offences 

involving chemsex. 

The MPS developed detailed training for officers but has also trained other 

professionals, including judges, doctors and representatives of the Air Ambulance 

Service, on the risks and harm associated with chemsex. The training has 

generally been carried out through traditional, face-to-face teaching as opposed to 

computer-based methods. 

The MPS also produced detailed written guidance. Collectively, the training and 

guidance directs officers on how to identify offences committed in the chemsex 

context, how to deal with them and how to record them. 

The MPS’s continuous policing improvement command and His Majesty’s Prison 

and Probation Service (HMPPS) have developed a comprehensive definition of crime 

and vulnerability in the chemsex context. It includes the following definition of the 

chemsex context: 

“The ‘Chemsex Context’ refers to those environments/conditions within which a 

person engages in sex with another (or others), using drugs before and/or during 

sexual activity, with the aim of sustaining, enhancing, disinhibiting, and thereby 

facilitating the sexual experience. The drug(s) of choice predominantly, but not 

exclusively, used in the Chemsex context, are Crystal Methamphetamine, 

Mephedrone and GHB/GBL (G) and are described by participants as ‘Chems’. 

Arrangements are usually made via geosocial networking (hook up) apps, in which 

geolocation information allows users with shared interests to easily connect with 

others and coordinate events within their locality.” 

We were told that the MPS considered that chemsex offences were under-reported. 

The MPS believes that one barrier to people reporting rapes and other serious sexual 

assaults involving chemsex is the potential criminalisation of a victim who discloses 

drugs offences. Other factors may be privacy and perhaps feelings of shame on the 

part of those who participate in chemsex. But we were told that the MPS’s primary 

consideration was the well-being of those who have been affected. 

The police also want to tackle organised criminals, who have found that supplying 

illegal drugs for chemsex can be a lucrative enterprise.  

Page 199



UNDER EMBARGO 

 134 

In February 2020, the MPS and HMPPS held a national conference to address 

chemsex-related crime and vulnerability. The conference was the first of its kind.  

It brought together over 100 senior criminal justice professionals, including 

representatives of law enforcement organisations, the Crown Prosecution Service, the 

Bar Council and HMPPS. The event also saw the introduction of Project Sagamore 

under the leadership of the MPS and HMPPS. MPS guidance describes Project 

Sagamore as the joint MPS/HMPPS approach to crime-related risk, harm and 

vulnerability within the chemsex context. 

The MPS and HMPPS hosted a further chemsex crime conference in October 2022. 

Those working in Project Sagamore provide support to officers who investigate deaths 

where chemsex may be a factor. They advise gold groups and operational 

commanders as subject matter experts. They also work with communities and support 

groups to highlight the dangers posed by chemsex, which include health risks and the 

possibility of being exploited by criminal gangs. 

When we spoke with MPS officers and staff, we were encouraged by the level of 

knowledge about chemsex. We also examined records of two chemsex-related 

deaths. In both cases, officers identified, preserved and forensically recovered 

potential evidence of chemsex. The forensic strategies were comprehensive and 

showed an understanding of the relevant chemical considerations.

Page 200



 

 

April 2023 | © HMICFRS 2023 

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs 

Page 201

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs


This page is intentionally left blank



Last night (27 April), His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS) published a report into the Met’s response to the lessons from the Stephen Port 
murders.

Between 2014 and 2015, four young men, Anthony Walgate, Gabriel Kovari, Daniel 
Whitworth and Jack Taylor, were murdered by the rapist and serial killer Stephen Port. Port 
received a life sentence with a whole life order in November 2016.

In 2021, inquests into the deaths of the four men found failings by the Met contributed to the 
deaths of three of the men.

The report published last night has found that there is still more work to do, especially in 
officer training, supervision and record keeping, to ensure that the errors made in his case 
cannot happen again. The report was commissioned by the Mayor’s Office for Policing and 
Crime (MOPAC), following an inspection which was carried out between June and 
November last year.

Accepting that more still needs to be done, Assistant Commissioner Louisa Rolfe said:

“The deaths of Anthony Walgate, Gabriel Kovari, Daniel Whitworth and Jack Taylor were a 
tragedy and we are sincerely sorry we failed them and their families. While, as the inspection 
report acknowledges, we have worked hard since the murders to understand what went wrong 
and improve how we work, it highlights more we need to do.

“We have to get the basics right. That’s around how we train and support our officers to 
investigate deaths, identify suspicious circumstances and understand how protected 
characteristics may impact on those investigations.

"It’s vital that all officers and staff are familiar with our death investigation policy. We have 
reviewed and updated our training for frontline officers and have begun a programme of 
enhanced training for their supervisors.

“We are also moving quickly on family liaison. We know we fell short in this case and the 
families did not get the service they needed or deserved. It is important we look again at this 
area to see what more we need to do to support families through such difficult times.

“We will fully consider the recommendations made by HMICFRS and ensure these are not 
just fully addressed but embedded into our working practices. This is what we have been 
doing with previous recommendations from the coroner and the Independent Office for 
Police Conduct.

AC Rolfe concluded:

“I know that many of you will be very concerned by the findings of this report, particularly 
members of our LGBT+ community. I want to reassure you all that we are sincere in our 
desire to make real change to minimise the chance of a case like this ever happening again. I 
do not underestimate the damage that this case has caused to London’s LGBT+ communities 
and we are working closely with our LGBT+ Network and IAG to regain the trust of our 
communities, both inside and outside of the Met.”

Page 203

http://mpsweb.intranet.mps/news-archive/features/2021/december/statement-following-the-conclusion-of-the-east-london-inquests/
http://mpsweb.intranet.mps/news-archive/features/2021/december/statement-following-the-conclusion-of-the-east-london-inquests/
http://mpsweb.intranet.mps/news-archive/features/2022/june/new-death-investigation-policy/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 205

AGENDA ITEM 9



2

Contents  
 
Policy and Procedure Summary   
 
1.0 Reports of Anti-Social Behaviour              Page 3
2.0 Referrals to Other Agencies  Page 6
3.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Investigation Page 6
4.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Actions  Page 6
5.0 Domestic Abuse Page 8
6.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Case Closure Page 12      
7.0 Reporter Satisfaction Surveys  Page 12 

   8.0 Comments and Complaints                      Page 12
9.0 Review Period                                           Page 13
 
Policy and Procedure Statement 

1.0     Strategic Overview                                  Page 14
2.0     Definitions of Anti-Social Behaviour        Page 14
3.0     How cases are prioritised                         Page 17
4.0    Cross Tenure Issues                                Page 17
5.0     Expectation of our tenants                        Page 17
6.0     Victim and Witness Support                     Page 18
7.0     Support for Vulnerable Perpetrators         Page 18
8.0     Preventive Actions                                    Page 19
9.0     Informal Actions                                        Page 19
10.0   Legal Action                                             Page 20
11.0   Publicity                                                   Page 21
12.0   Multi-Agency Working                             Page 22
13.0   Information Sharing                                 Page 22
14.0   Training and Service Development         Page 23
15.0   Availability of Statement                          Page 23
16.0   Review of Statement                               Page 23
 

Page 206



3

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council’s (LBBD) Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy and Procedures Summary  

Anti-social behaviour (“ASB”) is a wide definition which describes the day-to-day incidents of 
crime, nuisance and disorder that may impact on the enjoyment of a resident’s home or on our 
community more generally. Examples can include litter and vandalism, public drunkenness, 
aggressive dogs, noisy or abusive neighbours, etc. We define ASB as follows: 
 Acting in a manner that causes or is likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to any 

person;

 Conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to that person’s 
occupation of residential premises; 

 If a council or tenant or tenant of a Registered Provider of Social Housing, it can be conduct 
capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to any person which directly or indirectly relates 
to or affects our housing management functions;

 Using or threatening to use residential premises for immoral or illegal purposes. It is not 
children playing sensibly or playing football or, for example, a baby crying next door. 

In all cases ASB will be addressed firmly, fairly, proportionately, and holistically.
Where the Council acts as a landlord, we have a duty to respond to ASB affecting the properties 
we manage. Our landlord duties and powers complement the duties and powers we have to 
deal with ASB of non-council tenants.
 

This document provides staff and customers with a summary of our approach and the actions 
that may be taken when a report of ASB is received.  
 
1.0 REPORTS OF ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR 
 
1.1 When does the Council investigate a report of ASB? 
 
The Council may take the lead in investigating reports of ASB in the following circumstances: 
 
 When the person experiencing and/or perpetrating ASB is a Council tenant, or if the ASB is 

perpetrated by another person when visiting a Council tenant.

 When both the person experiencing and the person perpetrating ASB are owner occupiers 
or reside in privately rented accommodation. 

 When the ASB is taking place in any public place or place to which the public have access. 
 
When either the person experiencing ASB or the perpetrator of ASB is a tenant of another 
social landlord or lives in a property managed by a Registered Provider (“RP”) of Social 
Housing (housing association), we will encourage the complainant to refer the matter to the 
registered provider with an expectation it is dealt with by the provider using its powers under 
the various Housing Acts.

We expect private landlords to ensure that ASB is addressed at the earliest opportunity and 
dealt with appropriately and we can take formal action against landlords who fail to do so.
 

Page 207



4

Serious ASB involving criminal conduct should be reported to Metropolitan Police 
by telephoning 101 or 999 in an emergency or using crime stoppers anonymously.  

1.2 Making a report of ASB to the Council 
 
Reports of ASB to the Council can be made in any of the following ways:
 

 By telephone, online, or in writing. Details of how to do this can be found at: Report a 
problem | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

 By a third party, for example by a Local Councillor, Member of Parliament, or social 
worker. If a report is made via a third party, we will seek the consent of the reporter to 
communicate and share information with the third party.    

 
We do not accept reports of ASB by social media, e.g., Twitter.

1.3 What types of reports will be investigated? 
 
ASB can mean different things to different people and may or may not include criminal activity. 
Types of behaviour that the Council considers to be anti-social include;  
 

 Hate incidents such as offensive graffiti; 
 Use or threatened use of violence; 
 Repeated abusive language or behaviour; 
 Harassment; 
 Damage to property; 
 Domestic abuse; 
 Hate crime in conjunction with police as lead agency. 

With reference to this ASB policy, the following matters will not be investigated: 
 

 Actions that are considered to be normal everyday activities or household noise. 
 Children playing ball games, unless the children are also engaged in associated ASB. 
 Reports related to people staring with no other associated ASB. 
 Actions which amount to people being unpleasant to each other but are not sufficiently 

serious considering the likely harm caused to justify our involvement. 
 Environmental or other Housing issues such as statutory noise nuisance, fly tipping, 

overcrowding and disrepair. Other Council departments are responsible for investigating 
these types of problems and reports can be made via the Council’s website: Report a 
problem | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk).

 
The lists above are not exhaustive. Officers of the Council will exercise judgement to establish 
an appropriate response. 

1.4 Making a report of hate crime

Hate crimes and hate incidents are crimes that are motivated by hostility or prejudice against a 
group of people based on a characteristic or perceived characteristic. 
This could be:

Page 208

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem


5

 race, or ethnicity
 religion or belief
 disability – including physical and learning difficulties
 gender
 age
 trans and gender reassignment
 sexual orientation
 the perception that someone fits into one of these categories, even if they do not

Hate crime can take many forms including:

 physical attacks – such as physical assault, damage to property, offensive graffiti, 
neighbour disputes and arson

 threat of attack – including offensive letters, abusive or obscene phone calls, groups 
hanging around to intimidate and unfounded, malicious complaints

 abuse or insults – offensive leaflets and posters, abusive gestures, dumping of rubbish 
outside homes or through letterboxes, and bullying at school or in the workplace.

If you are a victim of, or have witnessed, a hate crime or incident, you can report it to one of 
several organisations by:

Police
 In an emergency dial 999.
 Non-emergency dial 101 
 Report hate crime to the Met Police online – You don’t have to give your name.

The Councils equality objectives are part of the new Corporate Plan. Here is the link to our 
Corporate Plan:https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-
plan-and-performance-framework

 
1.5 Anonymous Reports 
 
The Council always prefer to have direct contact with the person experiencing the ASB (“the 
reporter”) to understand the problems they are experiencing, offer appropriate support and 
provide updates regarding the investigation.  Officers will investigate an anonymous report if 
the report can be substantiated and will make reasonable attempts to substantiate the report.  
 
1.6 How are ASB reports prioritised? 
 
Reports of ASB are prioritised at point of contact. This involves confirming the allegation and 
asking a series of short questions to assess the potential risk of harm caused by the ASB. 
Reports of ASB are then allocated to a named Investigating Officer.  
 
If the ASB involves the use or threat of violence or there is a significant risk of harm i.e., a hate 
crime/incident, an officer will aim to contact the reporter within 1 working day. For all other 
reports of ASB, an officer will aim to contact the reporter within 5 working days.  Hate crimes 
will be referred to the police. However, we shall work closely with policing partners where there 
may, for example, be a breach of tenancy obligation or in circumstances where we may 
consider civil action to compliment any criminal investigations or prosecutions.  Following a 
hate crime conviction, we would work to support the resident.
 

Page 209

https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/how-to-report-hate-crime/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-plan-and-performance-framework
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-plan-and-performance-framework


6

2.0 REFERRALS TO OTHER AGENCIES 
 
Investigating Officers will make referrals to other Council departments or agencies as 
appropriate during their investigation. Any referrals made will involve the Investigating Officer 
seeking consent from the individual concerned, unless there is an overriding safeguarding 
concern in relation to a vulnerable adult or child.  

 
3.0 ASB INVESTIGATION 
 
3.1 Interviewing the reporter 
 
When a report of ASB is made, the Investigating Officer will interview the reporter to confirm 
all relevant facts and an action plan will be discussed. As part of the action plan, the reporter 
will be expected to keep an accurate record of any further incidents of ASB and report any 
further incidents to the Investigating Officer. The officer will attempt to complete an ASB 
Vulnerability Risk Assessment with all reporters (not acting within their professional capacity 
e.g., police officer) to assess the reporter’s vulnerability to the ASB they are experiencing. The 
officer will agree an action plan detailing what the reporter/victim is expected to do and what 
you may expect from the Council or other partners. 

3.2 Wider Investigations 
 
Investigating Officers will usually conduct a wider investigation which may involve contacting 
other potential reporters or witnesses, in addition to making enquiries with any relevant Council 
departments or partner agencies such as the Metropolitan Police.
 
3.3 Interviewing the alleged perpetrator 
 
During most investigations (except where a without notice injunction is being considered), 
contact will be made with the alleged perpetrator. The alleged perpetrator will be given a fair 
opportunity to respond to the ASB allegations. The Investigating Officer will explain the 
consequences of perpetrating ASB and summarise the next steps in the investigation.  
 
3.4 Counter Allegations 
 
Investigating Officers will conduct a proportionate investigation into any counter allegation that 
is considered to be ASB. Feedback will be provided to the person making the counter 
allegation.  

 
4.0 ASB ACTIONS 
 
4.1 Levels of Evidence 
 
Most ASB investigations take place within a civil law framework which means a civil standard 
of proof is applicable. The Investigating Officer needs only to be able to demonstrate that the 
incident(s) is more likely than not to have happened.  
 

Page 210



7

When civil legal action has been taken and a Court Order has been breached i.e. 
breach of an Injunction order, Closure Order or prosecution for breach of a Community 
Protection Notice, the criminal standard of proof applies. This means that a conviction for 
breach can only occur if the Court is sure of the Defendant’s guilt (i.e. the criminal standard of 
proof is required for conviction).  

In investigating or acting on reports of ASB, the Council must first ensure that sufficient 
evidence is present to support any allegations made. 
 
4.2 Insufficient Evidence 

 
During an investigation there may be several reasons why an Investigating Officer cannot take 
action. These reasons may include: 

 Establishing that the incident did not happen. 
 Having insufficient evidence to pursue the matter, with reference to the relevant 

standard of proof. 
 Where, upon enquiry, the Council does not find the issues reported to be anti-social. 
 Not being able to investigate fully due to non-cooperation of the reporter / witness. 
 The ASB has stopped and the likelihood of further ASB is low. 

The Investigating Officer will inform the reporter at the earliest opportunity if they determine that 
they cannot take action or further action and will close the case.  
 
4.3 Determining Appropriate ASB Actions 
 
The Investigating Officer will assess each case on the information available and the actions 
taken will be proportionate and bespoke to the circumstances of each case. Typically, 
Investigating Officers will use informal methods to try to resolve a report of ASB in the first 
instance. However, in priority cases, such as when there has been a use or threat of violence, 
legal action may be the first course of action. 
 
4.4 Informal methods 
 
Investigating Officers may consider using informal methods such as: 

 Mediation 
 Restorative Meetings
 Providing information and advice
 Investigatory interviews
 Warning Interviews 
 Acceptable Behaviour Agreements / Contracts
 Referrals to partners / support agencies 

It will be a matter for the Investigating Officer to determine when and in what circumstances 
informal methods will be used and the appropriateness of, for example, mediation and/or 
restorative measures. We will not ask complainants to undertake mediation where there has 
been violence or the threat of violence. Complainants will be expected to co-operate with these 
methods aimed at finding a meeting of minds and best alternatives. We will not be guided by 
insistences that complainants, for example, require someone is evicted. If complainants 
unreasonably refuse to co-operate with informal methods such as mediation, we may close the 
complaint. 

Page 211



8

 
4.5 Legal actions 
  
Investigating Officers may consider applying for legal action such as: 

 Injunction (including powers of arrest)  
 Criminal Behaviour Order  
 Community Protection Notices  
 Closure Orders  
 Breach Proceedings  
 ASB Possession Proceedings (within our landlord capacity only)
 Fixed Penalty Notices
 Community Protection Warnings (CPW) and Community Protection Notices (CPN)
 Any other legal or other intervention the Council deem appropriate.  

 
There may be other informal methods and legal actions that the Investigating Officer considers 
are appropriate dependent upon the circumstances of the case.  
 
4.6 Justification  
 
Officers will justify the use of informal methods and/or legal actions with reasons. 
 
4.7 Manager Review 
 
If the Investigating Officer considers it appropriate to proceed with legal action the case will be 
reviewed by the ASB Team Manager or the Community Safety Operations Manager prior to 
making a referral to legal services for legal advice. The Investigating Officer will always 
consider the legal advice received prior to instructing a solicitor to proceed with a legal 
application. Such advice is legally privileged and therefore will not be disclosed.  

5.0 Domestic Abuse

In Barking and Dagenham tackling the harm caused by domestic abuse is a corporate priority.

Domestic abuse is not an example of anti-social behaviour. Domestic abuse is a crime. We 
know that sometimes reports of ASB can actually be instances of domestic abuse, for example 
excessive neighbour noise could be sounds of domestic abuse being perpetrated. This policy 
ensures we are able to correctly identify domestic abuse and take action accordingly.

 The Barking and Dagenham Domestic Abuse Commission launched in September 2019. 
The Commission brought together a panel of national experts to consider how LBBD could do 
more to tackle endemic domestic abuse in the borough. The Commission was the first of its kind 
in the country.

The Commission conducted a range of qualitative and quantitative work with residents and 
professionals. The commission’s final report was received and approved by Cabinet in 
February 2021 and published formally in March 2021. Survivors of domestic abuse co-produced 
the report and the outcomes, and recommendations within it. The full report can be found here:
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s143521/DA%20Commission%20-%20App%201.pdf

The Commission developed six key principles to guide all our work around domestic abuse:

Page 212

https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s143521/DA%20Commission%20-%20App%201.pdf


9

1. We believe survivors – survivors should be believed as a starting point of all of our work, 
whatever role we have across the Barking and Dagenham workforce

2. We are led by survivors – survivors are at the heart of any approach to domestic abuse. They 
are consulted and their needs are put at the centre. • 

3. We focus first on changing behaviour in order to change attitude – we make it clear that 
domestic abuse will not be tolerated and that tackling domestic abuse is a priority, which can 
help to change someone’s attitude and belief system around domestic abuse. 

4. We do not create harm – we don’t create harm by implementing something which tries to help 
but can have a negative impact because it’s not fully developed and co-ordinated with a wider 
offer. 

5. We are feminist and anti-racist – as the most diverse area in London, a one-size fits all 
approach won’t work. We work in an intersectional way to create the bespoke response an 
individual or family needs.

6. We are trauma informed – trauma is inseparably bound up with systems of power and 
oppression. For people who have experienced trauma in their lives, public services can 
unwittingly make things worse if they create situations that bring back the trauma or make them 
feel unsafe. We work to ensure we do not do this.

Domestic Abuse – Key Facts 

Domestic abuse is very common. Domestic abuse has a devastating impact on victims and 
survivors, their families, and the wider community. Domestic abuse can happen to anyone, in 
any type of relationship. Domestic abuse affects both men and women, but in the vast majority 
of cases it is experienced by women and is perpetrated by men. Women are more likely to 
experience domestic abuse, to experience more severe incidents and to experience prolonged 
patterns of abuse. Domestic abuse always has impacts and consequences for all victims, and 
certain groups experience additional challenges and barriers to seeking help.

The Crime Survey of England and Wales (CSEW) estimates that one in three women will 
experience domestic abuse in their lifetime. Victims can be reluctant to disclose and may 
experience up to 35 incidents before seeking help. On average the police in England and Wales 
receive over 100 calls relating to domestic abuse every hour. (HMIC, 2015). According to CSEW 
data for the year ending March 2018, only 18% of women who had experienced partner abuse 
in the last 12 months reported the abuse to the police. 

On average a woman is killed by her male partner or former partner every four days in England 
and Wales. In London, recorded domestic abuse cases have increased by 26 per cent in five 
years.

Barking and Dagenham has the highest volume per 1,000 population of domestic abuse 
offences in London, as demonstrated by the below statistics:

Page 213



10

What is domestic abuse?

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 defines domestic abuse as:
'Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members 
regardless of gender or sexuality.' 

This can encompass but is not limited to the following types of abuse: 
 Physical abuse
 Emotional abuse
 Economic abuse
 Psychological abuse
 Sexual abuse
 Coercive behaviour
 Controlling behaviour
All forms of abuse are serious, and one type should not be weighted over another.

Controlling behaviour is defined as acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by 
isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities, depriving them of the 
means for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

Coercive behaviour is defined as an act or pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation 
or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim. The term “abuse” is used as controlling 
and coercive behaviour may not involve physical violence but can have the same impact. 

Page 214



11

Abusive behaviour is classed as domestic abuse if the perpetrator is personally connected 
to the victim. Personally connected means they are, or have: 
 Been married to each other
 Been in a civil partnership with each other
 Agreed to marry one another (whether that agreement has ended or not)
 Agreed to a civil partnership (whether that agreement has ended or not)
 Been in an intimate personal relationship
 Had a parental relationship to the same child
Relatives are also classed as personally connected. Relatives include parents, grandparents, children, 
grandchildren, siblings, aunts, uncles, nieces, and nephews. Step and half relations are also included.

For the purposes of child protection, the definition of harm includes the impairment suffered by children 
from seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another in connection to domestic abuse. Children under 18 
who see, hear, or experiences the effects of domestic abuse (where the victim or the perpetrator has 
parental responsibility for the child, or is related) were recognised in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 as 
victims in their own right.

The definition also includes all forms of abuse and violence within the family including the following: 
 “Honour’ based violence - committed against a family or community member in order to protect or 

defend the honour of the family or community
 Female genital mutilation (FGM) - an illegal practice involving the cutting or otherwise changing of 

the female genitals 
 Forced marriage - a marriage conducted without the valid consent of one or both parties and where 

duress is a factor

The above outlines the definition of domestic abuse used by London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham across our services and interventions.

The policy aims to: 
 Ensure Barking and Dagenham Council delivers its statutory responsibilities, as outlined 

in key pieces of legislation such as the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021

 Ensure that staff working across housing services are able to recognise the presence of 
domestic abuse in families, and are able to intervene as early as possible to minimise harm 
– understanding that this may be our first and only opportunity to make a victim safe

 Ensure that we protect victims of domestic abuse, by understanding and assessing the 
risk to victims, including children, and making appropriate referrals to services on behalf of 
the family to support victims and children

 Support staff to work safely and effectively with families to resolve ASB concerns by having 
robust responses and pathways in place for those where we identify domestic abuse 

 Hold perpetrators to account for their actions, maintaining the safety of the victim and 
survivor and their children

 Support delivery of the Domestic Abuse Commission principles and recommendations, 
the Domestic Abuse Improvement Programme and the Violence Against Women and 
Girls (VAWG) Strategy

The council will ensure that all ASB professionals are aware of key indicators of domestic abuse, 
of how to respond to disclosures of domestic abuse and what to do next to support victims and 
children and young people, as well as perpetrators. We will do this by:
 Providing access to the multi-agency training offer provided by the Barking and Dagenham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership – supporting a trauma informed, Safe and Together 
understanding of domestic abuse and staff able to conduct basic risk assessments and 
safety plans

Page 215



12

 Ensure staff attend council provided learning and development on domestic 
abuse, including the compulsory training for managers 

 Ensure all staff are familiar with the council’s statutory duties in relation to domestic abuse
 Ensure staff are aware of the domestic abuse objectives within the council’s objective library, 

and that these are used within appraisals and work plans appropriately
 Ensuring all staff are aware of local referral pathways for specialist support and that these 

are embedded in our procedures 
 Ensuring all staff are aware of domestic abuse procedures 
 Ensuring all housing staff are familiar with the correct process for responding to victims and 

survivors who are at high risk of harm, including making MARAC (Multi-agency Risk 
Assessment Conference) referrals

 Ensuring all staff are familiar with the correct process for making safeguarding referrals for 
children and adults at risk where appropriate

All ASB professionals can access further information about domestic abuse and how we work 
in the detailed domestic abuse guidance for staff and the ‘at a glance’ guide for staff, available 
here:

https://lbbd.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/Domestic-Abuse.aspx 
or
https://bdsafeguarding.org/domestic-abuse/ 
or
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/adult-health-and-social-care/health-and-wellbeing/domestic-
abuse/professionals-guidance-and-advice

This toolkit should inform the work of all officers dealing with potential and identified domestic 
abuse cases.

6.0 ASB CASE CLOSURE 
 
6.1 Reasons for Case Closure 
 
Investigating Officers will close cases in a timely manner so that cases are not open longer 
than necessary. The Investigating Officer will communicate with reporters and partners when 
resolutions have been reached or a case is closed and will ensure accurate recording of cases.  
 

7.0 REPORTER SATISFACTION SURVEYS 
 
The Service will endeavour to complete a short survey with every reporter or witness (not 
acting in a professional capacity e.g., police officer) to check they are satisfied with the service 
they have received. The manager will be made aware of any circumstances when the feedback 
received is not satisfactory. 

 

8.0 COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 
 

If anyone is dissatisfied with the ASB service, they have received they may make a complaint 
to the Council, which will be fully investigated.  Here is a link to our complaints procedure: 
Complaints procedure | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

Page 216

https://lbbd.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/Domestic-Abuse.aspx
https://bdsafeguarding.org/domestic-abuse/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/complaints-procedure


13

8.1 Community Trigger

You can ask for the Community Trigger to be activated if you consider no action has been taken 
after you have complained to us at the council, police or a registered housing provider about 3 
separate incidents of antisocial behaviour in the last 6 months.
You can also ask for the Community Trigger if 5 individuals in the local community have 
complained separately to the council, police or registered housing provider about similar 
incidents of antisocial behaviour in the last 6 months. Here is a link to our online form.
Follow up antisocial behaviour report
 

9.0 REVIEW PERIOD 
 
This policy and procedures statement will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in 
relevant legislation. 
  

Page 217

https://eforms.lbbd.gov.uk/follow-up-antisocial-behaviour


14

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy and Procedures Statement 

 
1.0 Strategic Overview 
 
The London Borough of Barking and Dagenham community safety strategy (2023 to 2026) sets 
the vision for the Council. Our key aim is to be a place where residents from all backgrounds feel 
safe, can aspire and live well, keeping our children and young people safe, tacking crime that 
affects people the most, reducing offending, tacking violence against women and girls and 
standing up to hate, intolerance and extremism. Our approach is to become more proactive, pre-
emptive and creative, focusing on a person’s or community’s strengths and opportunities.  
 
The first thematic priority of the Council’s community safety strategy is to tackle Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) through a triple-track approach of early intervention and prevention, non-
negotiable support and strong enforcement action when necessary. We aim to strengthen 
community capacity to resolve issues, protect and support victims and use informal and formal 
tools and powers to tackle ASB.  By working together, we are building more resilience in 
communities to challenge the corrosive effect of ASB, intimidation and harassment caused by a 
minority of people. 
   
The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 places a legal requirement on all social landlords to publish 
an Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures Statement. This document fulfils this legal 
requirement specifically relevant to non-secure tenants living in the Council’s temporary 
accommodation schemes and dispersed properties across our Borough.   
 
The Council applies a harm-centred approach to tackling ASB. The Council will consider the harm 
caused to individuals and communities along with the type of ASB reported and the available 
evidence to determine a course of action that the Council deems appropriate.  
 
Through applying effective ASB case management principles, starting at the point of contact and 
continuing throughout the management of a case, officers will take action that is appropriate and 
proportionate to the harm caused to the victim or witness, the nature of the complaint and the 
quality of evidence available.  

The focus of our casework will be as much about supporting the complainant or witness of ASB as 
actions relating to the alleged perpetrator.  
 
The key points that officers will consider throughout ASB casework processes will include resolving 
issues at the earliest opportunity, protecting individuals and communities, stopping and changing 
the offending behaviour where possible and keeping an emphasis on the complainant or witness. 
  
This statement specifically focuses on ASB and does not include issues that should be investigated 
in relation to other legislative frameworks.   

 
2.0 Definitions of ASB 
 
The Council adopts the definitions of ASB as outlined in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014: 
 
a) Non–Housing Related ASB 

Page 218



15

 
For ASB in a non-housing related context, ASB is conduct that caused, or is likely to cause 
harassment, alarm, or distress to any person. This will apply, for example, where the ASB has 
occurred in a public place, such as a town or city centre, shopping centre, or local park, and where 
the behaviour does not necessarily affect the housing management functions of a social landlord. 
 
b) Housing Related ASB 
 
For ASB in a housing context; ASB is conduct that is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance 
to a person in relation to that person’s occupation of residential premises or the conduct is capable 
of causing housing related nuisance or annoyance to any person.  
 
The Council will also consider any ASB definitions as stated in an individual’s tenancy agreement 
or lease with the Council when taking actions to manage ASB.  

 
2.1 Types of ASB 
 
ASB can mean different things to different people and may or may not include criminal activity. We 
will take action to investigate reports made by LBBD residents, visitors to our Borough, our 
employees and contractors. We will also accept referrals from third parties such as a Local 
Councillor, Member of Parliament, the Metropolitan Police and other departments within the 
Council. 
 
 Types of behaviour that the Council may consider to be ASB include:  
 

● Hate crimes / Hate Incidents 
● Use or threatened use of violence 
● Repeated abusive language or behaviour 
● Harassment 
● Damage to property 
● Domestic abuse 

 
The Council recognises that domestic violence committed by a tenant, family member or visitor in 
social housing could fall within the description of ASB outlined at section 2.1. When domestic 
abuse is reported to us, this is investigated by Tenancy Sustainment. Tenancy Sustainment will 
complete a Domestic Abuse Stalking and Harassment (DASH) Risk Assessment and, if 
appropriate, with the consent of the victim, will make a referral into the Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC) and subsequently attend the MARAC to present the case. If 
the victim does not consent to the MARAC form being completed but the  Investigating Officer is 
concerned that there is a serious risk of harm to the victim, the form will be completed by the 
Investigating Officer and referred into the next MARAC meeting. It will be noted on the referral 
form that the victim’s consent was sought but not obtained. MARACs are held on a monthly basis 
with the aim of reducing the risk of death or serious injury to high-risk victims of domestic abuse. 
This is done by identifying those most at risk and trying to keep them safe by sharing information 
and putting action plans in place to reduce and manage the identified risks. 
 
When the threshold for a referral to the MARAC is not met, Investigating Officers will encourage 
domestic abuse victims to speak to specialist domestic abuse services and will safely provide 
information on how to access these services. Investigating Officers will determine if there are 
potentially any child safeguarding risks to children and make appropriate referrals to the 
Directorate of Children and Families.  

Page 219



16

 
Investigating Officers will be mindful of the need to ensure that domestic abuse victims are 
supported in accessing remedies specifically designed to deal with domestic abuse (for example 
non-molestation orders, Domestic Violence Protection Notices / Orders).  
 
The use of measures designed to tackle ASB will normally be used only when the Metropolitan 
Police have been consulted and there is no other option available in order to provide protection 
and prevent the impact on the wider community.  
 
This list of types of ASB the Council will investigate is non-exhaustive and this policy is not an 
undertaking to act in every such circumstance. Officers of the Council will, in all reported cases, 
exercise their judgment in order to establish an appropriate response to the report of ASB including 
what has happened, the harm caused or risk of harm, the frequency of incidents, the evidence 
available and any known vulnerabilities of the people involved.  

 
2.2 What the Council will not investigate 
 
The Council is committed to developing and supporting cohesive communities across the city and 
expects a reasonable level of tolerance between neighbours and others within our communities. 
Residents are encouraged, where possible, to try to resolve their disputes themselves without the 
need for the Council to be involved. Officers will seek to make a fair evaluation on whether 
complaints made are reasonable and are determined to constitute alleged ASB. Examples of the 
types of reports that the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Team will not investigate as ASB allegations 
include: 
 

● Actions that are considered to be normal everyday activities or household noise, for 
example children playing inside or outside their property.

● Children playing ball games, unless the children are also engaged in associated ASB e.g., 
verbal abuse, criminal damage. 

● Complaints related to people staring with no other associated ASB.
● Actions which amount to people being unpleasant to each other but are not sufficiently 

serious, considering the likely harm caused, to justify our involvement. 
● Cases of illegal drug use, production, or supply when there is no associated ASB. 

Residents will be advised to report such issues to The Metropolitan Police Report a crime 
| Metropolitan Police.

● Environmental issues such as noise nuisance, fly tipping, overcrowding and disrepair. Such 
matters can be reported here: Pests, pollution, noise and food | London Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

● Parking matters, with no other associated ASB. Abandoned and untaxed vehicles, illegal 
front garden parking and obstruction of dropped curbs can be reported Report a problem | 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk). If someone has parked 
inconsiderately or in your designated parking space without permission the responsibility 
will sit with the freeholder or managing agent. 

 
When determining if a report is ASB or not, officers will exercise professional judgement. If an 
officer determines that the complaint does not constitute ASB, they will inform the complainant at 
the earliest opportunity, advising them that no ASB action will be taken. The officer will provide 
advice and sign posting information if appropriate. 

 

Page 220

https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/ocr/af/how-to-report-a-crime/
https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/ocr/af/how-to-report-a-crime/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/pests-pollution-noise-and-food
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/pests-pollution-noise-and-food
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem


17

3.0 How cases are prioritised 
 
The Council will prioritise reports of ASB involving the use or threatened use of violence to person 
or property and / or reports involving significant harm or risk of harm to individuals, families or 
neighbourhoods e.g., hate incidents.  These types of cases will involve making urgent contact with 
the complainant and consideration of the potential need to apply for a without notice injunction 
against the perpetrator.  
 
All other reports of ASB will involve a standard response time and these cases will usually involve 
informal actions, such as an interview with the alleged perpetrator, to try to resolve the report of 
ASB without the need for legal action. When individuals fail to change their behaviour, despite 
being given the opportunity to do so, and their behaviour continues to have negative impact upon 
the quality of life of another person, the officer may decide that it is appropriate to take legal action.  
 
Officers will review the approach to a case by reference to what is reported to them, and any other 
new information presented to them. A standard response case may become a priority case and 
vice versa.  

 
4.0 Cross Tenure Issues 
 
This policy applies to reports of ASB affecting the Council’s landlord housing management function 
and to reports of ASB in the private sector i.e. involving home owners, private tenants and ASB 
that takes place in an area where there is no link to the housing management function of the 
Council, another Local Authority area or a social housing provider.  
 
There will be times when reports of ASB will need to involve other Local Authority areas or social 
housing providers because either the complainant or the alleged perpetrator are tenants of that 
organisation. When these types of reports are made to the Council, the ASB Investigating Officer 
will discuss with the relevant organisation who will take a lead role in coordinating specific actions 
and this information will be shared with everyone involved in the ASB report.  

The Private Sector Housing selective licencing scheme has a series of conditions designed to 
prevent ASB that landlords need to comply with. Landlords are required to actively work to prevent 
and stop ASB, whether that is from tenants or visitors. Where the ASB team identify serious issues 
or where landlords have ignored ASB or failed to take action, the Private Sector Housing Team 
will revoke the property licence.  

The threat of revoking a property licence usually results in the landlord evicting tenants who 
persistently cause ASB.  If they refuse to do so, and the licence is revoked, a new licence holder 
would have to be appointed to apply for a new licence and take over all management of the 
property. 

The Metropolitan Police may also investigate reports of ASB across all tenures, particularly when 
there is an allegation that a crime has been committed. The Council will work in partnership with 
the Metropolitan Police to investigate and tackle ASB in our communities.  
 
5.0 Expectation of our tenants 
 
The Council expects our tenants to act responsibly, respect others and not to engage in anti-social 
or criminal behaviour. We consider that our tenants are responsible for their own behaviour, the 
behaviour of those people who live with them and the behaviour of people who visit their property. 

Page 221



18

Informal and/or formal action may be taken against a tenant to address the behaviour 
of others who live with them or visit their property. 
 
6.0 Victim / witness support 
 
Victims and witnesses (“Reporters”) are at the centre of the action we take to investigate and 
resolve reports of ASB. All Reporters will be provided with a named officer who will be responsible 
for investigating their report. Support to Reporters will be assessed individually with each Reporter 
that engages with us to ensure that the support offered is tailored specifically to individual needs. 
 
A harm-centred approach is taken. This means that in addition to considering the type of ASB, we 
will consider the impact that ASB is having on individuals, families and neighbourhoods to 
understand the harm that is being caused. We will do this by completing an ASB Vulnerability Risk 
Assessment with complainants (not acting in their professional capacity i.e., police officer). In some 
cases, when a neighbourhood is experiencing ASB, we may conduct a Community Impact 
Statement involving information from residents and partners.  
 
Dependent upon the outcome of the ASB vulnerability risk assessment, it may be agreed that 
further actions to help manage or reduce the risk of harm is appropriate. Type of actions may 
include a referral to a victim support service, additional contact from the ASB Officer, asking if the 
police could carry out additional patrols or conduct reassurance visits, making a referral to another 
Council department or agency e.g. Adult Safeguarding, Drug and Alcohol Services, Mental Health 
Services and or any other services offering support in our Borough, etc.  
 
Sometimes ASB reports are made to the Council anonymously, usually because that person 
genuinely fears reprisals if they were identified as having made a complaint.  
 
We always prefer to communicate directly with people who are experiencing ASB. This helps us 
to gain an understanding of the problems those people are experiencing, allows us to assess the 
risk of harm and means that we can provide updates regarding the progress of an individual’s 
report and the corresponding actions taken. A complainant’s identity will not be disclosed to the 
alleged perpetrator without seeking consent from the complainant to do so. In some cases, we do 
not need to provide the alleged perpetrator with the complainant’s identity at any stage within the 
case. In other cases, specifically if the complainant has had direct contact with the alleged 
perpetrator, it may be obvious to the alleged perpetrator who has complained.  
 
If an anonymous report of ASB is received, we will attempt to investigate the report. This may 
involve checking our internal records for any previous reports, contacting residents who live in the 
immediate area to ask if they have experienced any problems and asking our partners, such as 
the Metropolitan Police, if they are aware of any relevant information. We are unlikely to make any 
contact with the alleged perpetrator if we cannot substantiate the anonymous report of ASB. 

 
7.0 Support for vulnerable perpetrators 

 
We recognise that some perpetrators may have support needs. When we are made aware by the 
perpetrator (or by any information made available to us) that a person has or may have a support 
need, we will explain our concerns and invite the perpetrator to discuss their needs with us. We 
will seek an alleged perpetrator’s consent to make a referral(s) to an appropriate Council 
department or external organisation on their behalf, if appropriate. If the perpetrator is already 

Page 222



19

engaged with a support service, we will discuss with the perpetrator sharing relevant 
information with the support service.  
 
We reserve the right to make a referral to our Adults and Child safeguarding teams, or the police, 
including a safeguarding referral, without the permission of the individual(s) concerned where the 
situation and provision of the Data Protection Act and any other legislation justifies it.  
 
When the perpetrator of the ASB is a young person, we will attempt to engage with their parents 
or guardians to offer appropriate family support. This may involve seeking consent to make a 
referral into the Council’s Early Help services. The aim of Early Help is to develop a consistent 
approach amongst multi-agency professionals working with children and young people to ensure 
that effective intervention is offered as soon as possible to tackle problems emerging early for 
young people and their families.   
 
If a perpetrator of ASB refuses to or stops engaging with an appropriate support service without a 
reasonable excuse, or if they accept support but the ASB continues, the Council will consider 
taking legal action. If the Council decides to apply for an Injunction or a Criminal Behaviour Order, 
we will consider applying for a positive requirement for the perpetrator to attend an assessment 
and/or engage with a specific Council department or external organisation.   
 
In some priority cases, when a decision is made to apply for urgent legal action, an invitation to 
the perpetrator to discuss any support needs may take place after the legal application has been 
made.  
 
If, during the time the ASB report is open to our service, we are made aware that the perpetrators 
needs have changed we will consider this new information and offer to make any further 
appropriate referrals.  
 
We will carefully consider and justify our actions, with a focus so as not to disadvantage those 
protected by the Equality Act 2010. 

 
8.0 Preventive Action 
 
Whenever possible the Council will take action to prevent ASB from happening in the first place. 
Examples of how we may do this include, but are not limited to: 
 

● Working with partners to identify areas of concern and planning coordinated targeted 
actions. 

● Supporting the delivery of targeted youth provision. 
● Considering any environmental improvements that may reduce the likelihood of ASB taking 

place. 
● Delivering training to partners and community groups regarding ASB and community safety 

issues.
 
 
 
9.0 Informal Action 

 
The Council’s aim is to intervene early to stop and prevent cases of ASB escalating. The informal 
interventions that may be considered are: 

Page 223



20

 
● Mediation – an early intervention tool to support parties to resolve a conflict or dispute. 
● Restorative Meetings – a way to acknowledge and repair harm following an incident of 

antisocial behaviour or crime. 
● Providing information and advice. 
● Investigatory interviews – where an Investigating Officer assesses whether an incident of 

ASB has taken place. 
● Warning Interviews – where an Investigating Officer, on the balance of probabilities, is 

satisfied that an ASB incident has taken place and will therefore explain the consequences 
of continuing to act in an anti-social manner. 

● Acceptable Behaviour Agreements / Contracts – an agreement with an individual which 
sets out what they will or will not do in the future. The Investigating Officer may also include 
any actions they may take i.e., referral to a support service. This type of agreement or 
contract will usually be used with a young person aged 10 – 17 years or a vulnerable adult.  
● Referrals to colleagues/ partners / support agencies. 

10.0 Legal Action 
 
The Council may consider taking legal action when ASB continues following an attempt to resolve 
the ASB informally. In priority cases involving the use or threat of violence towards person or 
property and/or where there is serious risk of harm, we may not take any informal actions and 
instead take legal action in the first instance. Examples of legal actions that we may consider 
include: 
 

● Injunction (including powers of arrest) – An order that can be granted against an individual 
aged 10 or over. An Injunction is designed to stop or prevent individuals from acting anti 
socially, quickly nipping ASB in the bud before it escalates. 

● Criminal Behaviour Order – An order that can be granted against an individual aged 10 or 
over upon conviction of a criminal offence. These orders are to tackle those who 
persistently engage in criminal ASB.  

● Community Protection Notices – A Notice that aims to stop a person aged 16 or over, 
business or organisation committing ASB which spoils the community’s quality of life.  

● Closure Order – An order that can be granted to quickly close premises, restricting who 
can access a premises, which is being used, or likely to be used, to commit nuisance or 
disorder.  

● Breach Proceedings – Action to enforce the above powers. The Metropolitan Police and 
the Crown Prosecution Service take the lead in enforcing a breach of a Criminal Behaviour 
Order. 

● Any other legal action which could be taken with the support of the Metropolitan Police/ 
Crown Prosecution Service i.e., Restraining Order. 

 
We will also consider Public Space Protection Orders when it is considered the most appropriate 
tool to address a place based ASB issue. We will work with the Metropolitan Police to consider 
other potential solutions, such as use of the Dispersal Power or Restraining Orders.  
 
In our capacity as a landlord, the Council may also take ASB possession proceedings. Prior to 
deciding to proceed with a claim for possession, we will give our tenants a right to reply to the ASB 
allegations. Where notice seeking possession has been served on mandatory grounds, the right 
to have that decision reviewed within a maximum of 7 days by application of section 85ZA(2) 
Housing Act 1985 is available.  It should be noted that the maximum period of 7 days will not be 
extended, this is because there are no provisions in the Act for an extension and the provisions 

Page 224



21

under the Act were designed to tackle serious ASB. The very fact the Act specifies the 
7 day time limit underlines its importance.  
 
The Council has no basis to seek possession of a property where we are not the landlord.  
 
The use of informal and legal action will be decided by the Council having considered the 
circumstances of each individual case and will be proportionate to the type of ASB and the risk of 
harm.  
 
Generally, we would wish to obtain agreement with complainants about the particular actions to 
be followed. There may be occasions where the complainant would wish that the Council takes no 
specific action on their report. The situation may however be serious enough that we feel we have 
little option to pursue against their wishes. In such circumstances, we will take appropriate 
measures to protect all those affected.  
 
In some circumstances, and if the situation is appropriate, the Council may be unable to 
progress an ASB case if a complainant refuses early intervention actions. The Council will 
decide and take whatever action we consider to be most appropriate.  

 
11.0 Publicity 

 
Publicity is an essential part of tackling ASB in terms of: 
 

 Reassuring the community that the Council and partners work together and take reports of 
ASB seriously 

 Reassuring complainants, witnesses, and the wider community that successful action has 
been taken to tackle ASB  

 Publishing individual cases so that breaches of orders obtained can be reported to the 
relevant organisation 

 Making it clear to perpetrators that the Council will not tolerate ASB and will take action to 
protect others.  

 
In circumstances when a Court has not imposed reporting restrictions, and the Council considers 
it to be necessary and proportionate, a press release or other publicity material, such as an 
information leaflet, may be issued when the following orders have been granted or a Notice has 
been served. The Council may also issue a press release if the Court finds that any of the following 
orders / Notice have been breached: 
 

● Final Injunction Order 
● Final Criminal Behaviour Order 
● Closure Order
● Partial Closure Order 
● ASB Possession Order 
● Community Protection Notice  

 
The press release will be factual and may give the name, age and address of the individual against 
whom the order has been made or the breach occurred, the ASB they have been involved in and 
the terms of any order or sentence. 
 

Page 225



22

The decision to publicise will be considered carefully based on the facts of each case. 
The Council will consult with relevant partners such as the Metropolitan Police and the Directorate 
of Children and Families if an individual is engaged with services, including Youth Justice in respect 
of young people, to consider the following: 
 

● Whether or not the court imposed any reporting restrictions 
● The circumstances of the case 
● The need for the public to be made aware of the order 
● The need to publicise personal information 
● The vulnerability of the individual 
● Any likely consequences of publicising the order  
● Where and how the order will be publicised 

 
The final decision to publicise an order will be made by the Head of Community Safety.  
 
The Council may also engage in other media coverage as deemed to be appropriate. 
 
12.0 Multi Agency Working 
 
Often, ASB cases require involvement from other Council departments and other agencies. We 
work closely with other enforcement agencies such as the police, registered providers, and other 
local authorities. It may be that these agencies have access to a more appropriate enforcement 
action. 
 
We also work with support services including services within the Council’s Children and Families 
safeguarding and early help teams, youth justice, education, health (including mental health) and 
youth services. We recognise that both complainants and perpetrators may have support needs 
and we want to offer referrals to support services when appropriate. We may work with other 
partners such as London Fire Brigade (LFB), offender management services, schools, colleges, 
universities, sporting clubs and associations and voluntary organisations when a specific issue 
arises e.g., an allegation of young people setting fires would involve us liaising with LFB.
 
We may discuss reports of ASB at a multi-agency forum to ensure that a coordinated response is 
taken involving the relevant partners to resolve the ASB problem. Types of forums we participate 
in include: 
 

● Standing Case Conferences
● Weekly Tasking Meetings
● Various Community Safety panel meetings including London Wide partnerships
● Early Help triage and allocation meetings 
● Community safety partnership meetings 
● Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
● MAPPA (Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements)  
● Child protection conferences 
● Ad-hoc meetings to discuss individual cases 

 
13.0 Information Sharing and Confidentiality 
 
We will treat all information received with the strictest of confidence. In the first instance, the best 
interest and wishes of the complainant will drive the actions we take. It is important to understand 
that in certain circumstances we may have a legal obligation to share relevant information with 
other statutory agencies e.g., if there is a serious safeguarding concern. 

Page 226



23

 
If we consider it important to access specific information from independent professionals in order 
to assess how we deal with a case, we will ask the reporter for their written consent to do so, 
unless there is an urgent overriding safeguarding concern involving a risk of harm to the reporter, 
or another person.

ASB information is recorded on a secure case management system and case files are stored 
securely. Data is held in accordance with the Council’s data retention and destruction schedule.  
 
We have a duty to share information with relevant agencies as defined in the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998. We will share information with accordance to the Data Protection Act 1998 and data 
sharing principles.  

 
14.0 Training and Service Development 
 
The Council is committed to continually reviewing the service we provide so that we can identify 
and share practice and identify any service improvements. Ways in which we continue to develop 
include facilitating internal and external staff training, conducting regular case reviews between 
Investigating Officers and managers, along with group case supervision and consulting with the 
public when significant changes are made to the service.  Our performance is monitored through 
a range of indicators including number and types of cases, customer response times and the types 
of informal and formal ASB actions. We have recently introduced a customer survey which we will 
undertake with ASB complainants and consult with residents before making any significant 
changes to Council services.  
 
We report quarterly to our Community Safety Lead and provide reports to our Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and Community Safety Partnership Board.
 
15.0 Availability of the ASB Policy and Procedures Statement 
 
A copy of this ASB Policy can be found on the Council’s Community Safety website at Community 
safety and crime | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)
 
Please contact the ASB Team if you require a translated copy of the Statement and Summary or 
a copy in an alternative format (i.e., Braille and large print).  
 
16.0 Review of Policy and Procedures Statement  
 
This policy and procedures statement will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in 
relevant legislation. 

 

Date: 16 June 2023
Review by 16 June 2026

Page 227

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/community-safety-and-crime
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/community-safety-and-crime


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 229

AGENDA ITEM 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 233

AGENDA ITEM 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 239

AGENDA ITEM 12



This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 241

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
REPORT

Title: Contextual Safeguarding & Exploitation Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023 

Author: April Bald – Operations Director – Children’s Care & Support 

Contact: April.bald@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: [UNPROTECTED]

1. Brief Update

1.1 The Cotextual Safeguarding and exploitation sub-group is in place to ensure coordinated 
multi-agency responses to reduce experiences of significant harm such as child criminal & 
sexual exploitation and serious youth violence that tends to happen in contexts outside the 
family home i.e. within peer groups, schools settings, online and neighbourhoods.  The 
Partnership has not met since the workshop held at the beginning of the year , as work as 
been going on outside of this to finalise the Adolescent safety & well-being strategy 2023-
2036. The next meeting will be in July 2023 . 

1.2 The last update report provided to the CSP Board reported that a workshop had taken 
place to specifically  focus on the tiered offer for adolescents in the borough ranging from 
those with universal needs through the continuum of those with early help , targeted early 
help and specialist needs . By properly mapping the current offer and considering this 
against the need in the borough we would be better placed to identify the gaps in provision 
and ongoing commissioning needs. The meeting concluded there was insufficient capacity 
to undertake this piece of work . Children’s commissioning and Education co funded a post 
which has been recruited to and Sharon White the Interim Adolescent review lead. Sharon 
has begun meeting with key stakeholders, picking up on earlier scoping work and has a 
workshop arranged for later in the month aimed to formalise an agreed action plan required 
to deliver on the ambition to have a comprehensive LBBD youth offer . The work will be 
fully informed by young people and parents views . 

Page 243

Agenda Annex



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

1.3 MASE (Missing and sexual exploitation group ) and CEG( Criminal exploitation group ) 
have continued to meet on a monthly basis . These tactical and strategic meetings continue 
to be well attended by most partners. Senior police presence has been missed particularly 
as they should be fulfilling the role of co-chair. An issue that requires escalating is the 
ongoing lack of an analyst that can provide the borough wide intelligence to support 
targeted disruption activity reducing risk of exploitation and serious youth violence. The 
data and analysis at both meetings are social care led only. 

1.4 The LGA will be undertaking a Peer review of our  Safeguarding children’s partnership 
arrangements over the next two weeks. The key lines of enquiry include: 

a) What has progressed and what needs further focus against the partnership priorities as set 
out in the most recent annual Safeguarding children’s partnership (SCP )  report? 

b) In respect of the current SCP structural arrangements, how could governance 
arrangements be made more effective? (To consider : links to other strategic partnership 
boards and the role of the independent scrutineer)

c) Do the current range of subgroups demonstrate an alignment to the current annual report 
(factoring in a review of how the work undertaken within the individual subgroups are 
monitored for impact and effectiveness in improving our collective partnership responses to 
safeguarding children ) and how could they be improved? 

d) How could the SCP performance and qualitative arrangements in place to monitor & 
evaluate the work and impact of statutory and relevant partners drive further improvement? 
( This could consider single & multi agency performance information / annual reports / 
single and multi -agency audits/ learning from reviews etc   )

e) How could SCP arrangements to receive feedback from Children, young people and carers 
be more effective ?

2. Support required from CSP Board

2.1 For the Board to note the content of the report . The LGA peer review is likely to raise 
learning not just for Safeguarding Children’s Partnership but for the CSP Board too given 
the interlinking issues for both Board’s re safety of our children and young people in the 
borough and the ongoing risks to them whilst in the community . 

Page 244



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Youth Justice Service Board Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023

Author: Angie Fuller, Head of Service, Adolescent and Youth Justice 
Service

Contact: Angie.fuller@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 The Youth Justice Service Sub Group has met twice during the last quarter, March 
13th and April 24th . 

1.2 The meeting in March focused on 

 Implementation of the ‘Turnaround’ programme which will work with those 
children who have been arrested but bailed to return or released under 
investigation or no further action from the police. This will give workers an 
early opportunity to engage with young people to avoid further arrests or 
contact with the police and engage in positive activities. 

 Quarterly performance report on the national performance indicators. The 
service is still making improvements in all three areas but custody rates and 
first time entrants still remain above the London and National rates. 

 Updates regarding service development in response to poor audit in 
December. This has included training with all practitioners, workshops for 
managers regarding quality of oversight and identifying good practice and 
knowing what quality looks like. Audit of multi agency panels across the 
service is also underway.

 Update for the sub group regarding a recent visit to Hammersmith and 
Fulham and reciprocal visit to LBBD and the learning that has been shared 
across the services in order to develop further improvements

Page 245

mailto:Angie.fuller@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

1.3 The meeting in April focused on :-

 Process for the reporting of serious incidents and how we learn from these 
incidents as they occur

 The work of the victim officer within the team and the positive outcomes that 
have been achieved for the victims of offences committed by young people

 Update on the ongoing improvement work and positive outcomes shown 
from new performance processes that have been developed

 Update on the projects and pilots that run alongside the youth justice work 
that impact the children in a positive way. These include the National referral 
Mechanism (NRM) devolved decision making, young women and girls work, 
YARM and Turnaround

  

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 There are now new key performance indicators for the service which have needed 
further work with regard to data collection and some changes to working practices 
to meet these indicators. Partners need to ensure that systems and processes 
within their own organisations are able to meet these requirements. 

2.2 Ongoing improvement/development work is needed to ensure that standards are 
raised and that audit outcomes are improved.

2.3 Although greatly reduced, FTE and custody rates still remain high in comparison 
with London and national rates which is an ongoing focus for the service. 

2.4 Robbery and knife offences remain high and focused work to address these areas 
continues. 

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 None in addition to the findings outlined in the previous section.

4. Support required from CSP Board

4.1 Continued focus as a board on the scheduled improvements and learning from 
previous inspections. Agency representatives ensuring that the themes that are 
highlighted in inspection reports are considered and good practice identified is 
replicated. 

4.2 Partner agencies need to ensure that the work of seconded staff ( Health in 
particular )  is evident within the youth justice recording system as part of the 
recommendations from the audit.

Page 246



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: TMHIE Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023

Author: Jeta Buzoku, Community Safety Partnership Policy Officer 

Contact: ilirjeta.buzoku@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: UNRESTRICTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 The last meeting was held on 26/05/2023.  8 members of the group were in 
attendance.  

The topics discussed were:

The Crime Data

Graffiti/Vandalism

Tension Log

School Incidents

Comms Updates

Forward Plan

Updates from Refuge

The terms of reference for the next year were discussed and signed off.

Daniel James was thanked for his presentation of the hate crime statistics and 
knowledge around the subject.

Borough crime statistics were discussed.  It was agreed going forward that the 
group would focus on 3 month data rather than yearly figures in order to be able to 
identify emerging trends.

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 Identifying key emerging trends and agreeing joint plans in order to deal with them.

Page 247

Agenda Annex



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 Dorothy Barley Junior Academy has been reporting a relatively large number of 
racial incidents within the school even since the last meeting.  Still unknown if this is 
due to underreporting from other institutions or a significant problem within the 
school.  David Botterill to advise whether this school will need any further support.

There is repeat location for offensive graffiti in Reynold Court. Insp Matthew 
Feather will look into it and advise accordingly. 

4. Support required from CSP Board

Nothing required at this time.

5. List of Appendices:  

5.1  Appendix 1: 

Page 248



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Violence Against Women and Girls Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023 

Author: Angela d’Urso, Domestic Abuse Improvement Programme Lead

Contact: angela.durso@lbbd.gov.uk

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 The Violence Against Women and Girls Strategic Group (VAWGSG) was re-
established by the Community Safety Partnership Board in June 2022. The Terms of 
References for the VAWGSG and the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
Steering Group (MARACSG) were also agreed at this meeting. The MARACSG was 
agreed to be a sub-group of the VAWGSG.

1.2 The VAWGSG met on 15 June 2023. Agenda items included:
i) Serious Violence Duty needs assessment
ii) EA BCU intelligence update and VAWG action plan 2023/24
iii) Domestic Abuse Champions
iv) Thematic discussion – abuse against older people
v) Domestic Abuse Improvement Programme – 2023/24 Q1 update
vi) MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) Steering Group update
vii) Women’s Safety Operational Group, Women’s Public Safety Forum
viii)Domestic Homicide Review update

1.3 The VAWSG considered a presentation outlining the processes and timescales for 
the development of the Serious Violence Duty needs assessment. Discussion was 
had on key areas related to VAWG in the data collation and analysis process and 
how this links with the development of the VAWG strategy. The VAWGSG agreed 
that:
i) A standalone VAWG strategy was still required to sit alongside the Serious 

Violence Strategy, and that there would need to be consideration to related 
delivery/action plans to ensure robust oversight and governance across the 
strategies and the accountable partnership bodies.

ii) It was noted that levels of reporting from some community groups might be lower 
than others, particularly given impacts of some high profile incidents, and the 
group agreed to look at alternative and additional data sources to get to a true 
rich picture of need – the group agreed this must include data from survivors 
groups and those with lived experience.

Page 249

Agenda Annex



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

1.4 The VAWGSG received an update from police partners on latest performance as well 
as recent activity to tackle VAWGSG, including:
i) Joint operational work with BTP related to the night time economy, with the 

VAWGSG noting significant engagement from the community as part of the 
operation

ii) EA BCU VAWG strategy is in place, with a local LBBD strategy developed to 
support neighbourhood policing (using risk terrain modelling) on a hotspot based 
approach                 

iii) Operation Atlas results were very positive, with an increase in speed of resolution 
and presentation to CPS, and a significant increase in stalking cases charged 

1.5 The VAWGSG also agreed the proposed Domestic Abuse Champions scheme and 
approved the roll out plans. The scheme is preparing to be launched, and has been 
promoted at statutory partnerships, including the BD Safeguarding Children 
Partnership and the BD Safeguarding Adults Board. An application process will 
commence shortly.

1.6 A thematic discussion was held on older person abuse, and recent learning emerging 
from local/national Safeguarding Adult Reviews as well as Domestic Homicide 
Reviews. Current ways of working were discussed, as well as existing improvement 
plans. Key areas being taken forward include information sharing across critical 
partners working with potential perpetrators of adult child to older parent abuse and 
applying the learning from Support 2 Safety to adult intake pathways. 

1.7 An update was given on the MARAC Steering Group, which met 17 May 2023. At the 
MARACSG members agreed an updated MARAC Terms of Reference and provided 
input to the MARAC protocol. The latest quarterly update report was considered, and 
assurances were received on the interface between MARAC and substance misuse 
and mental health services and processes. A fall in referrals was noted, but this has 
returned to pre-existing levels since the meeting date.

1.8 Officers also provided an update to the MARACSG on the work of the Tribrough 
MARACSC, which also met in May 2023. Key discussions at this group included:
i) Improvement in referrals and a pathway for managing poor referrals
ii) A discussion on the new DARA tool and possible implications for high-risk 

identification
iii) Agreement to share MARAC training resources across the EA BCU footprint
iv) Agreement to share MARAC SG data report compilation across the EA BCU local 

authorities

1.9 The DAIP update is covered within a separate agenda item at this meeting.

1.10 The VAWGSG also agreed to undertake the annual governance review outside of 
the meeting – agencies will confirm the correct attendees are up to date within the 
Terms of Reference.

2. Support required from CSP Board

2.1 The VAWGSG will require support from the CSP Board in ensuring the DAIP 2023/24 
plan is delivered. Of particular relevance to the CSP board will be the conversations 
required relating to the longer-term resourcing of the DAIP and the commissioned 
support services once current funding has ended. 

Page 250



[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

2.2 The CSP may wish to nominate individuals for the first round of Domestic Abuse 
Champions, and can support with promotion of the scheme as it rolls out.

2.3 Support from the CSP to maintain a distinct VAWG strategy, alongside the Serious 
Violence Strategy. The CSP may wish to ensure that the governance relating to the 
Serious Violence Strategy and the VAWG Strategy is developed, including related 
action/delivery plans, interface with existing plans e.g., the DAIP, relevant sub-group 
ownership of specific action/delivery plans and single strategic oversight.

3. List of Appendices:  

3.1  None. 

Page 251



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Anti-Social Behaviour Policy

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023

Author: Ben Forbes, Community Safety Operations Manager

Contact: Ben.Forbes@lbbd.gov.uk 

Security: PROTECTED

1. Purpose of Presenting the Report and Decisions Required

1.1 The Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) Policy has been developed since March 
2023 and following feedback from the CSP Board, Counsellors, and 
services, as listed before, the report is now presented to the board for 
final review and sign-off.

 

2. Recommendation(s)

2.1 It is recommended that the Community Safety Partnership Board:

i) Approve the ASB Policy as the designated authority for implementation.

3. Main Text

3.1      Summary of amendments:

Policy and Procedure Summary  
 Content page numbers have been amended.
 1.3 What types of reports will be investigated?

Removed - Cases of illegal drug use, production or supply when 
there is no associated ASB. residents will be advised to report such 
issues to The Metropolitan Police.  

 1.4 Making a report of hate crime.
Included – Definition of hate crime, list of characteristics or perceived 
characteristics, examples of hate crime and contact details included to 
make a report. The Councils equality objectives are part of the new 

Page 253

Agenda Annex

mailto:Ben.Forbes@lbbd.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

Corporate Plan this has been detailed and I have inserted the link 
(information provided by Sarah Myers).  

 1.6 How are anti-social behaviour reports prioritised? 
Included – Following a hate crime we would work to support the 
resident. 

 4.5 Legal actions
Removed – Demoted tenancies.

 5.0 Domestic Abuse (New Section)
Included – Content from Angela D’urso including the domestic abuse 
commission report, the domestic abuse improvement programme plan 
and the domestic abuse practitioner’s toolkit.

 8.1 Community Trigger (New Section)
Included –Community trigger information and online link. The link has 
been tested and confirmed to be working.

Policy and Procedure Statement 
 2.1 Types of Anti-Social Behaviour

Amended – Information on when domestic abuse is reported to us, 
clarification that this is investigated by tenancy sustainment (TS) and 
the process followed, this has been consulted with the TS team and 
the correct process implemented in the policy.

 8.0 Preventive action
Removed - Completing pre-tenancy checks, housing people 
appropriately and having a robust sign-up process with clear 
expectations of behaviour. Not dealt with by the ASB team and as 
such removed from policy.

Equality Impact Assessment

 All required information on the EAI has been updated following the changes 
and included.

Consultation of Changes: legal, tenancy sustainment, strategy and equalities and 
the domestic violence improvement lead.

4. List of Appendices:

4.1 ASB Policy (June 2023)

4.2 ASB Policy EIA (June 2023)

 

Page 254



1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 255



2

Contents  
 
Policy and Procedure Summary   
 
1.0 Reports of Anti-Social Behaviour              Page 3
2.0 Referrals to Other Agencies  Page 6
3.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Investigation Page 6
4.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Actions  Page 6
5.0 Domestic Abuse Page 8
6.0 Anti-Social Behaviour Case Closure Page 12      
7.0 Reporter Satisfaction Surveys  Page 12 

   8.0 Comments and Complaints                      Page 12
9.0 Review Period                                           Page 13
 
Policy and Procedure Statement 

1.0     Strategic Overview                                  Page 14
2.0     Definitions of Anti-Social Behaviour        Page 14
3.0     How cases are prioritised                         Page 17
4.0    Cross Tenure Issues                                Page 17
5.0     Expectation of our tenants                        Page 17
6.0     Victim and Witness Support                     Page 18
7.0     Support for Vulnerable Perpetrators         Page 18
8.0     Preventive Actions                                    Page 19
9.0     Informal Actions                                        Page 19
10.0   Legal Action                                             Page 20
11.0   Publicity                                                   Page 21
12.0   Multi-Agency Working                             Page 22
13.0   Information Sharing                                 Page 22
14.0   Training and Service Development         Page 23
15.0   Availability of Statement                          Page 23
16.0   Review of Statement                               Page 23
 

Page 256



3

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council’s (LBBD) Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy and Procedures Summary  

Anti-social behaviour (“ASB”) is a wide definition which describes the day-to-day incidents of 
crime, nuisance and disorder that may impact on the enjoyment of a resident’s home or on our 
community more generally. Examples can include litter and vandalism, public drunkenness, 
aggressive dogs, noisy or abusive neighbours, etc. We define ASB as follows: 
 Acting in a manner that causes or is likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to any 

person;

 Conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation to that person’s 
occupation of residential premises; 

 If a council or tenant or tenant of a Registered Provider of Social Housing, it can be conduct 
capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to any person which directly or indirectly relates 
to or affects our housing management functions;

 Using or threatening to use residential premises for immoral or illegal purposes. It is not 
children playing sensibly or playing football or, for example, a baby crying next door. 

In all cases ASB will be addressed firmly, fairly, proportionately, and holistically.
Where the Council acts as a landlord, we have a duty to respond to ASB affecting the properties 
we manage. Our landlord duties and powers complement the duties and powers we have to 
deal with ASB of non-council tenants.
 

This document provides staff and customers with a summary of our approach and the actions 
that may be taken when a report of ASB is received.  
 
1.0 REPORTS OF ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR 
 
1.1 When does the Council investigate a report of ASB? 
 
The Council may take the lead in investigating reports of ASB in the following circumstances: 
 
 When the person experiencing and/or perpetrating ASB is a Council tenant, or if the ASB is 

perpetrated by another person when visiting a Council tenant.

 When both the person experiencing and the person perpetrating ASB are owner occupiers 
or reside in privately rented accommodation. 

 When the ASB is taking place in any public place or place to which the public have access. 
 
When either the person experiencing ASB or the perpetrator of ASB is a tenant of another 
social landlord or lives in a property managed by a Registered Provider (“RP”) of Social 
Housing (housing association), we will encourage the complainant to refer the matter to the 
registered provider with an expectation it is dealt with by the provider using its powers under 
the various Housing Acts.

We expect private landlords to ensure that ASB is addressed at the earliest opportunity and 
dealt with appropriately and we can take formal action against landlords who fail to do so.
 

Page 257



4

Serious ASB involving criminal conduct should be reported to Metropolitan Police 
by telephoning 101 or 999 in an emergency or using crime stoppers anonymously.  

1.2 Making a report of ASB to the Council 
 
Reports of ASB to the Council can be made in any of the following ways:
 

 By telephone, online, or in writing. Details of how to do this can be found at: Report a 
problem | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

 By a third party, for example by a Local Councillor, Member of Parliament, or social 
worker. If a report is made via a third party, we will seek the consent of the reporter to 
communicate and share information with the third party.    

 
We do not accept reports of ASB by social media, e.g., Twitter.

1.3 What types of reports will be investigated? 
 
ASB can mean different things to different people and may or may not include criminal activity. 
Types of behaviour that the Council considers to be anti-social include;  
 

 Hate incidents such as offensive graffiti; 
 Use or threatened use of violence; 
 Repeated abusive language or behaviour; 
 Harassment; 
 Damage to property; 
 Domestic abuse; 
 Hate crime in conjunction with police as lead agency. 

With reference to this ASB policy, the following matters will not be investigated: 
 

 Actions that are considered to be normal everyday activities or household noise. 
 Children playing ball games, unless the children are also engaged in associated ASB. 
 Reports related to people staring with no other associated ASB. 
 Actions which amount to people being unpleasant to each other but are not sufficiently 

serious considering the likely harm caused to justify our involvement. 
 Environmental or other Housing issues such as statutory noise nuisance, fly tipping, 

overcrowding and disrepair. Other Council departments are responsible for investigating 
these types of problems and reports can be made via the Council’s website: Report a 
problem | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk).

 
The lists above are not exhaustive. Officers of the Council will exercise judgement to establish 
an appropriate response. 

1.4 Making a report of hate crime

Hate crimes and hate incidents are crimes that are motivated by hostility or prejudice against a 
group of people based on a characteristic or perceived characteristic. 
This could be:

Page 258

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem


5

 race, or ethnicity
 religion or belief
 disability – including physical and learning difficulties
 gender
 age
 trans and gender reassignment
 sexual orientation
 the perception that someone fits into one of these categories, even if they do not

Hate crime can take many forms including:

 physical attacks – such as physical assault, damage to property, offensive graffiti, 
neighbour disputes and arson

 threat of attack – including offensive letters, abusive or obscene phone calls, groups 
hanging around to intimidate and unfounded, malicious complaints

 abuse or insults – offensive leaflets and posters, abusive gestures, dumping of rubbish 
outside homes or through letterboxes, and bullying at school or in the workplace.

If you are a victim of, or have witnessed, a hate crime or incident, you can report it to one of 
several organisations by:

Police
 In an emergency dial 999.
 Non-emergency dial 101 
 Report hate crime to the Met Police online – You don’t have to give your name.

The Councils equality objectives are part of the new Corporate Plan. Here is the link to our 
Corporate Plan:https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-
plan-and-performance-framework

 
1.5 Anonymous Reports 
 
The Council always prefer to have direct contact with the person experiencing the ASB (“the 
reporter”) to understand the problems they are experiencing, offer appropriate support and 
provide updates regarding the investigation.  Officers will investigate an anonymous report if 
the report can be substantiated and will make reasonable attempts to substantiate the report.  
 
1.6 How are ASB reports prioritised? 
 
Reports of ASB are prioritised at point of contact. This involves confirming the allegation and 
asking a series of short questions to assess the potential risk of harm caused by the ASB. 
Reports of ASB are then allocated to a named Investigating Officer.  
 
If the ASB involves the use or threat of violence or there is a significant risk of harm i.e., a hate 
crime/incident, an officer will aim to contact the reporter within 1 working day. For all other 
reports of ASB, an officer will aim to contact the reporter within 5 working days.  Hate crimes 
will be referred to the police. However, we shall work closely with policing partners where there 
may, for example, be a breach of tenancy obligation or in circumstances where we may 
consider civil action to compliment any criminal investigations or prosecutions.  Following a 
hate crime conviction, we would work to support the resident.
 

Page 259

https://www.met.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/how-to-report-hate-crime/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-plan-and-performance-framework
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/plans-and-priorities/corporate-plan-and-performance-framework


6

2.0 REFERRALS TO OTHER AGENCIES 
 
Investigating Officers will make referrals to other Council departments or agencies as 
appropriate during their investigation. Any referrals made will involve the Investigating Officer 
seeking consent from the individual concerned, unless there is an overriding safeguarding 
concern in relation to a vulnerable adult or child.  

 
3.0 ASB INVESTIGATION 
 
3.1 Interviewing the reporter 
 
When a report of ASB is made, the Investigating Officer will interview the reporter to confirm 
all relevant facts and an action plan will be discussed. As part of the action plan, the reporter 
will be expected to keep an accurate record of any further incidents of ASB and report any 
further incidents to the Investigating Officer. The officer will attempt to complete an ASB 
Vulnerability Risk Assessment with all reporters (not acting within their professional capacity 
e.g., police officer) to assess the reporter’s vulnerability to the ASB they are experiencing. The 
officer will agree an action plan detailing what the reporter/victim is expected to do and what 
you may expect from the Council or other partners. 

3.2 Wider Investigations 
 
Investigating Officers will usually conduct a wider investigation which may involve contacting 
other potential reporters or witnesses, in addition to making enquiries with any relevant Council 
departments or partner agencies such as the Metropolitan Police.
 
3.3 Interviewing the alleged perpetrator 
 
During most investigations (except where a without notice injunction is being considered), 
contact will be made with the alleged perpetrator. The alleged perpetrator will be given a fair 
opportunity to respond to the ASB allegations. The Investigating Officer will explain the 
consequences of perpetrating ASB and summarise the next steps in the investigation.  
 
3.4 Counter Allegations 
 
Investigating Officers will conduct a proportionate investigation into any counter allegation that 
is considered to be ASB. Feedback will be provided to the person making the counter 
allegation.  

 
4.0 ASB ACTIONS 
 
4.1 Levels of Evidence 
 
Most ASB investigations take place within a civil law framework which means a civil standard 
of proof is applicable. The Investigating Officer needs only to be able to demonstrate that the 
incident(s) is more likely than not to have happened.  
 

Page 260



7

When civil legal action has been taken and a Court Order has been breached i.e. 
breach of an Injunction order, Closure Order or prosecution for breach of a Community 
Protection Notice, the criminal standard of proof applies. This means that a conviction for 
breach can only occur if the Court is sure of the Defendant’s guilt (i.e. the criminal standard of 
proof is required for conviction).  

In investigating or acting on reports of ASB, the Council must first ensure that sufficient 
evidence is present to support any allegations made. 
 
4.2 Insufficient Evidence 

 
During an investigation there may be several reasons why an Investigating Officer cannot take 
action. These reasons may include: 

 Establishing that the incident did not happen. 
 Having insufficient evidence to pursue the matter, with reference to the relevant 

standard of proof. 
 Where, upon enquiry, the Council does not find the issues reported to be anti-social. 
 Not being able to investigate fully due to non-cooperation of the reporter / witness. 
 The ASB has stopped and the likelihood of further ASB is low. 

The Investigating Officer will inform the reporter at the earliest opportunity if they determine that 
they cannot take action or further action and will close the case.  
 
4.3 Determining Appropriate ASB Actions 
 
The Investigating Officer will assess each case on the information available and the actions 
taken will be proportionate and bespoke to the circumstances of each case. Typically, 
Investigating Officers will use informal methods to try to resolve a report of ASB in the first 
instance. However, in priority cases, such as when there has been a use or threat of violence, 
legal action may be the first course of action. 
 
4.4 Informal methods 
 
Investigating Officers may consider using informal methods such as: 

 Mediation 
 Restorative Meetings
 Providing information and advice
 Investigatory interviews
 Warning Interviews 
 Acceptable Behaviour Agreements / Contracts
 Referrals to partners / support agencies 

It will be a matter for the Investigating Officer to determine when and in what circumstances 
informal methods will be used and the appropriateness of, for example, mediation and/or 
restorative measures. We will not ask complainants to undertake mediation where there has 
been violence or the threat of violence. Complainants will be expected to co-operate with these 
methods aimed at finding a meeting of minds and best alternatives. We will not be guided by 
insistences that complainants, for example, require someone is evicted. If complainants 
unreasonably refuse to co-operate with informal methods such as mediation, we may close the 
complaint. 

Page 261



8

 
4.5 Legal actions 
  
Investigating Officers may consider applying for legal action such as: 

 Injunction (including powers of arrest)  
 Criminal Behaviour Order  
 Community Protection Notices  
 Closure Orders  
 Breach Proceedings  
 ASB Possession Proceedings (within our landlord capacity only)
 Fixed Penalty Notices
 Community Protection Warnings (CPW) and Community Protection Notices (CPN)
 Any other legal or other intervention the Council deem appropriate.  

 
There may be other informal methods and legal actions that the Investigating Officer considers 
are appropriate dependent upon the circumstances of the case.  
 
4.6 Justification  
 
Officers will justify the use of informal methods and/or legal actions with reasons. 
 
4.7 Manager Review 
 
If the Investigating Officer considers it appropriate to proceed with legal action the case will be 
reviewed by the ASB Team Manager or the Community Safety Operations Manager prior to 
making a referral to legal services for legal advice. The Investigating Officer will always 
consider the legal advice received prior to instructing a solicitor to proceed with a legal 
application. Such advice is legally privileged and therefore will not be disclosed.  

5.0 Domestic Abuse

In Barking and Dagenham tackling the harm caused by domestic abuse is a corporate priority.

Domestic abuse is not an example of anti-social behaviour. Domestic abuse is a crime. We 
know that sometimes reports of ASB can actually be instances of domestic abuse, for example 
excessive neighbour noise could be sounds of domestic abuse being perpetrated. This policy 
ensures we are able to correctly identify domestic abuse and take action accordingly.

 The Barking and Dagenham Domestic Abuse Commission launched in September 2019. 
The Commission brought together a panel of national experts to consider how LBBD could do 
more to tackle endemic domestic abuse in the borough. The Commission was the first of its kind 
in the country.

The Commission conducted a range of qualitative and quantitative work with residents and 
professionals. The commission’s final report was received and approved by Cabinet in 
February 2021 and published formally in March 2021. Survivors of domestic abuse co-produced 
the report and the outcomes, and recommendations within it. The full report can be found here:
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s143521/DA%20Commission%20-%20App%201.pdf

The Commission developed six key principles to guide all our work around domestic abuse:

Page 262

https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/documents/s143521/DA%20Commission%20-%20App%201.pdf


9

1. We believe survivors – survivors should be believed as a starting point of all of our work, 
whatever role we have across the Barking and Dagenham workforce

2. We are led by survivors – survivors are at the heart of any approach to domestic abuse. They 
are consulted and their needs are put at the centre. • 

3. We focus first on changing behaviour in order to change attitude – we make it clear that 
domestic abuse will not be tolerated and that tackling domestic abuse is a priority, which can 
help to change someone’s attitude and belief system around domestic abuse. 

4. We do not create harm – we don’t create harm by implementing something which tries to help 
but can have a negative impact because it’s not fully developed and co-ordinated with a wider 
offer. 

5. We are feminist and anti-racist – as the most diverse area in London, a one-size fits all 
approach won’t work. We work in an intersectional way to create the bespoke response an 
individual or family needs.

6. We are trauma informed – trauma is inseparably bound up with systems of power and 
oppression. For people who have experienced trauma in their lives, public services can 
unwittingly make things worse if they create situations that bring back the trauma or make them 
feel unsafe. We work to ensure we do not do this.

Domestic Abuse – Key Facts 

Domestic abuse is very common. Domestic abuse has a devastating impact on victims and 
survivors, their families, and the wider community. Domestic abuse can happen to anyone, in 
any type of relationship. Domestic abuse affects both men and women, but in the vast majority 
of cases it is experienced by women and is perpetrated by men. Women are more likely to 
experience domestic abuse, to experience more severe incidents and to experience prolonged 
patterns of abuse. Domestic abuse always has impacts and consequences for all victims, and 
certain groups experience additional challenges and barriers to seeking help.

The Crime Survey of England and Wales (CSEW) estimates that one in three women will 
experience domestic abuse in their lifetime. Victims can be reluctant to disclose and may 
experience up to 35 incidents before seeking help. On average the police in England and Wales 
receive over 100 calls relating to domestic abuse every hour. (HMIC, 2015). According to CSEW 
data for the year ending March 2018, only 18% of women who had experienced partner abuse 
in the last 12 months reported the abuse to the police. 

On average a woman is killed by her male partner or former partner every four days in England 
and Wales. In London, recorded domestic abuse cases have increased by 26 per cent in five 
years.

Barking and Dagenham has the highest volume per 1,000 population of domestic abuse 
offences in London, as demonstrated by the below statistics:

Page 263



10

What is domestic abuse?

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 defines domestic abuse as:
'Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family members 
regardless of gender or sexuality.' 

This can encompass but is not limited to the following types of abuse: 
 Physical abuse
 Emotional abuse
 Economic abuse
 Psychological abuse
 Sexual abuse
 Coercive behaviour
 Controlling behaviour
All forms of abuse are serious, and one type should not be weighted over another.

Controlling behaviour is defined as acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or dependent by 
isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities, depriving them of the 
means for independence, resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.

Coercive behaviour is defined as an act or pattern of acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation 
or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim. The term “abuse” is used as controlling 
and coercive behaviour may not involve physical violence but can have the same impact. 

Page 264



11

Abusive behaviour is classed as domestic abuse if the perpetrator is personally connected 
to the victim. Personally connected means they are, or have: 
 Been married to each other
 Been in a civil partnership with each other
 Agreed to marry one another (whether that agreement has ended or not)
 Agreed to a civil partnership (whether that agreement has ended or not)
 Been in an intimate personal relationship
 Had a parental relationship to the same child
Relatives are also classed as personally connected. Relatives include parents, grandparents, children, 
grandchildren, siblings, aunts, uncles, nieces, and nephews. Step and half relations are also included.

For the purposes of child protection, the definition of harm includes the impairment suffered by children 
from seeing or hearing the ill-treatment of another in connection to domestic abuse. Children under 18 
who see, hear, or experiences the effects of domestic abuse (where the victim or the perpetrator has 
parental responsibility for the child, or is related) were recognised in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 as 
victims in their own right.

The definition also includes all forms of abuse and violence within the family including the following: 
 “Honour’ based violence - committed against a family or community member in order to protect or 

defend the honour of the family or community
 Female genital mutilation (FGM) - an illegal practice involving the cutting or otherwise changing of 

the female genitals 
 Forced marriage - a marriage conducted without the valid consent of one or both parties and where 

duress is a factor

The above outlines the definition of domestic abuse used by London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham across our services and interventions.

The policy aims to: 
 Ensure Barking and Dagenham Council delivers its statutory responsibilities, as outlined 

in key pieces of legislation such as the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and the Domestic 
Abuse Act 2021

 Ensure that staff working across housing services are able to recognise the presence of 
domestic abuse in families, and are able to intervene as early as possible to minimise harm 
– understanding that this may be our first and only opportunity to make a victim safe

 Ensure that we protect victims of domestic abuse, by understanding and assessing the 
risk to victims, including children, and making appropriate referrals to services on behalf of 
the family to support victims and children

 Support staff to work safely and effectively with families to resolve ASB concerns by having 
robust responses and pathways in place for those where we identify domestic abuse 

 Hold perpetrators to account for their actions, maintaining the safety of the victim and 
survivor and their children

 Support delivery of the Domestic Abuse Commission principles and recommendations, 
the Domestic Abuse Improvement Programme and the Violence Against Women and 
Girls (VAWG) Strategy

The council will ensure that all ASB professionals are aware of key indicators of domestic abuse, 
of how to respond to disclosures of domestic abuse and what to do next to support victims and 
children and young people, as well as perpetrators. We will do this by:
 Providing access to the multi-agency training offer provided by the Barking and Dagenham 

Safeguarding Children Partnership – supporting a trauma informed, Safe and Together 
understanding of domestic abuse and staff able to conduct basic risk assessments and 
safety plans

Page 265



12

 Ensure staff attend council provided learning and development on domestic 
abuse, including the compulsory training for managers 

 Ensure all staff are familiar with the council’s statutory duties in relation to domestic abuse
 Ensure staff are aware of the domestic abuse objectives within the council’s objective library, 

and that these are used within appraisals and work plans appropriately
 Ensuring all staff are aware of local referral pathways for specialist support and that these 

are embedded in our procedures 
 Ensuring all staff are aware of domestic abuse procedures 
 Ensuring all housing staff are familiar with the correct process for responding to victims and 

survivors who are at high risk of harm, including making MARAC (Multi-agency Risk 
Assessment Conference) referrals

 Ensuring all staff are familiar with the correct process for making safeguarding referrals for 
children and adults at risk where appropriate

All ASB professionals can access further information about domestic abuse and how we work 
in the detailed domestic abuse guidance for staff and the ‘at a glance’ guide for staff, available 
here:

https://lbbd.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/Domestic-Abuse.aspx 
or
https://bdsafeguarding.org/domestic-abuse/ 
or
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/adult-health-and-social-care/health-and-wellbeing/domestic-
abuse/professionals-guidance-and-advice

This toolkit should inform the work of all officers dealing with potential and identified domestic 
abuse cases.

6.0 ASB CASE CLOSURE 
 
6.1 Reasons for Case Closure 
 
Investigating Officers will close cases in a timely manner so that cases are not open longer 
than necessary. The Investigating Officer will communicate with reporters and partners when 
resolutions have been reached or a case is closed and will ensure accurate recording of cases.  
 

7.0 REPORTER SATISFACTION SURVEYS 
 
The Service will endeavour to complete a short survey with every reporter or witness (not 
acting in a professional capacity e.g., police officer) to check they are satisfied with the service 
they have received. The manager will be made aware of any circumstances when the feedback 
received is not satisfactory. 

 

8.0 COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 
 

If anyone is dissatisfied with the ASB service, they have received they may make a complaint 
to the Council, which will be fully investigated.  Here is a link to our complaints procedure: 
Complaints procedure | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

Page 266

https://lbbd.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranet/SitePages/Domestic-Abuse.aspx
https://bdsafeguarding.org/domestic-abuse/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/complaints-procedure


13

8.1 Community Trigger

You can ask for the Community Trigger to be activated if you consider no action has been taken 
after you have complained to us at the council, police or a registered housing provider about 3 
separate incidents of antisocial behaviour in the last 6 months.
You can also ask for the Community Trigger if 5 individuals in the local community have 
complained separately to the council, police or registered housing provider about similar 
incidents of antisocial behaviour in the last 6 months. Here is a link to our online form.
Follow up antisocial behaviour report
 

9.0 REVIEW PERIOD 
 
This policy and procedures statement will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in 
relevant legislation. 
  

Page 267

https://eforms.lbbd.gov.uk/follow-up-antisocial-behaviour


14

London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Council Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy and Procedures Statement 

 
1.0 Strategic Overview 
 
The London Borough of Barking and Dagenham community safety strategy (2023 to 2026) sets 
the vision for the Council. Our key aim is to be a place where residents from all backgrounds feel 
safe, can aspire and live well, keeping our children and young people safe, tacking crime that 
affects people the most, reducing offending, tacking violence against women and girls and 
standing up to hate, intolerance and extremism. Our approach is to become more proactive, pre-
emptive and creative, focusing on a person’s or community’s strengths and opportunities.  
 
The first thematic priority of the Council’s community safety strategy is to tackle Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB) through a triple-track approach of early intervention and prevention, non-
negotiable support and strong enforcement action when necessary. We aim to strengthen 
community capacity to resolve issues, protect and support victims and use informal and formal 
tools and powers to tackle ASB.  By working together, we are building more resilience in 
communities to challenge the corrosive effect of ASB, intimidation and harassment caused by a 
minority of people. 
   
The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 places a legal requirement on all social landlords to publish 
an Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures Statement. This document fulfils this legal 
requirement specifically relevant to non-secure tenants living in the Council’s temporary 
accommodation schemes and dispersed properties across our Borough.   
 
The Council applies a harm-centred approach to tackling ASB. The Council will consider the harm 
caused to individuals and communities along with the type of ASB reported and the available 
evidence to determine a course of action that the Council deems appropriate.  
 
Through applying effective ASB case management principles, starting at the point of contact and 
continuing throughout the management of a case, officers will take action that is appropriate and 
proportionate to the harm caused to the victim or witness, the nature of the complaint and the 
quality of evidence available.  

The focus of our casework will be as much about supporting the complainant or witness of ASB as 
actions relating to the alleged perpetrator.  
 
The key points that officers will consider throughout ASB casework processes will include resolving 
issues at the earliest opportunity, protecting individuals and communities, stopping and changing 
the offending behaviour where possible and keeping an emphasis on the complainant or witness. 
  
This statement specifically focuses on ASB and does not include issues that should be investigated 
in relation to other legislative frameworks.   

 
2.0 Definitions of ASB 
 
The Council adopts the definitions of ASB as outlined in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014: 
 
a) Non–Housing Related ASB 

Page 268



15

 
For ASB in a non-housing related context, ASB is conduct that caused, or is likely to cause 
harassment, alarm, or distress to any person. This will apply, for example, where the ASB has 
occurred in a public place, such as a town or city centre, shopping centre, or local park, and where 
the behaviour does not necessarily affect the housing management functions of a social landlord. 
 
b) Housing Related ASB 
 
For ASB in a housing context; ASB is conduct that is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance 
to a person in relation to that person’s occupation of residential premises or the conduct is capable 
of causing housing related nuisance or annoyance to any person.  
 
The Council will also consider any ASB definitions as stated in an individual’s tenancy agreement 
or lease with the Council when taking actions to manage ASB.  

 
2.1 Types of ASB 
 
ASB can mean different things to different people and may or may not include criminal activity. We 
will take action to investigate reports made by LBBD residents, visitors to our Borough, our 
employees and contractors. We will also accept referrals from third parties such as a Local 
Councillor, Member of Parliament, the Metropolitan Police and other departments within the 
Council. 
 
 Types of behaviour that the Council may consider to be ASB include:  
 

● Hate crimes / Hate Incidents 
● Use or threatened use of violence 
● Repeated abusive language or behaviour 
● Harassment 
● Damage to property 
● Domestic abuse 

 
The Council recognises that domestic violence committed by a tenant, family member or visitor in 
social housing could fall within the description of ASB outlined at section 2.1. When domestic 
abuse is reported to us, this is investigated by Tenancy Sustainment. Tenancy Sustainment will 
complete a Domestic Abuse Stalking and Harassment (DASH) Risk Assessment and, if 
appropriate, with the consent of the victim, will make a referral into the Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC) and subsequently attend the MARAC to present the case. If 
the victim does not consent to the MARAC form being completed but the  Investigating Officer is 
concerned that there is a serious risk of harm to the victim, the form will be completed by the 
Investigating Officer and referred into the next MARAC meeting. It will be noted on the referral 
form that the victim’s consent was sought but not obtained. MARACs are held on a monthly basis 
with the aim of reducing the risk of death or serious injury to high-risk victims of domestic abuse. 
This is done by identifying those most at risk and trying to keep them safe by sharing information 
and putting action plans in place to reduce and manage the identified risks. 
 
When the threshold for a referral to the MARAC is not met, Investigating Officers will encourage 
domestic abuse victims to speak to specialist domestic abuse services and will safely provide 
information on how to access these services. Investigating Officers will determine if there are 
potentially any child safeguarding risks to children and make appropriate referrals to the 
Directorate of Children and Families.  

Page 269



16

 
Investigating Officers will be mindful of the need to ensure that domestic abuse victims are 
supported in accessing remedies specifically designed to deal with domestic abuse (for example 
non-molestation orders, Domestic Violence Protection Notices / Orders).  
 
The use of measures designed to tackle ASB will normally be used only when the Metropolitan 
Police have been consulted and there is no other option available in order to provide protection 
and prevent the impact on the wider community.  
 
This list of types of ASB the Council will investigate is non-exhaustive and this policy is not an 
undertaking to act in every such circumstance. Officers of the Council will, in all reported cases, 
exercise their judgment in order to establish an appropriate response to the report of ASB including 
what has happened, the harm caused or risk of harm, the frequency of incidents, the evidence 
available and any known vulnerabilities of the people involved.  

 
2.2 What the Council will not investigate 
 
The Council is committed to developing and supporting cohesive communities across the city and 
expects a reasonable level of tolerance between neighbours and others within our communities. 
Residents are encouraged, where possible, to try to resolve their disputes themselves without the 
need for the Council to be involved. Officers will seek to make a fair evaluation on whether 
complaints made are reasonable and are determined to constitute alleged ASB. Examples of the 
types of reports that the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Team will not investigate as ASB allegations 
include: 
 

● Actions that are considered to be normal everyday activities or household noise, for 
example children playing inside or outside their property.

● Children playing ball games, unless the children are also engaged in associated ASB e.g., 
verbal abuse, criminal damage. 

● Complaints related to people staring with no other associated ASB.
● Actions which amount to people being unpleasant to each other but are not sufficiently 

serious, considering the likely harm caused, to justify our involvement. 
● Cases of illegal drug use, production, or supply when there is no associated ASB. 

Residents will be advised to report such issues to The Metropolitan Police Report a crime 
| Metropolitan Police.

● Environmental issues such as noise nuisance, fly tipping, overcrowding and disrepair. Such 
matters can be reported here: Pests, pollution, noise and food | London Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)

● Parking matters, with no other associated ASB. Abandoned and untaxed vehicles, illegal 
front garden parking and obstruction of dropped curbs can be reported Report a problem | 
London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk). If someone has parked 
inconsiderately or in your designated parking space without permission the responsibility 
will sit with the freeholder or managing agent. 

 
When determining if a report is ASB or not, officers will exercise professional judgement. If an 
officer determines that the complaint does not constitute ASB, they will inform the complainant at 
the earliest opportunity, advising them that no ASB action will be taken. The officer will provide 
advice and sign posting information if appropriate. 

 

Page 270

https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/ocr/af/how-to-report-a-crime/
https://www.met.police.uk/ro/report/ocr/af/how-to-report-a-crime/
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/pests-pollution-noise-and-food
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/pests-pollution-noise-and-food
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/report-problem


17

3.0 How cases are prioritised 
 
The Council will prioritise reports of ASB involving the use or threatened use of violence to person 
or property and / or reports involving significant harm or risk of harm to individuals, families or 
neighbourhoods e.g., hate incidents.  These types of cases will involve making urgent contact with 
the complainant and consideration of the potential need to apply for a without notice injunction 
against the perpetrator.  
 
All other reports of ASB will involve a standard response time and these cases will usually involve 
informal actions, such as an interview with the alleged perpetrator, to try to resolve the report of 
ASB without the need for legal action. When individuals fail to change their behaviour, despite 
being given the opportunity to do so, and their behaviour continues to have negative impact upon 
the quality of life of another person, the officer may decide that it is appropriate to take legal action.  
 
Officers will review the approach to a case by reference to what is reported to them, and any other 
new information presented to them. A standard response case may become a priority case and 
vice versa.  

 
4.0 Cross Tenure Issues 
 
This policy applies to reports of ASB affecting the Council’s landlord housing management function 
and to reports of ASB in the private sector i.e. involving home owners, private tenants and ASB 
that takes place in an area where there is no link to the housing management function of the 
Council, another Local Authority area or a social housing provider.  
 
There will be times when reports of ASB will need to involve other Local Authority areas or social 
housing providers because either the complainant or the alleged perpetrator are tenants of that 
organisation. When these types of reports are made to the Council, the ASB Investigating Officer 
will discuss with the relevant organisation who will take a lead role in coordinating specific actions 
and this information will be shared with everyone involved in the ASB report.  

The Private Sector Housing selective licencing scheme has a series of conditions designed to 
prevent ASB that landlords need to comply with. Landlords are required to actively work to prevent 
and stop ASB, whether that is from tenants or visitors. Where the ASB team identify serious issues 
or where landlords have ignored ASB or failed to take action, the Private Sector Housing Team 
will revoke the property licence.  

The threat of revoking a property licence usually results in the landlord evicting tenants who 
persistently cause ASB.  If they refuse to do so, and the licence is revoked, a new licence holder 
would have to be appointed to apply for a new licence and take over all management of the 
property. 

The Metropolitan Police may also investigate reports of ASB across all tenures, particularly when 
there is an allegation that a crime has been committed. The Council will work in partnership with 
the Metropolitan Police to investigate and tackle ASB in our communities.  
 
5.0 Expectation of our tenants 
 
The Council expects our tenants to act responsibly, respect others and not to engage in anti-social 
or criminal behaviour. We consider that our tenants are responsible for their own behaviour, the 
behaviour of those people who live with them and the behaviour of people who visit their property. 

Page 271



18

Informal and/or formal action may be taken against a tenant to address the behaviour 
of others who live with them or visit their property. 
 
6.0 Victim / witness support 
 
Victims and witnesses (“Reporters”) are at the centre of the action we take to investigate and 
resolve reports of ASB. All Reporters will be provided with a named officer who will be responsible 
for investigating their report. Support to Reporters will be assessed individually with each Reporter 
that engages with us to ensure that the support offered is tailored specifically to individual needs. 
 
A harm-centred approach is taken. This means that in addition to considering the type of ASB, we 
will consider the impact that ASB is having on individuals, families and neighbourhoods to 
understand the harm that is being caused. We will do this by completing an ASB Vulnerability Risk 
Assessment with complainants (not acting in their professional capacity i.e., police officer). In some 
cases, when a neighbourhood is experiencing ASB, we may conduct a Community Impact 
Statement involving information from residents and partners.  
 
Dependent upon the outcome of the ASB vulnerability risk assessment, it may be agreed that 
further actions to help manage or reduce the risk of harm is appropriate. Type of actions may 
include a referral to a victim support service, additional contact from the ASB Officer, asking if the 
police could carry out additional patrols or conduct reassurance visits, making a referral to another 
Council department or agency e.g. Adult Safeguarding, Drug and Alcohol Services, Mental Health 
Services and or any other services offering support in our Borough, etc.  
 
Sometimes ASB reports are made to the Council anonymously, usually because that person 
genuinely fears reprisals if they were identified as having made a complaint.  
 
We always prefer to communicate directly with people who are experiencing ASB. This helps us 
to gain an understanding of the problems those people are experiencing, allows us to assess the 
risk of harm and means that we can provide updates regarding the progress of an individual’s 
report and the corresponding actions taken. A complainant’s identity will not be disclosed to the 
alleged perpetrator without seeking consent from the complainant to do so. In some cases, we do 
not need to provide the alleged perpetrator with the complainant’s identity at any stage within the 
case. In other cases, specifically if the complainant has had direct contact with the alleged 
perpetrator, it may be obvious to the alleged perpetrator who has complained.  
 
If an anonymous report of ASB is received, we will attempt to investigate the report. This may 
involve checking our internal records for any previous reports, contacting residents who live in the 
immediate area to ask if they have experienced any problems and asking our partners, such as 
the Metropolitan Police, if they are aware of any relevant information. We are unlikely to make any 
contact with the alleged perpetrator if we cannot substantiate the anonymous report of ASB. 

 
7.0 Support for vulnerable perpetrators 

 
We recognise that some perpetrators may have support needs. When we are made aware by the 
perpetrator (or by any information made available to us) that a person has or may have a support 
need, we will explain our concerns and invite the perpetrator to discuss their needs with us. We 
will seek an alleged perpetrator’s consent to make a referral(s) to an appropriate Council 
department or external organisation on their behalf, if appropriate. If the perpetrator is already 

Page 272



19

engaged with a support service, we will discuss with the perpetrator sharing relevant 
information with the support service.  
 
We reserve the right to make a referral to our Adults and Child safeguarding teams, or the police, 
including a safeguarding referral, without the permission of the individual(s) concerned where the 
situation and provision of the Data Protection Act and any other legislation justifies it.  
 
When the perpetrator of the ASB is a young person, we will attempt to engage with their parents 
or guardians to offer appropriate family support. This may involve seeking consent to make a 
referral into the Council’s Early Help services. The aim of Early Help is to develop a consistent 
approach amongst multi-agency professionals working with children and young people to ensure 
that effective intervention is offered as soon as possible to tackle problems emerging early for 
young people and their families.   
 
If a perpetrator of ASB refuses to or stops engaging with an appropriate support service without a 
reasonable excuse, or if they accept support but the ASB continues, the Council will consider 
taking legal action. If the Council decides to apply for an Injunction or a Criminal Behaviour Order, 
we will consider applying for a positive requirement for the perpetrator to attend an assessment 
and/or engage with a specific Council department or external organisation.   
 
In some priority cases, when a decision is made to apply for urgent legal action, an invitation to 
the perpetrator to discuss any support needs may take place after the legal application has been 
made.  
 
If, during the time the ASB report is open to our service, we are made aware that the perpetrators 
needs have changed we will consider this new information and offer to make any further 
appropriate referrals.  
 
We will carefully consider and justify our actions, with a focus so as not to disadvantage those 
protected by the Equality Act 2010. 

 
8.0 Preventive Action 
 
Whenever possible the Council will take action to prevent ASB from happening in the first place. 
Examples of how we may do this include, but are not limited to: 
 

● Working with partners to identify areas of concern and planning coordinated targeted 
actions. 

● Supporting the delivery of targeted youth provision. 
● Considering any environmental improvements that may reduce the likelihood of ASB taking 

place. 
● Delivering training to partners and community groups regarding ASB and community safety 

issues.
 
 
 
9.0 Informal Action 

 
The Council’s aim is to intervene early to stop and prevent cases of ASB escalating. The informal 
interventions that may be considered are: 

Page 273



20

 
● Mediation – an early intervention tool to support parties to resolve a conflict or dispute. 
● Restorative Meetings – a way to acknowledge and repair harm following an incident of 

antisocial behaviour or crime. 
● Providing information and advice. 
● Investigatory interviews – where an Investigating Officer assesses whether an incident of 

ASB has taken place. 
● Warning Interviews – where an Investigating Officer, on the balance of probabilities, is 

satisfied that an ASB incident has taken place and will therefore explain the consequences 
of continuing to act in an anti-social manner. 

● Acceptable Behaviour Agreements / Contracts – an agreement with an individual which 
sets out what they will or will not do in the future. The Investigating Officer may also include 
any actions they may take i.e., referral to a support service. This type of agreement or 
contract will usually be used with a young person aged 10 – 17 years or a vulnerable adult.  
● Referrals to colleagues/ partners / support agencies. 

10.0 Legal Action 
 
The Council may consider taking legal action when ASB continues following an attempt to resolve 
the ASB informally. In priority cases involving the use or threat of violence towards person or 
property and/or where there is serious risk of harm, we may not take any informal actions and 
instead take legal action in the first instance. Examples of legal actions that we may consider 
include: 
 

● Injunction (including powers of arrest) – An order that can be granted against an individual 
aged 10 or over. An Injunction is designed to stop or prevent individuals from acting anti 
socially, quickly nipping ASB in the bud before it escalates. 

● Criminal Behaviour Order – An order that can be granted against an individual aged 10 or 
over upon conviction of a criminal offence. These orders are to tackle those who 
persistently engage in criminal ASB.  

● Community Protection Notices – A Notice that aims to stop a person aged 16 or over, 
business or organisation committing ASB which spoils the community’s quality of life.  

● Closure Order – An order that can be granted to quickly close premises, restricting who 
can access a premises, which is being used, or likely to be used, to commit nuisance or 
disorder.  

● Breach Proceedings – Action to enforce the above powers. The Metropolitan Police and 
the Crown Prosecution Service take the lead in enforcing a breach of a Criminal Behaviour 
Order. 

● Any other legal action which could be taken with the support of the Metropolitan Police/ 
Crown Prosecution Service i.e., Restraining Order. 

 
We will also consider Public Space Protection Orders when it is considered the most appropriate 
tool to address a place based ASB issue. We will work with the Metropolitan Police to consider 
other potential solutions, such as use of the Dispersal Power or Restraining Orders.  
 
In our capacity as a landlord, the Council may also take ASB possession proceedings. Prior to 
deciding to proceed with a claim for possession, we will give our tenants a right to reply to the ASB 
allegations. Where notice seeking possession has been served on mandatory grounds, the right 
to have that decision reviewed within a maximum of 7 days by application of section 85ZA(2) 
Housing Act 1985 is available.  It should be noted that the maximum period of 7 days will not be 
extended, this is because there are no provisions in the Act for an extension and the provisions 

Page 274



21

under the Act were designed to tackle serious ASB. The very fact the Act specifies the 
7 day time limit underlines its importance.  
 
The Council has no basis to seek possession of a property where we are not the landlord.  
 
The use of informal and legal action will be decided by the Council having considered the 
circumstances of each individual case and will be proportionate to the type of ASB and the risk of 
harm.  
 
Generally, we would wish to obtain agreement with complainants about the particular actions to 
be followed. There may be occasions where the complainant would wish that the Council takes no 
specific action on their report. The situation may however be serious enough that we feel we have 
little option to pursue against their wishes. In such circumstances, we will take appropriate 
measures to protect all those affected.  
 
In some circumstances, and if the situation is appropriate, the Council may be unable to 
progress an ASB case if a complainant refuses early intervention actions. The Council will 
decide and take whatever action we consider to be most appropriate.  

 
11.0 Publicity 

 
Publicity is an essential part of tackling ASB in terms of: 
 

 Reassuring the community that the Council and partners work together and take reports of 
ASB seriously 

 Reassuring complainants, witnesses, and the wider community that successful action has 
been taken to tackle ASB  

 Publishing individual cases so that breaches of orders obtained can be reported to the 
relevant organisation 

 Making it clear to perpetrators that the Council will not tolerate ASB and will take action to 
protect others.  

 
In circumstances when a Court has not imposed reporting restrictions, and the Council considers 
it to be necessary and proportionate, a press release or other publicity material, such as an 
information leaflet, may be issued when the following orders have been granted or a Notice has 
been served. The Council may also issue a press release if the Court finds that any of the following 
orders / Notice have been breached: 
 

● Final Injunction Order 
● Final Criminal Behaviour Order 
● Closure Order
● Partial Closure Order 
● ASB Possession Order 
● Community Protection Notice  

 
The press release will be factual and may give the name, age and address of the individual against 
whom the order has been made or the breach occurred, the ASB they have been involved in and 
the terms of any order or sentence. 
 

Page 275



22

The decision to publicise will be considered carefully based on the facts of each case. 
The Council will consult with relevant partners such as the Metropolitan Police and the Directorate 
of Children and Families if an individual is engaged with services, including Youth Justice in respect 
of young people, to consider the following: 
 

● Whether or not the court imposed any reporting restrictions 
● The circumstances of the case 
● The need for the public to be made aware of the order 
● The need to publicise personal information 
● The vulnerability of the individual 
● Any likely consequences of publicising the order  
● Where and how the order will be publicised 

 
The final decision to publicise an order will be made by the Head of Community Safety.  
 
The Council may also engage in other media coverage as deemed to be appropriate. 
 
12.0 Multi Agency Working 
 
Often, ASB cases require involvement from other Council departments and other agencies. We 
work closely with other enforcement agencies such as the police, registered providers, and other 
local authorities. It may be that these agencies have access to a more appropriate enforcement 
action. 
 
We also work with support services including services within the Council’s Children and Families 
safeguarding and early help teams, youth justice, education, health (including mental health) and 
youth services. We recognise that both complainants and perpetrators may have support needs 
and we want to offer referrals to support services when appropriate. We may work with other 
partners such as London Fire Brigade (LFB), offender management services, schools, colleges, 
universities, sporting clubs and associations and voluntary organisations when a specific issue 
arises e.g., an allegation of young people setting fires would involve us liaising with LFB.
 
We may discuss reports of ASB at a multi-agency forum to ensure that a coordinated response is 
taken involving the relevant partners to resolve the ASB problem. Types of forums we participate 
in include: 
 

● Standing Case Conferences
● Weekly Tasking Meetings
● Various Community Safety panel meetings including London Wide partnerships
● Early Help triage and allocation meetings 
● Community safety partnership meetings 
● Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
● MAPPA (Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements)  
● Child protection conferences 
● Ad-hoc meetings to discuss individual cases 

 
13.0 Information Sharing and Confidentiality 
 
We will treat all information received with the strictest of confidence. In the first instance, the best 
interest and wishes of the complainant will drive the actions we take. It is important to understand 
that in certain circumstances we may have a legal obligation to share relevant information with 
other statutory agencies e.g., if there is a serious safeguarding concern. 

Page 276



23

 
If we consider it important to access specific information from independent professionals in order 
to assess how we deal with a case, we will ask the reporter for their written consent to do so, 
unless there is an urgent overriding safeguarding concern involving a risk of harm to the reporter, 
or another person.

ASB information is recorded on a secure case management system and case files are stored 
securely. Data is held in accordance with the Council’s data retention and destruction schedule.  
 
We have a duty to share information with relevant agencies as defined in the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998. We will share information with accordance to the Data Protection Act 1998 and data 
sharing principles.  

 
14.0 Training and Service Development 
 
The Council is committed to continually reviewing the service we provide so that we can identify 
and share practice and identify any service improvements. Ways in which we continue to develop 
include facilitating internal and external staff training, conducting regular case reviews between 
Investigating Officers and managers, along with group case supervision and consulting with the 
public when significant changes are made to the service.  Our performance is monitored through 
a range of indicators including number and types of cases, customer response times and the types 
of informal and formal ASB actions. We have recently introduced a customer survey which we will 
undertake with ASB complainants and consult with residents before making any significant 
changes to Council services.  
 
We report quarterly to our Community Safety Lead and provide reports to our Communities 
Scrutiny Committee and Community Safety Partnership Board.
 
15.0 Availability of the ASB Policy and Procedures Statement 
 
A copy of this ASB Policy can be found on the Council’s Community Safety website at Community 
safety and crime | London Borough of Barking and Dagenham (lbbd.gov.uk)
 
Please contact the ASB Team if you require a translated copy of the Statement and Summary or 
a copy in an alternative format (i.e., Braille and large print).  
 
16.0 Review of Policy and Procedures Statement  
 
This policy and procedures statement will be reviewed periodically or in line with changes in 
relevant legislation. 

 

Date: 16 June 2023
Review by 16 June 2026

Page 277

https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/community-safety-and-crime
https://www.lbbd.gov.uk/community-safety-and-crime


This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Reducing Reoffending Group Subgroup Update 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023  

Author: Steven Calder, Head of Service, Barking, Dagenham and 
Havering Probation Delivery Unit 

Contact: Steven.calder@justice.gov.uk 

Security:  PROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 The reducing re-offending Group (RRG) continues to meet quarterly as planned 
However, there have been questions raised around the purpose of the group and its 
functionality in light of further subgroups that exist and new groups including the 
combating drugs partnership and violence reduction groups. 

1.2 Agreement was made with the chair of the RRG and Community Safety leads from 
both Havering and LBBD to review the functionality of this group to ensure it is 
meaningful and outcome driven. However, this has not taken place with the 
departure of Chris Lyons impacting on the delay. 

1.3 Furthermore, the representation at the group as been sporadic due to the changes 
in LBBD Community Safety Staff and there currently does not appear to be an 
identified representative from Police. 

1.4 The group has had little oversight of the IOM in LBBD due to the vacant co-
ordinator post. 

1.5 That said, representation from LBBD analyst Dan James and Drug treatment 
services has allowed the group to drive forward on work focussing on the 
improvement and monitoring of criminal justice elements of drug treatment which is 
a key priority within the reducing re-offending arena. 

1.6 It should be noted that 

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 As stated above, the key challenge for the group is to identify key outcomes that it 
wants to achieve over the next 2 years which needs to be agreed upon by with the 
chair and requires input from both Local Authorities. 

Page 279

Agenda Annex

mailto:Steven.calder@justice.gov.uk


[Unprotected/Protected/RESTRICTED]

2.2 The group would also benefit from clear and regular participation from all 
membership partners. 

3. Support required from CSP Board

3.1 The ask is for partners, in particular Police and Community Safety to ensure there is 
a clear identified representative member for the group and encourage attendance.   
It is recognised, that this may not be possible until a replacement for Chris Lyons is 
appointed. 

3.2 That the IOM co-ordinator is represented at the group and a status update is 
submitted at each meeting. 

3.3 As part of the review the CSP will need to agree the new priorities for the group and 
provide clarity on how these fit within the wider CSP accountability and governance 
structures 

Page 280



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Safer Neighbourhood Board 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023 

Author: Steve Thompson  

Contact: steve@daggers.co.uk 

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 N/A

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 N/A

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 N/A

4. Support required from CSP Board

4.1 N/A 

5. List of Appendices:  

5.1  Appendix 1: 

Report not received. 

Page 281

AGENDA ITEM 15a

mailto:steve@daggers.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

REPORT
Title: Safer Neighbourhood Board 

Date: Wednesday 28th June 2023 

Author: Steve Thompson  

Contact: steve@daggers.co.uk 

Security: UNPROTECTED

1. Brief Update

1.1 N/A

2. Key Challenge(s)

2.1 N/A

3. Emerging Trends

3.1 N/A

4. Support required from CSP Board

4.1 N/A 

5. List of Appendices:  

5.1  Appendix 1: 

Report not received. 

Page 283

AGENDA ITEM 15b

mailto:steve@daggers.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 5-Year Substance Misuse Plan and Cultural Competencies Update
	Item 4 - Cultural Competency Review in Barking  Dagenham 2023 (002)
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Language used in this review 
	Slide 3: Aims of this review 
	Slide 4: What is Cultural Competency? 
	Slide 5: Responding to the needs of a diverse population
	Slide 6: The goal of culturally competent services is….. 
	Slide 7: Profile of Barking & Dagenham 
	Slide 8: The Changing Profile of Barking & Dagenham  
	Slide 9: Racial Tensions in Barking & Dagenham  
	Slide 10:  Barking & Dagenham Council Policies and Strategies relating to Cultural Competency
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: Greater London Authority (GLA) Population and Household projections  
	Slide 13:   2011 to 2041 trend-based projections for the ethnic profile of Barking & Dagenham  
	Slide 14:  Actual And Projected Population by Ethnic Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041 
	Slide 15:  Actual And Projected Population by Broad Ethnic Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041 
	Slide 16:  Actual And Projected Population by Ethnic Group for Barking & Dagenham 2011- 2041 
	Slide 17: Professional Consultation
	Slide 18: Professional Consultation
	Slide 19: Key Findings 
	Slide 20: Key Findings 
	Slide 21: Key Findings 
	Slide 22: Key Findings 
	Slide 23: Key Findings 
	Slide 24: Recommendations 
	Slide 25: Recommendations 
	Slide 26: Recommendations 
	Slide 27: Recommendations 
	Slide 28: Recommendations 
	Slide 29: Recommendations 
	Slide 30: Recommendations 
	Slide 31: Recommendations 


	7 Serious Violence Duty Implementation Update
	8 Baroness Casey Review Findings and Action Plan & Inspection of the Metropolitan Police Services Response to Lessons from the Stephen Port Murder
	Item 8 - MPS lessons from Steven Port
	Metropolitan Police Service
	An inspection of the Metropolitan Police Service’s response to lessons from the Stephen Port murders
	Contents
	Foreword
	Summary
	Introduction
	The MPS’s response to the four deaths
	Operation Lilford

	HM Coroner’s inquest
	The MPS’s structure
	Basic command units
	Specialist crime command

	Death investigation policy and guidance
	Initial death categorisation and investigation
	Initial research
	Categorisation of death

	Initial investigation
	Professional curiosity
	Use of intelligence at the scene
	Scene management
	Supervision
	Initial specialist support

	Reporting deaths to HM coroners
	Incident and pattern analysis
	Hate crime
	Community engagement
	Hate crime training

	Family liaison processes in relation to death investigation
	The definition of family
	The role of the family liaison officer and associated functions
	Selection
	FLO training
	Contacting the bereaved
	Deploying an FLO
	Record keeping
	Inconsistencies in FLO deployments

	Inclusion, diversity and equalities considerations when investigating death
	Effectiveness of approach to community engagement

	Leadership and accountability
	Governance
	Record keeping and case management
	Property and exhibits

	Reports to coroners
	The quality of death reports

	Interactions between BCUs and specialist teams
	Learning lessons from other investigations
	Learning from the Stephen Port case
	Operation Lilford
	Matters identified by the coroner
	Matters identified by the MPS
	Other matters we identified
	Training
	Chemsex


	Recommendations

	Introduction
	Background
	About us
	Our commission
	Independent Office for Police Conduct investigation
	Methodology
	This report’s relationship with another inspection report

	Terminology in this report

	1. A summary of the Metropolitan Police Service’s response to the four deaths
	Port’s background and lifestyle
	Chemsex
	Previous incidents
	The four murders
	The murder of Anthony Patrick Walgate
	The murder of Gabriel Kovari
	The murder of Daniel Whitworth
	The murder of Jack Taylor

	The police response to the deaths and its failings
	Operation Lilford


	2. HM coroners’ inquests
	The initial inquests
	The Barking Town Hall inquests
	The Regulation 28 report
	The coroner’s overarching considerations
	Professional curiosity
	Misconduct and unsatisfactory performance procedures
	Prejudice

	Matters of concern
	Topic 1: Categorisation of suspicious, non-suspicious and unexplained  deaths (MC1)
	Topic 2: The interaction between specialist homicide investigators and BCU officers (MC2A and MC2B)
	Topic 3: Leadership (MC3A and MC3B)
	Topic 4: Use of the CRIS and the new IT system, CONNECT (MC4A and MC4B)
	Topic 5: Verification of handwriting (MC5)
	Topics 6 and 7: Death messages and coroner’s observations (MC6 and MC7)
	Additional matter of concern: Sleepyboy (MC6)

	More areas of learning identified by the MPS

	3. The Metropolitan Police Service’s structure
	Basic command units
	BCU leadership
	An inexperienced workforce

	Specialist crime command
	The homicide assessment team
	Major investigation teams


	4. Death investigation policy and guidance
	National policy and guidance
	National standardised procedures
	National investigation manuals
	MPS policy and guidance
	MPS Special Notice 6/99
	Toolkits
	2017 death investigation policy
	2018 death investigation policy
	2020 death investigation policy
	2022 death investigation policy


	5. Initial death categorisation and investigation
	Call management
	Call centres
	Computer-aided dispatch records
	Basic command unit operations rooms
	Reports of death
	Initial research

	THRIVE and THRIVE+
	Categorisation of death
	College of Policing 2019 advice
	The MPS’s 2020 death investigation policy
	The MPS’s 2022 death investigation policy
	The danger of incorrect categorisation

	Initial investigation
	Response officers
	Professional curiosity
	Use of intelligence at the scene
	Scene management

	Supervision
	Response sergeants
	Duty officers (uniformed inspectors)
	Initial specialist support
	BCU detectives
	Homicide assessment team (HAT) detectives
	Initial forensic support


	Reporting deaths to HM coroners
	The role of HM coroners
	The MPS’s role
	Police officer training

	Incident and pattern analysis
	The MPS’s intelligence structure
	BCU analysis
	Force analysis

	Hate crime
	Defining hate crime
	Responding to hate crime
	Community engagement
	Hate crime training


	6. Family liaison processes in relation to death investigation
	The development of family liaison
	National guidance
	MPS guidance
	The aims of family liaison

	The definition of family
	The role of the FLO and associated functions
	Senior investigating officer
	Family liaison co-ordinator and family liaison advisor
	Family liaison officer

	Selection and training
	Eligibility
	Selection
	FLO training

	Contacting the bereaved
	Policy and guidance on contacting the bereaved
	Training for delivering a death message

	Deploying a FLO
	Supervision and support
	Welfare
	Dealing with conflict
	Record keeping
	Inconsistencies in FLO deployments


	7. Inclusion, diversity and equalities considerations when investigating death
	Protected characteristics
	Guidance to officers
	Frontline officers
	Specialist support
	Effectiveness of supervision and wider leadership
	Frontline supervision and leadership
	BCU governance
	Gold groups
	Specialist supervision and leadership


	Effectiveness of approach to community engagement
	Tier 1: pan-London engagement
	Tier 2: BCU community engagement
	Tier 3: Planned policing operations and critical incidents


	8. Leadership and accountability
	Governance
	Corporate governance
	The grip and pace centre
	Grip and pace meetings
	Force daily crime bulletin
	The SCC contribution to corporate governance

	Local BCU governance
	BCU monitoring and review
	Pacesetter meetings

	Our conclusions about governance

	Record keeping and case management
	Research and analysis
	CONNECT
	The Home Office large major enquiry system

	Property and exhibits
	Reports to HM coroners
	The quality of death reports

	Interactions between BCUs and specialist teams
	Competence
	Primacy
	The handover process
	Communication

	Support for BCU investigations

	9. Learning lessons from ongoing investigations
	Operation Lilford
	Organisational learning structure
	The IRSC
	The prevention and learning team
	The SCRG
	The learning and development unit
	Governance
	Organisational learning hubs


	10. Learning from the Stephen Port case
	Matters identified by the coroner
	Topic 1: Categorisation of suspicious, non-suspicious and unexplained  deaths (MC1)
	The MPS’s response to MC1
	Our findings regarding MC1
	Topic 2: The interaction between specialist homicide investigators and BCU officers (MC2A & MC2B)
	The MPS’s response to MC2A
	Unexpected death – investigated and not suspicious
	Unexpected death – under investigation
	Homicide

	Our findings regarding MC2A
	The MPS’s response to MC2B
	Our findings regarding MC2B
	Topic 3: Leadership (MC3A and MC3B)
	The MPS’s response to MC3A
	Our findings regarding MC3A
	The MPS’s response to MC3B
	Our findings regarding MC3B
	Topic 4: Use of the crime report information system and the new CONNECT IT system (MC4A and MC4B)
	The MPS’s response to MC4A and MC4B
	Our findings regarding MC4A and MC4B
	Topic 5: Verification of handwriting (MC5)
	Topics 6 and 7: Death messages and coroners’ observations (MC6 and MC7)
	The MPS’s response to MC6
	Our findings regarding MC6
	The MPS’s response to MC7
	Our findings regarding MC7
	Matter of concern: Sleepyboy (MC6)

	Matters identified by the MPS
	Communicating and working with LGBTQ+ communities
	Our findings regarding communicating and working with LGBTQ+ communities

	MetInsights
	Our findings regarding MetInsights

	Post-mortem training
	Our findings regarding post-mortem training

	Policy and guidance for coroners’ inquests
	Our findings regarding policy and guidance for coronial inquests

	Family liaison terminology
	Our findings regarding family liaison terminology

	CONNECT investigation records
	Our findings regarding CONNECT investigation records


	Other matters we identified
	Training
	Chemsex (Project Sagamore)



	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5
	Recommendation 6
	Recommendation 7
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 9
	Recommendation 10
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12
	Recommendation 13
	Recommendation 14
	Recommendation 15
	Recommendation 16
	Recommendation 17
	Recommendation 18
	Recommendation 19
	Recommendation 20
	Recommendation 1
	Recommendation 2
	Recommendation 3
	Recommendation 4
	Recommendation 5
	Recommendation 6
	Recommendation 7
	Recommendation 8
	Recommendation 9
	Recommendation 10
	Recommendation 11
	Recommendation 12
	Recommendation 13
	Recommendation 14
	Recommendation 15
	Recommendation 16
	Recommendation 17
	Recommendation 18
	Recommendation 19

	Item 8 - Stephen port response

	9 Anti-social behaviour Policy and Procedure
	10 RESTRICTED: Domestic Homicide Review Update
	11 RESTRICTED: Domestic Abuse Update
	12 RESTRICTED: Prevent Update
	13 Forward Plan
	 Children and Young People
	b (i) CSP Sub-group YJS sub group update June 2023

	 Hate, Intolerance and Extremism and Tension Monitoring
	 Violence Against Women and Girls
	 Tasking Group
	Draft ASB_Policy_and_Procedure_- June 2023

	 Reducing Offending
	15a Safer Neighbourhood Board Update
	15b Safeguarding Boards Update Report

